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1. The Appeals Chamber of the International Criminal Tribunal for the Prosecution of Persons

Responsible for Genocide and Other Serious Violations of International Humanitarian Law

Committed in the Territory of Rwanda and Rwandan Citizens Responsible for Genocide and

Other Such Violations Committed in the Territory of Neighbouring States between 1 January 1994

and 31 December 1994 ("Appeals Chamber" and '"Tribunal", respectively) is seized of appeals

by Anatole Nsengiyumva ("Nsengiyumva") and Th6oneste Bagosora ("Bagosora?') against the

Judgement rendered on 18 December 2008 by Trial Chamber I of the Tribunal ("Trial Chamber") in

the case of The Prosecutor v. Th1oneste Bagosora et al.r

I. INTRODUCTION

A. Anatole Nsensivumva and Th6oneste Bagosora

2. Nsengiyumva was born on 4 September 1950 in Santinsyi commune, Gisenyi prefecture,

Rwanrla.2 In Ig7I, he graduated from the Ecole d'fficiers de Kigati, later renamed Ecole

supdrieure militaire ("ESM').3 h 1973, he was appointed Second Lieutenant in the Rwandan army

and Sub-Commissioner in the police.a He rose to the rank of Lieutenant-Colonel in 1988.s

Throughout his career, Nsengiyumva held several posts, most notably serving as Head of the

Intelligence Bureau (G-2) of the army General Staff.6 From June 1993 to July I994,he served as

Commander of the Gisenyi Operational Sector.T Nsengiyumva was arested in Cameroon on

2l March 1996 and was transferred to the Tribunal's detention faciliw on23 Januarv 1997.8

3. Bagosora was born on 16 August 194I in Giciye corlmune, Gisenyi prefecture, Rwanda.e

111964, he graduated from the Ecole d'fficiers de Kigali, later renamed ESM, as a Second

Lieutenant and rose to the rank of Colonel in October 1989.10 Bagosora was appointed directeur de

cabinet for the Ministry of Defence in June lgg2.rr He served in that position until he fled to Goma

' The Prosecutor v. Th1oneste Bagosora, Gratien Kabitigi, Aloys NtabakuTe, Anatole Nsengiyumva, Case No.
ICTR-98-41-T, Judgement and Sentence, delivered in public and sigaed 18 December 2008, filed 9 February 2009
("Trial Judgement").
'Trial Judgement, para. 64.
'Trial Judgement, para. 64.
o Trial Judgement, para. 64.
'Trial Judgement, para. 64.
o Nsengiyumva served as Head of G-2 in the General Staff of the Rwandan army from December 1976 to August 1981,
from October 1984 to April 1988, and from June 1988 to June 1993. See Trial Judgement, paras. 65-69.
t Trial Judgement, paras. 70,7I.
o Trial Judgemenl. paras. 7 | . 2301 , 2308.
'-Irial Judgement, para. 43.
'u lrial Jrrdgement. paras. 43, 45.
" Trial .Tudgenrcnt, para. 49.
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in the former Z,ate on 14 July lgg4.rz Bagosora was affested in Cameroon on 9 March 1996 and

was transferred to the Tribunal's detention facility in Arusha, Tanzania, on23 January Igg7.r3

B. .Toinder of Cases and Trial .Tudgement

4. The cases against Nsengiyumva and Bagosora were originally undertaken separately.

On29 June2000, Trial Chamber III of the Tribunal granted the Prosecution's motion to join the

cases of Nsengiyumva, Bagosora, Aloys Ntabakuze ("Ntabakuze"), and Gratien Kabiligi (together,

"co-Accused").to Ntabakuze was the Commander of the Para-Commando Battalion of the Rwandan

army from June 1988 to July 1994, and Gratien Kabiligi was the Head of the Operations Bureau

(G-3) of the Rwandan arrny General staff from September 1993 to 17 July lgg4.ls

The Trial Chamber rendered its Judgement on the basis of three separate indictrnents.l6

The Trial Chamber found Nsengiyumva guilty of genocide, crimes against humanity

(murder, extenrrination, persecution, and other inhumane acts), and serious violations of Article 3

common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol tr (violence to life) pursuant to

Article 6(1) of the Statute of the Tribunal ("Statute").tt It held that Nsengiyumva ordered killings in

Gisenyi town on 7 April 1994, including the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi, as well as at Mudende

University on 8 April 1994 and at Nyundo Parish between 7 and 9 April I994.It also found that

Nsengiyumva aided and abetted killings in the Bisesero area of Kibuye prefecture in the second half

of June 1994 by sending militiamen to participate in them.l8 For the crimes committed in Gisenyi

town, including the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi, at Mudende University, and at Nyundo Parish, the

Trial Chamber found that Nsengiyumva could also be held responsible as a superior pursuant to

Article 6(3) of the Statute and took this into account in sentencing.le The Trial Chamber sentenced

Nsengiyumva to life imprisonment.2O

7. The Trial Chamber found Bagosora guihy of genocide, crimes against humanity (murder,

extermination, persecution, other inhumane acts, and rapes), and serious violations of Article 3

corrmon to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol tr (violence to life and outrages

]] friat Judgement, paras. 49, 53. See also ibid., para. 50.
" Trial Judgement, paras. 53, 2285,2290.
ra See Trial Judgement, para. 2312. Ntabakuze's case was initially joined to that of Kabiligi.
" Trial Judgement, paras. 56, 60-63.
t6 The Prosecutor v. Gratien Kabiligi and Aloys Ntabakuze, Cases Nos.ICTR-97-34-I & ICTR-97-30-I, Amended
Indictment, 13 August 1999; The Prosecutor v. Anatole Nsengiyumva. Case No. ICTR-96-12-I, Amended Indictment,

Jr2 August 1999; The Prosecutor v. Tlftoneste Bagosora, Case No. ICTR-96-7-I, Amended Indictment, 12 August 1999.
" Trial Judgement, para.2258.
'o l - r - ia lJudgement.  paras.2142,2148,2152,2151,2161,2184,2189,2191,2216,2221,2248.

. '  l  r ia l  Judgement,  paras.  2161,  2189,2197,2216,2248.2.272.
'" 'l'rial Judgement. para.2279.

5.

6.

Case No.ICTR-98-41-A 14 December 2011



islt/A
upon personal dignity) pursuant to Articles 6(1) and 6(3) of the Statute.2r It held him responsible

pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Statute for ordering the murder of Augustin Maharangari and the

crimes committed between 7 and 9 April 7994 at Kigali area roadblocks.22 It further found

Bagosora responsible as a superior under Article 6(3) of the Statute for the killings of prime

Minister Agathe Uwilingiyimana, Joseph Kavaruganda, Fr6ddric Nzamurambaho,

Landoald Ndasingwa, Faustin Rucogoza, ten Belgian peacekeepers, and Alphonse Kabiligi, as well

as killings committed at Centre Christus, Kibagabaga Mosque, Kabeza, the Saint Josephite Centre,

Karama Hill, Kibagabaga Catholic Church, Gikondo Parish, Gisenyi town, Mudende University,

and Nyundo Parish.23 The Trial Chamber also found Bagosora responsible as a superior for the

rapes committed at the Kigali area roadblocks, the sexual assault of the Prime Minister, the tornrre

of Alphonse Kabiligi, the rapes and stripping of female refugees at the Saint Josephite Centre, the

rapes at Gikondo Parish, and the "sheparding" of refugees to Gikondo Parish where they were

killed, and on these bases convicted him of rape and other inhumane acts as crimes against

humanity, as well as outrages upon personal dignity as a serious violation of Article 3 common to

the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol [.24 The Trial Chamber sentenced Bagosora to

life imprisonment.2s

8. The Trial Chamber found Ntabakuze guilty of genocide, crimes against humanify (murder,

extermination, persecution, and other inhumane acts), and serious violations of Article 3 common to

the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II (violence to life) pursuant to Article 6(3) of

the Statute.'u It held him responsible for the crimes committed against Tutsi civilians in the Kabeza

area of Kigali on 7 and 8 April 1994, at Nyanza hill on 11 April L994, and at the Institut rifricain et

mnuricien de statistiques et d'4conomie in the Remera area of Kigali around 15 April lgg4.27

The Trial Chamber sentenced Ntabakuze to [fe imprisonment.2s

9. The Trial Chamber acquitted Gratien Kabiligi on all counts.2e

]] friat Judgement, para.2258.
" Trial Judgement, paras. 2158, 2186,2194,2213,2245. The Trial Chamber was satisfied that Bagosora was also liable
as a superior under Article 6(3) of the Statute for the crime of genocide and the killings committed at Kigali area
roadblocks and took it into account in sentencing. See Trial Judgement, paras. 2158, 2186,2194,2213,2245,2n2.t3 Trial Judgement, paras. 2040, 2L58, 2186, 2194, 2203, ZZI3, 2224, 2245.'- Trial Judgement, pans. 2203, 2224, 2254.

1l Trial Judgement, para.2277 .
'o Trial Judgement, para.2258.
'' Tri at .Tudgement, pans. 926, 927, 1 427 - 1 429, 2062-2067, 2226.
-" Trial Judgement, para.2278.
"  Tr ia i  Judgement.  para.  2251. l .

Case No. ICTR-98-41-A 14 December 2011



3swh
C. The Appeals

10. Nsengiyumva, Bagosora, and Ntabalmze filed appeals against the Trial Judgement. The case

of Ntabakuze was severed from that of Nsengiyumva and Bagosora in the course of the appeal

proceedings.30

11. Nsengiyumva presents fifteen grounds of appeal challenging his convictions and sentence.3l

He requests that the Appeals Chamber set aside his convictions and enter a judgement of acquittal.32

12. Bagosora presents six grounds of appeal containing numerous sub-grounds challenging his

convictions and sentence." He requests that the Appeals Chamber reverse his convictions and enter

a judgement of acquittal or, in the alternative, order a retrial.3a

13. The Prosecution responds that the appeals of Nsengiyumva and Bagosora should be

dismissed.3s

14. The Appeals Chamber heard oral submissions regarding these appeals on 30 March,

31 March, and 1 April 2OI1. The Appeals Chamber also heard the additional evidence of

Marcel Gatsinzi, a witness of the Appeals Chamber, in relation to Bagosora's appeal.36

30 See Annex A, hocedural History.
3r Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, paras.4-46 (pp. a-28); Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 11-303.
" Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 46 (p. 28); Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 10, 303.
" Bagosora Notice of Appeal, pp. 5-14; Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 8-334.
'" Bagosora Notice of Appeal, p. 14; Bagosora Appeal Brief, p. 49.
'- i 'rosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para.324; Prosecution Response Rrief (Bagosora),paras.7,254
'o ;\T. 30 March 2011 pp.4-41 .
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II. STANDARDS OFAPPELLATE REVIEW

15. The Appeals Chamber recalls the applicable standards of appellate review pursuant to

Article 24 of the Statute. The Appeals Chamber reviews only errors of law which have the potential

to invalidate the decision of the Trial Chamber and errors of fact which have occasioned a

miscarriage of justice. 37

Regarding errors of law, the Appeals Chamber has stated:

Where a parry alleges that there is an error of law, that party must advance arguments in support of
the submission and explain how the error invalidates the decision. However, if the appellant's
arguments do not support the contention, that party does not automatically lose its point since the
Appeals Chamber may step in and, for other reasons, find in favour of the contention that there is
an elTor of law.'o

17. Where the Appeals Chamber finds an error of law in the trial judgement arising from the

application of an incorrect legal standard, the Appeals Chamber will articulate the correct legal

standard and review the relevant facfual findings of the Trial Chamber accordingly.tn In so doing,

the Appeals Chamber not only corrects the legal error, but, when necessary, also applies the correct

legal standard to the evidence contained in the trial record and determines whether it is itself

convinced beyond reasonable doubt as to the factual finding challenged by the appellant before that

finding may be confirmed on appeal.4

18. Regarding errors of fact, it is well established that the Appeals Chamber will not lightly

overturn findings of fact made by the Trial Chamber:

Where the Defence alleges an elroneous frnding of fact, the Appeals Chamber must give deference
to the Trial Chasrber that received the evidence at trial, and it will only interfere in those findings
where no reasonable trier of fact could have reached the same f-rnding or where the finding is
wholly erroneous. Furthermore, the.erroneous frnding will be revoked or revised only if the error
occasioned a miscarriage of justice.al

19. A party cannot merely repeat on appeal arguments that did not succeed at trial, unless it can

demonstrate that the Trial Chamber's rejection of those arguments constituted an error warranting

the intervention of the Appeals Chamber.ot Arguments which do not have the potential to cause the

'' See, e.g., Munyakazi Appeal Judgement, para. 5; Muvunyi Appeal Judgement of 1 April 2OII, para.. 7; Renzaho
App"a Judgement, para. 7 .
'o Ntakirutimana AppealJudgement, para. 11 (internal citation omitted). See also, e.g., Munyakazi Appeal Judgement,
pga.6; setako Appeal Judgement, para. 8; Muvunyi Appeal Judgement of 1 April2011, para. 8.
"' See, e.g., Munyakazi Appeal Judgement, para.7; Setako Appeal Judgement, para. 9; Muvunyi Appeal Judgement of
I April 2011, para. 9.
ou See, e.g., Munyakazi Appeal Judgement, para.7; Setako Appeal Judgement, para. 9; Muvunyi Appeal Judgement of
l,nptit 2oll,pan.9.
*' Krstii Appeal Judgement, para. 40 (internal citations omitted). See also Munyakali Appeal Judgement, para. 8;
S.etnko Appeal Judgement, para. 10; MuvunyiAppeal Judgement of I April 2011, para. 10.*' Sr:e, e.g., Munl,akazi Appeal Judgement, para. 9: Setuko Appeal Juclgement, para. l 1; Mutl'n),i Appeal Jr"rcigement of
1 Apr i l  2011.  para.  11.

16.
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impugued decision to be reversed or revised may be immediately dismissed by the Appeals

Chamber and need not be considered on the merits.43

20. In order for the Appeals Chamber to assess arguments on appeal, the appealing party must

provide precise references to relevant transcript pages or paragraphs in the decision or judgement to

which the challenge is made.* Moreover, the Appeals Chamber cannot be expected to consider a

party's submissions in detail if they are obscure, contradictory, vague, or suffer from other formal

and obvious insuffrciencies.as Finally, the Appeals Chamber has inherent discretion in selecting

which submissions merit a detailed reasoned opinion in writing, and it will dismiss arguments

which are evidently unfounded without providing detailed reasoning.a6

ot Sr", e.g., Munyakazi Appeal Judgement, para. 9; Setako Appeal Judgement, para. 11; Muvunyi Appeal Judgement of
I April 2011, para. 11.
e hactice Direction on Formal Requirements for Appeals from Judgement, 15 June 2007, para. 4(b). See also, e.g.,
Munyakazi Appeal Judgement, para. 10; Setako Appeal Judgement, para. 12; Muvunyi Appeal Judgement of
1 April 2OIl, para. 12.
nt See, e.g., Munyakazi Appeal Judgement, para. 10; Setako Appeal Judgement, para. l2', Muvunyi Appeal Judgement of
1 April2O11,para.12.
o" See,e.g.,Munyakaz.i Appeal . ludgement,para. 10: Setako AppealJudgement, para"12',Mtnrtnyi AppeaiJudgementof
1  Ap r i l  2O1 I ,pa ra .12 .
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A. Alleged Invalidity of the Trial.Iudeement (Ground 1.)

2L. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Judgement is void for violating Article 22 of the Statute

because by the time the Trial Chamber issued the reasoned opinion required to accompany its

judgement, the mandate of one of the Judges had tenninated.a1 He provides a letter from the

Registrar confirming that Judge Jai Reddy resigned from the Tribunal with effect from

31 December 2008,48 and contends that this Judge was therefore not capable of signing the written

judgement when it was issued on 9 February 2009, notwithstanding its backdating to

18 December 2008.ae He submits that the Trial Chamber specified during the oral pronouncement

of its verdict on 18 December 2008 that the summa.ry it read out was neither binding nor

authoritative.t0 He claims that the authoritative written judgement could only have been ready for

signing after that date, likely on or about 9 February 2009, when it was filed.5r

22. The Prosecution responds that the filing date of the written judgement does not necessarily

imply that it was the date of signature, and that Nsengiyumva offers no evidence that the written

judgement was signed by the Judges after the mandate of one Judge had terminated.s2It argues that

all three Judges took part in the trial process, deliberated on the charges against the co-Accused, and

rendered the judgement on these charges on 18 December 2008 when they read the verdicts aloud

in open court.s3

23. The Appeals Chamber recalls that, pursuant to Arlicle 22 of the Statute, "[t]he judgement

shall be rendered by a majority of the judges of the Trial Chamber, and shall be delivered by the

Trial Chamber fn public. It shall be accompanied by a reasoned opinion in writing, to which

separate or dissenting opinions may be appended". Similarly, Rules 88(A) and (C) of the Rules of

Procedure and Evidence of the Tribunal ("Rules") provide that "[t]he judgement shall be

pronounced in public", "rendered by a majority of the Judges", and "accompanied or followed as

soon as possible by a reasoned opinion in writing".

24. In the present case, the Trial Judgement was rendered unanimously and delivered in public

on 18 December 2008. It was followed by a written reasoned opinion on 9 February 2009. On the

a7 Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 4; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 1 l.
"" Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, Annex A, Letter from the Registrar dated 20 January 2010.
"' Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 4; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 11.
'u Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 4; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 11.
" Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 4; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, pzra. 11.
" Prosccution Response Bricf (Nsengiyumva), para. 10.
" Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para- I 7. See- also ihitl., para. 12.
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day of the delivery of the Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber pronounced its verdict and sentence,

and provided an oral summary of the judgement, highlighting key findings. It specified that:

The judgement nmounts to several hundred pages. The Chamber will now read out its srrmmary.
Only the key findings can be higtrlighted here. The full text of the judgement will be available in
the coming days after the conclusion of the editorial process. It contains many incidents where the
Prosecution did not prove its case. A French translation will be provided in due course. This
sunmary is not binding. Only the written judgement is authoritative.'*

25. While the oral sunmary of the Trial Chamber's findings was not authoritative, the verdicts

and sentences pronounced on 18 December 2008 were. The reasoned opinion which followed was

simply a written version of the judgement. The Appeals Chamber considers it to be clear from the

statement noted above that the written reasoned opinion was complete at the time of the delivery of

the judgement on 18 December 2008 and that what followed was merely the completion of the

editorial process.ss Nsengiyumva does not demonstate that Judge Reddy failed to fulfilhis judicial

duties in this case prior to the expiration of his mandate on 31 December 2008.

26- The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Nsengiyumva has tailed to demonstrate a

violation of Article 22 of the Statute, or that the Trial Judgement is void. Nsengiyumva's

First Ground of Appeal is accordingly dismissed.

38q3lA

t ' ' I ' .  18 December 2008 pp. 2, 3.
\5 Sr.e also Trial Judgement, fn. 1, para. 2368.
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B. dleged Errors Relatine to the Fairness of the Proceedings (Ground 12)

27. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber committed numerous enors of law and fact

which violated his right to a fair trial and caused him prejudice.s6 Specifically, he alleges that his

right to an initial appearance without delay, his right to be tried without undue delay, his right to be
present at trial, and his right to have relevant and material evidence disclosed to him during trial

were violated.sT He also asserts that the Trial Chamber erred in relation to the admission of

evidence.58

28. Nsengiyumva was arrested on 27 March 1996 and transferred to the Tribunal on

23 January IggT.se His initial appearance was held on 19 February 1997.60In the Trial Judgement,

the Trial Chamber considered that Nsengiyumva noted the delay between his transfer and his initial

appearance in his submissions on notice in his Closing Brief, but did not "specifically claim that his

rights were violated".6l

29. Nsengiyumva submits that his right to an initial appearance without delay was violated due

to the delay of nearly ten months between his arest and transfer to Arusha, and the 27 days between

his transfer and plea.62 He argues that the Trial Chamber erroneously stated that he did not raise the

issue of his rights being violated by these delays.63 He contends that these delays were comparable

to those faced by his co-accused Gratien Kabiligi, and since the Trial Chamber found that Kabiligi's

rights were violated by such delays, it ought to have made the same finding in his case.6o

30. The Prosecution responds that Nsengiyumva tailed to expressly challenge any delay

between his transfer to the Tribunal and his initial appearance either during trial or in his Closing

Brief, and that, in any event, he does not establish that there was undue delay or that he suffered
prejudice.65

s6 Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, pans.37-4L (pp.22,23); Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 232-260.'' Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, paras. 38-41 (pp.22,23); Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. Z3Z-Z3B,24I-260.
il f*lgtf"qva Notice of Appeal, pan.37 (p.22); Nsengiyumva Appeal Briif, paras. 239,240.'-' SeeTnaJ Judgement, para.7l.
* See Trial Judgement, para. 86.

:: Trial Judgement, para. 86, referring to The Prosecutor v. Thioneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T,
Nsengiyumva Defence Confidential Unredacted Final Brief Pursuant to Rule 86(8) of the Rules of procedure and
Evidence, confidential, 23 Aprrl 200J, as corrected by Conigendum to the[] Nsengiyumva Defence Confidential
Unredacted Final Brief Pursuant to Rule 86(B) of the Rules of Procedure ana gviaJnte Filed on Z3'd April 2007,
confidential, 25 May 2007 ("Nsengiyumva Closing Brief '), para.2I.
"' Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 39 (p. 23); Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. z3z,233.
"' Nsengiyumva AppeaI Brief, para. 232.
* Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief , para.233.
o' Prosccution Itesponsc Brief (Nsengi yurnvrL), paras. 244, 245 .
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31. The Trial Chamber did not err in finding that Nsengiyumva made no specific submission

that his rights were violated by the delay between his transfer and initial appearance but merely

referred to such delay in the context of his submissions on notice in his Closing Brief.66 In contrast,

Nsengiyumva made detailed submissions on the alleged violation of his fair trial rights with respect

to notice.67 Nsengiyumva fails to point to any other instance on the trial record demonstrating that

he raised this issue during trial. The Appeals Chamber recalls that if a party raises no objection to a

particular issue before the Trial Chamber, in the absence of special circumstances, the Appeals

Chamber will find that the party has waived its right to adduce the issue as a valid ground of

appeal.68 The Appeals Chamber accordingly finds that Nsengiyumva has waived his right to raise

this issue on appeal.6e

2.

32. Nsengiyumva submits that his right to be tried without undue delay has been "consistently

violated'.7o Fle contends that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he failed to expressly

challenge the delay in the trial in his Closing Briefl and that "there [was] no undue delay in the

proceedings as a whole that [was] specifically attributable to any party or the Tribunal".72

Nsengiyumva notes that the Trial Chamber acknowledged that some of the individual cases could

have started earlier had the Prosecution not requested a joint trial and amendment of the

indictments, and he argues that the Trial Chamber erred in dismissing his claims of error and

prejudice arising from the joinder process and in asserting that the delay was not attributable to any

paty.13 He further claims that he was prejudiced by the delays in the filing of the Prosecution's

motions for joinder and amendment of the indictment, and by the Trial Chamber's belated issuance

of important decisions.Ta

I friat Judgement, para. 86. See also Nsengiyumva Closing Brief, paras. 18-33.
o' See, e.g., Nsengiyumva Closing Brief, paras. 31, 33-38, 44,48,50.
uo See Musema Appeal Judgement, para. I27; Akayesu Appeat Judgement, paras. 361, 3'10, 375, 376; Celebiii Appeal
J^udgement, paras. 640, 649,650; Kambanda Appeal Judgemenl paras. 25, 28; Tadii Appeal Judgement, para. 55.
o" See Boikoski and Tariulovski Appal Judgement, pan. 244 ("The Appeals Chamber recalls that a party is required to
raise formally any issue of contention before the Trial Chamber either during trial or pre-trial; failure to do so may
result in the complainant having waived his right to raise the issue on appeal." (internal citation omitted)).
'u Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 38 (p.22).
" Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 234. Nsengiyumva argues that this finding resulted from a misunderstanding of his
submissions, and emphasises that he protested the delay at the start of the trial by way of motion. See idem.
'' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 235.
" Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 235, 236- Nsengiyumva submits that the Prosecution's efforts for joinder
substantially contributed to the delay of over four years from the date initially set for trial and of over five years from
the date of plea to trial. See ibid., para. 236.
'* Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 236-238, referring to Tlte Prosecutor v. Anatole Nsengiyumva, Case
No. ICTR-96-12-I, Decision on the Defence Motion on Defects in the Form of the Indictment, dated 15 May 2000, fiied
l6May2000 ("Decision Ordering the Filing of Particulars"); TltePro.secutor v. Anatol,e N.sengiyum.va., Case
No. ICTR-96-12-I, Decision on the Defence Motion to Strike out the Indich-eent, 24May 1999. Nsengiyumva points
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33. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber was cognisant of issues relating to delay in

reaching its findings, and that Nsengiyumva's remaining submissions are unsubstantiated and do

not demonstrate that the delav was undue.75

34. Having carefully reviewed Nsengiyumva's Closing Briel the Appeals Chamber considers

that the Trial Chamber did not en in finding that Nsengiyumva failed to expressly claim therein that

his right to be tried without undue delay was violated.T6 However, the Trial Chamber explicitly

noted that Nsengiyumva raised the issue of delay in his trial in his Closing Brief in the context of

his submissions on notice,11 and included Nsengiyumva in its consideration of whether there had

been undue delay in the proceedings with respect to all four co-Accused.78

35. The Trial Chamber acknowledged that the proceedings had been lengthy, but considered

that, in view of the size and complexity of the trial, there had been no undue delay in their

conduct.Te In making this detennination, the Trial Chamber acknowledged that "some of the

individual cases" could have commenced earlier had the kosecution not requested amendment of

the indictments and joinder.8o However, it considered that "these procedures are provided for in the

Rules and were warranted in order to reflect the full scope and joint nature of [the co-Accused's]

alleged criminal conduct".8l Accordingly, it concluded that there was no undue delay in the

proceedings as a whole that was attributable to any party or the Tribunal.s2

36. The Appeals Chamber considers that Nsengiyumva merely repeats on appeal objections

which the Trial Chamber already addressed.83 He fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred

in its consideration of these submissions. Similarly, Nsengiyumva's submission that he was

prejudiced by the Trial Chamber's delay in rendering key decisions amounts to a mere assertion

without demonstrating how he was prejudiced, and is therefore summarily dismissed.

37. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber considered numerous factors in

deciding that Nsengi5rumva's right to a fair trial had not been infringed. These factors included: the

number of accused; the number of indictments; the scope, number, and gravity of the crimes

charged against the co-Accused; the vast amount of evidence; the "massive amounts" of disclosure

out that these decisions were issued 8 and 16 months after the filing of the relevant motions, respectively.
S-ee Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, fn. 475.
" Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras. 246, 247 .

:: Trial Judgement, para. 73, fn. 42.
" See Trial Judgement, fn. 42. The Trial Chamber also acknowledged that it had heard submjssions from the parties,
including Nsengiyumva, with respect to alleged prejudice and delay during the trial. See ibid., para. 82, fn. 52.'o See Trial Judgement, paras. 73-84.
" Trial Judgement, paras. 78, 84.
''.'Trial Judgement, para. 82.
"' ' .[r ia-l 

Judgement. para. 82.
" Trial Judgement, para.8Z.
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and the subsequent need for intervals between the trial segments to allow the parties to prepare; the

need for translation; the securing of witnesses and documents located around the world; and the

complexity of the case.to Nsengiyumva fails to discuss these factors or to challenge the Trial

Chamber's reliance upon them.

38. The Appeals Chamber recognises that the substantial length of the proceedings in this case

resulted in a long period of pre-judgement detention for Nsengiyumva. However, it finds that

Nsengiyumva has failed to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the proceedings

had not been unduly delayed. Nsengiyumva's submissions in this regard are therefore dismissed.

3. Alleged Violation of the Right to Be Present at Trial

39. Nsengiyumva was not present at his trial on 8, 9, 10, and 13 November 2006 and, while he

attended the proceedings on 14 November 2006, he was absent for the remainder of the trial session

which concluded on 12 December 2006.8s The Trial Chamber found that his absence was justified

by his medical condition until 13 November 2006 but that, after that date, he was absent without

justification.s6 Applying the proportionality principle relating to the restriction of fundamental

rights, it held that there was no violation of Nsengiyumva's right to be present at trial between 8 and

13 November 2006.81 Subsequently, the Trial Chamber denied Nsengiyumva's request to recall

eight witnesses heard in his absence reasoning that his case was closed, that none of the witnesses

was adverse to him, and that the witnesses heard had limited significance to his case.88

40. Nsengiyumva submits that his right to be present at trial was violated.8e He contends that the

Trial Chamber erred in finding that he was not prejudiced by the continuation of his trial in his

absence and in denying his request to recall witnesses who testified in his absence.s In support of

his claims, he argues that the Trial Chamber erred in: (i) finding that his absence was not justifred

after 13 November 2006; (ii) finding that his Defence case was closed; and (iii) misapplying the

principle of proportionality.e I

83 See Trial Judgement, pan.82.
u See TialJudgement, paras. 78-84.
E5 See Trial Judgement, para. 130.
86 See Trial Judgement, para. 130, referring to The Prosecutor v. Tlzioneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T
Decision on Nsengiyumva Motion for Adjour[n]ment Due to Illness of the Accused, 17 November 2006 ("Decision
Denying Adjournmenf'); The Prosecutor v. Th4oneste Bagosora et aI., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T, Decision on
Nsengiyumva Motions to Call Doctors and to Recall Eight Witnesses, 19 April 2007 ("Decision Denying Recall of
Witnesses"), paras. 1-10, 19.
o'Trid Judgement, paras. 131, 132.
'o Decision Denying Recall of Witnesses, paras. 21,22, p. 8; Trial Judgement, para. 133.
"' Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 40 (p.23).
e0 Nscngiyumva Appeal BiLef , para. 241.
' '  Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 241-252.
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41. The Prosecution responds that Nsengiyumva fails to show any error or abuse of discretion

on the part of the Trial Chamber, or to explain how he was prejudiced by the continuation of the
trial in his absence.e2It also submits that Nsengiyumva attempts to re-litigate on appeal submissions

which were unsuccessfirl during trial and that he waived his right to appeal the Decision Denying

Recall of Witnesses by not challenging it at trial.e3

42. The Appeals Chamber notes that Nsengiyumva made clear in his Closing Brief that the Trial

Chamber's decision to continue the trial in his absence and deny the recall of witnesses were issues

of contention.eo It therefore considers that Nsengiyumva did not waive his right to raise the issue on

appeal and turns to consider it.e5

43. Before doing so, the Appeals Chamber emphasises that the accused's right to be tried in his

presence provided under Article 20(4Xd) of the Statute is not absolute. An accused can waive or

forfeit his right to be present at trial.e6 Th" Appeals Chamber further recalls that in determining

whether to restrict any statutory right of an accused, the Trial Chamber must take into account the
proportionality principle, pursuant to which any restriction of a fundamental right must be in service

of a sufficiently important objective and must impair the right no more than is necessary to

accomplish the objective.eT

(a) Justification for the Absence

44. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chzrmber erroneously found that, after

13November2006, he was absent from his trial without justification.es He argues that the Trial

Chamber erred in declining to call the three doctors engaged by the Tribunal to report on his health

for cross-examination as their reports that he was fit to attend trial were contradicted by "a detailed

and reasoned report [from his family doctor] of his inability to attend trial".ee

45. The Trial Chamber denied Nsengiyumva's request to hear oral evidence on his medical

condition from the three Tribunal doctors on the grounds that the medical reports fi1ed by them and

e2 Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para.252.
" Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para.253.
" Nsengiyumva closing Brief, paras. 3306-334L- see also Trial Judgement, para. 12g.
" See Boikoski and Tariulovski AppealJudgement, para.244.
e6 Prosecutor v. Jovica Staniiii aid Frankisimatoiti, Case No. IT-03-69 -AR73.2,Decision on Defence Appeal of the
Decision on Future Course of Proceedings, 16 May 2Cr],8 ("staniiii and Simatovii Appeal Decision of 16 May 200g',),
para. 6; The Prosecutor v. Edouard Karemera et al-, Case No. ICTR-98-44-AR13.10, Decision on Nzirorerais
Interlocutory Appeal Concerning his Right to be Present at Trial, 5 October 2007 ("Karemera et al. Appeal Decision of
5 October 20U"), para. 11; Protais Zigiranyirazo v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-01-73-anig, Decision on
Interlocutory Appeal, 30 October 2OO6 ("Zigiranyirazo Appeal Decision of 30 October 2006,,),para. 14.'' Stanilii and Simatovii Appeal Decision of 16 May 2008, para. 6; Karemera et iI. Appeal Decision of
5 october 2007, pan. lr; Zigiranyirazo Appeal Decision of 30 october 2006, para. 14.'o Nsengiyumva Appeal Rriel. para.244.
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by Nsengiyumva's family doctor "were detailed and self-explanatory".100 As such, it "did not see a

need for additional evidence through live testimorry".tot In making this determination, the Trial

Chamber duly took into account the medical report submitted by the Defence on

11December2006, which stated that Nsengiyumva was unfit to stand trial.102 In weighing "the

differences in opinion between the three medical doctors engaged by the Tribunal, on the one hand,

and [Nsengiyrmva]'s family doctor, on the other" and considering that the Defence's medical

report was filed when "less than two days remained in the trial session", the Trial Chamber decided

to proceed with the conclusion of the trial session.lo3

46. The Appeals Chamber recalls that decisions regarding the conduct of trial, including the

right of the accused to be present, are discretionary.loa Nsengiyumva has failed to show that the

Trial Chamber's refusal to hear oral evidence on the medical reports amounted to an abuse of the

Trial Chamber's discretion in light of its frnding that the reports were detailed and self-explanatory.

47. Furthermore, Nsengiyumva fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding

that, after 13 November 2006, his absence had not been substantiated by the Tribunal's medical

section.los He provides no arguments in support of his contention beyond the assertion that the

doctors should have given oral testimony. This argument is accordingly dismissed.

48. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Nsengiyumva has failed to

demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that his absence after 13 November 2006 was

not justified by good cause. The Appeals Chamber considers that, by voluntarily absenting himself

from the courtroom without medical justification accepted by the Trial Chamber, Nsengiyumva

forfeited his right to be tried in his presence under Article 20(4)(d) of the Statute. In these

circumstances, Nsengiyumva cannot claim prejudice from the continuation of the trial in his

absence from 15 November to 12 December 2006.

ee Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 244, refening to Decision Denying Recall of Witnesses.
'* T. !2 December 2006 pp. 7, 11; Decision Denying Recall of Witnesses, para. 13.
t01 T. 12 December 2006 pp. 7, 11; Decision Denying Recall of Witnesses, para. 13.
r02 .See Decision Denying Recall of Witnesses, paras. 7, 12, 13.
'"' Decision Denying Recall of Witnesses, para- 13. See also T. 12 December 2006 pp. 7, 11; Decision Denying Recall
of Witnesses, para. 19; Trial Judgement, para. 130.
loo ,See, e.g., Kalimanz.ira Appeal Judgement, para. 14; Rukundo Appeal Judgement, para. 147; Karemera et al. Appeal
Decision of 5 October 2O0'1 . oara. 1 .
t"t'r.ial Judgement, p-u. t:0.
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O) Close of Nsengiyumva's Defence Case

49. Nsengiyumva contends that the Trial Chamber erred in justifying its decision to continue the

trial despite his absence and challenges its view that his Defence case was closed.106 He argues that

his Defence case could not have been considered closed since: (i) Luc Marchal was a joint Defence

witness for both Nsengiyumva and Gratien Kabiligi;lo7 and (ii) it was a joint trial and the Trial

Chamber had accepted that each co-Accused would call witnesses based upon their availability.los

50. A review of the trial record reveals that the presentation of evidence by Nsengiyumva's

Defence team concluded on 13 October 2006, with the exception of a pending application to admit

75 documents, and the further re-examination of Nsengiyumva for the purpose of tendering the

documents which were the subject of his pending application.loe The final trial session was used

exclusively to hear Gratien Kabiligi's Defence case, with the exception of four witnesses called by

Bagosora, one witness called by Ntabakuze, and the further re-examination of Nsengiyumva.llo

51. The Appeals Chamber notes that Nsengiyumva initially intended to call Luc Marchal as his

witness jointly with the other co-Accused.lll However, Luc Marchal appeared in court only as

Gratien Kabiligi' s witness. I 12

52- The Appeals Chamber further notes that at the Status Conference of 13 October 2006,

Nsengiyumva took the position that his case was not closed. He argued that in a joint trial a case is

closed only once all evidence is presented, not merely evidence in respect of each accused

separately.ll3 However, Nsengiyumva conceded that this position "may have no practical

consequences".ll4

16 Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 242, referring toTiatJudgement, para. 131.'"' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 242. See also ibid., pa,ra- 2i2(c).'* Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 242, citing T. 28 February 2005 p. 7;T. r March 2005 p. g.
'"' See Status Conference, T. 13 October 2006 pp. 9, 10 (closed session). See also Decision Denying Adjournment,
para. 1. See also Trial Judgement, para. 2359 (Annex A: Procedural History). Nsengiyumva's testim6ny fioistred oo
13 October 2006. See Nsengiyumva, T. 13 October 2006 pp. Ll, L2. However, the Defence sought to exaurine him
further on the basis of three binders of documents with the view of tendering the documents as exhibits. See Status
Conference, T. 13 October 2006 p. 7; Nsengiyumva, T. 12 December 2006 p.1. See also The Prosecutor v. Th1oneste
Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T, Decision on Nsengiyumva Motion to Admit Documents as Exhibits
26 February 2007 ("Decision Denying Admission of Evidence"), paras. 1, 2.
"" See Decision Denying Adjournmenq prra. 1; Trial Judgemenr, pan.2359; T. 6, 8-10, 13-17,20-ZZ,
27-30 November 2006; T. 1,4-7 December 2006;T.15, 16, 18 January 2007.
"' The Prosecutor v. Anatole Nsengiyumva, Case No. ICTR-98-41-T, List of Defence Witnesses to be Called Durine
$p Trial, confidential, 3 January 2005 ("Nsengiyumva Witness List',), p. 52.
"' T. 30 November 2Cf,6 p. 2;T. 4 December 2006 p.3. Counsel for Nsengiyumva did not examine the witness due to
Nsengiyumva's absence. SeeT.4 December 2006 p.3.
"' Status Conference, T. 13 October 2006 p. 10 (closed session). See also The Prosecutor v. Th1oneste Bagosora et al.,
Case No. ICTR-98-41-T, Col. Anatole Nsengiyumva's Submissions on the Timing of Accused's Testimony,
confidential. l5 June 2006- oaras.36-42.
l lo Statt,s Confercnce. T. 

. l 
3^October 2006 p. I0 (closecl session).
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53. Nonetheless, at the time of Nsengiyumva's absence from trial in November 2006, the Trial

Chamber was aware of the possibility that Nsengiyumva would return to the stand to give further

testimony as part of his Defence case.115 The Appeals Chamber considers that in these

circumstances no reasonable Trial Chamber could have concluded that Nsengiyumva's Defence

case was closed. The Trial Chamber therefore erred in relying on this factor to justify its decision to

continue the trial in his absence. The Appeals Chamber will consider the impact, if any, of this error

in the context of the following sub-section, which addresses the other factors the Trial Chamber

relied upon in reaching its decision.

(c) Application of the Proponionality Principle

54. On 8 November 2006, Nsengiyumva's Counsel advised the Trial Chamber that

Nsengiyumva was ill and unable to attend th9 proceedings.ll6 He requested a suspension of the

proceedings as his client did not wish to waive his right to be present.llT He simultaneously filed a

written motion to the same effect.lls After an adjournment of two hours, a medical report by the

Tribunal doctor, Dr. Epee, was produced, stating that "[o]ne week [of] rest is recommended for

[Nsengiyumva's] condition to improve".lle The Trial Chamber ruled that it would proceed in

Nsengiyumva's absence. l2o

55. On 17 November 20}6,the Trial Chamber denied Nsengiyumva's written motion requesting

a suspension of the proceedings. It recalled the proportionality principle whereby "any restriction

on a fundamental right must be in service of a suff,rciently important objective and must impair the

right no more than is necessary to accomplish the objective".l2l It considered that Nsengiyumva's

case was closed and that none of the witnesses called during his absence was adverse or even

relevant to him.lz2 It further noted that it had taken measures to address concems raised by

Nsengiyumva, including deferring the cross-exarnination of witnesses.l23 It considered the potential

impact of an adjournment on the rights of Gratien Kabiligi, including the risk of losing witnesses,

"s See Status Conference, T. 13 October 2006 pp. 7, 8 (closed session). Nsengiyumva testified on 4-6, 9,
11-13 October 2006 and continued his testimony on 15 and 18 January 2007.
ttu T. 8 November 2006 p. 1.
ttt T.8 November 2006p.2.
ttg Th" Prosecutor v. Thioneste Bagosora et al., Czse No. ICTR-98-41-T, Urgent Nsengiyumva Defence Motion
Requesting Suspension of Trial on Medical Grounds (Pursuant to Article (20X4Xd) of the Statute and Rule 82(a) of the
Rules), confidential, 8 November 2006.
rre Exhibit DNS229A (Dr. Epee's Medical Report dated 7 November 2006); T. 8 November 2006 p. 7 (closed session).
See also The Prosecutor v. Th4oneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T, The Registrar's Submissions in Respect
of "Urgent Nsengiyumva Defence Motion Requesting Suspension of Trial on Medical Grounds", confidential,
13 November 2006 ("Registrar's Submissions on Nsengiyumva's Request for Suspension of Trial").
tto T. 8 November 2006 pp. 3, 10 (closed session).
r2r l)ecision Denying Adjournment , para.7 , referring to Zigirau,irazo Appeal I)ecision of 30 October 2006, p*a. 14.
r22 l)ecision Denying Adjournment, Daras. 9,11,12.
r23 Decision Denying Adjournment, para. 10.

Case No. ICTR-98-41-A

L6

14 December 2011



3BEtrln
and concluded that there was "a much greater threat of prejudice to the Accused Kabiligi than the

speculative and remote prejudice to the Accused Nsengiyumva".l24 On 19 April 2007, the Trial

Chamber reaffirmed its reasoning in its Decision Denying Recall of Witnesses.r25

56. In his Closing Brief, Nsengiyumva again alleged that his right to be present at trial was

violated.l26 In the Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber concluded that there was no violation of

Nsengiyumva's right to be present between 8 and 13 November 2006, reasoning that:

fNsengiyumva's] Defence case had closed; measures had been taken to address all reasonable
concerns raised by the Defence; there was no showing of the relevance to the Accused of any
tesrimony heard in his absence; and the risk of losing witnesses due to an adjournment posed a
much greater threat of prejudice to Kabiligi than the speculative and remote prejudice to
Nsengiyumva. In imposing its narrow four day restriction on Nsengiyumva's right to be present at
trial, the Chamber considered more than just the relevance of the evidence to him, for example the
real threat of prejudice to his co-accused. In the Chamber's view, this was in conforrrity with the
proportionality principle, pursuant to which any restriction on a fundamental right must be in
service of a sufficiently important objective and must impafu the right no more than is necessary to
accomplish the objective. Finally, it should be noted that this case was in a different procedural
stage than in others [sic] cases where the Appeals Chamber has found a violation of the right to be
oreient.l2T

57. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber erred in applying the 'proportionality test".128

He argues that the Trial Chamber erred in: (i) failing to recognise that the rights of an accused in a

joint trial are the same as those of an accused in a single accused trial; (ii) failing to consider

alternative solutions, such as a short adjournment, particularly in light of the length of the period in

dispute and the fact that nothing suggested that witnesses might not remain available; (iii) failing to

advance any compelling reason outweighing his fundamental right to be present; (iv) conditioning

his right to be present on whether the witnesses were to testify about his acts and conduct because

evidence that impeaches Prosecution witnesses is key to rebutting charges and, as such, of no less

relevance than evidence going to his acts and conduct; and (v) concluding that the risk of losing

witnesses due to an adjournment posed a much greater threat of prejudice to Kabiligi.l2e

He reiterates that the witnesses he was not authorised to recall could have provided favourable

testimony upon matters about which the Trial Chamber ultimately made adverse findings.l30

58. One of the principal factors which led the Trial Chamber to deny the adjoumment was that

none of the witnesses due to testify during Nsengiyumva's absence was adverse or particularly

r2a Decision Denying Adjournment, pal:.. 12.
'" Decision Denying Recall of Witnesses, paras. 18, 19.
"o Nsengiyumva Closing Brief, paras. 3308-3341.
"'Trial Judgement, para. 131 (intemal references omitted).
"o Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 243,245-252.
r2e Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras- 243,245-252.
130 Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 252. Nsengiirumva refers as examples to W.itnesses FB-25, Andr6 Ntagerura,
[.,uc Marchal, and Jacques Duvivicr.
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relevant to him.131 The Appeals Chamber recalls that, in a decision in the Karemera et al. case

rendered on 5 October 2007, it held that "[i]n the circumstances of a joint trial, it is irrelevant for

the purpose of [determining whether to continue trial in absence of an accused due to no fault of his

own] whether or not the witness's testimony was likely to concem the alleged acts and conduct of a

co-accused only".t" However, the Appeals Chamber considers that cogent reasons exist for

departing from this particular aspect of the Karemera et al. Appeal Decision of 5 Octob er 2007.

The Appeals Chamber is of the view that, contrary to its statement in the Karemera et aI. case, the

relevance of a witness's testimony to an accused is a factor which can be considered by the Trial

Chamber in determining whether to continue trial in the absence of that accused. It considers that

the statement in the Karemera et aI. Appeal Decision of 5 October 2007 constitutes an unnecessary

restriction on a Trial Chamber's discretion to regulate the conduct of proceedings at trial depending

on the needs and circumstances of each case. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber considers that the

Trial Chamber did not err in relying on this factor in reaching its initial Decision Denying

Adjournment.

59. Nevertheless, the Appeals Chamber accepts Nsengiyumva's submission that the Trial

Chamber tailed to consider alternative solutions in deciding to proceed with hearing the witnesses

in his absence.l33 Although the Trial Chamber did seek to mitigate the prejudice to him by

suggesting that it would be possible to recall the witnesses, it does not appear to have seriously

considered the option of adjourning the trial.134 The Appeals Chamber notes that the medical report

provided on 8 November 2006 clearly stated that Nsengiyumva needed one week's rest.l3s

Accordingly, the information before the Trial Chamber at that time made clear that Nsengiyumva's

absence would not be prolonged.

60. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber also premised its decision to continue

with the trial in part on the ground that the risk of Gratien Kabiligi losing his witnesses due to an

adjoumment posed a greater risk than the speculative prejudice to Nsengiyumva.l36 While the

Appeals Chamber considers that this could have been a legitimate concern, it notes that at no point

r3r Decision Denying Adjournment, paras. 9,7I, 12-
"" Karemera et al. Appeal Decision of 5 October 2ffi1 , para. 15.
t33 See Staniiii and Simatovii Appeal Decision of 16 May 2008, para. 19 C't...1 derogation [to the right to be present] is
not appropriate when reasonable altematives exist.").
"" See T.8 November 2006 pp. 3 ("Meanwhile, we do not think that these proceedings should be suspended. We are at
a very early stage of a new witness's testimony; he is about to commence his examination-in-chief. There is no
suggestion that the information that this witness will come up with is against the Accused."), 7, 8'(closed session);
Decision Denying Adjoumment, para. 10.
'" Registrar's Submissions on Nsengiyumva's Request for Suspension of Trial; Exhibit DNS229A (Dr. Epee's Medical
$eport dated 7 November 2006), pota.7 .
tt" .\"" Decision Denying Adjournment, para
para. 3 1.
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was it actually argued that there was a risk that Kabiligi's witnesses would be unable to attend if the

proceedings were adjourned. The Trial Chamber appears to have speculated that there was a risk

that Gratien Kabiligi's witnesses would have been unable to testify at a later stage.

61. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in relying

on the alleged close of Nsengiyumva's Defence case. It also finds that the risk of Gratien Kabiligi

losing witnesses was not established and that the Trial Chamber tailed to properly consider the

limited length of Nsengiyumva's expected absence. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that

the Trial Chamber erred in its application of the proportionality test. In the circumstances of this

complex and lengthy case, the Appeals Chamber is not satisfied that the expected one week delay to

the trial was sufficient to outweigh Nsengiyumva's statutory right to be present at his own trial

when his absence was due to no fault of his own. The Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial

Chamber erred in continuing the trial during Nsengiyumva's justified absence between 8 and

13 November 2006.

62. The Appeals Chamber is not, however, persuaded that Nsengiyumva suffered any prejudice

as a result of the violation of his right to be present at trial.l37 During Nsengiyumva's medically

justified absence between 8 and 13 November 2006, the Trial Chamber heard the evidence of

Gratien Kabiligi Defence Witnesses N-L-42, YC-03, LAX-Z, and FB-25.r38 Gratien Kabiligi

Defence Witness Bemard Lugan began his testimony on 13 November 2006 and continued it on

14 November 2006, when Nsengiyumva was present, and on 15 and 16 November 2006, when

Nsengiyumva was absent without justification.

63. The Appeals Chamber recalls that, in the Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber concluded that

Nsengiyumva had not suffered any prejudice by not having been given the opportunity to examine

these witnesses when it considered whether he had suffered any prejudice as a result of its decision

not to allow him to recall the witnesses.t3e In a footnote, it reasoned:

It follows from the Nsengiyumva Recall Motion, [...] that the Defence wished to recall
Witness N-L-42 on matters related to RPF ffiltration. The Chamber notes that the alleged
infiltration of Rwanda by the RPF has no bearing on Nsengiyumva's specific crimes. In relation to
Witness[es] LAX-Z and FB-25, they were supposed mainly to impeach Prosecution Witness )O(Q.
The Chamber observes that it has not relied on this witness in relation to Nsengiyumva. Witness
FB-25 would also testify about the duties of operational sector corunanders and ia relationship
with other authorities. The Chamber recalls that Witness FB-25 previously appeared during the
trial as Ntabakuze Defence Witness DM-190, when Nsengiyumva was present. Finally, the
Defence wanted to question Berhard [ric] Lugan about clandestine organisations and

t" The Appeals Chamber recalls that when a party alleges on appeal that the right to a fair trial has been infringed, it
must prove that the violation caused prejudice that amounts to an error of law invalidating the judgement. See Renzaho
*Pp"ut Judgement, para. 196; Haradina,i et al. Appeal Judgement, para. l7; Galii Appeal Judgement, para.2l.rr8 T. 8-10. 13 November 2006.
'to T.ial Judgement, para. 134.
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communication networks. However, the Chamber has not accepted the allegations against the
Accused concerning the various clandestine organisations or his role in plannin;.t4o

A review of Nsengiyumva's Motion to Recall Witnesses shows that the topics on which

Nsengiyumva wished to examine the witnesses were not issues that related to crimes for which he

was ultimately convicted.l4l Furthennore, Nsengiyumva did not seek to recall Witness YC-03 in his

Motion to Recall Witresses, which the Appeals Chamber takes to indicate that he did not consider

his testimony to be relevant.la2 The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that the Trial Chamber did not

err in finding that Nsengiyumva was not prejudiced by the continuation of the trial in his absence or

by the Trial Chamber's refusal to recall the witnesses heard dwing that time.

65. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber's violation of

Nsengiyumva's right to be present at trial did not result in any prejudice to him and, consequently,

does not amount to an error of law invalidating the Trial Chamber's decision.

4. Alleged Erron Relating to the Admission of Evidence

66. On 26 February 2007, the Trial Chamber denied Nsengiyumva's oral motion to recall

Witness DO in order to put a number of documents directly to him, as well as his request for the

admission of 19 documents, most of which were witness statements or pro justitia statements given

to Rwandan authorities. 143

67. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber erred in dismissing his requests to admit the

19 documents and to recall Prosecution Witness DO on the basis that these requests were made

after the evidentiary phase of the trial had been completed, which was too late for their admission to

be considered.la In support of his contention, Nsengiyumva asserts that the Trial Chamber failed to

consider that his late requests resulted from the Prosecution's failure to.disclose the documents in a

timely manner and that he "had no other remedy at that late stage other than a recall of the witness

too Trial Judgement, fn.I23.
tot See The Prosecutor v. Th1oneste Bagosora et al., Case No. 98-41-T, Nsengiyumva Confidential Defence Motion for

the Recall of Witness's lsicl N-L-42, LAX02, FB25, Bemard Lugan, Delta, Andrew Ntagerura, Luc Marchal and
Duvivier AII Who Testified in the Session Beginning lO'nNovember to 13h December 2006 in View of the Material
Prejudice Arising in the Absence of the Accused During their Testimony, confidential, 23 January 2007 ("Nsengiyumva
Motion to Recall Witnesses"), paras.9-I5,2L
ro2 The Appeals Chamber notes that Witness YC-03 testified about a security meeting held in Kigali prefecture at the
end of April 1994 in relation to which Nsengiyumva was neither charged nor convicted. See Trial Judgement,
oaras. 1546. 155 1.
1a3 Decision Denying Admission of Evidence, para. 9 (referring to T . 15 January 2007 p. 15 (closed session)), p. 7.
ra Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 239.The Appeals Chamber notes that, in his Appeal Brief, Nsengiyumva does not
develop any arguments in relation to a number of alleged erroneous decisions concerning admission of evidence cited in
foc.rtnote 74 of his Notice of Appeai. In these circumstances, the Appeals Chamber considers that Nsengiyumva has
abandonerl his allegations of error pertaining to tlrese decisions.

64.
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or admission of evidence".r45 Bgsalling that he was found guilty of killings in Gisenyi town on the
basis of Witness DO's testimony, Nsengiyumva argues that his own testimony on the proffered

documents was no substitute for not admitting them and considering their content.la6 He contends
that the Trial Chamber failed to consider the prejudice caused to him by not admitting the proffered

documents or by not recalling Witness DO, and that the rejection of key aspects of Witness DO's
testimony in the absence of corroboration was an insufficient remedy to the prejudice he suffered.laT

68. The Prosecution responds that Nsengiyumva merely repeats arguments which tailed at trial
without demonstrating that appellate intervention is waranted.las It submits that Nsengiyumva

waived his right to appeal the Decision Denying Admission of Evidence as he did not seek
certification to appeal it during tdal.l4e

69. The Appeals Chamber notes that Nsengiyumva had made clear in his Closing Brief that the
Trial Chamber's decision to deny the admission of the 19 documents and the recall of Witness DO
was an issue of contention.lso It therefore considers that Nsengiyumva did not waive his right to
raise the issue on appeal.l5l

70. The Trial Chamber denied the admission of the 19 documents on the basis that the
documents tendered were either duplicative of other evidence, or because Nsengiyumva had failed
to make a timely request to call the witnesses who authored the statements or recall the relevant

Prosecution witnesses for further cross-examination.ls2 The Appeals Chamber finds no error in the
Trial Chamber's exercise of its discretion. The Trial Chamber's refusal to admit the 19 documents

was based on a careful consideration of their nature, of the circumstances in which they were

obtained by Nsengiyumva, as well as on his failure to provide relevant information and make timely

requests.ls3 Nsengiyumva does not make any submissions regarding the duplicative nature of some
of the evidence proffered, nor does he challenge the dates when he received a number of the
documents or effectively demonstrate that he received the documents belatedly.lsa Apart from

ra5 N-sengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 239. Nsengiyumva challenges the Trial Chamber's finding that he did not seek
certifi.cation to appeal the Decision Denying Admission of Evidence. He argues that he did not do so because by the
time this decision was issued he had to comply with the deadline for filing hii Closing Bief. See idern.ra6 Nsengiyumva Appeal Bief , para. 240.
'-' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 240.
^*" Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras.248,250, fn. 539.'*' Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para.249.
"" Nsengiyumva closing Brief, paras. 3342-336i. see also Trial Judgement, paras. 135-137.
"' See Boikoski and Tariulovsti Appeal Judgement, para.244. Cf. also Pauline Nyiramasuhuko v. The prosecutor.
Case No. ICTR-98-42-AR73.2, Decision on Pauline Nyiramasuhuko's Appeal on tt" Admissibility of Evidence,
4 October 2OM, para.5.
ji] 9ec5io1 Denying Admission of Evidence, pans.2,9-20. See alsoTrialJudgemenr, para. 136.
"' See Decision Denying Admission of Evidence, paras. Z,9-20.
"" Nsengiyuml'a rcfers to transcripts in support of his claim that the Trial Chamber failed to consrder thar documents
had been obtained belatcdly. However, the Appeals Chamber notes that the transcripts citeci do not specity when his
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referring to his motion at trial, Nsengiyumva does not show how the Prosecution's alleged violation

of its disclosure obligations invalidates the Trial Chamber's conclusion.

77. The Trial Chamber also denied Nsengiyumva's oral motion to recall Witness DO on the

ground that "the motion came too late, as the evidentiary phase of the trial had been completed with

the exception of three remaining witnesses to be heard by video-linkrr.15t It stated that "[t]he

Defence had the possibiliry of making the motion earlier, immediately upon discovering or

receiving the documents, and failed to do so".156 Again, Nsengiyumva does not demonstrate that the

Trial Chamber erred. While he claimed at trial that he had received the documents belatedly as a

result of the Prosecution's failure to comply with its disclosure obligations,lsT Nsengiyumva failed

to point to any evidence suggesting that he had obtained the documents so late that he could not

have sought their admission earlier. He similarly fails to do so on appeal.

12. In the Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber further noted that it had considered

Nsengiyumva's testimony about the relevant proffered documents in assessing Witness DO's

credibility, along with other evidence and submissions attempting to impeach the witness.lss

The Trial Chamber noted that it had rejected a number of key aspects of Witness DO's testimory in

the absence of corroboration, but had nonetheless relied on the corroborated and credible part of the

witness's testimony regarding his participation in killings in Gisenyi town on 7 April Igg4.lse

The Appeals Chamber finds no error in this approach. It was open to the Trial Chamber, as the

primary trier of fact, to consider Nsengiyumva's testimony about these documents alongside other

evidence in order to reach its conclusion on Witness DO's credibility. Nsengiyumva's general

submission that his testimony was "no substitute" for consideration of the content of these

documents does not in itself identify any particular error on the part of the Trial Chamber

warranting appellate intervention.

73. Furthermore, contrary to Nsengiyumva's contention, the Trial Chamber did consider the

potential prejudice caused to him by not admitting the 19 documents or recalling Witness DO.l6o

It concluded that, since the proffered documents would not have called into question its findings as

to the involvement of Witness DO in the killings in Gisenyi town, Nsengiyumva suffered no

Defence obtained the relevant documents. See Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 239, referring to T. 15 January 2007
pp. 10-15; T. 18 January 20fl7 pp. 13,14,16, L1.
'" Decision Denying Admission of Evidence, para. 9.
1s6 Decision Denying Admission of Evidence, para. 9.
rs-7 See T. 15 January 2OO7 pp.10-15; T. 18 January 2007 pp. 13, 14, 16, 17 .
''o Trial Judgement, paru. 137, referring to ibid., Section III.3.6.1.
tt'' Triul Judgement, pan. 137 .In so doing, the Trial Chamber took into account that this finding was consistent with thc
conviction of Witness DO before the Rwandan courts. See idem.
'n'' See Trial Judsement. oara. l3']..
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prejudice from its decision not to admit them or to recall Witness Do.tut The Appeals Chamber

finds no error in this approach.

74. Accordingly, Nsengiyumva's submissions alleging errors relating to the admission of

evidence are dismissed.

5. Allesed Errors Relating to Disclosure

15. Nsengiyumva submits that his right to have relevant and material evidence disclosed to him

during trial was violated.l62 Specifically, he alleges that the Trial Chamber erred in relation to the

disclosure of the identity of protected Prosecution witnesses and their unredacted statements, in

particular in relation to Witness '7F.r63

(a) Disclosure Relating to Protected Prosecution Witnesses

76. Following the joinder of the case of Gratien Kabiligi and Ntabakuze to the cases of

Bagosora and Nsengiyumva, the Prosecution moved the Trial Chamber to harmonise the time-frame

within which it had to disclose to the Defence unredacted statements and identification data of

protected Prosecution witnesses.ls Io its Decision on Protective Measures of 29 November 2007,

the Trial Chamber granted the harmonisation of the existing orders concerning protective measures

and ordered that all existing protective measures in the joined case be covered by that decision, but

deferred ordering a specific deadline for disclosure.t65 On 5 December 2001, the Trial Chamber

ordered the Prosecution to disclose the identity of its protected victims and witnesses, as well as

their unredacted statements, no later than 35 days before the protected witness was expected to

testify at trial, "or until such time as the said protected victims or witnesses [were] brought under

the protection of the Tribunal, whichever [was] earlier".l66 The co-Accused filed a joint motion

seeking reconsideration of the Decisions on Protective Measures of Z9November 2001 and

7 December 200I,167 which was denied.168

tfl rria Judgement, para.I37.
'o' Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 41.
'o'Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 253-259.
'n The Prosecutor v. Th4oneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-I, Prosecution Motion for Harmonisation and
Modification of Protective Measwes for Witnesses, 10 July 2001, pans.3-12.
t65 Th" Prosecutor v- Th1oneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-I, Decision on the Prosecution Motion for
Harmonisation and Modification of kotective Measures for Witnesses, 29 November 2O0L ("Decision on Protective
Measures of 29 November 2001"), pan.43.
'uu Th" Prosecutor v. Th1oneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-I, Decision and Scheduling Order on the
Prosecution Motion for Harmonisation and Modification of Protective Measures for Witnesses, dated 5 December 2001.
filed 7 December 2001 ("Decision on Protective Measures of 7 December 2001"), pan.27 .
'6' Tlre Prosecutor v. Th1oneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-I, DefenJe Motion for Reconsideration of the
Trial Chamber's Decisions Rendered on 29 Novemher 2001 , "De,r:ision. on. the Prosecution Motion.l'or llormonisation
und Modiftcution oJ'Protective Mea.sure.s.for Witnesses" and 5 December 200l,"Deci.sion and Sclteduling Order on tlrc
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77. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber erred in requiring the Prosecution to disclose

the identity of protected victims and witnesses and their unredacted statements no later than 35 days

before the expected date of their testimony, rather than 60 days before trial, as provided by the

Rules.l6e He argues that the Decision on Protective Measures of 7 December 2001 violated his right

to timely disclosure and caused him prejudice because: (i) it varied prior decisibns on protective

measures, which were in confornity with the Rules; (ii) the resulting disclosure on a rolling basis

impaired his understanding of the nature of the charges against him and his investigations,

especially since the trial was ongoing; and (iii) without full knowledge of all the witnesses'

statements, his defence was handicapped in cross-examination.lT0 Nsengiyumva further submits ttrat

the Trial Chamber failed to specify the exceptional circumstances related to the witness protection

requirements that justified this violation of his fair trial rights.rTr

78, The Prosecution responds that Nsengiyumva has not demonstrated how he was prejudiced in

his material ability to prepare his defenc e.t1' It also argues that Nsengiyumva impennissibly

reiterates arguments which he already raised at trial, and which the Trial Chamber dismissed.l73

79. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the conduct of trial proceedings, including decisions on

protective measures and disclosure, is a matter which falls within the discretion of Trial

Chambers.l74 This discretion encompasses the ability of a Trial Chamber to revisit its previous

decisions. In this regard, it recalls that Rule 69(A) of the Rules explicitly provides that the Trial

Chamber may order the non-disclosure of the identity of a victim or witness "until the Chamber

decides otherwise". Accordingly, the fact that there was already an existing protective measures

order in Nsengiyumva's case which the Trial Chamber replaced does not in itself amount to an

elror. Nonetheless, the Appeals Chamber will now consider whether the Decision on Protective

Measures of 7 December 2001 was in conformiw with the Rules.

Prosecution Motion for Harrnonisation and Modification of Protective Measures for Witnesses," and for a Declaration
of Lack of Jurisdiction, 13 March 2002.
'ut Th" Prosecutor v. Thioneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-I, Decision on Defence Motion for
Reconsideration of the Decisions Rendered on 29 November 2001 and 5 December 2001 and for a Declaration of Lack
of Jurisdiction, 28 March 2ffi2.
r6e Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 41; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 253.
"" Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 254, 255, referring ro Decision on kotective Measrues of 29 November 2001;
The Prosecutor v. Anatole Nsengiyumva, Case No. ICTR-96-I2-I, Decision on the Prosecutor's Motion for the
hotection of Victims and Witnesses, delivered onlly 26 June 1997, signed 17 November 1997, filed 3 December 1997
("Nsengiyumva Decision on Protective Measures of 26 June 1997").
r7r Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 255.
"' Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para.258.
''' kosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para. 259.
"" See, e.g., The Prosecutor v. Th4oneste Bagosora et aI., Case No. ICTR-98-41-AR73, Decision on Interlocutory
Appeal Relating to Disclosure Under Rule 66(8) of the Tribunal's Rules of Procedure and Evidence, dated
25 September2006 and filed 26 September 2006, para. 6; The Prosectttor v.Th6one.ste Bagc.t.sora et aI., Cases
Nos. ICTR-98-41-AR73 & ICTR-98-41-AR73(B), Decision on Interlocutory Appeals of Decision on'W'irness 

Protection Orders, 6 October 2005, para. 3.
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80. Rule 66(A)(ii) of the Rules provides that, subject to Rules 53 and 69, the Prosecution shall

disclose to the Defence "[n]o later than 60 days before the date set for trial, copies of the statements

of all witnesses whom the Prosecutor intends to call to testify at trial". At the time the Decision on

Protective Measures of 7 December 200I was issued, Rule 69 of the Rules provided that:

(A) In exceptional circumstances, either of the parties may apply to a Trial Chamber to order the
non-disclosure of the identity of a victim or witness who may be in danger or at risk, until ihe
Chamber decides otherwise.

1. . .1
(C) Subject to Rule 75, the identity of the victim or witness shall be disclosed in sufficienr time

prior to the trial to allow adequate time for preparation of the prosecution and the defence.lTs

Rule 75(A) of the Rules provided that "[a] Judge or a Chamber may, proprio motu or at the request

of either paffy, or of the victim or witness concerned, or of the Victims and Witnesses Support Unit,

order appropriate measures to safeguard the privacy and security of victims and witnesses, provided

that the measures are consistent with the rights of the accused".

81. h its Decision on Protective Measures of 7 December 20OI, the Trial Chamber

acknowledged that the plain language of Rule 69(C) of the Rules required the Prosecution to

disclose all protected witnesses' identifying data prior to the commencement of trial.176

Nevertheless, it concluded that a departure from the plain language of the Rule was justified by the

objective of providing meaningful protection for victims and witnesses.ttt Following consultation

with the Witnesses and Victims Support Section of the Prosecution ("WVSS-P"), it found that this

unit was unable to place under its protection all the witnesses in the case at the same time.178

It considered that neither the mandate of witness protection nor the necessity of ensuring that the

accused had sufficient time to prepare his defence could be sacrificed and reasoned that "a proper

balance must be struck to determine what amount of advance disclosure is strictly necessary to

serve the twin aims of Rule 69.r1e The Trial Chamber concluded that to require the Prosecution to

disclose unredacted witness statements and protected witnesses' identifying data prior to the

corlmencement of trial was "ill advised because it would unnecessarily tax any real notion of

witness protection without advancing the Accused's right to effective cross-examination in any

meaningful way".l8o

rt5 Rule 69(C) of the Rules was amended at the llh Plenary Session held on 5 and 6 July ZOO2to read: "subject to Rule
75, the identity of the victim or witness shall be disclosed within such time as determined by Trial Chamber to allow
adequate time for preparation of the prosecution and the defence". This remains the operative language of Rule 69(C) of
the Rules.
176 Decision on Protective Measures of 7 December 2001, paras. 4, 6.
r77 Decision on Protective Measures of 7 Decemb er 2a01, pan. 25. see also ibitl., pans. 6, 9.178 Decision on Protective Measures of 7 Decemb er 2001, paras. 18, 19.
17e Decisi,rn on Protective Measures of 7 Decemb er ?,00i, para. 6.180 Decision on Protective Measures of 7 December 2001- oara. 9.
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82. Although the disclosure requirements under Rule 66 of the Rules are subject to Rule 69, the

Appeals Chamber recalls that while a Trial Chamber may order the non-disclosure of the identity of

a victim or witness who may be in danger or at risk pursuant to Rule 69(A) of the Rules, it must

frrst establish the existence of exceptional circumstances. In the Decision on Protective Measures of

7 December 20OI, the Trial Chamber referred to "the existence of the exceptional circumstanc€'',181

without elaborating on what it considered to amount to the exceptional circumstance justifying the

non-disclosure of the victims' and wifiresses' identity. The Appeals Chamber notes, however, fhat

the Trial Chamber recalled that it had consulted with WVSS-Pr82 and considered that WVSS-P had

informed the Trial Chamber that it lacked the capacity and resources to place alt the witnesses

under protection at the same time.l83 The Appeals Chamber understands that the Trial Chamber

considered that this inability to provide protection to all the witnesses at the same time amounted to

an exceptional circumstance warranting the delayed disclosure of the identity of the witnesses.

The Appeals Chamber does not find error in this approach.

83. Nevertheless, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber erred in ordering the

Prosecution to disclose the identity of protected victims and witnesses and their unredacted

statements no later than 35 days before the expected date of their testimony. While a Trial Chamber

has discretion pursuant to Rule 69(A) of the Rules regarding the ordering of protective measures

where it has established the existence of exceptional circumstances, the Appeals Chamber recalls

that this discretion is still constrained by the scope of the Rules. In this regard, it notes that at the

time of the decision, Rule 69(C) of the Rules provided that "the identity of the victim or witness

shall be disclosed in sufficient time prior to the trial to allow adequate time for preparation of the

prosecution and the defence".l84

84. Furthermore, the Appeals Chamber does not consider that, as stated by the Trial Chamber,

such disregard for the explicit provision of the Rules was necessary for the protection of

witnesses.r85 It notes that in the previous witness protection decision in the Nsengiyumva case prior

to the joinder, the Trial Chamber had ordered the temporary redaction of identifying information

until witnesses were brought under the protection of the Tribunal, but had nonetheless required that

the Defence be provided with unredacted witnesses statements "within sufficient time prior to the

trial in order to allow the Defence a sufficient amount of time to prepare itself'.186 At no point did

18r Decision on Protective Measures of 7 December 200I,para. 9.
r 82 Decision on Protective Measures of 7 Decemb er 2001, p. 2.
183 Decision on Protective Measures of 7 December 2001, para. 18.
r& Emphasis added.
'o' See Decision on Protective Measures of 7 December 2001, pan.20. See also ibid., para. 21 .
t'6 Nsengiyumva Decision on Protective Measures of 26 June 1997, p. 4. See also ibid., p. 3. See also The Prosecutor
v. l'l€oneste Bagosorct, Case No. ICTR-96-7-I, Decision on the Prosecutor's Mofion for lhe Protection of Victims and
Wilnesses, delivered orally 31 October 1997, datect 26 November 199'/, filed 3 December 1997, pp. 3. 4. The Appeals
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the Trial Charnber indicate that any problems had arisen from this previous arrangement justifuing a

more restrictive disclosure schedule.

85. kr light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber erred in

ordering the Prosecution to disclose the identity of protected victims and witnesses and their

unredacted statements no later than 35 days before the expected date of their testimony, rather than

prior to the trial, as then provided by the Rules. The Appeals Chamber therefore turns to consider

whether Nsengiyumva has demonstrated that he suffered prejudice as a result of this error.

86. The Appeals Chamber observes that beyond asserting generally that such disclosure on a

rolling basis prejudiced him in his investigations and in his understanding of the totality of the case

against him, Nsengiyumva does not substantiate his claim except in relation to Witness ZF,

discussed in the following sub-section. He fails to show specifically how the time-limit for

disclosure imposed by the Trial Chamber materially prejudiced him in his ability to prepare his

defence in relation to any particular charge, allegation, or evidence. In this regard, the Appeals

Chamber notes the Trial Chamber's finding that "[i]n the final analysis, the Defence teams' ability

to prepare their case is amply demonstrated by their ultimate success in impeaching much of the

Prosecution's evidence against them, through cross-examination, argumentation and evidence.

A careful consideration of the Defence conduct during the course of trial and in their frnal

submissions plainty reflects that they have mastered the case".l87 In these circumstances, the

Appeals Chamber is not satisfied that Nsengiyumva has established that he was prejudiced by the

Decision on Protective Measures of 7 December 200I.

O) Disclosure of Witness ZF's Particulars

87. Nsengiyumva submits that he was materially prejudiced by the Trial Chamber's reliance on

the testimony of Prosecution Witness ZF in relation to the Bisesero events since the manner in

which the material and information relating to this witness was disclosed denied him the

opportunity to prepare his defence.tss Th" Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber did not rely

Chamber notes that the Kabiligi and Ntabakuze Decision on kotective Measures of 19 May 2000 contained more
restrictive disclosure requirements, requiring "the Prosecutor to make such a disclosure, inCtuOing of any material
provided earlier to the Defence in a redacted form, not later than twenty-one (21) days before the protected witness is to
testify at trial". See The Prosecutor v. Gratien Kabiligi and Aloys Ntabakuze, Case No. ICTR-97-34-I, Decision on
Motion by the Office of the Prosecutor for Orders for Protective Measures for Victims and Witnesses, 19 Mav 2000
('.'Kabiligi and Ntabakuze Decision on Protecrive Measures of l9 May 200O,'), p. a.
"" Trial Judgement, ptra. 126.
'nn Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief. paras. 256-260
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only on Witness 7.F in entering convictions, and that Nsengiyumva does not demonstrate any effor

in the Trial Chamber's approach.l8e

88. The Appeals Chamber has deterrnined in Section Itr.C.7 of this Judgement that the Trial

Chamber erred in convicting Nsengiyumva for aiding and abetting the killing of Tutsi refugees in

Bisesero as that charge was not pleaded in his indictment. It has accordingly reversed

Nsengiyumva's convictions based on the Bisesero incident.lm In this context, the Appeals Chamber

considers that any possible prejudice suffered by Nsengiyumva in the preparation of his defence

with respect to Bisesero resulting from disclosure problems would be remedied by the reversal of

his convictions in relation to Bisesero. Nsengiyumva's submissions in this regard are therefore

dismissed as moot.

6. Conclusion

89. h light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Nsengiyumva has waived his right

to raise the issue of violation of his right to an initial appearance without delay and failed to

demonstrate that the Trial Chamber violated his right to be tried without undue delay. Nsengiyumva

has also lailed to show that the Trial Chamber erred in relation to the admission of evidence.

The Appeals Chamber finds that although the Trial Chamber violated his right to be tried in his

presence by continuing the trial during his medically justified absence on 8, 9, 10, and

13 November 2006, it has not been shown that Nsengiyumva suffered prejudice as a result. Finally,

while the Trial Chamber erred in setting the deadlines for the Prosecution to complete its disclosure

of unredacted witness statements, the Appeals Chamber finds that Nsengiyumva suffered no

prejudice as a result. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Nsengiyumva's Twelfth Ground

of Appeal in its entirety.

tt' l'rosecutic'ln Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para. 258.
teo See infra, para. 187.
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90. The Trial Chamber found that Nsengiyumva was criminally responsible pursuant to

Article 6(1) of the Statute for ordering the killings perpetrated by soldiers and civilian assailanrs in

Gisenyi town on 7 ApriI 7994, including the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi, at Nyundo parish

between 7 and gApril 1994, and at Mudende University on 8 April lgg4.rsr The Trial Chamber

also found him responsible for aiding and abetting killings in Bisesero in the second half of

June 1994.1e2 It was frnttrer satisfied that Nsengiyumva could be held responsible as a superior for

the crimes committed in Gisenyi town, including Alphonse Kabiligi's killing, at Mudende

University, and at Nyundo Parish, and took this into account as an aggravating factor in

sentencing.le3

9I. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber erred in convicting him of charges of which

he had no proper notice in his Indictment.leo He contends that the Trial Chamber erred in failing to

appreciate the primacy of the indictrnent as a charging document, finding that he was put on notice

by post-indictment communications, and failing to find that his ability to prepare his defence was

materially impaired by the lack of notice.le5

92. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber did not convict Nsengiyumva based on

new charges or a mode of liability outside the Indictment and that it correctly applied the principles

of notice.le6It asserts that Nsengiyumva suffered no material prejudice.leT

ii] friat Judgement, paras. 2 1 6 1, 2t89, 2L97, 2216, ZZZ7, 2248, ZZ5g.
::: Trial Judgement, paras. 2 1 6 1, 2189, 2197, 2216, 2248, 2258.
::; Trial Judgement, paras.216r,2189,2L97,2216,2223,2248,2272. see atso ibid., pnas. zoTz-2093.
"* Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, paras. 5, 15,23-27; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief,-paras. 41, 68, lO3, lZ3, I45, 176,
referring to The Prosecutor v. Anatole Nsengiyumva, Case No. ICTR-96-12-I, Amended Indictment, 12 August 1999
('Nsengiyumva Indictment" or "Indictment" in the present chapter).'" Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, paras. 5-7, l4-L6,23-27; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. I2-ZZ, 40, 41, 48, SS,
68-79, 102-105, I23-I27,145-157,116-184,223. See also Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, paras. 2,II(i),ZI-34,37-40;,
46-51, 58-6r, 6s-1 7.
re6Prosecut ionResponse Brief  (Nsengiyumva),paras. 13-20, 22-21,31,59-63,15,80,82-90, 96,9j ,100, 112-119.
130-13.5. 1 46-t  63. 11 9-1 85.re7 Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras. 21, 136, I47,163" lg6, 1g7.
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1. Preliminary Considerations and Applicable Law

93. Under his Second and Fourth Grounds of Appeal, Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial

Chamber erred in law in convicting him of charges that were not pleaded in the Indictrnent, and that

the defects therein were neither curable nor cured.let He contends that the Trial Chamber failed to

address the specific defects in his Indictment but instead made broad and irrelevant statements in

respect of all the co-Accused's indictments.lee He claims that the Trial Charrrber generally

concluded that all defects in the indictrnents had been cured without providing a reasoned opinion

concerning the Indictment against trim.2m He argues that the resultant prejudice to him is

underscored by the fact that all crimes and material facts in relation to which he had some

reasonable notice were either dismissed or successfully defended against, but then replaced with

unpleaded ones against which he could not mount an effective defence, rendering futile his

successful defence against those for which he did have notice.2ol

94. The Appeals Chamber wiII consider these contentions together with Nsengiyumva's specific

arguments in relation to each incident for which he was convicted. The issue of prejudice will be

addressed subsequently.

95. Under his Fourth Ground of Appeal, Nsengiyumva also submits that other charges which

were not pleaded included: (i) his involvement in the civil defence forces;2o2 lii; ttre preparation of

lists;203 and (iii) his meeting with military officers during the night of 6 to 7 April 1994 and his

communication with the General Staff in Kiguli.too The Appeals Chamber will address

Nsengiyumva's submissions in respect of these matters before turning to those specific to crimes of

which he was convicted.

96. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the charges against an accused and the material facts

supporting those charges must be pleaded with sufficient precision in an indictment so as to provide

notice to the accused.2o5 An indictment which fails to set forth the specific material facts

reE Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, paras. 5, 7; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 12'22, 18. See also Nsengiyumva

Bgply Briel pan.2; AT. 30 March 2011 pp. 5G53.
'" Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 14, referring toTial Judgement, par:'. I25.
'- Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 15.
'"' Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 15; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 13, 4L, fn. 30.
'"' Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 16; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 21, 4I, 59,77 . See also Nsengiyumva

$9nly Brief, pan.32.
'"' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 4I, ll5-117.
'* Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 41, 72. See also ibid., para. 224; Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, para. 40.
Nsengiyumva's specific argument under his Fourth Ground of Appeal that the Trial Chamber erred in convicting him
for a form of ordering not pleaded in the Indictment is addressed under the sub-section discussing notice of the charges
relating to the Gisenyi town killings. See Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 14; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief,
para. 40; infra, para. 123.
'"' See, e.g.. MrtnyakaTi Appeal Juclgement, para. 36; Renzalzo Appeal Judgement, para. 53; Muwrny,i Appeal Judgement
of 1 April 201 1 , para. 19; Kalim.anTrra Appeal Judgement, para. 46. Whether a fir.ct is "material" depends on the nature
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underpinning the charges against the accused is defective.206 The defect may be cured if the

Prosecution provides the accused with timely, clear, and consistent infonnation detailing the factual

basis underpinning the charge.'ot How"ver, a clear distinction.has to be drawn between vagueness

in an indictment and an indictment omitting certain charges altogether.2os While it is possible to

remedy the vagueness of an indictment, omitted charges can be incorporated into the indictment

only by a formal amendment pursuant to Rule 50 of the Rules.20e The Appeals Chamber will

address Nsengiyumva's specific arguments with these principles in mind.

2. Alleged Lack of Notice Concerning Civil Defence Forces. Preparation of Lists. Meeting with

Commanders. and Communication with Kieali

(a) Civil Defence Forces

97. The Trial Chamber found that "Nsengiyumva played a role in the arming and training of

civil defence forces in Gisenyi prefecture in7993", that "he participated in [the] training of these

forces between April and June 1994, and dispatched them to Kibuye prefecture and Kigali in the

second half of June 1994".210 It stated that it would "consider in the context of specific events

whether he bears responsibility for these and other events involving civil defence forces and party

militia".211

98. Nsengiyumva submits that the subject of the civil defence system falls outside the scope of

the Indictment, which does not charge him with training civil defence forces, but rather Mouvement

rdvolutionnaire national pour Ia ddmocratie et le developpement ("MRND") Interahamwe and

Coalition pour la d*fense de la Rdpublique ("CDR") Impuzamugambi rnthtta groups.2t2 He argues

that the Trial Chamber therefore erred by "shifting goal posts at judgment stage" and entering a

conviction for his involvement in the training of civil defence forces, a conduct never charged.2l3

of the Prosecution's case. See, e.g., Renzaho Appeal Judgement, para. 53; Karera Appeal Judgement, para. 292;
Ntagerura et aI. Appeal Judgement, para.23.
"'o See, e.g., Kalimanzira Appeal Judgement, para.46; Rukundo Appeal Judgement, para.29 Kupreikii et at. Appeat
Judgement, para. 114.
'u' See, e.g., Munyakaei Appeal Judgement, para. 36; Kalimanzira Appeal Judgement, para. 46; Rukundo Appeal
Judgement, para.29; Kupreikii et al. AppealJudgemen! para. ll4.
'"" See, e.g., Rukundo Appeal Judgement, para. 29; Karera Appeal Judgement, para.293; Ntagerura et al. Appeal
Judsement. oan.32.
'*'5r", e.g.', Rukundo Appeal Judgement, pan.29; Karera Appeal Judgement, para.293; Ntagerura et al. Appeal
Judeement. oara.32.

]]l i.i"f Juiler.,ent, para. 506. See also ibid., para. 482.
' '  '  Tnal Judgement, para. 506.
' "  Nsengiyrrmva Appeal  Bnei ,  l -n .  104.
' ' 'Nseng i y t rmvaAppea lB r i e f , pa ra . ' / ' / .Seea l so ib id . , p ' uas .20 -22 "35 ,41 , -59 ;AT .30March20 l1pp .52 ,53 .
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99. The Prosecution responds that Nsengiyumva's allegations about findings regarding his

involvement in anrring and training civitans in 1993 are unmeritorious since no convictions were

entered on the basis of those events.2la

100. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chanber did not convict Nsengiyumva for his

role in the training of civil defence forces,2l5 or for dispatching civil defence forces to Kigali.or

Kibuye prefecture. Nsengiyumva was only convicted for dispatching militiamen to Kibuye

prefecture and for ordering soldiers and militiamen to commit crimes.2l6 The Trial Chamber did not

base any of Nsengiyumva's convictions on his involvement with the civil defence forces but relied

on his role in the arming and training of militiamen as circumstantial evidence of his authority over

the civilian assailants implicated in the ki11ings.217

101. As the Trial Chamber did not find that Nsengiyumva was criminally responsible in relation

to his role in training civil defence forces, and as the Trial Chamber's findings in this respect did

not impact any of his convictions or his sentence, the Appeals Chamber will not consider his

arguments further.

(b) Preoaration of Lists

I02. The Trial Chamber was satisfied that, in 1992, Nsengiyumva was involved in the

preparation and maintenance of lists of suspected Rwandan Patriotic Front ("RPF'; accomplices

given his position at the time as Head of the Intelligence Bweau (G-2) of the army General Staff as

well as his admission that he would have been tasked with this function if it had been ordered.2r8

One list which was found in the vehicle of D6ogratias Nsabimana, the army Chief of Staff, after an

accident in February 1993, contained the names of several individuals, including Alphonse Kabiligi,

who were ultimately kilted after 6 April 1994 ("Nsabimana List").2le The Triat Chamber considered

2ra Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para. 31.

l'.'.See Trial Judgement" paras. 2109,2110.
' 'o Trial Judgement, paras. 1065, 1166, 1203, 1252, 1824,2155,2157,216I,2189,2197,2216,2248. Ttre Appeals
Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber erred in using the term "civil defence forces" in relation to Bisesero at
paragraphs 482 and 506 of the Trial Judgement where it clearly found that Nsengiyumva sent "militiamen" from
Gisenyi prefecture to participate in an operation in the Bisesero area of Kibuye prefecture. .9ee Trial Judgement,
paras.I8T4, 2155. The Appeals Chamber also notes that the letter sent by the Minister of the Interior, Edouard
Karemera, relied upon by the Trial Chamber did not request the dispatch to Bisesero of "civil defence forces" per se
and that the evidence discussed by the Trial Chamber relates only to the djspatch of locally recruited and trained youth.
See Trial Judgement, paras. 1818, L82I and Exhibit P50 (Letter of Edouard Karemera, Minister of the Interior
undated). However, the Appeals Chamber finds that this mischaracterisation by the Trial Chamber of its own finOings
has no bearing on the Trial Chamber's ultimate findings regarding the deployment of militiamen to Bisesero.
"' See Trial Judgement, paras. 2018,709A,T57.
? t x -  -  -  --"' Trial Judgement. paras 404, 405,425,45i, fn. 1300. See ol.so ibid., para. 2101.
' '  '  - f r ia l  

Judgement.  paras.  42 I ,  I  165.

61/A
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that there was reason to believe that this list was generated by or for members of the Rwandan

arrny.22o

103. Nsengiyumva submits that the charges in respect of the preparation of lists of which he had

some reasonable notice were dismissed, and then replaced with unpleaded charges for which he had

no proper notice.22l In particular, he submits that having dismissed paragraph 5.26 of the

Indictment,zz2 whichhe contends "is the foundational charge on lists"223 and the only charge to

specifically implicate him in the preparation of lists on the instructions of Bagosora,22a the Trial

Chamber had no basis on which to conclude that "he must have prepared the Nsabimana list on

which Kabiligi' s name appeared" .225

L04. The Prosecution responds that paragraphs 5.1 and 5.25 through 5.29 of the Indictment

charged Nsengiyumva with participating in the compilation of lists of people identified as Tutsi and

members of the opposition to eliminate.226

105. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber did not convict Nsengiyumva for his

involvement in the preparation of lists of suspected RPF accomplices, including the list found in

Nsabimana's car containing Alphonse Kabiligi's name. In particular, the Trial Chamber was not

convinced that the Nsabimana List was prepared with the intention to kill the individuals on it.22?

Nsengiyumva's conviction for ordering the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi was not based on his

alleged involvement in the preparation or maintenance of lists. The Trial Judgement reflects that

what was material to the Trial Chamber's findings was that Kabiligi's name was on a list of

suspected RPF accomplices generated by or for members of the Rwandan army and found in the

vehicle of the army Chief of Staff, which demonstrated that the military singled out Kabiligi as

having ties with the RPF.228 This was in turn used as circumstantial evidence that the military was

involved in the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi and that Nsengiyumva must have ordered,ft.22e

106. As the Trial Chamber did not f,rnd that Nsengiyumva was criminally responsible for his role

in the preparation of lists, and as Nsengiyumva has not demonstrated how the Trial Chamber's

tto Trial Judgement, para.423.
"' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 41.
"' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 116. See also ibid., fn. 105.
"' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 117.
"* Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 115.
"' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 117.
"o Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para. 113.
""' TiaI Judsement. oara. 424.

]" ftiat Juolement, paras. 423,1160, 1165. The Trial Chamber mentioned in a footnote that Nsengiyumva would have
been responsible for maintaining and updating lists as Head of the Intelligence Bureau (G-2) of the army General Staff
and did not draw any conclusion as to Nsengiyumva's personal responsibility for the Nsabimana List.
See ibid., fn. 1300.
t'e 5", Trial Judgement, paras. I 160, 1 161, 1165, 1166.
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findings impact any of his convictions or his sentence, the Appeals Chamber will not consider his

arguments further.

(c) Meeting with Commanders and Communication with Kieali

107. The Trial Chamber found that during the night of 6 to 7 April 1994, Nsengiyumva "met with

the military commanders in his operational sector and was in communication with the general staff

in Kigali".23o The Trial Chamber took these factors into account in concluding that Nsengiyumva

ordered the killings in Gisenyi town, the murder of Alphonse Kabiligi, and the killings at Mudende

University.23l

108. Nsengiyumva submits that neither the meeting nor his communication with Kigali was

pleaded,232 and that "[e]vidence of the only pleaded meeting at the camp on the night of 6-7 April is

dismissed at paragraph 1060 of the Judgement".233 He contends that glven the prejudicial

conclusions the Trial Chamber drew from the "unpleaded non-criminal meeting", its error in relying

upon it invalidates the Trial Judgement.23a

109. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber did not attach a decisive role to the

meeting when it inferred Nsengiyumva's mens rea,but rather properly considered the meeting as

one of several factors establishing that he must have ordered or authorised the crimes.z35

110. The Appeals Chamber notes that Nsengi5rumva's communication with Kigali and his

meeting with military officers during the night of 6 to 7 April 1994 "in order to discuss the situation

after the death of kesident Habyarim*rut236 were not found to be criminal and did not constitute

material facts underpinning his convictions.23T Instead, these facts were used as circumstantial

evidence to support the finding that Nsengiyumva must have ordered the killings in Gisenyi town,

at Nyundo Parish, and at Mudende University.'38 As such, they did not constitute material facts

which the Prosecution was required to plead in the Indictment to put Nsengiyrmva on notice of the

charges against him. Nsengiyumva's submissions in this respect are accordingly dismissed.

]lf rriat Judgemenr, para. 1065.
"" Trial Judgement, paras. 1065, 2142, 2148, 2184.

"' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 41. See also Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, para. 40.
"'Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, fn. 102.
"o Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 72. See also ibid., para.224; Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, para. 40.
"' Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras. 100, 101.
"o Trial Judgement, para.2142. See ulso ibid., paras.2148,2184.
"' .\ee Trial Judeement. paras. 10-5 l-i060.

"* Trjul Judeem-ent. para,s. 2| 42, 21 48, 2|84.
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3. Alleged Lack of Notice Concerning Gisenyi Town

111. Relying on the evidence of Prosecution Witness DO, the Trial Chamber found that, on

7 April 1994, civilian attackers supported by soldiers from the Gisenyi military camp conducted

targeted killings of Tutsi civilians and Hutus viewed as sympathetic to the RPF in Gisenyi town.23e

The Trial Chamber found that Nsengiyumva exercised authority over "all the attackers", and that he

ordered the attacks.' It convicted him pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Stanrte for genocide

(Count 2), murder, extermination, and persecution as crimes against humanity (Counts 5, 6, and 8,

respectively), and for violence to life as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva

Conventions and of Additional Protocol tr (Count 10).tot The Trial Chamber was also satisfied that

Nsengiyumva could be held responsible as a superior pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute for

these crimes, and considered this to be an aggravating factor in sentencing.'n'

ILz. In his Closing Brief, Nsengiyumva argued that the killings in Gisenyi town discussed by

Witness DO were not pleaded in the Indicftnent.243 hthis respect, the Trial Charnber stated:

The Chamber is also satisfied that the Indictment, when read in its totality and in conjunction with
the Pre-Trial Brief, provided adequate notice of Nsengiyumva's role in the crime, the identity of
the assailants and the victims. The Indicturent and Pre-Trial Brief refer to Nsengiyumva ordering
the crimes. The assailants are described as soldiers from Gisenyi military camp, including
Bizumuremyi as well as those in plain clothes, ard Interahamwe, some of whom are named in the
summary of Witness DO's testimony in the ke-Trial Brief. The victims are also referred to as
Tutsis and moderate Hutus in different parts of Gisenyi town. While his evidence mentioned
specific victims, the allegation concems a mass kitling operation throughout the are4 which would
make it impractical to identify specific individuals. In particular, Witness DO's testimony
indicated that 10 grcups of assailants participated in the operition.2a

113. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber erred in failing to find that the alleged killings

of 7 April 1994 testified to by Witness DO and for which he was convicted fell outside the scope of

his Indictment.z4s He contends that the Trial Chamber based its findings on paragraphs 6.1I, 6.13

through 6.16, and 6.36 of the Indictment, but that the only paragraphs providing him with notice of

his conduct for the period between 6 and 7 April 1994 were paragraphs 6.13 through 6.17 pleadeC,

under the heading "Gisenyi".2uu He argues that the Prosecution failed to plead the specific mode of

liability for which he was charged, as well as the involvement of soldiers in the Gisenyi town

killings.2a7 He also asserts that the Trial Chamber convicted him of an unpleaded form of

'3e Trial Judgemenr, paras. 106 1 - I 064, 2140, 2141.
^l Trial Judgement, para. 1065.

:: Trial Judgement, paras. 2 I 6 1, 2189, 2197, 2216, 2248, 2258.'"' Trial Judgement, paras. 2161, 2189,2197,2216,2248,2212. See atso ibid., paras. 2072-2083.
1",', See Nsengiyumva Closing Brief, para. 688.
"* Trial Judgement, para. 1066 (internal references omitted).
'o' Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, pala.23 Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 68.'"" Nscngiyumva Appeal Brief. para. rrli.'*'Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 68.70,14. see al.ro Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, para.31.
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ordering,2a8 and that he lacked notice that he would be charged with superior responsibility for these

attacks.2ae According to Nsengiyumva, . the Trial Chamber's reliance on vague and general

paragraphs in the Indictment to convict him was impermissible,2so and these defects were such that

they could not be cured.2sr He contends that the defects prejudiced his ability to effectively prepare

his defence.252

lI4. Nsengiyumva further submits that the defects were, in any event, not cured.2t' H" argues

that the Trial Chamber erred in relying on the summary of Witness DO's anticipated testimony

appended to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief as a purported cure given that it rejected relevant

aspects of the witness's testimony which were also mentioned in his summary.2to H" also contends

that neither the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief nor the Opening Statement made reference to the

victims identified by Witness DO during his testimony."t Further, he asserts that the Prosecution

Pre-Trial Brief referred to mass killings, while the killings in Gisenyi town for which he was

convicted were very limited in scope.256 Pointing out that Witness DO's testimony was recorded

long before trial, he asserts that there was no legitimate reason for not expressly pleading the

killings to which Witness DO testified.sT

115. The Prosecution responds that the events described by Witness DO fell within the scope of

the Indictrnent, and that paragraphs 6.1I, 6.13 through 6.17, and 6.32 through 6.37 of the

Indictment referred to soldiers under his authority.2ss It submits that post-indictment submissions

provided further particulars regarding the involvement of soldiers in the killings.2se It further

contends that it was sufficient to plead "ordering" as a mode of Nsengiyumva's liability for the

Gisenyi killings,260 and that his superior responsibility for these attacks was clearly pleaded.261

LI6. In summarising the Prosecution's case against Nsengiyumva for the events at the Gisenyi

military camp and in Gisenyi town on 6 and 7 ApnI L994, the Trial Chamber referred to paragraphs

208 Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 14; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 7L. See also Nsengiyumva Appeal
Brief,paras.40,68;NsengiyumvaReplyBrief,paras. l l(1),37-39;AT.30March20lLpp.50,54.
"*' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 75,76. See also ibid.,para.68; Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, para. 29.
"" Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 69. See a/so Nsengiyumva Reply Bief,pans.22-28.
"' Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 23; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 16, 68; Nsengiyumva Reply Brief,
paras.21,33,34.
"'Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 68,73. See also ibid.,para.13.
"'Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 18,79.
"* Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 78.
"' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 79.
"o Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 79.
"' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 15,79.
')d Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para. 89.
"' Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para. 90.
'o', '  i 'rosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras.96,97 .
"" Prosecution Rosponsc Brief (Nsengiyumva), para. 83.
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6.II,6.13 through 6.16, and 6.36 of the Indictment.262 Paragraphs 6.11 and 6.36 allege that, as of

6 or 7 April 1994, massacres of the Tutsi population and of moderate Hutus and political opponents

were perpetrated throughout Rwanda by the military and militiamen with Nsengiyumva's

knowledge or on his orders. Paragraphs 6.13 and 6.14 speciff that during the night of 6 to

7 April 1994, Nsengryumva summoned local leaders and militiamen to the Gisenyi military camp

and ordered them to kill all RPF accomplices and Tutsis. Paragraphs 6.15 and 6.16 further specify

that on 7 April 1994, Nsengiyumva received a telegram ordering him to commence the massacres,

and that he chaired meetings on that day at which he ordered militiamen to kill Tutsis and that he

subsequently distributed weapons to the militiamen.263

lI7. The Trial Chamber was unable to conclude that Nsengiyumva held meetings on 6 or

7 April 1994 where he addressed militiamen and distributed weapons to them.2e The charges set

out in paragraphs 6.13 through 6.16 were therefore dismissed. As such, Nsengiyumva's convictions

for the killings in Gisenyi town on 7 April 1994 could only have been entered pursuant to

paragraphs 6.11 and 6.36.

118. Paragraphs 6.11 and 6.36 are very broad in scope. Theyplead the inrolvement of the

military and militiamen in massacring the Tutsi population, political opponents, and moderate

Hutus on the orders or with the knowledge of Nsengiyumva. However, they do not specify the dates

and locations of the massacres alleged. Although the targeted killings perpetrated on 7 April 1994

in Gisenyi town for which Nsengiyumva was convicted clearly fall within the scope of paragraphs

6.11 and 6.36, there is in fact no specific reference to them in the Indictment.'6s The Appeals

Chamber therefore finds that the Indictment is defective in that it does not set forth all relevant

material facts underpinning the charges set out in paragraphs 6.11 and 6.36.

179. However, the Appeals Chamber considers that Nsengiyumva was provided with timely,

clear, and consistent information concerning the Gisenyi town killings of 7 April 1994 which

remedied the Prosecution's failure to give appropriate notice in the Indictment.

lllmatJudgemenr, para. 1007, fn. tt2l.
'o' Paragraph 6.16 adds that at one of these meetings, Nsengiyumva "gave the order to start the massacres, designating a
specific location where a Tutsi family had sought refuge. In the minutes that followed that order. the miUtia*io
executed the members of the family in Anatole Nsengiyumva's presence". The Trial Chamber described the particulars
of this allegation as being that "Nsengiyumva led a meeting at the house of Barnab6 Samyura, a senior offiiiat within
the CDR party. There he allegedly distributed weapons and singled out Tutsis, including the Gasake family and
Mbungo, who were subsequently killed by the Interahamwe". See Trial Judgement, para. 1096, fn. 122I.'* Trial Judgement, para. 1060. See also ibid., para. 1094. The Trial Chamber was also "not convinced beyond
reasonable doubt that Nsengiyumva chaired a meeting at Barnab6 Samvura's house, where he identified victims from a
list to be attacked and distributed weapons to attackers". SeeTrial Judgement, para. 1126.tut The." is nonetheless mention of specific killings perpetrated in Nsingiyumva's presence on 

-/ 
April 1994 inGisenyi

prefecture in paragraphs 6.16 and 6.11 of the Nsengiyumva Jndictmenf . Nsengiyumva was not founrl guilry on rhe basis
of these allegations. See Tial Judgement, paras. 1 126, 1149.
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720. In relevant part, the summary of Witness DO's anticipated testimony annexed to the

Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief reads: 'The meeting was on the 7ft April 1994 atabout 7h00 or 8h00 at

the military camp in Gisenyi in the office of Nsengiyumva, the most powerful person in Gisenyi at

the time. A-fter the meeting [the witness] heard Nsengiyumva order[] the distribution of arms to the

Interahamwe leaders. [The witness] saw this being done. Soldiers in civilian dress also got

weapons. After [the] weapons distribution, the Interahamwe and civilians divided into groups, went

to different parts of [the] city and started killing Tutsis and moderate Hutus on a mass scale".266

This summary was marked as relevant to Nsengiyumyz,26T and the Prosecution indicated that it

intended to rely on Witness DO's evidence in support of , inter alia, paragraphs 6.11 and 6.36 of the

Indicftnent in the Supplement to its Pre-Triat Brief.268 Both the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief and its

Supplement were filed several months before the appearance of the fust Prosecution witness.26e

I2I. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that, by reading the Indictment together with the

Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief and its Supplement, Nsengiyumva was put on adequate notice that the

Prosecution intended to hold him responsible for the killings of Tutsi civilians and moderate Hutus

perpetrated by soldiers and militiamen throughout Gisenyi town on 7 April 1994 on his orders or

with his knowledge. As to the identification of the victims, the Appeals Chamber agrees with the

Trial Chamber that the scope and nature of the alleged killings made it impracticable for the

Prosecution to identify the victims by name.270 The Appeals Chamber considers that, in this case,

the fact that Nsengiyumva was ultimately convicted for killings of a more limited scope does not go

to notice but to evidence.27l

I22. The Appeals Chamber notes that, of the counts of which Nsengiyumva was convicted,

Witness DO's srunmary was linked to Count 2, bat not to Counts 5, 6, 8, or 10.272 However, as

noted above, the Supplement to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief lists Witness DO in connection

with, inter alia, paragraphs 6.11 and 6.36, which are invoked in the Indictment as supporting

266 The Prosecutor v. ThEoneste Bagosora et al., CaseNo. ICTR-98-41-I, Prosecutor's Pre-Trial Brief, 2I Jarnary 2ffi2
("Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief'), Appendix A, Witness DO, p. 59.
267 Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, Appendix A, Witness DO, p. 59, at which the box for "Nsengiyumva' is checked.
268 The Prosecutor v. Th1oneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-I, The hosecutor's ke-Trial Brief Revision in
Compliance with the Decision on Prosecutor's Request for an Extension of the Time Limit in the Order of
23May,2002, and with the Decision on the Defence Motion Challenging the ke-Trial Brief, Dated 23 May,2002,
7 June 2002 ("supplement to the kosecution Pre-Trial Brief'or "Supplement"), pp. 16,17.
tue The Prosecution ke-Trial Brief was filed on 21 January 2002, its Supplement was filed on 7 June 2002. While the
trial started on 2 April 2002 with the kosecution's Opening Statement, the first Prosecution witness was only called to
testify on 2 September 2002. After the hearing of only two witnesses, the trial was adjourned on 5 December 2002 to
recorrmence with the Prosecution cilse on 16 June 2003. See Trial Judgement, paras. 23L4-2321.

"' 5"" Trial Judgement, para. 1066.
'^'-) C7. U""y"kazi Appeal Judgement, para.37 .
''' See Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, Appendix A, Witness DO, p. 59, at which the boxes for "Nsengiyumva" and
"Genocide/Complicity" are checked, but the boxes for "CAH-Extermination", "CAH-Murder", "CAl{-Persecution",
"War Crimes-Violence". and/or "War Crimes-Killinq" arc not checked.
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Counts 2, 5, 6,8, and 10.273 As such, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Prosecution made

clear as early as 7 June 2002 that it intended to rely on Witness DO's evidence to prove that

Nsengiyumva was criminally liable for genocide, murder, extermination, and persecution as crimes

against humanity, as well as for violence to life as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the

Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol tr. In this respect, the Appeals Chamber considers

that it was reasonable for the Trial Chamber to find that differences between the Prosecution

Pre-Trial Brief and its Supplement did not amount to inconsistent notice.na TlteSupplement was

filed after the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief to correct deficiencies2T5 and to indicate which paragraphs

in the indictments each of the witnesses listed would testify to.276 Consequently, it was

unequivocally controlling to the extent that there were any inconsistencies between it and the

original Pre-Trial Brief.

t23. The involvement of soldiers and Nsengiyumva's role in ordering the massacres were clearly

pleaded in paragraphs 6.11 and 6.36 of the Indictment, and further reiterated in part in

Witness DO's surnmary. As such, the Appeals Chamber rejects Nsengiyumva's contention that he

was unaware of the allegation of soldiers' involvement in these killings and that he lacked notice

that he was charged with ordering them. How such ordering is proven at trial, and whether or not

the testimony adduced at trial supports the allegations, are matters of evidence which need not be

pleaded.211 The Indictment states in relevant part that paragraphs 6.11 and 6.36 support Counts 2, 5,

6, 8, and 10 pursuant to both Articles 6(1) and 6(3) of the Statute.278 Accordingly, the Appeals

Chamber also rejects Nsengiyumva's contention that he lacked notice that he was charged with

superior responsibility for these killings.

724. Although the Indictment was defective in relation to the Gisenyi town killings, its defects

were subsequently cured by the provision of timely, clear, and consistent information. The Appeals

Chamber therefore dismisses Nsengiyumva's allegations that he lacked notice that he could be held

responsible for ordering or as a superior under Article 6(3) of the Statute in relation to the killings

perpetrated in Gisenyi town on 7 April 1994.

273 Nsengiyumva Indictment,pp.37,39-42; Supplement to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, pp. 16,li.''" Trid Judgement, para. lI7.
''' Such deficiencies include the pleading of the crime of direct and public incitement to commit genocide with respect
to Gratien Kabiligi and Ntabakuze who were not charged with this crime in their indictment. See The prosecutor
v. Th4oneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T, Decision on Defence Motions of Nsengiyumva, Kabiligi, and
Ntabakuze Challenging the Prosecutor's Pre-Trial Brief and on the Prosecutor's Counter-Motion,23 Wal ZOOZ
("Decision Relating to the Pre-Trial Brief'), para. 13.
"o Decision Relating to the Pre-Trial Briel paras. 12, 19.
"' 5"", e.g., Nahimina et al. Appeal Judg#ent, para.347; Ntagerura et al. AppealJudgement, para. Zl; Ntakirutitnapa
App"ol .Iudgement, para. 47 0.
' 'n  Nscngiyumva Indic tmcnt .  pp.  37,  39-42.
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4. Alleged Lack of Notice Concerning the Killing of Alphonse Kabiligi

1,25. The Trial Chamber found that on the evening of 7 April 1994, Alphonse Kabiligi, a Hutu

civil servant and member of the Parti social ddmocrate ('?SD"), was mutilated and killed at his

home in Gisenyi town by a Foup of civilian militiamen and one Rwandan arrry soldier.2Te

The Trial Chamber's finding was based on the first-hand evidence of Prosecution Witness AS.280

The Trial Chamber found that Nsengiyumva had authority over the soldier and the civilian

assailants, and that he ordered the killing.zsl 11" Trial Chamber convicted Nsengiyumva pursuant

to Article 6(1) of the Statute for murder, extermination, persecution, and other inhumane acts as

crimes against humanity (Counts 5, 6, 8, and 9, respectively), as well as violence to life as a serious

violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II

(Count 10).T' The Trial Chamber was also satisfied that Nsengiyumva could be held responsible as

a superior pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute for these crimes, and considered this to be an

aggravating factor in sentencirrg.tt'

126. Nsengiyumva submits that the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi fell outside the scope of the

Indictment, and that it was only in the Trial Judgement that he became aware that he was alleged to

have ordered this killing and to be responsible as a superior.28a He contends that the Trial Chamber

erred in failing to find that the Prosecution was required to comply with a strict pleading standard

for his direct participation in this killing, particularly as the killings of less prominent individuals

were expressly pleaded.2ss He argues that although the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief mentions the

kiliing of Kabiligi, it does not contain information that would have clearly informed him that he

could be held liable for this killing.286 He further contends that the Trial Chamber obfuscated the

situation in its Decision on Motion to Recall Witness OAR287 when it indicated that new evidence

tte Trial Judgement" paras. 1151, 1159,1162,1163, 1165. See also ibid.,para.2L83.

"o Trial Judgemen! paras. 1 159- I 167.
'o' Trial Judgement, paras. I 166, 2184.
2P Trial Judgement, paras.2184,2189,2197,22t6,2223,22n,2248,2258. While the Trial Chamber did not explicitly
refer to the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi in paragraph 22L6 of the Trial Judgement, which contained its legal finding on
Nsengiyumva's responsibility for persecution as a crime against humanity, the Appeals Chamber understands from the
Triat Chamber's reference to this specific killing in its deliberations section that its reference to the killings in Gisenyi
town at paragraph 2216 encompassed Alphonse Kabiligi's killing. See ibid., paras.22L0-2212.
283 Trial Judgement, paras. 2 1 8 9, 2197, 2216, 2223, 2248, 227 2.
t8o Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, pua.24; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 103-105; Nsengiyumva Reply Brief,
para.46.
'o' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. I03. See also Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, para. 46.
t8n Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 104; Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, paras. 41 , 48.

"' Tlru Proseattor v. Thdctneste Bago.sora et al., Case No^ ICTR-9Ii-41-T, Decision on Defence Motion to Recall
Prosecution Witness OAB for Cross-Examination, 19 Septenrber 2005 ("Decision on Motion to Recall Witness OAB").
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on the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi did not constitute evidence against Nsengiyumva and was thus

not prejudicial to him warranting the recall of the witness.288

I27. The Prosecution responds that the Indictment provided Nsengiyumva with adequate notice

of the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi, and of his responsibility for it.28e It further contends that even if

failure to specify Kabiligi's name in the Indictment were considered a defect, such defect was cured

through post-indictment communications.2s It adds that Nsengiyumva does not demonstrate that

his ability to prepare his case was materially impaired, and that his understanding of the case

regarding the killing of Kabiligi can be observed from the conduct of his defence.2el

I28. In reply, Nsengiyumva disagrees that the defect was cured by post-indictment

communications and contests the Prosecution's claim that he did not object to the introduction of

evidence pertaining to this killing.2e2 He argues that the inclusion of the names of two individuals

who could potentially testify as to this killing in his list of witnesses and his extensive examination

of Witness AS did not constitute indication that he was not prejudiced.2e3

I29. The Trial Chamber noted Nsengiyumva's submission in his Closing Brief that the killing of

Alphonse Kabiligi was not pleaded in the Indictment,'eo but did not address this submission in the

Trial Judgement. However, the Trial Chamber indicated as a preliminary matter in the Trial

Judgement that, in many instances, it would not revisit renewed challenges to notice which had

already been dealt with in prior decisions and oral rulings, in particular where the Prosecution did

not prove its case.2e5 A review of the trial record does not reveal any prior instance in which

Nsengiyumva challenged notice of the Kabiligi killing, or any decision or ruling in which the Trial

Chamber previously addressed the matter. The Appeals Chamber therefore considers that the Trial

chamber should have addressed Nsengiyumva's submission in this regard.

130. In summarising the Prosecution's case against Nsengiyumva with respect to the killing of

Alphonse Kabiligi, the Trial Chamber referred to paragraphs 5.1, 5.25, 5.29,6.36, and 6.37 of the

288 Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 104. Nsengiyumva argues that the Trial Chamber erred in dismissing the motion
g-4ly to convict him on the very issue he wanted clarified. See idem.
2Ee Prosecution Response Brief lNsengiyumva), para. 113. The Prosecution submits that Nsengiyumva was charged
with participating in establishing lists of people identified as Tutsi and members of the opposition to eliminate. It argues
that, given the sheer number of names on those lists, it was impracticable to include them in the Indicbnent.
See ibid., paras. I13, lL4.
ts Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para. ll4.
"' Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para. 115.
"' Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, paras. 47-50. Nsengiyumva also asserts that it was his legitimate belief that he would not
be expected to testify or defend himself against the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi. He claims that this is why he did not
investigate the identity of Kabiligi's assailants to show that he had no authority over them. See idem.
"' Nsengiyumva Reply Brief. paras. 49, 50.
""  Tr ia l  Judqemenl .  oara.  1152.
'nt Trirl J udlement, paras. 108, I 09.
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Indictment.'nu Paragraph 5.1 alleges that Nsengiyumva conspired with his co-Accused and with

others starting in late 1990 to exterminate the Tutsi population and eliminate members of the

opposition by, inter alia, prepaing lists of persons to be executed. This allegation is more broadly

iterated in paragraph5.25. Paragraph 5.29 also alleges that "[{lrom 7 April to late July, military and

Interahamwe massacred members of the Tutsi population and moderate Hutu by means of

pre-established lists, among other things". Paragraphs 6.36 and 6.37 allege that the massacres of

Tutsis and Hutu moderates alleged throughout the Indictrnent were committed by Nsengiyumva

personally, or by members of the Rwandan Armed Forces or militiamen acting as his subordinates

on his orders or with his knowledge or consent. The Indictment also states, in relevant part, that

these allegations were ptusued under Counts 5, 6, 8, 9, and 10 pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Statute

in relation to paragraphs 5.1, 6.36, and 6.37, and.also pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute in

relation to para$aph 6 36.2e7

131. The Appeals Chamber considers that paragraphs 5.I,5.25,5.29,6.36, and 6.37, rcad

together, put Nsengiyumva on notice that he was accused of conspiring or planning to kill Tutsis

and Hutu political opponents or moderates by preparing lists of names, and of subsequently

ordering, consenting to, or knowing of the killings of those listed by his subordinates. However,

nothing in the Indictment put Nsengiyumva on notice that he was accused of having ordered the

killing of Alphonse Kabiligi in particular.

132. The Appeals Chamber recalls that a decisive factor in determining the degree of specificity

with which the Prosecution is required to particularise the facts of its case in the indictrnent is the

nature of the alleged criminal conduct charged.2es The Trial Chamber correctly stated that where an

accused "is alleged to have given precise orders for the killing of specific individuals, the obligation

to provide precisions as to the circumstances thereof is as its highest".2ee In the present case, the

Prosecution was, at the time of the filing of the Indictment,'' in a position to provide information

that was obviously valuable to the preparation of Nsengiyumva's defence by naming the victim, and

'nu Trial Judgement, para. I 151, fn. 1283.
"' Nsengiyumva Indictment, pp. 39-43.
"'" Kamuhanda Appeal Judgement, para. 17; Ntakirutimana Appeal Judgement, para. 25; Kupreiki| et al. Appeal
Judgement, para. 89. See also Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement pan. 3241' Ntagerura et al. Appeal Judgement,
pata.23.
ztt The Prosecutor v. Th1oneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T, Decision on Nsengiyumva Motion for
Exclusion of Evidence Outside the Scope of the Indictment, 15 September 2006 ("Decision on Exclusion of Evidence"),
oara. 69.
1"0 5r" Pro*".ution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para. 114, re,ferring 1o Witnesses AS's ancl ZF's Written Statements
disr:losed on 20 July 1998 and 12 July 1999, respectively.
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should have done so.'ot The Indictrnent was therefore defective in respect of the identify of this

victim, as well as the time and place of this particular event.

133. Nsengiyumva concedes in his Appeal Brief that "the Pre-Trial Brief mentions the killing of

Kabiligi".3o2 Indeed, the summary of Witness AS's anticipated testimony annexed to the

Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief describes the torture and killing of an individual "affiliated to the

Gisenyi PSD parry" at his house in Gisenyi around 8.00 p.m. on 7 April L994by Interahamwe and

one "uniformed soldier".303 Wbile no reference to Nsengiyumva is explicitly made in relation to this

incident, the summary indicates that Witness AS was expected to testify in relation to Nsengiyumva

only.'oo In addition, the Supplement to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief indicates that Witness AS

was expected to. testify in relation to the allegations pleaded under paragraphs 5.I, 5.25, 5.29, 6.36,

and 6.37 of the Indictrnent.3os

I34. The contents of Witness AS's statement essentially mirror her testimony on the stand, which

took place three months 1ater.306 Nsengiyumva cross-examined Witness AS on his alleged

responsibility for the killing of Kabiligi, the circumstances thereof, and the credibility of her

testimony.307 Following this, nearly two years passed before the commencement of the Defence

case.tos Although Nsengiyumva presented no witnesses in defence of the allegation that he ordered

Kabiligi's killing, his Witness List shows that he intended to do so.30e

135. As to Nsengiyumva's submissions in respect of the Trial Chamber's Decision on Motion to

Recall Witness OAB, the Appeals Chamber notes that it was rendered months after the Defence

case had corlmenced. The Appeals Chamber also considers that the Trial Chamber's declaration

that "[n]ew allegations in fWitness OAB's] four post-testimony statements do not [...] constitute

3u Ntakirutimana AppealJudgement, paru.25; Kupreikic et al. AppealJudgemen! para. 90.'"'Nsengiyumva 
Appeal Brief, para. 104. See also Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, par4. 47.'"' It is also indicated that the individual was "mentioned on a list ia a KANGURA edition relating to his origin".

SeeProsecution Pre-Trial Brief, Appendix A, Witness AS, pp. 10, 11. The summary does not identify the targeteO
individual by name, and a review of the trial record reveals that his identity as Kabiligi could not have been ascertained
until Witness AS's unredacted statement was disclosed to Nsengiyumva on 5 June 2Cf/3. See The Prosecutor
v. Th4oneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T, Interoffice Memorandum, Subjecf Additional unredacted
disclosure in the matter of Prosecutor v. Thdoneste Bagosor4 Anatole Nsengiyumva, Gratien Kabiligi and Aloys
Ntabakuze (Case Number ICTR-98-41-T), 5 June 2003. The Appeals Chamber observes that cootrary to tL"
Prosecution's contention, there is no mention of Alphonse Kabiligi or his killing in the summary of Witness ZF's
anticipated testimony armexed to the kosecution Pre-Trial Brief. A review of Witness ZF's statement (disclosed to
Nsengiyumva in redacted form on 13 July 1999 and unredacted form on 1 August 2002) reveals no mention of Kabiligi
either. SeeProsecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para. 114; kosecution Pre-Trial Brief, Appendix A, WitneJs
ZF, p. 16l; The Prosecutor v. Th4oneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T, Interoffice Memorandum, Subject:
Statement of Witness Subject to Special kotective Measures, 1 August 2002.
3e Prosecution Pre-Trial nri"f, App"ndix A, Witness AS, p. 10, at ihich the box for "Nsengiyumva" is checked.305 Supplement to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, pp. 14, 15, I7.
'uo Witness AS testified before the Tribunal on2 and 3 September 2003.
tot Wjtness AS, T. 3 September 2003 pp. 16-22.
'"o The Dcfence case commenced on 1 1 April 2005 and finished un l8 .Tanuary ?-O07 . See Trial .Tudgement, para.2342.30o See Nsengiyumva Witness List, Witnesies CF1 artdBDZ.pp.25,26.
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evidence against [Nsengiyumva]"31o cannot be reasonably interpreted as a decision to exclude a//

evidence against Nsengiyumva of Kabiligi's killing, as opposed to simply stating the fact that

Witness OAB's post-testimony statements did not form part of the trial record.

1,36. Moreover, although Nsengiyumva correctly points out that the Prosecution did not refer to

the killing of Kabiligi at paragraphs 103 through 109 of its Closing Brief,311 this cannot be

reasonably understood as an indication that he was not prosecuted for Kabiligi's killing as it is

clearly referred to elsewhere in the Prosecution Closing Brief.312

137. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber considers that the failure of the kosecution

to adequately plead Nsengiyumva's responsibility for the killing of AJphonse Kabiligi in the

Indictment was remedied by the provision of clear, timely, and consistent infonnation. The Appeals

Chamber finds that Nsengiyumva was made aware that he could be held liable for the killing of

Kabiligi, and that he was afforded the opportunity to defend himself in this respect.

138. As for Nsengiyumva'srconviction under Count 9 of the Indictment for other inhumane acts

as a crime against humanity for the brutal way in which Kabiligi was killed, the Appeals Chamber

notes that although the summary of Witness AS's anticipated testimony refers to his torfure, it was

not linked to this count.313 The Trial Chamber dealt with this apparent problem in a footnote in the

Trial Judgement, where it stated that, in the Supplement to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief,

Witness AS "is listed under a relevant paragraph in the [Indictment] which is charged as other

inhumane acts".3l4Indeed, Witness AS is listed as expected to testify in relation to both paragraphs

6.36 and 6.37 in the Supplement to the Prosecution he-Trial Brief,3ls and both paragraphs were

among those determined to be relevant to Count 9 in the Indictment.3l6 As such, the Appeals

Chamber considers that the Prosecution made clear as early as 7 June 2002 that it intended to rely

on Witness AS's evidence to prove that Nsengiyumva was criminally liable for other inhumane acts

as a crime against humanity. In this respect, the Appeals Chamber reiterates that the Supplement to

the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief was unequivocally controlling to the extent that there were any

inconsistencies between it and the original Pre-Trial Brief.317

3r0 Decision on Motion to Recall Witness OAB, para. 7.
"' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. LO3, fn.245.
"' See, e.g., The Prosecutor v. Thdoneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T, kosecutor's Final Trial Brief
public redicted version, dated I March 2007 , fi\ed,2 March 2007 ("kosecution Closing Brief '), paras. 207 ,208.''' Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, Appendix A, Witness AS, p. 11, at which the box for "CAH-Inhumane Acts" is not
checked.

"o T.ial Judgement, fn.2374.
3ts Supplement to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, p
' 'o Nsengiyumva Indictment,p. 42.
J \  |  1 1' \ee supra,patx- )LZZ.
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I39. Based on the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Indictment was impermissibly

vague with respect to the identity of the victim, as well as the time and place of this particular event.
However, the Appeals Chamber considers that these defects were subsequently cured and that
Nsengiyumva has failed to demonstrate that he lacked adequate notice in relation to the killing of
Alphonse Kabiligi.

5. Alleged Lack of Notice Concerning Nyundo parish

I40. The Trial Chamber found that Nsengiyumva was criminally responsible for ordering the

killings of Tutsi refugees perpetrated by Interahamwe militiamen at Nyundo Parish, between 7 and

9 April lgg4.3r8 The Trial Chamber accordingly convicted Nsengiyumva pursuant to Article 6(1) of
the Statute for genocide (Count 2), murder, extermination, and persecution as crimes against

humanity (Counts 5, 6, and 8, respectively), as well as for violence to life as a serious violation of
Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol tr (Count 10).'1e It found

that Nsengiyumva could also have been held responsible as a superior pursuant to Article 6(3) of
the Statute, and considered this to be an aggravating factor in sentencing.t'o

141. This finding of guilt was entered on the basis of paragraphs 6.18 through 6.20 of the

Indictment.'2l Patagraph 6.18 alleges that as early as 7 April L994"men, women and children, the

majorify of whom were Tutsi, sought refuge at fNyundo Parish]". Paragraph 6.19 alleges

Nsengiyumva's role in relation to the attempted killing of Bishop Kalibushi from Nyundo. Most

specifically, paragraph 6.20 reads as follows:

6.20. From 8 April to June 1994, the refugees at Nyundo parish were repeatedly attacked by
soldiers and militiamen on the orders of Anatole Nsengiyumva. On at least one occasion, AnatolL
Nsengiyumva was present.

The Indictment states in relevant part that these allegations were pursued under Counts 2, 5, 6, B,
and 10 pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Statute in relation to paragraphs 6.19 and 6.20, and also
pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute in relation to paragraph 6.20.322

I42. On 16 May 2000, in response to Nsengiyumva's challenge to the form of the Indictment, the

Trial Chamber ordered the Prosecution to provide further particulars in relation to paragraph 6.20 of
the Indictment.3z3 While the Trial Chamber considered that the allegation of repeated attacks on
refugees at Nyundo Parish between 8 April and June 7994 on the orders of Nsengiyumva was

I lf fria Judgemenr, paras. 1 1 92- 1 206, 201 g, Z15O-ZI5 4.
:lJ Trial Judgement, paras. 2L6L, 2189, 2197 ,2216, 2248, 2258.
::: Trial Judgement, paras. 2 1 6 1, 21 89, 2197, 22 16, 2248. 221 Z.
"' Trial Judgement, para. I 168, fn. 1303.
" '  Nsengiyrrmva lndictmenr, pp. 36, 37,39-43.
"' Decision Ordering the Filing of Particulars, paras. 22, Zg.
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sufficiently specific, it found that the Prosecution should have given an approximate date for the

occasion on which Nsengiyumva was alleged to have been present at Nyundo Parish and the

specifics of his alleged orders.32a On 25 May 2000, the Prosecution provided the following

particulars in relation to paragraph 6.20 of the Indictment:

6.20 From about 8 April to about 30 June 1994, the refugees at Nyundo parish were repeatedly
attacked by soldiers and militiamen on the orders of Anatole Nsengiyumva to kill Tutsis and
deplaced [src] Hutus. From 10 April 1994 to about 15 May 1994, on at least one occasion, Anatole
Nsengiyumva was present and accompanied by many soldiers and militia:nen who participated in

I43. In his Closing Brief, Nsengiyumva argued that the allegations pertaining to Nyundo Parish

were vague and that the Prosecution's case at trial exceeded the scope of the Indictment.3'6 While

the Trial Chamber noted Nsengiyumva's argument in the Trial Judgement,32l it did not proceed to

consider whether it had merit. As already stated, the Trial Chamber had indicated as a preliminary

matter in the Trial Judgement that, in many instances, it would not revisit renewed challenges to

notice which had already been dealt with in prior decisions and oral rulings.328 In this case, the

Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber had already found in its Decision Ordering the

Filing of Particulars that the allegation of repeated attacks on refugees at Nyundo Parish between

8 April and June 1994 on the orders of Nsengiyumva was sufficiently specifrc.3ze

I44. Nsengiyumva submits that paragraph6.20 of the Indictment is overly broad and that it failed

to provide him with the specification necessary to allow him to effectively prepare his defence.330

He argues that the Indictment pleads an overly broad period of time from 8 April to June 1994

whereas the events in Nyundo Parish only lasted a couple of days.331 He contends that this defect is

compounded by the allegation that he was present on at least one occasion between 10 April and

15 May L994.332

145. Nsengiyumva further submits that the Trial Chamber erred in convicting him for the conduct

of a group of attackers when he had no notice of their actions.333 He asserts that the Indictment only

324 Decision Ordering the Filing of Particulars , para.22.
36 The Prosecutor v. Anatole Nsengiumva. Case No. ICTR-96-12-I, Particulars [Pursuant to the Decision on the
Defence Motion on Defects in the Form of the Indictnent Dated 15 May 20W1,25 May 2000 ("Particulars"), para. 6.20
(emphasis in original). Underlined portions indicate changes or additions to the actual wording of the paragraph in the
Indictment.
326 Nsengiyumva Closing Brief, paras. 94I-943.

"t T.ial Judgement, para. 1169.
"o Trial Judgement, paras. 108, 109.
"' Decision Ordering the Filing of Particulars, para.22.
"" Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 25; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 123. See a/so Nsengiyumva Reply

Prief, para.5l.
"' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 123.
"" Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 123.
-"' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 125.
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charged him with responsibility for the activities of the MRND political party militia(Interahamwe)

and the CDR political party militia (Impuzamugambi).334 He argues that the Prosecution failed to

prove that those who attacked Nyundo Parish were Interahamwe mittia as charged.33s In this

regard, he contends that after 7 April 1994, all those involved in the killings were referred to as

"Interahnmwe" even though they were not specifically members of the MRND youth wing.336

Furthermore, in relation to the attack on Nyundo Parish, Nsengiyumva notes that the Trial Chamber

dismissed allegations regarding a meeting between him and the Interahamwe at the Gisenyi bus

station as there was no evidence that these were the same individuals who attacked Nyundo

Parish.337 Nsengiyumva also argues that he had no notice that he would be held liable as a superior

for the attacks on Nyundo Parish.338 He asserts that the defects in his Indictment were not cured.33e

146. The Prosecution responds that Nsengiyumva's claims are without merit.34 With respect to

the pleading of the dates in particular, it submits that paragraphs 6.18 through 6.20 of the

Indictment clearly alleged that Nsengiyumva was responsible for repeated attacks on Nyundo

Parish throughout the period.3al It fuither argues that even if the Indictment was vague with respect

to the dates, this defect was cured by the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief.3a2

I47. The Appeals Chamber dismisses Nsengiyumva's argument that he had no notice that he

could be held [able as a superior for the attack on Nyundo Parish. While paragraph 6.20 of the

Indictment only referred to "ordering", as mentioned above, the Indictnent clearly states that

Nsengiyumva was being charged under Counts 2,5,6,8, and 10 in relation to the allegations set out

in paragraph6.20 pursuant to both Articles 6(1) and 6(3) of the Statute.343

148. As to whether paragraph 6.20 identified the attackers at Nyundo Parish with sufficient

particularity, the Appeals Chamber finds no defect in this respect. The Trial Chamber found that

"the attacks between 7 and 9 April were perpetrated only by militiamen".3a Paragraph 6.20 clearly

pleads that "the refugees at Nyundo parish were repeatedly attacked by soldiers and militiamen".

Nsengiyumva was therefore clearly on notice that the alleged attackers included militiamen. In this

334 Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. I24. See also ibid.,paras.20-22,56.
"' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 125.
"o Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 57.
"'Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 126.
"o Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 127. Nsengiyumva also argues that the Prosecution failed to plead the material
elements of superior responsibility in the Indictment. See idem. Tltts argument will be addressed in the Superior
Responsibility section of th:is Judgement. See infra, Sectton IILC.8.
"'Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. I23,127.
'"" Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras. 13 i-135.
'*' Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para. 133.
'"' Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para. 134.
' " '  Nsengiyumva lndic tment .  pp.  36,  31 ,39 43.
-'* Triai Judgement. paras. 1203, 2019. In its .legal finclings, the Trial Chamber also referrerl to the attackers as
Inte ra ham.u,e. See i bi d., para. 2150.
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regard, the Appeals Chamber refers to its discussion in the sub-section below addressing the

pleading of superior responsibility, where it concludes that the terrn "militiamen" as used in the

Indictrnent was not necessarily limited to denoting members of the youth wings of the MRND and

CDR political parties.3a5

I49. With respect to the alleged defect in the pleading of the attacks' time-frame, the Appeals

Chamber recalls that, while the Trial Chamber noted that it had heard evidence that refugees at

Nyundo Parish were killed in May 1994, it concluded that it did "not have sufficient detail

concerning this attack to make any findings".36 Accordingly, it only convicted Nsengiyumva for

the killing of Tutsi refugees perpetrated by Interalnmwe mihttamen at Nyundo Parish between

I and 9 April Lgg4.3n Meanwhile, paragraph 6.20 of the Indictment provides a broad date range for

the attacks as being "[f]rom 8 April to June 1994".

150. The Appeals.Chamber recalls that a broad date range, in and of itself, does not invalidate a

paragraph of an indictment.3as A decisive factor in deterrnining the degree of specificity with which

the Prosecution is required to particularise the facts of its case in the indictment is the nature of the

alleged criminal conduct with which the accused is charged.'oe Obviously, there may be instances

where the sheer scale of the alleged crimes makes it impracticable to require a high degree of

specificity in such matters as the identity of the victims and the dates for the commission of the

crimes.35o

151. Nonetheless, in the present case, given that the Nyundo Parish attacks occurred during three

specific consecutive days at the beginning of April 1994, the Appeals Chamber considers that by

pleading a time-frame of almost three months, the Indictment was vague and overly broad with

respect to the dates of the attacks. The Appeals Chamber therefore considers that the Indictment

was defective in relation to the allegations pertaining to Nyundo Parish. It therefore turns to

consider whether this defect in the Indictment was cured.

I52. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Particulars to the Indictment specified that the attack

on Nyundo Parish occurred "[{lrom about 8 April to about 30 June lgg4".3sr This does not provide

t-{.t, Src mfa, Section III.C.8(a), para. 198.

::: Trid Judgemenl para.72O2.
*' Trial Judgement, paras. 1203, 2150-2152.
3oE Rukundo"Appei iuagement" para. 163.
'"' Kamuhanda Appeal Judgement, para. 17; Ntakirutim"ana Appeal Judgement, pua. 25; Kupreikii et al. Appeal
Judgement, para. 89. See also Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, pua. 324; Ntagerura et at. Appeal Judgement,
para.23.
3s0 l+'[uvunyi Appeal .Tudgement of 29 August 2008, para 58; MtLhiman.a Appezri Judgement, paras.79, 197; Kupreikii et
, r i .  Appeal  Judgement.  para.  89.
'" Particulars. para. 6.20, p. 3 (cmphasis omitted).
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a more specific time-frame than the Indictment. Similarly, the Prosecution's Opening Statement did

not provide a time-frame in relation to the aftack on Nyundo Parish.352

153. However, the summaries of anticipated witness testimonies in the kosecution he-Trial

Brief did provide more specific dates for the attacks on Nyundo Parish. The summary of

Witness EB's anticipated testimony stated that "On the 7e April 1994 - at about th00Interahamwe

assembled in front of [the] home of [...] Barnabe Samvura - CDR President. Nsengiyumva arrived

and witness heard him tell the Interalnmwe to kill every Tutsi in Gisenyi. [...] Witness will state

that later Nsengiyumva was escorted by soldiers to Nyundo parish to kill refugees there".353

Furthermore, the summary of Witress OAE's anticipated testimony specified that the "Witness will

state that on the 9fr April 1994 the Interahnmwe killed some Tutsi at Nyundo Parish".3sa

Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Nsengiyumva was put on notice that the affacks on

Nyundo Parish were alleged to have occurred around 7 arrd 9 April 1994 and that the vagueness of

paragraph 6.2O of the Indictment regarding the time-frame of the killing of Tutsi refugees at

Nyundo Parish was cured by the provision of timely, clear, and consistent information.

I54. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Indictment was vague and

overly broad with respect to the dates of the alleged attacks at Nyundo Parish. However, the

Appeals Chamber concludes that this defect was subsequently cured and that Nsengiyumva has

tailed to demonstrate that he was not provided with the notice necessary to allow him to effectively

prepare his defence in relation to the killing of Tutsi refugees at Nyundo Parish between 7 and

9 April 1994.

352 Opening Statement, T. 2 April2002 p. 188.
"'Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, Appendix A, Witness EB, p. 69.
3sa Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, Appendix A, Witness OAE, p. 106. The Appeals Chamber notes, that, contrary to the
Prosecution's submissions, the summaries of anticipated testimony for Witnesses Sagahutu (ON), OF, OP, OW, andZD
dono tp rov i c l eanyda tes fo r thea t tacksonNyundoPar i sh .  See ib id . , pp .110 ,113 ,114 ,116 ,151 .
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6. Alleged Lack of Notice Concerning Mudende University

155. The Trial Chamber found that on the morning of 8 April 1994, militiamen supported by at

least two Rwandan army soldiers attacked and killed Tutsis who had sought refuge at the Central

African Adventist University in Mudende in Gisenyi prefecture."t The Trial Chamber found that

Nsengiyumva had authority over the soldiers and civitan assailants, and that he ordered the

attack.3s6 The Trial Chamber convicted Nsengiyumva pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Statute for

genocide (Count 2), murder, exterrnination, and persecution as crimes against humanity (Counts 5,

6, and 8, respectively), as well as violence to life as a serious violation of Article 3 cornmon to the

Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol tr (Count 10).3s7 The Trial Chamber also found

that Nsengiyumva could be held responsible as a superior pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute for

these crimes, and considered this to be an aggravating factor in sentencing.tss

156. These convictions were entered on the basis of paragraphs 6.11 and 6-22 of the

Indictrnent,3se which read as follows:

6.11 As from 7 April 1994, massacres of the Tutsi population and the murder of numerous
political opponents were perpetrated throughout the territory of Rwanda. These crimes, which had
been planned and p'repared for a long time by prominent civilian and military figures who shared
the extremist Hutu ideology, were carried out by milifarnen, urilitary personnel, and gendarmes on
the orders and directives of some of these authorities, including Lt. Colonel Anatole
Nsengiyumva.

6.22 Between 8 April and mid July 1994, Anatole Nsengiyumva ordered militiamen and soldiers
to exterminate the civilian Tutsi population and its "accomplices". Among the groups of
militiamen which executed Anatole Nsengiyumva's orders, the most active were led by Bernard
Munyagishari, Omar Serushago, Mabuye and Thomas Mugiraneza.

In relevant parts, the Indictment states that these allegations were pursued under Counts 2, 5,6,8,

and 10, pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Statute for paragraph 6.11, and pursuant to both Articles 6(1)

and 6(3) of the Stanrte for paragraph 6.22.360

I57. The Trial Chamber considered Nsengiyumva's assertion that he was not reasonably

informed of the material facts concerning his role in the Mudende University attack.361

It determined that the Prosecution's motion to add Witnesses )GM and XBG as well as the

"t Trial Judgement, paras. 1248-1251,2146.
l]f fa Judgement, para.1252.
::] Trial Judgement, paras. 2 1 6 1, 2189, 2197, 2216, 2248, 2258.
"o Trial Judgement, paras, 2 1 6 i, 2189, 2197, 2216, 2248, 227 2.
"' 

'Irial Judgement, para. 1207 , fn. 1343.
r"0 Nsengiyumva Indictment, pp. 36, 31 ,39-43.
"" 'frial Judgement, paras. 1255-1257.

Case No.ICTR-98-41-A 14 December 2011



3s5u/n
sunmary of Witness FfV's testimony annexed to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief cured the

Indictment's failure to specifically plead this attack.362

158. Nsengiyumva reiterates on appeal that his alleged involvement in the 8 April L994 attack at

Mudende University fell outside the scope of his Indictrnent, and that the Trial Chamber should

have found that the defects in pleading this event were neither cured nor curable.363 Lr particular, he

submits that paragaphs 6.11 and 6.22 of the Indictment are overly general and vague, and that the

particulars subsequently supplied by the Prosecution related only to other specific incidents

concerning Gisenyi town and solely involved militiamen.tuo H" adds that the statements and

summaries of Prosecution Witnesses FfV, XBM, and XBG were too contradictory and untimely to

provide adequate notice as to the charges against him.36s He further submits that the Prosecution

ke-Trial Brief fails to indicate that Witness lfV intended to testify against him.366 Nsengiyumva

contends that he consistently raised the Prosecution's failure to specifically plead the killings at

Mudende University and the attendantmode of liability,if any.367 He argues that the evidence at

trial concerning this event radically transformed the case against him, causing him prejudice.368

159. The Prosecution responds that post-indictment communications provided further relevant

particulars in a clear, consistent, and timely manner to the generally worded allegations at

paragraphs 6.11 and 6.22 of the Indictment.36e In its view, the conduct of Nsengiyumva's defence

shows that he fully understood the case against him with respect to the attack on Mudende

uruversrw."'-

160. While paragraphs 6.11 and 6.22 of the Indictment clearly plead that Nsengiyumva is alleged

to have ordered militiamen and soldiers to exterminate the Tutsi population, there is no dispute that

these paragraphs are overly broad as regards the date and location of the alleged massacres.

The Appeals Chamber observes that the date and location of the Mudende University killings are

not specified therein or anywhere else in the Indictment. The Indictment is therefore clearly

defective in respect of this incident.

362 Trial Judsement. oara. 1256.
36' Nsengiy-Lrva Notce of Appeal, para:26;Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 145-157.'* Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. I45, L46, referring to Particulars.
'- Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 147-157. See also Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, paras. 58,64. In particular,
Nsengiyumva points out that the surnmary of Witness HV's anticipated evidence referred to soldiers wearing caps
coming to Mudende, which suggests that he was referring to gendarmes. See AT. 30 March 20LI p. 54;
AT .3 l  March  2011p .30 .
366 Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. !48. See also Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, paras. 59, 60.'o' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 149.
'oo Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para.26. See also Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, para. 61.'"' Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras. 147-162. The Prosecution also argues that the wording used in
the Particulars shows that they did not Iimit Nsengiyumva's responsibility only to killings in Gisenyi town. See ibicl.,
para. 1.5 l.
370 Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva). para. 163.
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161. The primary point of contention is whether the defects were curable. The Appeals Chamber

notes that, with respect to the vagueness of paragraph 6.22 of the Indictment, the Trial Chamber

ordered the Prosecution to "specify the occasions, if known, or approximate dates on which these

orders were given if the exact dates are not known".371 On 25 May 2000, the Prosecution provided

the following particulars to paragraph 6.22 of the Indictrnent:

6.22 From about 8 April to about 31 July 1994, Anatole Nsengiyumva ordered militiamen and
soldiers to externinate the civilian Tutsi population and its "accomplices". Some of the particulars
of his orders included ordering militiamen. during the rriddle of April 1994. to abduct and bring
aooroximately twenty Tutsis (who took refuge in a house in Gisenyi) to the "cornrzzne rouge" to
be executed: ordering militiamen. during the middle of June 1994. to abduct a Tutsi woman and to
bring her to the "cannzze rouge" to be executed. All those people were killed on the orders of
Anatole Nsengiyumva. Furthermore. he ordered militiamen in a continuous and ongoing fashion.
to eliminate Tutsis at roadblocks and to track them down and exterrrinate them. Among the groups
of milidxsr.r which executed Anatole Nsengiyumva's orders, the most active were led by Bernard
Munyagishari, Omar Serushago, Mabuye and Thomas Mugiraneza.3T2

L62. Rather than being more specific as to the occasions or dates on which the alleged orders

were issued, the Prosecution expanded the time-frame pleaded in the Indictment. Moreover, nothing

in these particulars could serve to provide Nsengiyumva with notice that the Mudende University

attack on 8 April 1994 formed part of the Prosecution's case against him. While the Prosecution did

not acquire the statements of Witnesses )(BG and )(BM until 29 August 2042 and

28 February 2003, respectively,t'3 it was in possession of Witness IfV's statement as early as

28 November Igg5.314 The Appeals Chamber notes that Witness HV's redacted statement was

disclosed to Nsengiyumva in August 1999, and clearly specified the circumstances, date, location,

and participants in the Mudende University attack.3tt How"uer, this statement, which was alone in

referring to the incident, was disclosed among hundreds of other statements and documents.

A review of the trial record also shows that this was the fust time the Mudende incident was

specifically mentioned. As previously held, mere service of witness statements is insufficient to

inforrn the Defence of material facts that the Prosecution intends to prove at trial.376 As such, if the

Mudende University attack formed part of the Prosecution case against Nsengiyumva, the

371 Decision Ordering the Filing of Particulars, para.23.
3?t Particulars, p. 3 (emphasis in original). Underlined portions indicate changes or additions to the actual wording of

$g paragraph in the Indictment.
''' See The Prosecutor v. Th6oneste Bagosora et aI., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T, Decision on Prosecution Motion for
Addition of Witnesses Pursuant to Rule 73bis (E), 26 June 2003 ("Decision to Add Witnesses )GG and XBM"),
pan.4.
3'o 5"" Exhibit DNS60C (Witness HV's Statement of 28 November 1995).
375 The Prosecutor v. Anatole Nsengiyumva, Case No. ICTR-96-12-1, Communication des pidces Disclosure of
Evidence (confidential), dated 31 July 1999 and filed 10 August 1999. On page 8 of the document, Witness HV's
statement is indicated as having been disclosed on 5 August 1999. A review of the statement disclosed on
5 August 1999 reveals that, while the witness referred to "soldiers wearing red caps" visiting the university on
7 April 1994, the witness clearly incriminated "soldiers" as opposed to gendarmes in the 8 April 1994 killings.

"" Ntag"rrrro et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 139; Simii Appeal Judgement, pzLra.24; Ntakirutinnna Appeal Judgement,
oart. 2'/ . See a Lso Decision on Exclusion of Evidence. pa.ra. 3 .
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Prosecution should have pleaded it with greater specificify in the Indictment, or at least in the

Particulars.

163. The Appeals Chamber, Judge Giiney dissenting, is nonetheless of the view that the

Prosecution's failure to specifically plead the Mudende University anack does not establish that it

was not part of its case at the time the Indictment was issued and the Particulars were provided.

The language used to present the Particulars in respect of paragraph 6.22 of the Indictment indicates

that the particulars provided were not exhaustive.311 In addition, the Appeals Chamber is not

persuaded by Nsengiyumva's argument that the reference to "Gisenyi" in the Particulars limited the

allegations therein to crimes committed in Gisenyi town, as opposed to the whole prefecture.378

Paragraph 6.22 is pleaded under a section entitled "Gisenyi", which evidently refers to the

prefecture, and the reference to "Gisenyi" within the paragraph provided in the Particulars only

refers to one particular incident.

164. The fact that Witness HV's statement conceming the events at the university was disclosed

to Nsengiyumva in August 1999 shows that the Mudende University killings formed part of the

Prosecution case against Nsengiyumva at the time when the Indictment was issued.3Te In addition,

the Mudende University killings fall within the broad scope of paragraphs 6.1I and 6.22.

The Appeals Chamber therefore considers, Judge Giiney dissenting, that the defects in respect of the

Mudende University attack were curable. The question remains as to whether they were cured.

165. h this regard, the Trial Chanrber found that "the Prosecution's motion to add

Witnesses )(BM and XBG as well as the summary of Witness HV's testimony annexed to the

Pre-Trial Brief cured the Indictment's failure to specifically plead this attack".380

L66. The summary of Witness FfV's anticipated testimony annexed to the Prosecution Pre-Trial

Brief stated:

Witness will state that following the anaouncerrent of the President's death, smoke engulfed the
entire campus and the witness saw villagers running to take [refuge] at campus. On 86 April t99+
the witness saw soldiers arrred with guns and wearing red caps and multicolored but
predorrinantly green clothes together with villagers arrred with machetes, sticks, clubs and sharp
bamboo, storm into classes where Tutsi had taken refuge and massacred all of them. The soldiers
collected all the female students and began separating them according to ethnic origin and
nationality: Tutsi, Hutu and Burundians. Some Tutsi were killed but witness escaped when it
began raining. Helped by gendarmes.3sr

lLl^ Src Particulars, p. 3 ("Some of the particulars of his orders included t. . .l').
"o Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 146.
''' Tlte Prosecutor v. Anatole Nsengiyumva, Case No. ICTR-96-12-I, Disclosure of Evidence, Witness HV, dated
3 |  Ju ly  1999 and f i led 10 August  1999,  p.  8.
'"" Trial Jrrdcement. oara. l l2.56.
t*' P.or".uti"un Prc-Trial Brief, Appendix A, Witness HV. p. 87.
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167. Contrary to the Prosecution's contention, this summary did not clearly refer to "Mudende

University", but rather a "campus"."'Only when the summary is read together with Witness FfV's

actual statement disclosed in 1999 is it clear that the "campus" referred to is Mudende University.

Similarly, only when the summary is read with the statement is it clear that the ambiguous reference

to "soldiers wearing red caps" relates to soldiers as opposed to gendarrnes.3s3

Although Witness FfV's sunmary was not linked to Nsengiyumva in the Prosecution Pre-Trial

Brief,38a the Appeals Chamber considers that Nsengiyumva should nevertheless have been

prompted to re-examine the contents of Witness HV's statement upon reading the Supplement to

the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief. In this Supplement, the kosecution indicated that Witness HV was

expected to testify about several issues in the Indictment, including paragraph 6.22.38s Despite the

Prosecution's initial failure to signal to Nsengiyumva that Witness IfV, and, therefore, the events at

Mudende University, were relevant to his case, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Supplement

to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief gave him notice that the witness's allegations related to him.

This is particularly so given that the university's location in Gisenyi prefecture and the alleged

involvement of soldiers were clearly pleaded in the Indictment and clearly appeared in the witness's

redacted statement which was in Nsengiyumva's possession since 1999.

168. In the circumstances, the Appeals Chamber finds that at the time of the filing of the

Supplement to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief on 7 June 2002, Nsengiyumva was on notice that

Witness lfV's evidence pertained to several paragraphs of the Indictment in relation to which the

witness was expected to testify, including paragraphs 6.11 and 6.22.386 Notice of the material facts

that on 8 April 1994, Tutsis were attacked and massacred at Mudende University by "soldiers" and

"villagers" and that Nsengiyumva was alleged to incur criminal responsibility for this event were

therefore provided through the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief and the Supplement thereto.

382 Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para. L49. Further contrary to the Prosecution's assertion, the surrmary
did not refer to "civilian 3s5ailapts" but rather "villagers". See idem.
ttt See supra,fn.375.
3u See kosecution he-Trial Brief, Appendix A, Witness HV, p. 87, at which the boxes for "Nsengiyumva" and "AI 1"
in respect of the Accused are not checked. See also Trial Judgement, para. 1257. The Appeals Chamber further notes
that whereas Witness HV's summary was linked to genocide (Count 2), murder (Count 5), and persecution (Count 8),
for which he was convicted, it was not linked to extermination (Count 6) or violence to life (Count 10), for which he
was also convicted. See Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, Appendix A, Witness HV, p. 87, at which the boxes for
"Genocide/Complicity", "CAH-Murder", and "CAH-Persecution" are checked, whereas the boxes for "CAH-
Extermination" and "War Crimes-Violence" and/or "War Crimes-Killing" are not checked.

"t Witness HV is specifically listed in correspondence with paragraphs 5.I4,5.$,5.L8,5.25,5.29,6.07,6.i2 through
6.14, 6.21 through 6.24, 6.36, and 6.31 of the Nsengiyumva Indictment. It is also indicated that all Prosecution
witnesses are anticipated to testify with respect to paragraph 6.11 of the Nsengiyumva Indictment. See Supplement to
lhc Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, pp. 14-17.
386 Supplement to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, pp. 16,
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169. Further notice was provided when the Prosecution disclosed the unredacted statements of

Witnesses )(BG and )GM on 7 May 2003,387 and then sought leave to add these witnesses, among

others, to its witness list on 13 June 2003."t Witness XBG's statement described an attack at

Mudende University in May 7994,38e while Witness XBM's statement alleged Nsengiyumva's

physical presence and personal participation in an attack against Tutsis at Mudende University on

9 April 1994 involving soldiers and civilians.3eo Th" Prosecution argued that the witnesses'

evidence was clearly material to its case.3el Despite Nsengiyumva's objections to the hearing of

these witn"sses,3e2 the Trial Chamber granted the Prosecution's motion.3e3 Three years later,

Nsengiyumva sought to exclude the evidence of Witnesses )(BG and XBM on the Mudende

University killings on the ground that it fell outside the scope of the Indictment.3e4 In deciding

Nsengiyumva's motion, the Trial Chamber stated:

The Prosecution motion for leave to add Witnesses XBG and XBM to the witness list makes
specific reference to their expected testimony concerning the Accused's role in massacres at
Mudende University. This provided clear and unequivocal notice that the hosecution intended to
rely on these material facts as proof of the allegations in paragraphs 6.11 and 6.22 of the
Indictment concerning the Accused's involvemelt i1 killilg civilian Tutsis, and that he gave
orders to milltias to carry out such Hllfug5. On this basis, the Chamber finds this evidence to be
admissible.3e5

The Appeals Chamber finds no error in the Trial Chamber's reasoning. It considers that the

differences as regards the date and specifics of the attack between Witnesses XBG's and XBM's

statements, or with Witness HV's summary, did not constitute inconsistent notice as alleged by

38' S"e The Prosecutor v. Th1oneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T, Interoffice Memorandum, Subject:
Unredacted Disclosure in OTP v. Theoneste Bagosor4 Anatole Nsengiyumva, Aloys Ntabakuze and Gratien Kabiligi,
ICTR-98-41-T, 7 May 2W3 (*7 May 2003 Disclosure"). The Appeals Chamber notes that Witness XBG's redacted
statement was disclosed as early as 14 September 2002, and that no redacted version of Witness XBM's statement was
ever disclosed. See Decision to Add Witnesses XBG and XBM, para. 4.
38E The Prosecutor v. Th4oneste Bagosora et al., Case No. IClR-gg-41-T, Confidential Prosecutor's Motion for Leave
to Vary the Witness List Pursuant to Rule 73bis(E) of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence, confidential, 13 June 2003
("Prosecution Motion to Add Witnesses XBG and )GM').
t* 5""7 May 2003 Disclosure, p. 13190 @egistry pagination). See alsoExhibit DNS32B (Witness XBG's statem€nt of
28 and 29 August 2OO2),p.7.
t% S"r7 Mai 2003 Disilosure, pp. 13286,13287 (Registry pagination). See also Exhibit DB26B (Wirness XBM's
statement of 26and27February 2003),pp. 13,74.
3erProsecutionMotiontoAddWitnesseiXBGandXBM, paru.4.Seealsoibid.,paras.7,9.
tn' 5"" The Prosecutor v. Th1oneste Bagosora et. al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T, Defence Response to Confidential
Prosecutor's Motion for Leave to Vary the Witness List Pursuant to Rule 73 bis (E) of the Rules of kocedure and
Evidence, 18 June 2003. See also The Prosecutor v. Thdoneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T, Extremely
Urgent Motion by the Defence for an Order Requiring the Prosecutor to Specify the Sequence in which Witnesses Will
Testify in the Session Commencing 9 June 2003 and Ending 18 July 2C{l.3, a Further Order for the Prosecutor to
Comply with the Trial Chamber's Order of 8 April 2003 and a Request to the Trial Chamber to Strike Out Wirnesses
Added to the Prosecutor's Final List in Violation of Rule 73 bis (E),15 May 2003, paras. 7-10 (p. 5).3e3 Decision to Add Witnesses XBG and XBM, p. 8.
'no Th" Prosecutor v. Th1oneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T, Anatole Nsengiyumva Motion For the
Exclusion of Evidence of Allegations Falling Outside the Indictment Pursuant to Articles 17 and 18 of the Statute of the
International Tribunal and Rules 47, 50, -53bis and 62 of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence. 9 Mav 2006
(' 'Nsengiyumva Morion for Exclusion of Evidence"), paras. 54,55.
t '" Decision on Exciusion of Evidence, para. 14.
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Nsengiyumva as they clearly described the same events in substance. These differences were only

relevant to the Prosecution's ability to prove its case.3e6

170. The Appeals Chamber considers that the conduct of Nsengiyumva's defence at trial

confirms that he was adequately and timely inforrred that he was charged with the crimes

committed at Mudende University on 8 April 1994 and was able to prepare a meaningful defbnce.

l1L. kt this regard, the Appeals Chamber notes that Nsengiyumva did cross-examine

Witnesses XBG, XBM, and IIV on the events at Mudende University.3eT Seven months after

Witness HV testified, Nsengiyumva called Defence Witness LiK-Z to testify on the Mudende

University killings.3es Defence Witnesses LT-l, YD-1, and BZ-I also testified to ttris incident.3ee

On 15 December 2005, Nsengiyumva requested that Witnesses MAR-I and WY be added to his

witness list so that they could testify about the Mudende University attacks,m which they did in

May 2006.41

172. It is also noteworthy that in his Closing Briel Nsengiyumva expressly challenged the

coherence and credibility of Witnesses XBG, XBM, and HV.4o2 He referred to his

cross-examination of Prosecution Witness XBG,{3 and relied on the evidence of Defence

Witnesses LK-z, LT-l, YD-1, BZ-I, MAR-I, and WY-1, as well as his own, to deny ever going to

Mudende during the events.*o He urged the Trial Chamber to "disregard the testimonies on the

Mudende [...] killings for [...] being incredible, unbelievable and lacking in any probative

valuen'.{S He also relied on the Defence witnesses whose testimonies, he argued, were "not

effectively challenged by the prosecution [and] ought to be accepted as credible and reliable".46

The Appeals Chamber considers that Nsengiyumva's assertion that his witnesses were more

credible than the Prosecution's implies that he felt he had presented a full and meaningful defence.

t-n^1 s u Trial Judgem eng para. 1256.
"' Witness XBG, T. 9 July 2003 pp. 20-30; Witness XBM, T. 15 July 2003 pp. 51-54; Witness l{V,
T.24September2}O4 pp. I-25. The Appeals Chamber observes that objections were raised to the introduction of
evidence on the attack at Mudende University for lack of notice during Witness XBG's testimony, but that the Trial
Chamber stated that the question of whether there was sufficient notice would be dealt with at a later siage.
See Witness )GG, T. 8 July 2003 pp. 55-67.
3et Witness LK-2,T.19 April 2005 pp.2I-27.
tnn Cro26 April 2005, 12 December 2005, and 2}Februny 2006, respectively.
aw The Prosecutor v. Thdoneste Bagosora et aI., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T, Anatole Nsengiyumva's Urgent Motion for
Leave to Amend the List of Defence Witnesses, confidential, 15 December 2005, paras. 38, 40.
*' On29 May 2006 and 31 May 20O6,respectively.
"" Nsengiyumva Closing Brief, paras. 7L3-123.
""' Nsengiyumva Closing Bnef, pan.722.
ooo Nsengiyumva Closing Brief, paras. 124-135.
0"5 Nsengiyumva Closing Rnef -para.123.
'06 Nsengiyumva Closing Bnef, para.723.
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173. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber considers, Judge Giiney dissenting, that the
Prosecution provided the material facts underpinning the charge at paragraphs 6.11 and 6.22 of the

Indictment in a clear, consistent, and timely manner, and that Nsengiyumva was able to prepare a
meaningful defence against allegations of his role in the killings at Mudende University on
8 Aprit 1994. Nsengiyumva's submissions that he lacked adequate notice that he was charged with
these killings are accordingly dismissed.

7. Alleged Lack of Notice Concerning Bisesero

174. The Trial Chamber found that, in the second half of June 1994, Nsengryumva sent
militiamen from Gisenyi prefecture to participate in an operation in the Bisesero area of Kibuye
prefecture to kill Tutsis on orders of the govemment.aoT This factual finding was based on the
testimony of Witnesses ABQ, 2,7F, Omar Serushago, and on documentary evidence.aos The Trial

Chamber concluded that Nsengiyumva was criminally responsible pursuant to Article 6(1) of the
Statute for aiding and abetting the killing of Tutsi refugees in Bisesero by making resources

available to the local authorities in Kibuye prefecture for this purpose.o0e It convicted him of
genocide (Count 2), murder, extermination, and persecution as crimes against humanity (Counts 5,
6, and 8, respectively), as well as of violence to life as a serious violation of Article 3 common to
the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol tr (Count 10).nto

I75. In summarising the Prosecution's case against Nsengiyumva with respect to the killings in
Bisesero, the Trial Chamber referred to paragraphs 6.21 and 6.30 of the Indictment.all

Paragraph 6.30 alleges that from April to June 1994, Nsengiyumva chaired meetings at the

Umuganda Stadium in Gisenyi during which he incited and encouraged the militiamen in

attendance to continue the massacre of the Tutsi population. Paragraph 6.27 reads as follows:

In June 1994, Interior Minister Edouard Karemera ordered the Commander in Gisenyi, Anatole
Nsengiyumva, to send troops into the Bisesero area, in KJbuye pr4fecture, supposedly to combat
the enemy, although the RPF was in fact never in Bisesero. There was only of [sr'c] a group of
Tutsis [src] refugees who had gathered in that region, fleeing the massacres.

The Indictment states, in relevant part, that these allegations were pursued under Counts 2,5,6, g,

and 10 pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Statute.4l2

176. Nsengiyumva submits that the crimes for which he was convicted in relation to Bisesero fell
outside the scope of his Indictment.ol3 H" contends that paragr aph 6.27 of the Indictment "does not

f] fria Judgement, paru. 1824. See also ibid., para.2t55.-"" Trial Judgement, paras. 1818-1824.*"' Trial Judgement, pans. 2157, 2t 6t, 2189, 2I9i, 22L6, 2249.
"' " Tnal Judgement, paras. 2 1 6 1, 2189, 2197, 2216, 2248, 2258.'"  Tr ial  - Iudgenrcnt,  pua. 179i l .1n. 1945.
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disclose an offence" since there is no allegation that he reacted to the communication from

Karemera, sent anybody to Bisesero, or took any action.4l4 He claims that he had no notice of his

alleged criminal conduct, in particular that he was charged with aiding and abetting.ols Further, he

argues that even if an offence could be inferred, the allegations were too vague with regard to what

is alleged to be his criminal conduct, when it took place, and where.otu FIe adds that the Trial

Chamber's reliance on paragraph 6.30 of the Indictment was erroneous since it does not relate to the

Bisesero events and sets out allegations which were not proven by the Prosecution.alT Nsengiyumva

futher submits that neither the Supporting Material, nor the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief provided

him adequate notice,4l8 and that he suffered prejudice from the lack of notice of this charge.ale

177. The Prosecution responds that paragraph 6.27 adequately informed Nsengiyumva that, in

June 1994, Karemera ordered him to send troops to the Bisesero area, supposedly to combat the

RPF, although there were no RPF troops there, but Tutsi refugees who had fled killings.a2o

It submits that the Indictrnent clearly indicates that Article 6(1) of the Stanrte applied to the

allegations in paragraph 6.27, thus sufhciently informing Nsengiyumva that he was charged with

the killings in Bisesero, including aiding and abetting those killings.a2l The Prosecution further

argues that if there was any ambiguity in paragraph 6.27, it was cured by post-indictment

communicati ons.o" According to the Prosecution, Nsengiyumva's claim that he suffered prejudice

is ill-founded.a23

178. Nsengiyumva replies, inter alia, that his alleged compliance with Karemera's order to send

reinforcements, which could have amounted to criminal conduct, is not pleaded in the Indictment

and is not set out in the particulars provided thereafter.a2a

779. The Appeals Chamber considers that paragraph 6.30 of the Indictment could not constitute

the basis for Nsengi5rumva's convictions in relation to Bisesero insofar as it alleges a distinct set of

ar2 Nsengiyumva Indictment, pp. 36, 37, 39-42.
"'' Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. Z7; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 176.
o'o Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. L76. See also N[.30 March 2011 pp. 59,63.
*'' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 176, 223; Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, para. 66. Nsengiyumva points out that he
raised these issues at trial. See Nsengiyumva Appeal Bief.,para. 177.
at6 Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 178.
*" Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 183.
o'o Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 117, I19, referring to The Prosecutor v. Anatole Nsengiyumva. Case No. ICTR-
98-41-I, Supporting Material, confidential, 3 August 1998 ("Supporting Material"). See also Nl .30 March 201 1 pp. 58,
59.
o'e Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 184.
"'" Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), pan. I79. See also AT. 31 March 2OIl pp, 1,2.
otr Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para- 179- The kosecution responds that Nsengiyumva's claim that he
protested the attempt of confusion during Witness ABQ's testimony is unfounded as Nsengiyumva's Counsel admitted
in Court that he "probably had the wrong interpretation". See Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para. 190.
"" Prosecufion Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras. 180-186. See also AT.31 March 20llpp.2-5.
o" Prosectrtion Response Brief (Nsengiyumva). para. 186. See also AT. 31 March 20Il pp. 4, 5.
""' Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, para. 68. See also AT.30 March 201 1 pp. 58, 59.
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material facts which are not relevant to the Trial Chamber's findings concerning the Bisesero

events.

180. In his motion for a judgement of acquittal, Nsengiyumva raised the contention that no

offence was disclosed in paragraph 6.27 of the Indictment.o2s The Trial Chamber denied the motion

without addressing this specific c\um.a26 Later during trial, Nsengiyumva sought the exclusion of

the testimonies of Witnesses Serushago and ABQ concerning the allegations that he had sent

Interahamwe to the Bisesero hills in Kibuye prefecture to attack Tutsi refugees on the basis that

these allegations fell outside the scope of the Indictment.4zT In its Decision on Exclusion of

Evidence, the Trial Chamber deterrnined that the document entitled "supporting Material" which

accompanied the "Indictment", together with the sunmary of Witness Serushago's anticipated

testimony appended to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, provided Nsengiyumva with a clear

indication of the material facts which the Prosecution would present attial.a2s

181. The Appeals Chamber notes that paragraph 6.27 of the Indictrnent does not allege that

Nsengiyumva engaged in any criminal conduct. The allegation in this paragraph that Nsengiyumva

was ordered by the Minister of the Interior to send troops to the Biseser.o area does not say anything

about whether or not he was alleged to have complied with the order.

I82. The Appeals Chamber recalls, however, that in determining whether an accused was

adequately put on notice of the nature and cause of the charges against him, the indictment must be

considered as a whole.a'e In the instant case, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Indictment

specifically charged Nsengiyumva pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Statute for Counts I,2,3,5, 6, 8,

and 10 on the basis of paragraph 6.27.430 Nsengiyumva was therefore put on notice that he incurred

criminal responsibility on the basis of the allegations set out in that paragraph. This, however, did

not provide him with notice of the crime that he allegedly committed or of the mode of participation

therein. Given that a number of paragraphs containing only background information were also cited

in support of these counts,43l it was unclear whether the allegations set out in paragraph 6.27

constituted a separate charge or background information relating to charges pleaded elsewhere in

the Indictment.

o" The Prosecutor v. Thioneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T, Motion for Acquittal of Anatole
N.sengiyumva pursuant to Rule 98bis of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence, 21 October 2004, p. 50.
"" The Prosecutor v. Th6oneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T, Decision on Motions for Judgement of
Acquittal. 2 Februarv 2005.
a2? Nsengiyumva Motion for Exclusion of Evidence, paras. 58-60, 113-116.
"" Decision on Exclusion of Evidence, para. 18, referring /o Supporting Material, p. ll2 and Prosecution pre-Trial

Prief, Appendix A, Witness Serushago (ZDIGHK), p.157.
"^" Seromba AppealJudgement, pan.27;SimbaAppealJudgement,fn. 158; Gacumbitsi AppealJudgement, para. lZ3.
"" '  Nsengiyrrmva Indic tment ,  pp.  36,  31 .39-42.
"" ,lee..f,,r ittstance. Nsengiyumva Indictment. pp.36-42, re.ferring to paras. 4.2-4.4,5.5, -5.9, 6.-5.
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183. The Trial Chamber considered that the Supporting Material which accompanied

Indictrnent provided Nsengiyumva "with a clear indication of the material facts which

Prosecution would present at trial" concerning Bisesero.a3' Tlte material provided in relation to

paragraph 6-27 of the Indictment consisted of: (i) a copy of the letter sent by Karemera to

Nsengiyumva requesting that he "back up the Gendamrerie unit in Kibuye, with the support of the

people, in conducting the search operation in Bisesero secteur, Gishyita commune, which has

become an RPF sanctuary"; (ii) a reference to "Pro Justicia No.37l95, P.V. No.24.7j2:

The Advance of the FPR in Rwanda"; and (iii) a statement from Witness FF referring to the chasing

of refugees in the Bisesero hills by Interahamwe and soldiers, and describing a specific incident

during which a boy spotted about one thousand people who had sought refuge in a cave and shouted

to Interahamwe thathe had found Inyenzi.a33

184. Even assuming that the Supporting Material could be construed as part of the Indictmenl

the Appeals Chamber considers that this material did not clarify the charge allegedly disclosed in

paragraph 6.27 of the Indictment. While the copy of Karemera's letter substantiates the allegation

that Nsengiyumva was asked to support an operation against the RPF in Bisesero, it does not

provide any information as to the criminal conduct imputed to Nsengiyumva. The reference to the

pro justitia, in itself, did not provide notice of anything. As to the quoted part of Witness FF's

statement, the Appeals Chamber observes that it does not refer to Nsengiyumva, Gisenyi, Gisenyi

soldiers, or soldiers or Interahamwe dispatched by Nsengiyumva, but refers to the participation of
"Interahnmwe and soldiers" in the chasing of refugees in Bisesero hills. Whereas Witness FF's

description of the chasing of refugees could reasonably have put Nsengiyumva on notice that it was

alleged that Tutsi refugees fleeing the massacres were kilted by Interahamwe and soldiers in

Bisesero hills, it did not give him clear notice that he was charged with aiding and abetting these

killings by dispatching militiamen recruited in Gisenyi prefecture to Bisesero.

185. The Appeals Cha:nber considers that Nsengiyumva was not charged with the conduct for

which he was found criminally responsible in relation to Bisesero. As to whether the allegation that

Nsengiyumva complied with the government's order and dispatched troops to Bisesero was implied

in paragraph 6.27 in the Indictment, the Appeals Chamber stresses that an accused is entitled to be

informed clearly of the charges against him and cannot be required to infer the charges brought

against him. The Prosecution was in possession of material relating to Nsengiyumva's role in the

Bisesero killings when it frled the Indictment;a3a if its intention was to prosecute Nsengiyumva for

432 Decision on Exclusion ofEvidence, para. 18,
41r  - -- '- 

SLtpporting IVaterial, p. 112.*'" 
,(ea Tlte Prosecutor v. Anatole Nsengiyttnwa. Case No. ICTR-96-12-I, Witness ZF's statement dated 24 lune 1998

(French), redacted. disclosed confidentialiy on 13 July 1999,p.14.
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dispatching militiamen to Bisesero to participate in an operation against Tutsi civilians, it should

have informed Nsengiyumva by saying so explicitly. Instead, it merely alleged that Nsengiyumva

was required to send troops to Bisesero where there were no RPF troops but Tutsis refugees.

This allegation does not constitute a criminal charge.

186. It is possible that the Prosecution may have, in the course of this long trial, collected

evidence which shed more light on the circumstances of the Bisesero killings of June 1994 and

Nsengiyumva's role therein. Such a situation required the kosecution to request permission to

amend the indictment for the purpose of adding the relevant charge. It did not. The Appeals

Chamber therefore finds that Nsengiyumva was not charged with aiding and abetting the killings in

Bisesero.

187. The Appeals Chamber recalls that in reaching its judgement, a Trial Chamber can only

convict the accused of crimes that are charged in the indictment.a3s Accordingly, the Appeals

Chamber concludes that the Trial Chamber erred in frnding that Nsengiyumva was criminally

responsible pusuant to Article 6(1) of the Statute for aiding and abetting the killing of Tutsi

refugees in Bisesero by sending militiamen from Gisenyi as that charge was not pleaded in the

Indictment. The Appeals Chamber gmnts Nsengiyumva's Second, Fourth, and Tenth Grounds of

Appeal in part and reverses his convictions under Counts 2, 5, 6,8, and 10 of the Indictment based-

on the crimes committed at Bisesero in the second half of June 1994. As a result, the Appeals

Chamber will not examine Nsengiyumva's remaining arguments relating to the Bisesero events.

The Appeals Chamber will discuss the impact, if any, of this finding on Nsengiyumva's sentence in

the appropriate section of this Judgement.

o" 5"", e.g., Munyakazi Appeal .Iudgement, para. 36; Muvunl,i Appeal Juclgement of 1 April 2011, para. 19;
KcLlintanTira Appeal Judgement, pan. 46; Ntagen.Lra et al. Appear Judgement, para.2g.
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190. The Prosecution responds that all elements of Nsengiyumva's

adequately pleaded.4l

superior responsibility were

191. The Appeals Chamber recalls that when an accused is charged with superior responsibility

pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute, the indictment must plead the following material facts:

(i) that the accused is the superior of sufficiently identified subordinates over whom he had
effective control - in the sense of a material ability to prevent or punish criminal conduct - and for
whose acts he is alleged to be responsible;

(n) the criminal conduct of those others for whom the accused is alleged to be responsible;

(iii) the conduct of the accused by which he may be found to have known or had reason to know
that the crimes were about to be corrmitted or had fssn gemmitted by his subordinates; and

(iv) the conduct of the accused by which he may be found to have failed to take the necessary and
reasonable measures to prevent such acts or to punish the persons who comnitted them.a2

]]i friat Judgement, paras. 2161, 2189,2197,2216,2223,2248, See otso ibid.,para.2ZTZ.
::1 Trial Judgement, para.2272. See also ibid.,paras.2161,2189,2197,22L6,2248.
*'o Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 6. See also AT. 30 March 201 1 p. 58.
"" Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 17. See also ibid., paras. 75, 76, 105, 127.
*0 Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 18. See atso ibid., paras. 76. 127; Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, para.
4r I'rosecution Resnonse Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras.22-29. See also ihir| ., pan. 49.
*' ,\ee, e.g., Muvunl,i Appeal .Iudgement of 29 August 2008, para. 19; Nahimttna et al. Appeal Juclgement, para.323

3 831 lA
8. Alleged Lack of Notice of Elements of Superior Responsibility

The Trial Chamber found that Nsengiyumva could be held responsible as a superior

pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute under Counts 2, 5, 6,8, 9, and 10 of the Indicturent for the

crimes committed in Gisenyi town, including against Alphonse Kabiligi, at Nyundo Parish, and at

Mudende University, but, having found him guilty under Article 6(1) of the Statute, did not convict

him of these crimes as a superior.a36 The Trial Chamber did, however, consider his role as a

superior in these cdmes as an aggravating factor in sentencing.*'

189. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber erred in failing to properly apply the pleading

principles for Article 6(3) liability.o" H. argues that as no material facts for superior responsibility

were pleaded and as this defect was never cured, the Trial Chamber erroneously found him liable as

a superior for these crimes.a3e He contends that he was charged with ordering crimes, not with

superior responsibility over their perpetrators.4O

Case No.ICTR-98-41-A

OL

14 December 2011



3R3
(a) Identification of Subordinates

I92. The Trial Chamber found that the crimes in Gisenyi town and at Mudende University were
perpetrated by soldiers and militiamen, who were found to be Nsengiyumva's subordinates.43

In addition, the Trial Chamber found that the killings at Nyundo Parish were perpetated only by

militiamen, whom it also found to have been Nsengiyumva's subordinates.4 With regard to

whether Nsengiyumva was gtven proper notice of the identity of his alleged criminal subordinates,

the Tria1 Chamber considered that:

The Indictrrent adequately identffies Nsengiyumva's subordinates alleged to have committed the
crimes. Some are named in various paragraphs throughout the Indichent in connection with the
attacks. In most cases, the participants who physically perpetrated the crimes are identified in the
Indictment and the ke-Trial Brief dealing with the specific crimes by broad category, such as
Interahamwe or soldiers, and then further identified with geographic and temporal details. In the
context of this case, it is clear that the references to soldiers are those within the Gisenyi
operational sector. Given the nature of the attacks, the Chamber is satisfied that the kosecution
provided an adequate identifi cation.as

I93. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that his Indictment was

sufficiently specific as to the superior-subordinate relationship.*6 Ioparticular, he submits that the

Trial Chamber erred in failing to specify whether his alleged subordinates were civilians, civil

defence forces, bandits, Interahamwe, or party militias, and that it erred in using the terms

interchangeably.4T He argues that the Indictment only charges him with giving orders to identified,

well-structured, political party militiamen, namely the MRND Interalnmwe and the CDR

Impuzamugambi, a charge which was never proven.48

I94. The Prosecution responds that Nsengiyumva's subordinates were identified in the

Indictment as the soldiers of the Gisenyi operational Sector and "militi as".44e

195. The Appeals Chamber notes that paragraphs 4.2 and 4.4 of the Indictment allege that during

the period relevant to the Indictrnent, Nsengiyumva was the "Commander of Military Operations

for Gisenyi sector", in which capacity he exercised authority over the military in Gisenyi sector.

Paragraph 4.5 of the Indictment alleges that he also held authority over the MRND militia
(Interahamwe) and the CDR militta (Impuzamugambi). In addition, paragraph 6.36 of the

Indictment alleges that, from April to JaIy 1994, Nsengiyumva exercised authority over "members

of the Forces Armdes Rwandaises, their officers and militiamen,'.

*,3 Tial Judgement, paras. 1065, 1166, lZ5Z, ZOii, Z0i8.
* Trial Judgement, paras. L203,2079.
*t Trial Judgement, pan.207| (internal references omitted).*" Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 18, 19. See also AT.30 March 20l l p. 58.*' Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 6. See also ibid., para. IB.'"" Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 20,22,11 , 124, 125, fn. 19i, Ser: al,so Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, para. 32-
""'Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras. 26. 29. See rtlso ibid... porur. 8+. 85, 125, 135, 162.

x/n
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196. Paragraph 6.36 was relied upon in support of all counts of which Nsengiyumva was found

guilty. Paragraphs 4.2 and 4.4 were only relied upon for Counts 7 and 11, of which Nsengiyrmva

was acquitted, and paragraph 4.5 was not specifically referred to in support of any count in the

lndictment. Nevertheless, since they are contained in the section describing fhe accused and merely

provide information on Nsengiyumva's professional background and military authority during the

period of the events alleged,aso the Appeals Chamber considers that paragraphs 4.2, 4.4, and 4.5

unambiguously applied to all counts charged pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute; although they

contain material facts supporting elements of crimes pleaded elsewhere in the Indictment, they do

not plead allegations that may be separately charged as a crime. As such, the Appeals Chamber

considers that it was not necessary to plead these paragraphs under each of the counts in the

charging section of the Indictment. Consequently, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Indictment

clearly identified soldiers from the Rwandan army in Gisenyi sector and militiamen as

Nsengiyumva's subordinates. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber recalls that a superior need not

necessmily know the exact identity of his subordinates who perpetrate crimes in order to incur

liability under Article 6(3) of the Statute,ott *d that physical perpetrators of the crimes can be

identified by category in relation to a particular crime site.4s2

I97. As to whether the perpetrators for whose crimes Nsengiyumva was convicted were

specifically identified in relation to each crime, the Appeals Chamber notes that paragraphs 6.20,

6.22, and.6364s3 were invoked pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute, and specifically identified

soldiers and militiamen as the perpetrators of the crimes. By virtue of paragraphs 4.2, 4.4, 4.5, and

6.36, soldiers and militiamen were identified as Nsengiyu.mva's subordinates for the purposes of

superior responsibility.

198. The Appeals Chamber notes that, in its factual and legal findings, the Trial Chamber used

the term "militiamen" interchangeably with others such as "militia groups", "civilian militiamen",

"civilian assailants", "civilian militia", "civilian attackers", and "Interahamwe",454 whereas the

Indictment only identifies "militiamen" as perpetrators of crimes and Nsengiyumva's

subordinates.ott The Appeals Chamber finds it clear that the Trial Chamber's choice of words was

oso Nsengiwmva Indictment, Section 4 "The Accused".
nt' R"rioio Appeal Judgement, para. 64; Muvunyi Appeal Judgement of 29 August 2008, para. 55, referring to
Blagojevii and Jokii Appeal Judgemenl pan.287.
ot' C1- RrnTolro Appeal Judgement, para. 64; Muvurryi Appeal Judgement of 29 August 2008, paras. 55, 56; Ntagerura
et aI. AppealJudgement, paras. 140, 141,153.
*" The Appeals Chamber recalls that Nsengiyumva was convicted on the basis of, inter alia, patagraphs 6.20 (Nyundo
Parish), 6.22 (Mudende University), and 6.36 (Gisenyi town, Alphonse Kabiligi) of the Indictmenr. See szpra, Sections
III C,3-6.
oto 5"",e.g., 'f ialJudgement,paras. 1063-1A66,2033,2063,2018,2087,2127-2133,2136,2131,2150,2152.
ot'' ,!ee, e.g., Nsengiyumva Tndictment, paras. 4.5 (.re.ferring ro "MRI)N rnilitia, the [nterahanrwe, and t-he CDR militia,
tlte hnpuTamugambi"), 6.16, 6.20, 6.22, 6.36.
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intended to denote the militiamen's non-military nature, as distinct from the regular army under 

'

Nsengiyumva's command.a56 Moreover, the Appeals Chamber is not persuaded that the term

"militiamen" as used in the Indictment was necessarily limited to denote members of the youth

wings of the MRND and CDR political parties. Indeed, reference is also made to "carefully

selected" civilians who were armed and participated in hostilities.a5T As such, the Appeals Chamber

rejects Nsengiyumva's suggestion that the Indictment distinguished between "civilian" and

"political" militiamen.

199. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that with respect to the kiltings in Gisenyi town,

including the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi, and the killings at Nyundo Parish and at Mudende

University, the Indictment suffrciently identified Nsengiyumva's subordinates for whose acts he

was alleged to be responsible.

O) Criminal Conduct of Subordinates

200. The issue of notice of the crimes allegedly committed by soldiers and militiamen in Gisenyi

town, including the murder of Alphonse Kabiligi, at Nyundo Parish, and at Mudende University has

been addressed in the sections of this Judgement addressing the alleged lack of pleading of the

material facts underpinning each of the specific incidents. There, the Appeals Chamber has found

that Nsengiyumva was put on notice that soldiers and/or militiamen were alleged to have killed

Tutsi civilians, Hutu moderates, and/or political opponents in Gisenyi town on 7 Apil1994,

including Alphonse Kabiligi, at Nyundo Parish between 7 and 9 April 1994, and at Mudende

University on 8 April lgg4.4s8

(c) Knowledge of the Subordinates' Crimes

2OI. The Trial Chamber was satisfied that Nsengiyumva had actual knowledge that his

subordinates were about to commit crimes or had in fact committed them.ase In a general section of

the Trial Judgement which addressed issues relating to notice of the charges, the Trial Chamber

found that "[k]nowledge of the crimes has flowed mainly from their open and notorious or

wide-spread and systematic nature" and that "[n]otice of [the co-Accused's] knowledge as well as

their participation in the crimes follow[s] from reading the Indictments as a whole".460

056 As higtlighted by the Trial Chamber, "civilians involved in the killings in Rwanda from 7 April were commonly
referred to as Interahamwe even if they were not specifically members of the MRND youth wing". See Trial
J-udgement, para. 459. See also infra, para. 365 .
o'- '^See Nsengiyumva Indictment, paras. 1.19, 5.19. See also ibid.,paras. 1.15, 5.30, 6.9.o'o ,See srrnra. Sections III.C.3-6.
oso T.ial Jirdsement. oara.2o82.
06" T.iul Judiement, para 125.
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202. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber erred in failing to find that there was notice in

the Indictment of his knowledge of the crimes of his alleged subordinates.o6l In particular, he

submits that it was not pleaded, nor can it be presumed, that he had knowledge of crimes because

they were open and notorious or widespread and systematic in nature.62 He contends that the Trial

Chamber's reliance on the Indictrnent as a whole was eroneous, and its interpretation so tenuous

that no accused person should be expected to discem the nature of the charges against him.'r63

203. The Prosecution responds that Nsengiyumva's knowledge is contained in allegations of his

own participation in the crimes and their widespread and systematic nature.64

204. The Appeals Chamber notes that paragraph 6.36 of the Indictment, upon which the Trial

Chamber specifically relied in support of Nsengiyumva's superior responsibility under the relevant

counts, explicitly alleges that the military and militiamen committed massacres throughout Rwanda

starting on 6 April 1994 with Nsengiyumva's knowledge. The Appeals Chamber further notes that

several other paragraphs in the Indictment charged pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute allege the

role and frequent participation of the military and militiamen in killings throughout Rwanda, and, in

particular, in Gisenyi prefecture,a6s often on the orders of Nsengiyumva.o66 Taken together, these

paragraphs clearly plead that Nsengiyumva knew or had reason to know that his subordinates were

about to or had committed the crimes alleged in the Indictment, as well as the conduct by which he

may be found to have known or had reason to know.

(d) Failure to Prevent or Punish

205. The Trial Chamber found that Nsengiyumva failed in his duty to prevent the crimes because

"he in fact participated in them" and that "[t]here is absolutely no evidence that the perpetrators

were punished afterwards".467

206. While Nsengiyumva made no specific submissions in respect of this element of superior

responsibility in his written submissions, at the appeal hearing, he argued that the conduct by which

he was alleged to have failed to prevent his subordinates' criminal conduct was not set out in the

Indictment.a68

a6r Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 6. See also AT. 30 March 2011 p. 58.
462 Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 19.
463 Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 19.
ae Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras. 27, 86.
*o' See Nsengiyumva Indictment, paras. 5.31,5.32,6.16,6.11,6.20,6.22-6.24,6.29,6.32,6.34, 6.36.
onu 5"" Nsengiyumva Indictment, paras. 6.16, 6.20,6.22,6.23,6.29.
*n' -1-rial 

.Iudgement- para. 2083.
4"8 ;\T. 30 March 20i I p. 58.
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207 . A review of the Indictment reflects a failure on the part of the Prosecution to explicitly plead

the failure to prevent or punish in relation to the crimes for which Nsengiyumva was convicted.a6e

However, the paragraphs relied upon by the Trial Chamber as a basis for Nsengi)rumva's

convictions charged pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute either allege that the crimes were

committed on Nsengi5rumva's orders,47o or with his authorisation.aTl This, in the Appeals

Chamber's opinion, gave sufficient notice to Nsengiyumva of the conduct by which he was alleged

to have failed to take the necessary measures to prevent or punish the crimes.

208. The Appeals Chamber is therefore satisfied that, read as a whole, the Indictment put

Nsengiyumva on adequate notice that the Prosecution was alleging that he had failed to prevent or

punish his subordinates' crimes. The Appeals Chamber further notes that, in its Opening Statement,

the Prosecution clearly re-affirmed its intention to prove that Nsengiyumva, along with his

co-Accused, had failed to discharge his duty as a superior. a?2

(e) Conclusion

209. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber finds no merit in Nsengiyumva's

submission that he was not properly charged as a superior pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute for

the crimes perpetrated in Gisenyi town, including the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi, at Nyundo

Parish, and, Judge Giiney dissenting, at Mudende University.

a6e 11it element of superior responsibility is pleaded at paragraph 6.17 of the Nsengiyumva Indictment in respect of a
specific incident in the afternoon of 7 April 1994 which allegedly resulted in the killing of a Tutsi mar and the
wounding of his son in the presence of Nsengiyumva, who allegedly "did notbing to prevent or to stop this attack".-.-i See Nsengiyumva Indictment, paras. 6.16, 6.20,6.22,6.36.
"" See Particulars, para.6.20.
nt2 Opening Statembnt" T. 2 April 2002pp.189, 190:

Your Honours, the defendants' responsibilities, we need to touch on a little while before proceeding.
As officers, they had a responsibility to prevent their soldiers from carrying out attacks against civilians.They
had a responsibility to punish those who - those or [sic] their soldiers who did such things, and they had a
responsibility to make their best efforts in carrying out theso obligations.

Your Honours will hear evidence that the Defendants never lifted a finger to do this, to prevent these things
or punish those who did thom, but their criminal liability does not stop there. You will hear evidence that the
Defendants positively gave their subordinates and other genociders [sic] the guidance and lcadership in these
deeds.
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9. Alleged Errors in Considering Prejudice

210. In its preliminary considerations on notice issues in the Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber

recalled the Appeals Chamber's holding that even if a Trial Chanber finds that the defects in an

indictrnent have been cured by post-indictment submissions, it should consider whether the extent

of these defects materially prejudiced the accused's right to a fair trial by hindering the preparation

of a proper defence.aT3 The Trial Chamber then engaged in an analysis to that effect.a7a It stated that

"[a] careful consideration of the Defence conduct during the course of trial and in their final

submissions plainly reflects that they have mastered the case" .475 Itconcluded that the trial had not

been rendered unfair due to the number of defects in the co-Accused's indictments which had been

cured.a76

2L7. Nsengiyumva contends that the Trial Chamber erred in its assessment of the cumulative

effect of the defects in his Indictrnent by failing to find that the numerous defects, even if found to

be cured, caused him irreparable prejudic e.*' He argues that the accumulation of a large number of

material facts not pleaded in the Indictment impacted his ability to know the case he had to meet

and hampered the preparation of his defence.aTs In this regard, he points out that apart from the

Nyundo killings, none of the other four crimes for which he was convicted was pleaded in the

Indictment.*e In his submission, the significance of the defects is underscored by the fact that he

effectively and successfully defended himself against all the crimes adequately pleaded in the

Indictment, while he was convicted on the basis of the unpleaded ones because his ability to mount

a defence was impaired.a80 He submits that the Trial Chamber failed to consider this prejudice and

instead made broad and general statements which do not address the specific defects in his

Indictment and the resultant cumulative prejudice.a8l

212. The Prosecution responds that Nsengiyumva has not demonstrated any error in the Trial

Chamber's approach to prejudice and that he failed to show that he suffered prejudice.a82

213. The Appeals Chamber recalls its findings above that, save for his convictions relating to

Bisesero, Nsengiyumva was convicted on the basis of charges which, though vague, were pleaded

473 Trial Judgement, para. I23, refening to The Prosecutor v. Th1oneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-AR?3,
Decision on Aloys Ntabakuze's Interlocutory Appeal on Questions of Law Raised by the 29 June 2006 Trial Chamber I
Decision on Motion for Exclusion of Evidence, 18 September 2006, para. 48.
474 Trial Judgement, paras. 124-127.

ijl Trial Judgement, pan.126.
*'o Trial Judgement, para. 127 -
477 Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 12; Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, para. 2.
o'o Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 12; Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, para. 2.
"' '  Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 13. See alsoT.30 March 2011 p. 50.
otn Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 13.
'""r Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 14; Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, para. Z.
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in his Indictment and for which adequate notice was subsequently provided, curing the defects in
the Indictment. Nsengiyumva's claim that he suffered prejudice from the fact that he was convicted
on the basis of unpleaded charges is therefore without merit. As regards the charge relating to
Bisesero, the Appeals Chamber recalls that it has reversed Nsengiyumva's convictions entered on
this basis.a83

2I4. While addressing this issue in a general section dealing with all co-Accused, the Trial
Chamber did examine whether the cumulative effect of the defects in their indictments prejudiced

their abilify to prepare their defence, and found that the trial had not been rendered unfair. In so
finding, the Trial Chamber considered a number of factors,oto non" of which is specifically
challenged by Nsengiyumva in the present appeal. The Appeals Chamber considers that
Nsengiyumva's argument regarding the fact that he successfully defended against . pleaded

charges" is a non sequitur.It does not demonstrate that his abilify to prepare a defence against the
charges for which he was ultimately convicted was impaired.

215- The Appeals Chamber does not minimise the extent of the hosecution's failure to provide

adequate notice in the Indictrnent; in respect of the five crimes of which Nsengiyumva was found
guilty, one was not charged and none of the other four was adequately pleaded in the Indictment.

The record of the case also reflects that the Indictment suffered from a number of other defects.a8s

216- However, Nsengiyumva does not demonstrate that his ability to prepare his defence was
materially impaired. As underscored by the Trial Chamber, "where defects have been cured, they
relate to more generally worded paragraphs and do not add new elements to the case".486 It added

that "[t]he curing for the most part was based on the Pre-Trial Brief and its revision filed nearly a

year before the Prosecution began presenting the majority of its witnesses in June 2003".a87 Finaly,
it noted that "there have been a number of breaks throughout the proceedings which have allowed
the parties to conduct investigations and prepare for evidence in upcoming trial sessions".488

2I7. As a result, the Appeals Chamber finds that Nsengiyumva has tailed to demonstrate that the
defects in his Indictment materially hampered the preparation of his defence. The Appeals Chamber
considers that the Trial Chamber did not err in concluding that the trial had not been rendered unfair
due to the number of defects in Nsengiyumva's Indictment which had been cured.

082 kosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), pans. I4-2I.*"' See supra, Sectton III.C.7.

ll friat Judgement, paras. 124-126.
*o' Decision on Exclusion of Evidence, paras. 10, IZ, 15, 16, 22-28, 36-31, 46-50, 60-6joff f. ia Judgemenr, pan. 124.oo'Trial 

Judgement. oara. 124.
out T.iol Jualement, para. 124.
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10. Conclusion

2I8. h light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds, Judge Giiney partially dissenting, thar

Nsengiyumva has failed to demonstrate that he was not charged with the crimes committed in

Gisenyi town, at Nyundo Parish, at Mudende University, and with the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi,

or that he lacked adequate notice of the material facts underpinning these charges. However, the

Appeals Chanrber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in convicting Nsengiyumva for crimes

committed in Bisesero as they were not charged in the Indictment.

2I9. As a result, the Appeals Chamber reverses Nsengiyumva's convictions for the crimes

committed in Bisesero, and dismisses the remainder of Nsengiyumva's submissions relating to lack

of notice.
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D. AIIeeed Errors Relating to the Burden of Proof and the Assessment of Evidence

(Ground 11)

22O. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber erred in failing to find that the Prosecution

had the obligation to prove its case beyond reasonable doubt.ase He also submits that the Trial

Chamber erred in its assessment of circumstantial and hearsay evidence, and in its approach to

corroboration.oeo

221. The Appeals Chamber notes that most of Nsengiyumva's submissions directly relate to his

convictions for the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi and the attacks in Gisenyi town, at Nyundo Parish,

and at Mudende University.ael These submissions have been addressed in the sections of this

Judgement dealing with the particular events to which they relate.os2 The Appeals Chamber also

considers that Nsengiyumva's remaining arguments relating to the Bisesero events have become

moot as a result of its findings that this charge was not pleaded in the Nsengiyumva Indictment.ae3

222. Nsengiyumva's remaining submissions under this ground of appeal concern the assessment

of circumstantial and hearsay evidence and shall be addressed in turn.

223. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber misapplied the principle that where a finding

rests upon circumstantial evidence, it must be the only reasonable inference available.4e4 However,

aEe Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, paras. 12,28; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. zz4, zz5.*'" Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, pxas.29,33,35,36 (pp. 2O-22); Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 226-23l.Inltts
Notice of Appeal, Nsengiyumva further argued that the Trial Chamber: (i) often mischaracterised his testimony;
(ii) failed to accord appropriate weight to his testimony and to Defence testimonial evidence; and (iii) failed to treat
evidence with proper caution especially with regard to the witnesses' credibility. See Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal,
paras. 3G32 (pp. 20, 21). As Nsengiyumva fails to reiterate and elaborate upon these contentions in his Appeal Erief,
the Appeals Chaurber considers that he has abandoned them as part of his Eleventh Ground of Appeal. Thi Appeals
Chamber notes that these contentions were developed in other grounds of Nsengiyumva's appeal-and have therefore
been addressed elsewhere in this Judgement.
ont For instance, Nsengiyumva chiilenges the Trial Chamber's conclusions on the origin of lists of suspected
accomplices of the enemy and on his role in their preparation, which were relevant to the Trial Chamber's findings
concerning his responsibility for the murder of Alphonse Kabiligi. See Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. ZZ4, Ztg,
referring to TiaJ Judgement, paras. 425, 453. See a/so Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, pan. 24. Nsengiyumva also
contends that the Trial Chamber drew prejudicial conclusions regarding an alleged meeting during the night of 6 to
7 April 1994, which it relied upon in relation to the Gisenyi town and Mudende University incidents. See Nsengiyumva
Appeal Brief, para. 224; Tial Judgement, parus. 2142, 2148. He also takes issue with the Trial Chamber's usseir*"nt
of the evidence regarding his responsibility for ordering, its approach to corroboration concerning the evidence on the
Gisenyi town killings, as well as its conclusion on his alleged failure to fulfil his duty to prevent and punish.
See Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 225,221 ,228, fn. 457.
*'" See irfz. Scctions l l l .F-I.
o" 5"" ,sinra. nara. 187.
nnn Nr".rgiyu*ua Noticc of Appeal, para.29; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 226,227 .
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Nsengiyumva does not provide any argument in support of his assertion.aet The Appeals Chamber

therefore summarily dismisses this submission.ae6

224. As regards the assessment of hearsay evidence, Nsengiyumva contends that the Trial

Charnber erroneously relied on the hearsay testimony of expert Witness Des Forges which went

beyond the scope of her expertise regarding the es.tablishment of the civil defence system.aeT

The hosecution responds that Nsengiyumva's contentions are without merit.aeg

225. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber based its findings regarding the

establishment of the civil defence system on a rich body of evidence, including an extensive

number of documents, video footage, and witness testimonies.aee Among other evidence, the Trial

Chamber relied on expert Witness Des Forges's testimony.t* In this regard, the Appeals Chamber

recalls that expert witnesses are ordinarily afforded significant latinrde to offer opinions within their

expertise; their views need not be based upon first-hand knowledge or experience.tol In general, an

expert witness lacks personal familiarity with the particular case and offers a view based on his or

her specialised knowledge regarding a technical, scientific, or otherwise discrete set of ideas or

concepts that is expected to lie outside the lay person's ken.s02

226. The Appeals Chamber also reiterates that hearsay evidence from an expert witness is

admissible as long as it has probative value and remains within the proper purview of expert

evidence.s03 Witness Des Forges provided testimony as an expert on, inter alia, the historical and

political developments leading up to the genocide.soa The Appeals Chamber considers that her

testimony on the civil defence system fell within the ambit of her professional expertise on the

historical and political framework of the crimes committed in 1994 in Rwanda. The relevant section

4es The Appeals Chamber notes that Nsengiyumva merely enumerates in a footnote all paragraphs of the Trial
Judgement which relate to his criminal responsibility without any further elaboration. See Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief,
para.226, fn. 454.
1e6 'Ihe Appeals Chamber notes, however, that Nsengiyumva's contentions regarding the Trial Chamber's erroneous
assessment of circumstantial evidence are considered in this Judgement where Nsengiyumva provides the required
sp_ecifications. See infra, Sections II.F-I.
n'' Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 36 (p. 22); Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 230, referring to Tial
Judsement. oaras. 47 3-480.
oes irosecutitn Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras. 236, 237, 240.

lnn su Trial Judgement, paras. 488-495, fns. 553-560.
'-. See Trial Judgement, paras. 490, 494, 496, 499, fns. 553, 554, 560, 56I, 567 .
)vL Renzaho Appeal Judgement, para.287; Nahimana et aL Appeal Judgement, para. 198; Semanqa Appeal Judgement,
para. 303.
302 Renzaho Appeal Judgement, pan.287; Nahirnana et al. AppealJudgement, para. 198; SemanzaAppeal Judgement,
para. 303.
tot S"e Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 509. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the role of expert witnesses is
to assist the Trial Chamber in its assessment of the evidence before it, and not to testify on disputed facts as would
ortl i irary witnesses. See idetn.
"'o See Alison Des Forges. T. 17 September 2002,24 Septemher 2002,25 September 20A2, 18 November 2002,
19 November 2002. See al.ro Exhibit P2A (Expert Report of Alison Des Forges), confidential.
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of the Trial Judgement reflects that her evidence was used by the Trial Chambbr as such.s05

Further, as is usual for the establishment of historical facts, Witness Des Forges relied on a variefy

of sources for her conclusions.sO6 This may include hearsay information.

227. Apart from his general claim that the Trial Chamber erred in considering

Witness Des Forges's hearsay testimony on the establishment of the civil defence system,

Nsengiyumva fails to explain how the Triat Chamber allegedly erred. The Appeals Chamber

therefore rejects his submission.

228. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Nsengiyumva's arguments under

his Eleventh Ground of Appeal pertaining to the assessment of circumstantial and hearsay evidence.

s-os, See Trial Juclgement. paras. 490-494.
'uo See Exhibit P2A (Expert Report of Alison Des Forges), confidential.
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E. Alleeed Errors Relating to the Elements of Criminal Responsibilitv (Grounds 3 and 5)

229. Nsengiyumva submits that there was insufficient proof that he ordered the crimes in Gisenyi

town, including the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi, at Nyundo Parish, and at Mudende University,s0T

or that he exercised any authority over the unidentified soldiers or civilian assailants who

committed the crimes.tot He argues that the Trial Chamber erred in linking the crimes in Gisenyi

with killings committed in Kigati and in concluding that the aftacks were centralised, coordinated

military operations ordered by him.5oe He also posits that there is insufficient evidence to hold him

responsible as a superior for these crimes.5lo He asserts that the Trial Chamber erred in: (i) failing to

properly identify his alleged subordinates; (ii) applying a strict liability standard for superiors;

(iii) holding that superior responsibility can be incurred for crimes of perpetrators that the superior's

subordinates aided and abetted; and (iv) implying that the Defence had the burden of showing that

Nsengiyumva prevented or punished crimes by his subordinates.sll

23O. The Prosecution responds that, based on the totality of the evidence, the Trial Chamber

properly articulated and applied the elements of ordering and superior responsibility, and correctly

established his cuthority over soldiers and other assailants who were adequately identified.sl2

It argues that the form of liability of ordering was proven based on circumstantial evidence and that

Nsengiyumva's allegation of an "attenuated" superior responsibility is inconect.sl3

23I. The Appeals Chamber notes that most of Nsengiyumva's arguments regarding lack of proof

that he either ordered Rwandan army soldiers or civilian attackers to commit crimes in Gisenyi

town, including the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi, at Nyundo Parish, and at Mudende University, or

that he incurred responsibility as a superior for these crimes, are also raised under his Sixth to

Ninth Grounds of Appeal, which address each incident in detail. The Appeals Chamber will

therefore discuss these arguments where relevant in the sections discussing Nsengiyumva's

submissions relating to the assessment of the evidence.

232. The Appeals Chamber will consider here Nsengiyumva's contention that the Trial Chamber

erred in holding that superior responsibility can be incurred for crimes of perpetrators that the

superior's subordinates aided and abetted. In this regard, the Trial Chamber found that:

s07 Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 8; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 23-25,32.
'uo Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, paras. 8, 17; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 23-34,43,45, 46,53-55, 59-6I,63,
64.
s@ Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. |7;Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 30,32,33,46-54.
''u Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 9; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 35-38.
"' Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, paras. 10-12, 18-22; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 35-38,225.
"' Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras. 4, 33,34, 40-54, 51 , 58, 65-19.
"' l 'rosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva). paras. 35-39, 55, 56.
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[...] even if the civilian assailants could not be considered as subordinates of Nsengiyumv4 the
cooperation, presence and active involvement of military personnel alongside their civilian
counterparts rendered substantial assistance to the crimes perpetrated by the militiamen.
The soldiers and gendarrres present at the scenes of attacks or in their vicinity would have clearly
encouraged these operations with full knowledge of the crimes being committed. Nsengiyumva
therefore would still 1s11nin liable for the crimes of these militiarnen since subordinates under his
effective control would have aided and abetted them in addition to their own direct participation in
the criminal acts.514

The Appeals Chamber notes that Nsengiyumva concedes that a superior can be held liable "for the

crime of his subordinate who aids and abets a crime"; however, he argues that the superior cannot

be held liable for the commission of crimes by the principal perpeftators who were not his

subordinates.stt The Appeals Chamber considers that Nsengiyumva misapprehends the Trial

Chamber's finding that "Nsengiyumva therefore would still remain [able for the crimes of these

militiamen since subordinates under his effective control would have aided and abetted them in

addition to their own direct participation in the criminal acts".516 When the sentence is read as a

whole, it is clear that Nsengiyumva was only held liable in this paragraph for the role of his

subordinates in aiding and abetting the crimes, not for the commission of the crimes by the

militiamen.

233. With respect to Nsengiyumva's argument that the Trial Chamber reversed the burden of

proof, requiring Nsengiyumva to show that he prevented or punished the crimes of his subordinates,

the Appeals Chamber notes that Nsengiyumva fails to support his argument beyond referring to the

paragraph of the Trial Judgement in which the Trial Chamber found that he failed to prevent the

crimes of his subordinates.tlt Th" Appeals Chamber considers that nothing in the language of the

Trial Chamber's finding suggests that it reversed the burden of proof and required the Defence to

demonstrate that Nsengiyumva failed to fulfil his duty to prevent his culpable subordinates.sls

Rather it recalled that it had found that the crimes were organised and authorised or ordered at the

highest level and concluded on this basis that Nsengiyumva had failed in his duty to prevent the

crimes of his subordinates.sle

234. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber did not expressly conclude

whether Nsengiyumva failed in his duty to punish his culpable subordinates.tto The Trial

Chamber's finding that the perpetrators were not punished afterwards cannot in itself amount to a

finding that Nsengiyumva tailed to discharge his duty to take necessary and reasonable measures to

5to Trial Judgement, para. 2081.
"'Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 38.
": Trial Judgement, para. 2081.
"' Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 12, referring toTfral Judgement, para. 2083.
' 'o Trial Judgement, para. 2083.
' " 'Tr ia l  Judgement.  nara.  2083.
t'o So" TriaJludeemenr. oara. 2083.
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punish the perpetrators of the crimes.52l hr the absence of the necessary finding, the Appeals

Charrrber considers that the Trial Chamber did not hold Nsengiyumva responsible pursuant to

Article 6(3) of the Statute for failing to punish his culpable subordinates. In contrast, the Trial

Chamber clearly found that Nsengiyumva failed to prevent the crimes committed by his

subordinates.52t The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses Nsengiyumva's argument that the Trial

Chamber shifted the burden of proof to the Defence to demonstrate that Nsengiyumva failed to

fulfiIhis duty to punish his culpable subordinates.

235. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses these parts of Nsengiyumva's

Third and Fifth Grounds of Appeal.

521 In certain circumstances, although all necessary and reasonable measures may have been taken, the result may fall
short of the punishment of the perpetrato$. See Boikoski and Tariulovsti Appeal Judgement, paras. 230, ("The Trial
Chamber correctly held that the relevant question for liability for failure to punish is whether the superior took the
necessary and reasonable measures to punish under the circumstances and that the duty to punish may be discharged,
under some circumstances, by filing a report to the competent authorities."), 23I; Halilovii Appeal Judgement,
para. l82 ("[.-.] the duty to punish includes at least an obligation to investigate possible crimes or have the matter
investigated, to establish the facts, and if tlte superior lns no power to sanction, to report tlrcm to tlrc contpetent
authorit i e.s." (emphasis in original)).

"t T.ial Judgement, para.2083.
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F. Alleeed Errors Relating to Gisenyi Town (Ground 6 in part)

236. Based primarily on Prosecution Witness DO's testimony, the Trial Chamber found that, on

7 April 1994, civilian attackers supported by soldiers from the Gisenyi military camp, conducted

targeted killings of Tutsi civilians and Hutus viewed as sympathetic to the RPF in Gisenyi town.523

It found that Nsengiyumva exercised authority over all the attackers, and that "the systematic nature

of attacks by civilians and soldiers, which occurred in various areas in Gisenyi, almost immediately

after President Habyarimana's death, leads to the only reasonable conclusion that they were ordered

by the highest regional authority, Nsengiyumva".5z4 Accordingly, the Trial Chamber found

Nsengiyumva guilty pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Stanrte for ordering these killings.52s The Trial

Chamber was also satisfied that Nsengiyumva could be held responsible as a superior under

Article 6(3) of the Statute for the crimes committed in Gisenyi town, which it took into account as

an aggravating factor in sentencing.t'u

237. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law and in fact in convicting him for

these killin gs.s'1 He argues that the Trial Chamber erred in: (i) finding that he was on notice that he

was being charged with tlese crimes; (ii) its assessment of Witness DO's testimony; (iii) railing to

consider the testimony of Defence witnesses; and (iv) finding that he incurred criminal

responsibility for these killings.s28

238. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has already addressed and dismissed Nsengiyumva's

submissions relating to lack of notice in previous sections.s2e Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber

will now examine Nsengiyumva's submissions pertaining to the assessment of the evidence relating

to the killings of 7 April 1.994 in Gisenyi town, as well as his submissions regarding his crimina^

responsibility.

tt3 Triul Judgement, paras. 106 1-1 064, 2140, 214t.

"n Trial Judlement" para. 1065. See also ibid., para.2142.

:: Trial Judgemen! paras. 2L61, 2189,2197 , 2216, 2248, 2258.
"o Trial Judgement, parus. 2161, 2189, 2197, 2216, 2248, 227 2.
"' Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, pata.23; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 66.
"o Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 23; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 65-101. In his Notice of Appeal,
Nsengiyumva also contends that the Trial Chamber: (i) failed to adnrit relevant documentary evidence impacting the
credibility of Witness DO; (ii) erred in refusing the Defence motion to recall Witness DO for further cross-examination;
and (iii) erroneously dismissed the Defence motions for false testimony and perjury in respect of Witness DO.
See Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, pan. 23- Nsengiyumva does not, however, mention these allegations in the
relevant section of his Appeal Brief. The Appeals Chamber notes that the allegations pertaining to the admission of
documentary evidence and the recall of Witness DO were also raised and developed under his Twelfth Ground of
Appeal, where they have been addressed. See supra, Section III.B.4- Nsengiyumva's remaining allegations, however,
were not pursued or substantiated anywhere in his Appeal Brief. The Appeals Chamber therefore considers that
Nsensivumva has ahandoned these allesations.
szs 5"i 1rpra. Sccrions III.C.3 anrl 8.
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1. Alleged Errors in the Assessment of Evidence

(a) Assessment of Witness DO's Testimony

239. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber erred in relying on the uncorroborated

accomplice testimony of Witness DO.530 In particular, he argues thac (i) it was unreasonable for the

Trial Chamber to rely on Witness DO's account of the involvement of soldiers from the Gisenyi

military camp in the attacks as it had rejected the witness's testimony on preparatory events at the

camp; (ii) the Trial Chamber erred in finding that Witness DO's evidence regarding the

involvement of soldiers in the killings was corroborated; and (iii) the nature and scope of

contadictions in Witness DO's testimony were such that no reasonable trier of fact could have

relied on his testimony.s3l

(i) Rejection of Parts of Witness DO's Testimony

240. Nsengiyumva submits that it was unreasonable for the Trial Chamber to accept

Witness DO's testimony that soldiers from the Gisenyi military cnmp accompanied civilian

attackers during the killings on 7 April 1994 while rejecting the witness's evidence about events

that allegedly took place at the Gisenyi military camp prior to the killings.t" H" argues that

Witness DO's testimony on the involvement of soldiers in the killings is an inseparable aspect of

the chronology of events as presented by the witness.s" He claims that the Trial Chamber

"apparently acknowledge[d]" this fact when it referred to "the earlier events occurring at the camp"

as the "triggering event for the attacks" in the witness's testimony before the Tribunal.53a He avers

that, "[h]aving dismissed these 'triggering events"', no reasonable trier of fact would have relied on

Witness DO's evidence that soldiers from the Gisenyi camp accompanied the attackers during the

killings in Gisenyi on 7 April lgg4.53s Similarly, Nsengiyumva asserts that the Trial Chamber

erroneously relied on Witness DO's implication of Lieutenant Bizumuremyi in these killings glven

that it stemmed from his evidence about an alleged meeting at the camp in the moming of

7 April 1994, which the Trial Chamber had previously rejected.536

24I. According to Nsengiyumva, the Trial Chamber faited to reconcile the fact that it accepted

Witness DO's testimony of the killings as a direct obseryer with its refusal to accept his account of

s30 Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, pan.23; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 66, 82-100.
"' Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para.23; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 82-100.
"'Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para.23; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 82-85.
"' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 82.
"' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 83, citing Trial Judgement, para. 1057.
t" Nscngiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 83, 84.
--'" Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 94.
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the preparatory stage of the killings which he also claimed to have witnessed directly.s3T He argues

that the Trial Chamber's approach is identical to that adopted in the ftst Muvunyi trial with respect

to Witness YAQ, which was overruled by the Appeats Chamber.s38

242. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber committed no error in accepting a part of

Witness DO's testimony and rejecting other parts in accordance with established jurisprudence.53n

It argues that, by rejecting Witness DO's testimony in relation to the "triggering events" of the

killings, the Trial Chamber merely excluded the portions of the witness's testimony regarding the

"earlier events occurring at the camp" which he had railed to mention during his trial in Rwanda.sao

243. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it is not unreasonable for a trier of fact to accept some,

but reject other parts of a witness's testimony.tol Lr this regard, the Appeals Chamber does not

consider the involvement of soldiers in the killings on 7 April 7994 to be an inseparable aspect of

the chronology of events recounted by Witness DO. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial

Chamber clearly differentiated between Witness DO's testimony about the events at Gisenyi

military camp on the moming of 7 April 1994 pior to the attacks and his testimony about the

ensuing killings.sa2 The Trial Chamber also explicitly provided a number of reasons for its partial

rejection of Witness DO's testimony.sa3

244. In rejecting Witness DO's account of the earlier events occurring at the camp on the

moming of 7 April 1994 and of Nsengiyumva's participation in meetings that day in the absence of

corroboration, the Trial Chamber discussed at length differences between Witness DO's account

before the Tribunal and in his own trial in Rwanda.s4 Notably, the Trial Chamber considered his

evidence concerning the meeting that allegedly took place at the Gisenyi military mmp on the

morning of 7 April 1994, which he had failed to mention during his trial in Rwanda despite it being

the "triggering event" for the attacks in his testimony before the Tribunal.sas It concluded that

Witness DO's failure to mention this event and his explanation for the omission, raised "questions

about this aspect of his evidence".546 Moreover, the Trial Chamber underscored that the testimonies

]l]Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 95.
"o Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 95, referring to Muvunyi Appeal Judgement of 29 August 2008, paras. I25-L33,
r44.
53e Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para. 103. The Prosecution argues that the comparison with the Appeals
Chamber's approach to Witness YAQ's testimony inthe Muvunyi case is ill-founded. See ibid.,paras. 106, 107.
'*" kosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para. 105.
'*' See, e.g., Setako Appeal Judgement, para. 48; Munyakazi Appeal Judgement, para. 103; Muvunyi Appeal Judgement
of I April 20II,para. M; Renryho Appeal Judgement, paru.425; Haradinaj et al. Appeal Judgement, pans.201,226.
"*' See Trial Judgement, para. 1062.

i-"1.5", Trial Judlem"nt, p.ur. i055-1058, 1062, 1063.
'* Trial Judgement, paras. 1056, 1057. The Appeals Chamber notes that Witness DO reappeared for further cross-
examination on this issue- See Witness DO, T. 14 October 2004 p.23.
so5 Tr ia l  Judgement,  paras.  1056,  1057.
'oo Trial Judgement, para. 1057 (emphasis addeo.l.
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of a number of witnesses raised further questions as to the veracity of Witness DO's testimony

about this event.5a7

245. In contrast, the Trial Chamber noted that Witness DO was consistent in his testimony on the

attacks implicating soldiers in Gisenyi town on 7 April 1994, both before the Trial Chamber,

Tribunal investigators, and the Rwandan court.s4t Th" Trial Chamber also noted circumstantial

evidence corroborating Witness DO's account regarding the cooperation between soldiers in

civilian attire and militia groups in Gisenyi.s'e Io these circumstances, the Appeals Chamber

considers that it was not unreasonable for the Trial Chamber to rely on Witness DO's evidence of

the involvement of soldiers in civilian clothing in the attacks while, in the absence of corroboration,

rejecting his testimony about alleged meetings that took place at the Gisenyi military camp,

including the meeting held in the morning, the deparrure of soldiers from Gisenyi camp after that

meeting, and the meeting allegedly held in the aftemoon.tto

246. Likewise, the Appeals Chamber finds no error in the Trial Chamber's reliance on

Witness DO's evidence implicating Lieutenant Bizumuremyissl who was, according to Witness DO

and Nsengiyumva a Rwandan army soldier assigned to Gisenyi.5s2 Whereas Witness DO did not

refer to the meetings that allegedly took place on 7 April 1994 atthe Gisenyi camp in the Rwandan

proceedings, he consistently implicated Bizumuremyi in the events of that duy.tt' Contrary to

Nsengiyumva's assertion, Witness DO's implication of Bizumuremyi did not exclusively stem from

his evidence on the events occurring at the camp that was rejected by the Trial Chamber.55a

247. Finally, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber's assessment and findings

pertaining to Witness DO's testimony cannot be compared to the situation regarding Prosecution

tn'- TlJral Judgement, para. 1058.

lll friat Judgemen! para. 1063. See also ibid., para. I37 .
'*' Trial Judgemenl para. 1063. See also ibid., para. I37 . The Trial Chamber also relied on a broader pattem of soldiers
accompanying and.assisting militiauren in attacks on Tutsi civilians and suspected accomplices in the days immediately
following President Habyarimana's death. See Trial Judgement, para. 1063. However, as will be discussed below, the
Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in relying on the existence of a broader pattern of soldiers assisting
c-ivilians in Gisenyi. See infra, paras. 256, 280,3L3.
'_'_\ See Trial Judgement, paras. 1014-1017. See also infra, fn. 681.
"' Trial Judeement. para. 1064.
tt' See Exhiiit DNS26 (Witness DO Statement dated 9 October 1997), confidential; Exhibit DNS27 (Witness DO
Statement dated 30 July 1997), confidential; Exhibit DNS29 (tilitraess DO Statement dated 28 February 2003),
confidential; Exhibit P398 (Witness DO Pro Justitia Statement of 25 March 1997), confidential; Nsengiyumva,
T. 4 October 2006 pp. 38, 39. The Appeals Chamber notes that Bizumuremyi is also referred to at times in the evidence
g!^ "B izimuremyi", "B izimuremye", or "B uzimuremyi".
"' See Exhibit DNS26 (Witness DO Statement dated 9 October 1997), confidential; Exhibit DNS27 (Witness DO
Statement dated 30 July 1997), confidential; Exhibit DNS29 (Witness DO Statement dated 28 February 2003),
confidential; Exhibit P398 (Witness DO Pro Justitia Statement of 25 March 1997), confidential; Exhibit DNS107
(Rwandan Trial Judgement), confidential, pp. 7, 8.
"o .See Exhibit DNS26 (Witness DO Statement dated 9 October 1997), confidential; Exhibir DNS27 (Witness DO
Statement dated 30 Iuly 1997), confidential; Exhibit DNS29 (Witness DO Statement dated 28 February 2003),
conlidential; llxhibit P398 (Witness DO Pro Ju.sti.tia Statement of 25 March 1997), confidential; Witness DO,
T. 30June 2003 o.38 and T. I Julv 2003o.52.
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Witness YAQ's testimony in the Muvunyi case. The Trial Chamber in the Muvunyricase rejected a
pan of Witness YAQ's evidence not because of a "specific feature of that part of his testimony, but
rather on his general motive to enhance Muvunyi's role in the crimes and to diminish his own,,.555
In that case, the Appeals Chamber held that, as the Trial Chamber had concluded that Witness yAe

was not a credible and reliable witness on matters incriminating Tharcisse Muvunyi in general, it
could not rely on uncorroborated parts of his testimony.tt6 In the present case, however, the Trial
Chamber did not call into question Witness DO's motives for testifying and explicitly found that
only a part of his testimony was unreliable due to his tailure to mention it previously.s5T
The Appeals Chamber therefore concludes that Nsengi)rumva's comparison with the Muvunyi case
is without merit.

248' Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds no error in the Trial Chamber's partial acceptance
of Witness DO's evidence.

(ii) Corroboration of Witness DO's Testimony

249. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber concluded that, "[a]s an accomplice of the
accused", it could not rely on Witness DO's testimony on Nsengiyumva's alleged participation in
meetings without corroboration.S5s He argues that the reasons advanced for requiring corroboration
in this instance should have applied to the entirety of Witness DO's testimony.st, H" furtfrer
submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that there was circumstantial corroboration of
Witness DO's testimony regarding the involvement of soldiers in the ki1lings.560 In this respect,
Nsengiyumva asserts that the Trial Chamber erred in considering that the testimonies of
Witnesses ZF' reG, and Serushago corroborated TVitness DO's testimony on the grounds that:
(i) Witness ZF's testimony partly falls outside the Indictment period and relates to events not linked
to the issue of soldiers as discussed by Witness DO; (ii) having found that Serushago,s testimony
could not be relied upon without corroboration, the Trial Chamber could not attempt to corroborate
"the incredible evidence of witness DO with the equally incredible testimony of Serushago,,;
(iii) there was no link between the soldiers in civilian clothes discussed by Serushago and
Nsengiyumva; and (iv) the reliance on Witness XBG's testimony about attacks involving soldiers
was improper due to the lack of notice and credibility of the witness, as acknowledged by the Trial

iii l:, Muvunyi Appeal Judgement of 29 August 2008, para. 130.','" Muvunyi Appeal Judgement of 29 August 200g, paras. 130, 131.
::: Trial Judgement, paras. 1055-1058, 1062.
"o Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 87.
"- Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief. para. 87.''"" Nsengiyumva Noticc of Appeal, para.23; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. gg, g9
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Chamber.s6r He adds that neither the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi nor the events at Mudende

University could serve to corroborate Witness DO's testimony as it has not been estabhshed that the

soldiers allegedly involved in these killings were under his authority or effective control.s62

Moreover, he argues that the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that Witness DO consistently

implicated soldiers in the attacks in his statements before the Tribunal and Rwandan authorities.s63

250. The Prosecution responds that even in the absence of corroboration, the Trial Chamber

would have committed no error in relying on Witness DO's accomplice testimony where his

evidence is credible.5e

251. The Appeals Chamber recalls that nothing in the Statute or the Rules prevents a Trial

Chamber from relying on uncorroborated evidence; it has the discretion to decide in the

circumstances of each case whether corroboration is necessary and whether to rely on

uncorroborated, but otherwise credible, witness testimony.565 This discretion applies equally to the

evidence of accomplice witnesses provided that the trier of fact applies the appropriate caution in

assessing such eviden ce.566

252. When assessing the reliability and credibility of Witness DO's evidence, the Trial Chamber

recalled that he was serving a life sentence based on a genocide conviction for the same killings in

Gisenyi that are at issue in this case and that he had provided, albeit on facts unrelated to his

account of the events of 7 April 1994, incorrect and contradictory testimony.tu' Itstated that, "[a]s

an alleged accomplice of Nsengiyumva, [it] view[ed] the witness's testimony with caution".s68

253. The Appeals Chamber is not persuaded that the specific reasons advanced by the Trial

Chamber for requiring corroboration of Witness DO's account of Nsengiyumva's participation in

meetings on 7 April 1994 applied equally to the entirety of his testimony. The Appeals Chamber

reiterates that it is within a Trial Chamber's discretion as the primary trier of fact to evaluate the

credibility of separate portions of a witness's testimony differently if the circumstances of the case

s6t Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 89-92,228. Nsengiyumva also submits that the events discussed by Witness XBG
cannot be corroborative of Witness DO's testimony since they do not support the Trial Chamber's conclusion that he
ordered the killinss. See idem.
tut Nsengiyumva-Appeat Brief, para. 93.
'o'Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 96.
'* Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para. lM.
'o' See, e.g., Nchamihigo Appeal Judgement, para. 42; Miloievii Appeal Judgement, para. 215 Karera Appeal
Judgement, pan.45.
'oo Muvunyi Appeal Judgement of 1 April 2011, paras. 31 ,38;, Renzaho Appeal Judgement, para.263 Nchamihigo
Appeal Judgement, paras. 42, 48.
'o' Trial Judgement- para. 1055.
"'n Trial Judgement, para. 1055.
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so require.s6e The Trial Judgement reflects that the Trial Chamber did not require corroboration for
parts of Witness DO's testimony merely because he was an alleged accomplice.tto Rather, the Trial

Chamber emphasised that Witness DO did not testify about a meeting in the morning of

7 April 7994 and Nsengiyrmva's involvement therein during his trial in Rwanda.57l Further, in

addition to his questionable explanation as to why such a "triggering event" had been left

unmentioned during his trial in Rwanda,t" th" Trial Chamber noted evidence of other witnesses

putting Witness DO's account on this point further into question, if not contradicting it.s73

In contrast, Witness DO's testimony regarding the various attacks on Tutsi civilians on

7 Apnl 1994 implicating soldiers was consistent with his previous statements to Tribunal

investigators as well as during his trial in Rwanda.sTa The Triat Chamber further noted that it had
"no doubt that the witness was a direct observer of the ki11ings",57s particularly in light of his

conviction before a Rwandan court for the same crimes he testified about before the Tribunal.sT6

254. The Appeals Chamber accepts the Trial Chamber's detailed explanation as to why

Witness DO's testimony on the events of the moming of 7 April 1994 raised particular concems

about the credibility of his testimony on Nsengiyumva's participation in meetings. It also considers

that the Triai Chamber correctly concluded that the reasons for such concerns did not necessarily

call Witness DO's entire testimony into question.t'1 The Appeals Chamber further finds that the

Trial Chamber applied the necessary caution in assessing Witness DO's testimony, as illustrated by

its decision not to accept his testimony about Nsengiyumva's participation in meetings without

corroboration.5Ts Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber does not find any error in the Trial Chamber's

acceptance of Witness DO's evidence regarding the killings perpetrated in Gisenyi town on

7 April 1994 without explicitly requiring corroboration.

255. The Appeals Chamber further notes that the Trial Chamber considered that the practice of

soldiers providing firepower to assist civilian assailants provided "circumstantial corroboration" of

tln 

"f., 
e.g., Boikoski and Tariulovsti Appeal Judgement, para. 59; BikindiAppeal Judgement, para. 68; KareraAppeal

Judgement, para. 88.

l!_i See Trial Judgement, paras. 1056-1058.
"'Trial Judgement, para. 1056.
''' See Trial Judgement, para. 1057.

]]lfrilqasement, para. 1058 ("[...] their evidence, while not dispositive, raises some further quesrions concerning
Witness DO's testimony about this event when considered in light of the concerns noted above.").s74 Exhibit DNS26 (Witness DO Statement dated 9 October 19917), confidential; Exhibit DNS2Z (Witness DO Statement
dated 30 July i997), confidential; Exhibit DNS29 (Witness Do Statement dated 28 February 2003), confidential;
Exhibit DNS107 (Rwandan Trial Judgement), confidential, pp. 7-10. The Appeals Chamber considers that while
Witness DO is not completely clear in his statement dated 9 October 1997 thatthe soldiers in civilian attire were amons
the group carrying out killings, it is a reasonable reading of the witness's statement.
:-l Trial Judgement, para. 1062.
"o See Trial Judgement, para. 1062.
'-^'. See Triai Judgement, paras. 1057, 1058, 1062.
''n ,\ec Trial .Tudgement, para. 1.058, relatin..g lo Nsengiyumva's parficipation in the meeting allegerlly helrl in 1he
Gisenyi military camp on the morning of 7 Aprll 1994.
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Witness DO's testimony.ste In this respect, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial

Chamber's reference to the testimony of Witnesses T and Omar Serushago in support of its

finding that Witness DO was not alone in testifying that soldiers in civilian clothes worked closely

with militia groups in Gisenyi580 was not inappropriate. This evidence serves to describe a general

pattern of cooperation which supports Witness DO's testimony on the involvement of soldiers in

civilian attire in the commission of crimes in Gisenyi.ssl While the fact that the evidence of

Witnesses T and Serushago does not cover the Nsengiyumva Indictment period and does not

directly concern the incidents of 7 April 1994 limits its probative value, it does not render their

evidence irrelevant.ss2 The Appeals Chamber also considers that the Trial Chamber's finding that

Witness Serushago's evidence was to be viewed with caution and could not be accepted without

corroborationts' did not preclude the Trial Chamber from relying on his evidence as circumstantial

corroboration of a part of a witness's testimony which was deemed credible and reliable by itself.

Nsengiyumva thus fails to show that the Trial Chamber abused its discretion in relying on the

evidence of Witnesses ZF and Serushago as circumstantial corroboration of Witness DO's

testimony.

256. The Trial Chamber also relied on the evidence relating to the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi

and the attack at Mudende University as demonstrating a broader pattern of soldiers accompanying

and assisting civilian assailants in Gisenyi immediately after President Habyarimana's death.s8a

In this regard, the Appeals Chamber refers to its findings below that the Trial Chamber erred in

finding that it was proven beyond reasonable doubt that soldiers assisted civilian assailants in those

incidents.sst As a result, such evidence could not be used as circumstantial corroboration of

Witness DO's evidence.

257. In addition, the Trial Chamber referred in a footnote to Witness XBG's testimony about

attacks in Mutura commune on 7 April 1994 in support of its finding that the practice of soldiers

providing firepower to assist civilian attackers provided circumstantial corroboration to

Witness DO's testimony.586 The Trial Chamber specif,red that this aspect of Witness XBG's

evidence was only considered as background evidence due to the fact that the Prosecution had

t]n triat Judgement, para. 1063.
::: Trial Judgement, para. 1063, fn. 1184.
'o' See Bikindi Appeal Judgement, para. 8l; Karera Appeal Judgement, para. 173; Nahimana et al- AppealJudgement,
para.428.
'o' See Witness ZF, T. 28 November 2002 pp. 10-16, 35,
T. 19 June 2003 p.30.
'_o' See Trial Judgement, fn. 1179, paras. 1645, 1715, 1131.'no frjal Judgement. para. 1063.
t t t  

See inl la. Sections ITI.G.1 andI.1.
st6 Trial iudgement, para. 1063, fn. i 1tl-5.

Omar Serushago, T. 18 June 2003 p. 7 and
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failed to give due notice that the witness would give evidence concerning these attacks.ssT The Trial

Chamber noted that it had previously questioned certain aspects of Witness XBG's testimony, but

emphasised that the witness had consistently implicated soldiers as participants in the killings that

day in his own criminal proceedings.sss The Appeals Chamber f,rnds no error in the Trial Chamber's

decision to consider that aspect of Witness XBG's testimony as background evidence despite the

Defence's lack of notice.sse Nonetheless, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber nor

only questioned and rejected certain aspects of Witness XBG's testimony, but also expressed clear

concerns about Witness XBG's general credibility and reliability.t* The Appeals Chamber further

notes that, whilst Witness )GG indeed consistently implicated soldiers as participating in killings

with civilians on 7 April 1994, his accounts of the circumstances of the soldiers' involvement and

role in the killings differ significantly between his prior statements to the Rwandan judiciary and his

testimony in this .us".tet In these circumstances, the Appeals Chamber considers that a reasonable

trier of fact would not have relied on Witness XBG's evidence of soldiers assisting civilians and

playing a supporting role as Tutsis were sought out and killed, even as mere background evidence.

258. However, a review of the Trial Judgement reveals that this circumstantial corroboration was

not decisive for the Trial Chamber, which was in any event convinced by the reliability and

credibility of Witness DO's testimony concerning the involvement of soldiers in civilian attire in

the killings.se2 The Appeals Chamber reiterates that it was within the Trial Chamber's discretion to

accept Witness DO's testimony on the killings perpetrated on 7 April 1994 without requiring

corroborative evidence.se3 As such, while the Trial Chamber erred in finding that there was

circumstantial corroboration of this part of the witness's testimony in the form of evidence of

soldiers accompanying and assisting civilian assailants in the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi, at

Mudende University, and in Mutura commune, this error had no impact on the Trial Chamber's

finding that soldiers were present during the killings of 7 April 1994 inGisenyi town.

tl] friat Judgemen! para. 1063, fn. 1 I 85.
'oo Trial Judsemenl fn. 1185.
t'n Src ArsEne Sh'alom Ntahobali and Pauline Nyiramasuhuko v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-11-ZI-AR73,
D_ecision on the Appeals by Pauline Nyiramasuhuko and Arsbne Shalom Ntahobali on the "Decision on Defence Urgent
Motion to Declare Parts of the Evidence of Witnesses RV and QBZ Inadmissible", 2 July 2004, paras. 14-16.sfo triA Judgemenr, pans. 1243,1244,1254.
'"' See Witness XBG, T. 8 July 2003 pp.36-43,45-48,88-gZ andT.9 July 2003 pp. I-20,i8,i9;Exhibit p?l (Letter
from Witness XBG to the Rwandan Public Prosecutor, undated); Exhibit P72 (WiGss XBG Pro Justitia Statement of
1o March 1999); Exhibit P73 (witness XBG Pro Justitia sraremenr of 26May 2000).5e 'T. ia l  Ju, lgemenf ,  nara.  [063.
'ot Se" .rrpri, purur. z5l-25i .

Case No.ICTR-98-41-A

85

14 December 2011



3rts16
(iii) Conffadictions in Witness DO's Evidence

259. Nsengiyumva submits that no reasonable trier of fact would have relied on Winress DO's

testimony in view of the material and unexplained contradictions in his evidence.sea He argues that

the Trial Charnber underrated the prejudicial effect of Witness DO's contradictory and confusing

testimony, excusing contradictions and inconsistencies by reference to the passage of time and the

witness's desire to distance himseH from the crimes without explaining how these factors could

legitimately excuse the different versions of the witness's testimony on the different occasions he

testifred.ses In his view, no reasonable trier of fact could have relied on this witness, having

established his motivation to distance himself from the crimes.se6 Nsengiyumva also alleges that the

Trial Chamber: (i) erred in concluding that the witness consistently referred to soldiers before the

Tribunal and before Rwandan authorities;t" (ii) failed to consider "the witness's own confession

that whatever he had stated before the Rwandan authority was not necessarily truthful";se8 and

(iii) failed to provide a reasoned opinion explaining Witness DO's conflicting accounts of the

killings of Gilbert and Kajanja.see

260. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's explanations regarding contradictions in

Witness DO's testimony constitute no error.ffi It also asserts that the Trial Chamber is presumed to

have taken into account Witness DO's contradictory accounts of Gilbert's killing.@l

26t. The Appeals Chamber notes the Trial Chamber's that DO's testimonv

regarding his participation in the killings was, if not contradictory, confusing" and that "[h]is

evidence also varied as to the timing of events".uo' The Trial Chamber also noted Nsengiyumva's

contention that Witness DO's accounts of the killings were inconsistent with other evidence.@3

Nonetheless, the Trial Chamber accepted that these inconsistencies "likely resulted from a passage

of time or an interest in distancing himself from the crimes".tro While the use of the term "likely" is

sea Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 96-100.
"' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 96, 98, refering ro Witness DO's trial in Rwanda, his first appearance before the
Trial Chamber, his recall, and his appearance before another Triat Chamber in another case before the Tribunal.5e6 Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 97,98.
"' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 96.
t'o Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 96.
"' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 99. Nsengiyumva purports that, while Witness DO stated during his initial
testimony that he directly witnessed Gilbert being shot by one Mabuye and having died, during his recall testimony he
stated that he did not witness that particular killing. Nsengiyumva adds that, likewise, the witness confirmed during his
initial testimony that he personally saw the attack and murder of Kajanja but denied any knowledge of the
circumstances of the killing at the beginning of his recall testimony, only to state at a later point that he had witnessed
the killine but that he was not the killet. See idem.
* Pror""-ution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para. 108.
ou' Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para. 109.
""' Tnal Judgemen(, para. 1061.
"u '  Tr ia l  Judgement.  para.  106 |  .
n"o Trial .Iudgement. para. 1061.
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unfortunate in that it suggests speculation or uncertainty, the Appeals Chamber understands from a

contextual reading of the finding that the Trial Chamber was in fact convinced that the
inconsistencies resulted from the passage of time or an interest in distancing himself from the
crimes.

262. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber clearly considered Witness DO,s

contradictory accounts of his presence during the killings of Gilbert and Kajanja but concluded that

the inconsistencies resulted from a passage of time or an interest in distancing himself from the

crimes.60s The Appeals Chamber notes that the portions of Witness DO's testimony containing the

inconsistencies indeed pertain to the level of his involvement in the crimes as they concern the
question of whether he directly witnessed the killings of Gilbert and Kajanja.606 The Appeals

Chamber also notes that during cross-examination in the recall hearing,607 Witness DO first denied,

and later confirmed his initial testimony about having directly witnessed both killings,608

underlining that he was not the one who killed either victim.60e The witness's contradictory

accounts of the killings of Gilbert and Kajanja bear clear indicia of the witness's attempt to distance

himself from the crimes, as noted by the Trial Chamber.6r0 Mindful of the discretion with which a

Trial Chamber is endowed in the assessment and evaluation of evidence as the primary trier of fact,

and in light of the circumstances of the present case, the Appeals Chamber finds that it was not

unreasonable for the Trial Chamber to accept that Witness DO's inconsistent accounts of his

proximity to the crimes resulted from the passage of time or an interest in distancing himself from

the crimes and did not affect the reliability of his overall account of the killings.

263. As to Witness DOls disparate accounts regarding the timing of certain killings on

7 April lgg4,6rt the Appeals Chamber considers that Nsengiyumva fails to substantiate how the

witness's diverging estimates of the timing of particular events within a four-hour range dwing the

day affect the credibility of his account on the merits. This is particularly so considering that

nine years had passed between his testimony and the attacks about which he testified.6l2

ll friat Judgemenr, para. 1061, fn. 1180.
-o W_itness P9, T 30 June 2003 pp. 30, 35, 36 andT.17 October 2005 pp. 16, Ig,29-32 (closed,session).*' Witness DO testified before the Trial Chamber on 30 June 2003, as wett as on 1 and 2luly 20ci3. He reappeared for
further cross-examination on 14 and 17 October 2005.
* Witness DO, T. 30 June 2003 pp. 30, 35, 36 andT.17 October 2005 pp. 16,19,29-32 (closed session).u@ Witness DO, T. 17 October ZO05 pp. 31, 32 (closed session).610 Trial Judgement, para. i061. The Appeals CLamber notes that Witness DO's inclination to distance himself from the
crimes became apparent during his testimony on 17 October2005, where the witness confirmed his initial testimony
only after Defence Counsel confronted him with his prior testimony of 30 June 2003. See Witness DO.
T. l7 October 2005 pp. 30-32 (closed session).
o"  See Tr ia l  Judgemenr.  para.  1061.  fn.  1181.
o" The Triai Chamber referred t() Witness DO's fcstimony before it on 30 June, 1 ancl 2 July ?.,O03. SeeTrial Judcement.
f n .  t 1 8 l
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The Appeals Chamber is satisf,red that the Trial Chamber was reasonable in considering that

Witness DO's varying accounts of the timing of the events resulted from the passage of time.

264. The Appeals Chamber observes ttrat the Trial Chamber relied partly on Witness DO's

statements and conviction before a Rwandan court in assessing his evidence.6l3 Contrary to

Nsengiyumva's contention, Witress DO did not "confess" that "whatever he had stated before the

Rwandan authority was not necessarily truthfu1",61o but instead testified that "[t]here were

omissions" and that he "did not say everything" for fear of reprisal.6l5 The Trial Chamber duly took

this into consideration when it assessed Witness DO's account of the meeting and distribution of

weapons in the moming of 7 April 1994 and declined to accept his testimony in this regard without

corroboration.6l6 However, while Witness DO did omit this "key event" when pleading guilty

before the Rwandan court, he clearly referred to the involvement of soldiers in the killings

perpetrated in Gisenyi on 7 April 1994.617 The witness explained the discrepancy in his testimony

by the fact that he was no longer afraid to tell the truth.618 In these circumstances, the Appeals

Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber applied the necessary caution in assessing Witness DO's

evidence by comparing his statements before the Rwandan court with his testimony before the

Tribunal.6le

265. Elaving reviewed the relevant evidence, the Appeals Chamber also finds that the Trial

Chamber did not err in observing that Witness DO consistently implicated soldiers in his testimony

before the Tribunal as well as in statements to Tribunal investigators and to the Rwandan court.620

Nsengiyumva does not substantiate his adverse contention, which is summarily dismissed.

266. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber does not find any error in the Trial

Chamber's attributing the inconsistencies in Witness DO's testimony to the passage of time or the

witness's interest in distancing himself from the crimes. The Trial Chamber provided satisfactory

reasoning for its acceptance of aspects of Witness DO's evidence despite, and mindful of, its

inconsistencies. The Appeals Chamber finds that Nsengiyumva has failed to demonstrate that the

Trial Chamber erred in this respect.

u" Se" Trial Judgement, paras. 1062,1063.
6ro Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 96.
o" Witness DO, T. 14 October 2005 pp. 17,18. See also ibid.,p.2l.
6t6 Trial Judgement, paras. 1057, 1058.
o" Exhibit DNS107 (Rwandan Trial Judgement), confidential, pp. 7-10.
u" See Witness DO, T. 14 October 2005 p. 18.
utt Se" Triat Judgement, para. 1062. See aJso Witness DO, T. 14 October 2005 p. 18.
u'o 5"" Exhibit DNS26 (Witness DO Statement dated 9 October 1997), confidentiat; Exhibit DNS27 (Witness DO
statcment dated 30 JLrly 1997), confidential: Exhihit DNS29 (Witness DO Statement dated 28 February 200j),
confidential; Exhibit DNS 107 (Rwandan Trial Judgement), confidential, pp. "l -10. See ulso supra, tn. 514.
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@) Alleged Failure to Consider Defence Testimonies

267. Nsengiyumva asserts that the Trial Chamber failed to consider the corroborated testimonies

of Defence witnesses that there were no killings in Gisenyi town on the mornin g of 7 Apil 1994,

instead relying on the uncorroborated accompHce testimony of witness Do.621

268. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber properly assessed Defence evidence on the

killings in Gisenyi town on 7 April 1994, and even partly relied onit.622

269. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber explicitly took into account the

testimony of a number of Defence witnesses when assessing Witness DO's evidence.623 It further

notes that the Trial Chamber accepted Witness DO's evidence that the killings occurred on

7 April 1994 "notwithstanding the conflicting second-hand evidence from the Defence regarding

the timing of certain deaths".624 This evidentiary assessment, as well as the previous reference to a

number of Defence witnesses' testimonies, amply demonstrate that the Trial Chamber was alive to

the possibility of Defence evidence contradicting Witness DO's account of the events, and that it

duly considered the limited value of second-hand evidence against direct and credible first-hand

testimony. The Appeals Chamber recalls that while a Trial Chamber has to provide a reasoned

opinion, it is not required to set out in detail why it accepted or rejected a particular testimony.625

270. The Appeals Chamber further notes that the testimony of Defence witnesses referred to by

Nsengiyumyd,626 while describing relative calm in Gisenyi town in the mornin g of 7 April 1994, do

not contradict Witness DO's account of killings in the course of the day.It observes that none of the

witnesses upon whom Nsengiyumva relies explicitly testified that there were no killings in Gisenyi

town on the momin g of 7 ApnI1994.621

62r Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, paru.23;Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 101.
"" Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para. I11.
o" See Trial Judgement, para. 1058, where the Trial Chamber relied on the testimoni es of, inter ahu, Defence Witnesses
ZDR-I, ZR, HQ-l, CF-z, CF-4, Willy Biot, LSK-I, and Aouili Tchemi-Tchambi, in declining to rely on Witness DO's
evidence regarding Nsengiyumva's participation in meetings on 7 April 1994 inthe absence oi corroboration.
"" See Trial Judgement para. 1061.

! 5"", e.g., Nihamihrgo Appeal Judgemenl para. 165; Krajiinik Appeal Judgement, para. 139; Muserna Appea*
Judgement, paras. 18, 20. The Appeals Chamber recalls that there is a presumption that a triat Chamber has evaluated
all the evidence presented to it, provided that there is no indication that the Trial Chamber completely disregarded any
particular piece of evidence. See idem.
e6 Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. I0l, referring ro Witness LSK-I, T. 19 June 2006 pp. 42, 43; Witness LK-2,
T. 19 April 2005 pp. 4-10; Aouili Tchemi-Tchambi, T. 6 March 2006 p.35; Willy Bior, T. 21 September 2A06 pp.79,
80.
u" Se" Witness LK-z, T. 19 April 2OO5 p. 10; Aouili Tchemi-Tchambi, T. 6 March 2006 p. 35; Willy Biot,
T. 21 September 2006 p. 79. The Appeals Chamber notes that Witness LK-2 testified thar "at about midday on the 7'h of
April 1994, the situation in Gisenyi started changing, [...] we heard that grcups of young persons had started assaulting
people in town". See Witness LK-z, T. 19 April 2005 p. 10. While Witness LSK-1 tesrified rhat he was with
Witness DO until midday on 7 April 1994, be does not account for Witness DO's activity during rhe resr of the clay.
See Witness LSK-1, T. 19 June 2006 pp. 41,43 (closed session).
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27I. The Appeals Chamber finds that Nsengiyumva has failed to demonstrate that the Trial

Chamber disregarded relevant Defence evidence.

(c) Conclusion

212. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber concludes that Nsengiyumva has failed to

demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in its assessment of Witness DO's evidence or

disregarded relevant Defence evidence.

2. Alleged Errors Regarding Nsengiyumva's Criminal Responsibilitv

273. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he ordered killings in

Gisenyi town on 7 April 1994 and that he could be held responsible as a superior for these

crimes.628

(a) Ordering

Tl4. In its discussion of Nsengiyrrrva's responsibility for the killings in Gisenyi town, the Trial

Chamber recalled that, at the time, Nsengiyumva was the Gisenyi Operational Sector Commander

with authority over all soldiers within that sector and, under certain circumstances, de facto

authority over civilian militiamen.62e The Trial Chamber was convinced that, given the coordination

between soldiers and civilians described by Witness DO, Nsengiyumva exercised authority over

"a11 the attackers".630 It concluded that the systematic nature of the assaults, which occurred in

various areas of Gisenyi alnost immediately after the death of the President, viewed in connection

with the participation of soldiers and militiamen in the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi and the

massacre at Mudende Universi$, as well as the involvement of soldiers under Nsengiyumva's

command, led to the only reasonable conclusion that the killings in Gisenyi town on 7 ApnI L994

were ordered by the highest military authority in the area, Nsengiyumva.63t Th" Trial Chamber

specified that, in reaching its conclusion, it had taken into account that Nsengiyumva met with

military officers during the night of 6 to 7 April 1994 in order to discuss the situation after the death

628 Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 23; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 66, 80, 81. See a/so Nsengiyumva
N^otice of Appeal, paras. 8, 9, lI, l7 , 19,22; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 23-37, 42-6I.
o" Trial Judgement, para. 1065. See also ibid., pans. 2072-2U8.In paragraph 1065 of the Trial Judgement, the Trial
Chamber refers to Section nI.2.6.2 of its judgement in support of its statement that it has "determined that under certain
circumstances, Nsengiyumva could have de facto authority over civilian rnilitiamsn"' however, the Appeals Chamber
notes that in Section III.2.6.2 of the Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber merely stated that "in assessing whether civil
defence forces or party militiamen were acting under the authority of the Rwandan military, the Chamber must carry
out a concrete evaluation of each specific event, considering the actual facts on the ground", without actually
concluding that Nsengiyumva could at times have had de facto authority over civilian militiamen. See ibid., para. 495.o'n l 'r ial .hidsement. n:i ia. 1065.
53' l'rial luolement, paras. 1065, 2142.

ln
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of President Habyarimana and that he was in communication with the General Staff in Kiguli.u"

The Trial Chamber viewed the events "in the context of the other parallel crimes being committed

in Kigali by elite units and other soldiers in the wake of the death of President Habyarimana, which

were also ordered or authorised by the highest military authorify".633

275. Nsengiyumva submits that bis convictions for ordering the killings in Gisenyi town are

based on the Trial Chamber's erroneous interpretation of circumstantial evidence, which was open

to multiple reasonable inferences consistent with his innocence.634 He argues that there is no proof

beyond reasonable doubt that the soldiers and civilians involved in the killings were under his

authority, that he was involved in any way in the attacks or had the requisite mens ,"o.635 He further

submits that the Trial Chamber erred in relying on a consistent pattern of attacks and in concluding

that the mere presence of three soldiers was sufficient to conclude that the assaults in Gisenyi town

were coordinated and military in nature.636 In his opinion, the Trial Chamber also erroneously relied

on the "non-criminal meeting" he had with military officers during the night of 6 to 7 ApiI L994

and on the killings perpetrated in Kigali.63' He contends that there were other authorities over

whom he had no control, such as the prefect, the gendarmerie, or militia leaders, who could have

sanctioned the attacks.638

276. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber committed no error in holding

Nsengiyumva responsible for ordering the killings perpetrated in Gisenyi town on 7 April Igg4.63e

It submits that the totality of the evidence pointed to the only reasonable conclusion that the killings

for which he was convicted were not sporadic but systematic, well organised and coordinated

military operations following a striking pattem, and must have been ordered by the highest regional

military authority.ffi It fuither argues that the Trial Chamber properly considered Nsengiyumva's

i]] friat Judgemenl paras. 1065, 2142.

::: Trial Judgement, pa,ra. 2L42. Se e als o ibid., para. 1065.
o'" Nsengiyuutva Notice of Appeal, pan.23; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 24,25,32,8l; Nsengiyumva Reply
9rief, paras. 4, 5, ll, 20. See also NI. 3 1 March 20ll p. Z7 .
o" Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 23; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 26, 27, 30, 34, 43-46, 53, 54, 5g-6L,
q, 80, 8 1; Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, paras. 1 1-20.
o'o Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 31,49.
o" Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 47-52,72; Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, para.40. Nsengiyumva submits that the
meeting was "a normal occurrence after the death of the president" and points out that the Trial Chamber's findings on
the Kigali killings reflect a pattem of massive presence of identified soldiers taking a leading role while the killings at
Gisenyi were primarily by civilians. See idem.
638 Nsengiyumva RppeU nrief, paras. 33,53.
o" Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras. 35, 36, I37.
*" Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras. 38-46, 69, 1l-73, 98, 99. The Prosecution refers. inter alia. to
Witness ZF's evidence that Nsengiyumva gave general orders to Lieutenant Bizumuremyi on the night of 6 Apnl 1994
to kil l  all Tutsis. See ihid., para.98(xi); AT. 3l March 201.l p. 16 The Proset:ution also emphasises that at rhe 1ime,
Nsengiyumva had full control of the entire zone. See Prosccution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras. 43, 6i , 68.
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meeting with his officers during the night of 6 to 7 April L994, as well as parallel killings in Kigali

as factors establishing that he must have ordered the crimes in Gisenyi.6al

277. The Appeals Chamber recalls that ordering under Article 6(1) of the Statute requires that a

person in a position of authority instnrct another person to commit an offence.* As previously

held, "the actus reus of ordering cannot be established in the absence of a prior positive act because

the very notion of instructing', pivotal to the understanding of the question of 'ordering', requires
'a positive action by the person in a position of authority"'.#3

278. The Trial Chamber d,id not find any direct evidence that Nsengiyumva issued instructions

that killings be perpetrated in Gisenyi town on 7 April 19946M but, as noted above, reached its

conclusion on the basis of circumstantial eviden 
"e.uot 

Nsengiyumva does not dispute that the actus

reus and mens rea of ordering can be established through inferences drawn from circumstantial

evidence, but correctly points out that, in such a case, the inference drawn must be the only

reasonable one that could be drawn from the evidence.e6

279. The Appeals Chamber considers that the evidence before the Trial Chamber could not lead a

reasonable trier of fact to conclude that the only reasonable inference was that Nsengiyumva, as the

highest military authority in Gisenyi prefecture, must have ordered the killings.

280. In this respect, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber relied on similar joint

attacks by civilians and soldiers against Alphonse Kabiligi and at Mudende University.st However,

as will be discussed in the following sections of this Judgement, the Appeals Chamber considers

that the participation of soldiers in these attacks was not proven beyond reasonable doubt.fl8

These incidents could therefore not be considered as circumstantial evidence of a pattern of attacks

by civilians and soldiers ordered by the highest regional military authority.

@l Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras. 74, 101.
*' See, e.g., Setako Appeal Judgemen! pan. 240; Kalirnanzira Appeal Judgement, para. 2I3; Miloievif Appeal
Judgement, para. 290; Nahimana et aI. Appal Judgement para. 481. The Appeals Chamber recalls that responsibility is
also incurred when an individual in a position of authority orders an act or omission with the awareness of the
substantial likelihood that a crime will be corrrritted in the execution of that order, and il that crime is effectively
committed subsequently by the person who received the order. See Renzaho Appeal Judgement, para. 315; Nahimana et
al.AppealJudgement,para.43l. SeealsoBoikoskiandTariulovstiAppealJudgement,para.68.
*' Miloievii Appeal Judgement, para. 267 , citing GaliC Appeal Judgement, para. 116. See also Nahimana et al. Appeal
Judgement, para. 481; Gacumbitsi Appeal Judgement, para. 182.
* The Trial Chamber dismissed a number of charges describing Nsengiyumva's direct involvement
See Trial Judgement, paras. 1060, 1094,1726,7149,1285,1647,1660, 1676, 1686-1689, 1720.
l]- See supra, para.274.
*o Rukundo Appeal Judgement, para. 235 Nchamihigo $pp"ut Judgement, para. 80, citing Stakii Appeal Judgement,
part.2l9. See also Karera Appeai Judgement, para.34 Celebiii Appeal Judgement, para. 458.
" '  - i ' r ia l  

Judgement .  para .?-142.
' ' t* 

\ 'ee ir l l"a]Sectiont l f  t .C. L antl  I . l .
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28I. The Appeals Chamber fuither considers that the fact that mass killings were
contemporaneously being perpetrated in Kigali on orders of military authorities in itself says
nothing about Nsengiyumva's personal involvement in the killings committed in Gisenyi
prefecture.64e In the same vein, the Appeals Chamber finds that Nsengiyumva's meeting with
military commanders in his operational sector during the night of 6 to 7 April Igg4 *n order to
discuss the situation after the death of President Habyarimana",6s0 and the fact that he was in
communication with the General Staff in Kigah do not provide evidence that he must have ordered
the Gisenyi town killings.

282- In support of its finding, the Trial Chamber also considered the systematic nafure of the
attacks which occurred almost immediately after kesident Habyarimana's death.6sl While this does

support the Trial Chamber's reasoning that the attacks were organised, the Appeals Chamber is not
convinced that this is sufficient to establish that the order for the attacks came from Nsengiyumva.

283. The Appeals Chamber considers that, in the absence of any evidence that Nsengiyumva
gave any instructions,6t' the mere involvement of three soldiers in civilian attire under his

command653 and the existence of a pattern of crimes being committed in and around his area of

control immediately after the death of the President could not lead a reasonable trier of fact to find
that the only reasonable inference was that Nsengiyumva ordered the kitlings perpetrated in Gisenyi
town on 7 April 1994.

284. The Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred when it held Nsengiyumva

responsible for ordering the crimes committed in Gisenyi town on 7 April 1994 under Article 6(1)

of the Statute.

* 
y--"9Y-"t, the Appeals Chamber notes the contast between the involvement of only three soldiers in civilian attire

in the killings committed in Gisenyi town and the massive participation of uniforrred soldiers in the maSsacres
perpetrated in Kigali in the very first days following the death of President Habyarimana. See Trial Judgement,
paras. 15-27,926, 1346, 1354-1356, 1427, I4ZB, 1922.
::: Trial Judgemenl para.2142.

::l Trial Judgement, para. 1065.

:1 With respect to the Prosecution's reliance on Witness ZF's testimony that Nsengiyumva ordered Lieutenant
Bizumwemyi to begin operations to kill Tutsis, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chu*bet merely accepted that
W-itness T** present at the Gisenyi military camp for various periods from 6 to 7 April 1994 and declined to rely on
Witness ZF's further testimony in the absence of corroboration. While the Trial Chamber did not explicitly articulate
that it refused to rely on the witness's account on Nsengiyumva's alleged order to Bizumuremyi, its discujsion of the
witness's credibility and its general "questions about the credibility of Witness ZF's uncorroborated account" clearlv
suggest that the Trial Chamber also refused to rely on Witness ZF's testimony on Nsengiyumva's alleged order to
Bizumuremyi along with his testimony concerning Nsengiyumva's alleged meeting wth Inleiahamwe or c6nversations
with Bagosora on that matter. This is reflected in the Trial Chamber's factual anO tegat findings on Nsengiyumva's
responsibility, which do not refer to Nsengiyumva's alleged order to Bizumuremyi. See 11iA JuJgement, pias. 1051-
1054, L065,2L42.
65' Witness DO specifically implicated three soldiers in civilian attire in the killings of 7 April 1994. See Witness DO,
T- 30 June 2003 pp. 26, 32, 62, T. I July 2003 p. 48, and T. 2 July 2003 pp. 36, i1 , 39, 5i. See at.so Trial Judgement,
para- 1016- As regarris NsengiyLrmva's authority over lhese sok-liers" the Appeals Chamber retbrs to its 6iscussio--n inlra,
paras. 292-294, 291 .
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(b) Superior Responsibiliw

285. The Trial Chamber found that soldiers assigned to the Gisenyi Operational Sector and

soldiers of other units of the Rwandan army that were engaged in military operations in the area

were under Nsengiyumva's command and authority.65a Based on the evidence of close coordination

between soldiers and civilian assailants during the attacks, and "bearing in mind [Nsengiyumva's]

involvement in the arrning and training of civilians both before and after 6 Aprit 1994", it

concluded that all attackers involved in the Gisenyi killings were Nsengiyumva's subordinates

acting under his effective control.6s5 It further found that the attacks in Gisenyi were organised

military operations requiring authorisation, planning, and orders from the highest levels and that

"[i]t is inconceivable that Nsengiyumva would not be aware that his subordinates would be

deployed for these purposes".6s6 The Trial Chamber concluded that Nsengiyrmva "failed in his

duty to prevent the crimes because he in fact participated in them".657 Accordingly, it was satisfied

that Nsengiyumva could be held responsible as a superior under Article 6(3) of the Statute for these

crimes, which it took into account in sentencittg.utt

286. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber erred in frnding that he could be held

responsible as a superior for the crimes committed in Gisenyi town on 7 April lgg4.6se He contends

that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the soldiers and civilian assailants involved in the

killings were subordinates acting under his effective control, and submits that there is no evidence

that he had knowledge of the crimes committed by his subordinates, or that he failed to prevent or

punish identifiable subordinates.660

287. With respect to his command over the assailants in particular, Nsengiyumva contends that

the few men found to have accompanied the civilian attackers could have originated from camps

over which he had no authority, or could have been students from the Saint Fiddle Institute,

"deserters masquerading as soldiers", or "errant elements on a frolic of their own".661 In this

respect, he asserts that the Trial Chamber's assumption of a geographical authority as opposed to a

u,5-oTialJudgement, paras.2072,2W5,2076.Seealsoibid.,paras.1065,IL66,1252.
o" Trial Judgement, paras. 2077, 207 8.
o': Trial Judgement, pan. 2082.
o" Trial Judgement, para.2083.
o'o Trial Judgement, paras. 2 1 6 1, 2189, 2197, 2216, 2248, 2n 2.
65e Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para.23; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 37. See a/so Nsengiyumva Notice of

4pp"ut, paras. 9, II,12,l1-22.
o* Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, paras. 9, ll, 17 -22; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 26-30, 35-37 , 43, 44, 55, 63,
64, 80, fn. 83; Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, para. 35. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has already discussed and
rejected Nsengiyumva's contention that the Trial Chamber erred in implying that the Defence had the burden of
showing that Nsengiyumva prevented or punished crimes by his subordinates. See supra, paras. 233,234.
n" '  Nseneiyumva Appeal  Br ief ,  paras.  26,21 ,30.  See a l . rc  ib i rJ . ,  paras.43,46:  AT.  30 March Z0l1 p.70;
AT.  31 March 2011 o.  30.
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functional one is unsupported by the evidence.662 He adds that there is no evidence on the record

indicating on what basis and in what circumstances soldiers from camps not under his command

would fall under his authority during "military operations".663 He also argues that there was no

conclusive evidence that the soldiers accompanying the attackers were in fact soldiers and not

gendarmes, Int erahamw e, or "simply civilians".664

288. Similarly, Nsengiyumva contends that there is no proof beyond reasonable doubt that he had

authority or effective control over the civilian assailants.66s In this respect, he argues that the Trial

Chamber failed to adequately specify or identify the non-uniformed assailants as a distinct group of

persons with a demonstrable link to him as a superior or otherwise, and used different descriptions

for the civilian assailants interchangeably, which was inconsistent with its own finding on the

differences between groups of assailants.666 He asserts that no reasonable trier of fact could

conclude that it follows from his alleged involvement in the training of civil defence forces in 1993

and 1994 that he exercised authority over civilian attackers in Gisenyi in April 1994.667

289. In addition, Nsengiyumva a.rgues that there is no evidence that the attacks were a

coordinated military operation.668 He submits that the Trial Chamber failed to consider the

alternative inferences that political leaders, prefectoral authorities, commanders of the gendarrnerie,

or Interahamwe leaders were superiors and could have coordinated or organised the attacks.66e

290. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber correctly concluded from the totality of the

evidence that the soldiers and militiamen involved in the incident were Nsengiyumva's

subordinates acting under his effective control, and that Nsengiyumva had the requisite knowledge

and failed to discharge his duty to prevent or punish the crimes.670 It contends that Nsengiyumva

applies a piecemeal approach to the evidence before the Trial Chamber and fails to demonstrate that

62 Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 43-46,114; Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, para. 7. See also AT. 30 March 2011
pp.55, 56,67,68; AT.3l March 2OII pp.28-30. Nsengiyumva asserts that soldiers from the Bigogwe and Butotori
kaining camps as well as military students from the Saint Fidble Institute and Mudende University did not report to
him. See Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 26,27, 160. Nsengiyumva argues that none of his soldiers were positively
identified as being involved except for Bizumuremyi and the evidence in that regard was dismissed.
See 4T.30 March 20IL p.56.
663 Nsengiyumva AppealBrief, para. 46; Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, para. 8. See also AT. 30 March 2011 pp. 67,69.
"* Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 28, 29. Nsengiyumva further argues that the soldiers could have been simply
passing through Gisenyi as they were leaving the country and therefore not under his command.
See AT. 30 March 20II p.17.
66s Nsengiyumva AppealBrief, paras. 34, 80.
ooo Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, paras. 18, 19; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 173.
oo' Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, pan.2l; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 59,6I,63,64,80, 121, 136.ooo Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, pan. 77; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 46,53.
nn'Nscngiyumva Notice of Appeal- para.22.; Nsengilrumva Appeal Brief, paras. 32.,33,53.
"'" Prosecution Rcsponse Brief (Nsengiyumva), piuas. 51-54, 64-80, 93, 94. See also AT.3l March 201 1 pp. 14, 15, 18
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the alleged alternative conclusions he proposes regarding his authority over soldiers in Gisenyi are

reasonable.6Tl

291. In reply, Nsengiyumva submits that his authority over specific troops in Gisenyi does not

ipso facto render him liable for the activities of all troops in the prefecture and is not synonymous

with "effective control over those committing the crimes".672 According to him, the kosecution's

approach imposes a "strict liability responsibility in which he must answer for every conceivable

crime committed within the geographical boundaries of Gisenyi prefecture regardless of the lack of

evidence of his authoriff over the perpetrators".6T3

(i) Superior-Subordinate Relationship

292. The Appeals Chamber rejects Nsengiyumva's contention that there was no conclusive

evidence that the soldiers accompanying the attackers were in fact soldiers and not gendarmes,

Interahamwe, or "simply civi1ians".674 The Tria1 Chamber relied on Witness DO's direct and

consistent evidence that soldiers in civilian attire accompanied the civilian affackers for its finding

that soldiers were involved in the killings.6?s The witness's description of the events clearly

demonstrates that he was able to distinguish soldiers from Interahamwe and gendarmes.676

293. The Trial Chamber found that the soldiers involved in the killings came from the Gisenyi

military camp "given its proximity to the crimes".677 It also indicated that Witness DO had

consistently implicated Lieutenant Bizumuremyi as playing a role in the events that day.678

The Appeals Chamber considers that, although insufficient on its own to establish the origin and

identity of the soldiers, the geographical proximity between the Gisenyi military camp and the

crime scene was indeed a relevant factor for the Trial Chamber to take into account. The Appeals

Chamber further notes that Witness DO also stated that the.soldiers involved in the killing of the

Tutsi teacher and his daughter on 7 April Igg4hadcome from the Gisenyi camp.67e

utr Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras. 41, 43-46. See also Nl.31 March 2OlL p. 17.o'' Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, paras. 7, 35 (emphasis in original).
o'' Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, para. 36. See aLro Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 11.
"'* ff Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 28,29.
o''- See Trial Judgement, paras. 1061-1064.
o'o See Witness DO, T. 30 June 2003 pp. 13, L4, 17,24,26,29,32-34, 43, 45, 49, 50,60, 65, T. 1 July 2003 pp. 6, 15,
)J--37 , 48, 52,T.2 July 2003 pp. 36, 39, andT. 17 October 2005 p. 15.
o" Trial Judgement, para. 1064.
o'o Trial Judeement. oara.7O64.
ut' Witnessbo, T.^30 June 2003 p. 26. The Appeals Chamber notes that, although the Trial Chamber rejected
Witness DO's testimony that he departed with soldiers from the Gisenyi camp after a meeting held by Nsengiyumva
prior to the killings, it relied on the evidence of Witness DO that soldiers participated in the killing of this Tutsi teacher
ancl his daughter in finding that the soldiers providecl assistance to the attacks in Gisenyi town on 7 Aprrl 1994.
Sec Trial Judgement, paras. 1055-10-58, 1064. See also ihid., para. lo16.
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294. The Appeals Chamber further considers that the Trial Chamber's statement that Witness DO

consistently implicated Lieutenant Bizumuremyi as playing a role in the events that day680 indicates

that it accepted Witness DO's evidence with respect to Bizumuremyi's involvement. Although the

Trial Chamber did not expand on this statement, the Appeals Chamber notes Witness DO's

evidence that after one of the attacks perpetrated in Gisenyi town in the afternoon of 7 April 1994,

Bizumuremyi insffucted the assailants to return to the Gisenyi military camp and, moreover, that

Bizumuremyi was supervising the massacres in Gisenyi town that duy.utt The Appeals Chamber

considers that this evidence clearly establishes a link between the attacks of 7 ApriI 1994,

Bizumuremyi, and the Gisenyi military camp. The Appeals Chamber considers that a reasonable

trier of fact could have concluded, on the basis of this evidence, taken together with the proximity

of the camp and Witness DO's testimony that the soldiers were from the camp, that the soldiers

originated from the Gisenyi military camp. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber recalls that

Nsengiyumva did not dispute that he was the Commander of the Gisenyi Operational Sector and

that he had corrmrand over the soldiers in the Gisenyi military camp.ut'

295- Turning to Nsengiyumva's authority over the civilian attackers, the Appeals Chamber

recalls that the Trial Chamber did not find credible the evidence regarding the meeting on the

morning of 7 April 1994 when Nsengiyumva allegedly addressed militiamen and distributed

weapons to them.683 The Appeals Chamber also reiterates that, contrary to the Trial Chamber's

finding,68a a pattern of assaults by soldiers and civilians in Gisenyi prefecture immediately after

President Habyarimana's death was not established.68s In the same vein, the Appeals Chamber

considers that the Trial Chamber could not reasonably rely on the killings being perpetrated in

Kigali on orders of the military to conclude that the killings in Gisenyi town on 7 April 1994 must

have been part of a military operation. The only demonstrable link the Trial Chamber found

between Nsengiyumva and the civilian attackers was the "coordination between soldiers and

civilians" reflected in Witness DO's evidence.686 However, the Appeals Chamber is not convinced

iil rriat Judgemenr, para. 1064.oo' Witness DO, T. 30 June 2003 p. 38, T. 1 July 2003 p. 53, and T. 2 July 2OO3 p. 40. See also Exhibit DNS27
(Witness DO Statement dated 30 July 1997), confidential, pp. 13446, 13445 (Registry pagination); Exhibit DNS29
(Witress DO Statement dated 28 February 2003), confidential, p. 13407 (Registry pagination). See also Tial
Judgement, para. 1017. The Appeals Chamber notes that Witness DO's account of the subsequent meeting held by
Nsengiyumva with the assailants at the Gisenyi military camp was not discussed by the Trial Chamber. The Appeals
Chamber understands from the Trial Chamber's decision not to accept Witness DO's "account of Nsengiyumva's
participation in meetings in the absence of corroboration", that this uncorroborated aspect of Witness DO's evidence
was not accepted by the Trial Chamber and will therefore not consider it here. See Trial Judgement, paras. 1018, 1058,
1062.
u8' Src Nsengiyumva, T. 5 October 2006 p. 70; Nsengiyumva Closing Brief, paras. 149, 150. See also Trial Judgement,
paras.70.2072.
6t' Triul Judgement, paras. 1055-1060.
uto Tri^l Judgement, paras. 1O65,2O71 .
".i'. S e e s u p ro - parts. 25 6 - 280. S e e als o i n fr a, para. 3 1 3 "oo" Trial Judgement. para. 1065. See also ibitl., para.2078.
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that coordination between soldiers and civilians is sufficient to establish that a superior-subordinate

relationship existed between Nsengiyumva and the civilian attackers.687 Accordingly, the Appeals

Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the civilian attackers were

Nsengiyumva's subordinates within the meaning of Article 6(3) of the Statute.

296. The Appeals Chamber recalls, however, the Trial Chamber's finding that, 'oeven if the

civilian assailants could not be considered as subordinates of Nsengiyumva, the cooperation,

presence and active involvement of military personnel alongside their civilian counterparts rendered

substantial assistance to the crimes perpetrated by the militiamen".688 Nsengiyumva merely submits

that there is insufficient evidence of "substantial assistance" by his alleged subordinates,6se without

demonstrating that the Trial Chamber erred. His argument is therefore summarily dismissed.

Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds no error in the Trial Chamber's reasoning that

Nsengiyumva is liable for the role of his subordinates in aiding and abetting the militiamen in

addition to their own direct contribution to the criminal acts.6e0

297. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that, although the Trial Chamber erred

in finding that the civilian assailants were Nsengiyumva's subordinates within the meaning of

Article 6(3) of the Statute, Nsengiyumva has tailed to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in

concluding that Nsengiyumva's subordinates from the Rwandan army under his effective control

participated in the killings in Gisenyi town on 7 Apnl 1994.

(iD Knowledge

298. The Appeals Chamber notes that, while Nsengiyumva generally argues that there is no

evidence that he had the requisite knowledge, he fails to challenge the circumstantial evidence the

Trial Chamber expressly relied on to reach its conclusion.6el The Trial Chamber was satisfied that

Nsengiyumva had actual knowledge that his subordinates were about to commit crimes on the basis

that'othese attacks were organised military operations requiring authorisation, planning and orders

from the highest levels".6e2 It considered that it was inconceivable that he would not be aware that

utt In this regard, the Appeals Chamber recalls that a material ability to prevent and punish may also exist outside a
superior-subordinate relationship. See Halilovii Appeal Judgement para. 59 ("For example, a police officer may be
able to 'prevent and punish' crimes under his jurisdiction, but this would not as such make him a superior (in the sense
of Arricle 7(3) of the statute) vis-d-vis any perpetrator within that jurisdiction.").

iiirria Judgement, para. 2081.
oo' Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 33 (p. 2$; Nsengiyumva Appeal Bief , para. 27 4.
o,l'. See supra, pan.232.

i) See Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 36, 37, 80.
o" Trial Judgement, para. 2082. With respect to Nsengiyumva's argument that "there is no finding that the Appellant
knew or ought have known of crimes committed by identified subordinates in Gisenyi town", the Appeals Chamber
considers the Triai Chamber's finding at paragraph 2082 of the Trial Judgement to be a clear finding that Nsengiyumva
hacl the requisite knowledge to be held responsible as a srrperior for his subordinates' criminal conduct in Gisenyi town-
See Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, fn. 83.
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his subordinates were deployed for these purposes, given that they occurred in the immediate
aftermath of the death of the President and the resumption of hostilities with the RPF when the
vigilance of military authorities would have been at its height.6e3 It further noted that the crimes
were committed around Gisenyi town, where Nsengiyumva was based.6ea The Appeals Chamber

finds, Judges Meron and Robinson dissenting, that Nsengiyumva has failed to demonstrate an error
in this respect.

(iii) Failure to Prevent or Punish

299. The Trial Chamber's findings on Nsengiyumva's alleged failure to prevent or punish reads
as follows:

As noted above, these operations were clearly organised and authorised or ordered at the highest
level of the Gisenyi operational sector. Therefore, Nsengiyumva failed in his duty to prevent the
crimes because he in fact participated in them. There is absolutely oo euid"oce that the
pelpetrators were punished afterwards.o"

300. As with his arguments relating to knowledge, Nsengiyumva fails to substantiate his general

contention that there is no evidence that he failed to prevent the crimes of his subordinates.6e6

Nonetheless, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that
Nsengiyumva ordered the killings in Gisenyi town.6e7 Accordingly, the Trial Chamber could not

have relied on his ordering the Gisenyi town killings to find that Nsengiyumva tailed in his duties to
prevent them because he in fact participated in them. That said, the Appeals Chamber recalls the

evidence that Lieutenant Bizumuremyi played a prominent role in the 7 April 1994 killings in

Gisenyi town, moving around town to supervise the killings being carried out.6e8 There is also
evidence that Bizumuremyi instructed Witness DO and his group of assailants to return to the

Gisenyi military camp because Nsengiyumva wanted to see them.6ee Although this was not referred

to explicitly by the Trial Chamber, the Appeals Chamber considers that it supports the Trial

Chamber's reasoning that the attack must at least have been authorised by Nsengiyumva.

Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber, Judges Meron and Robinson dissenting, finds no error in the
friat CtrarnUer', fi.tding that Nsengiyumva tailed to prevent the killings in Gisenyi town on
7 April 1994.

ue' Trial Judsement. oara.2082.6no Trial Jualement, para.2082.
::l Trial Judgement, pal:..2083.
l'^iSee Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 36,31.o."^'^ See supra, Sectron III.F.2(a), pans. 277 -284.
o'o Witness DO, T' I July 2003 p.53 andT.2 htly 2003 p. 40. See also Exhibit DNS27 (Wirness DO Starement dated
30 July 1997), confidential pp. 13446, 13445 (Registry pagination); Exhibit DNS29 6witn"r, DO Statement dated
28 February 2003), confidential, p. 13407 (Registry paginarion).
"" Wjtness DO' T. 30 June 2003 p.38. The Appeals Chamber reiterates that it understands from the Trial Chamber's
Cecision not to accept Witness DO's "account of l{sengiyumva's participation in rneetings in the absence of
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301. With respect to the failure to punish, the Appeals Chamber recalls that it considers that the

Trial Chamber did not find that Nsengiyumva could be held responsible pursuant to Article 6(3) of

the Statute for failing to punish his culpable subordinates.Tm Nsengiyumva's contention in this

respect is therefore moot.

(iv) Conclusion

302. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds, Judges Meron and Robinson

dissenting, that Nsengiyumva has failed to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that

he could be held responsible as a superior pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute for failing to

prevent the criminal conduct of his subordinates in Gisenyi town on 7 April 1994.

3. Conclusion

303. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber concludes that Nsengiyumva has failed to

demonstrate that the Trial Charnber erred in relying on Witness DO's evidence about the killings

perpetrated in Gisenyi town on 7 April 1994 and the involvement of soldiers. However, the Appeais

Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that Nsengiyumva ordered the killings in

Gisenyi town on 7 April 1994. Nevertheless, the Appeals Chamber finds, Judges Meron and

Robinson dissenting, that Nsengiyumva has failed to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in

finding that he could be held responsible as a superior under Article 6(3) of the Statute for his

subordinates' role in these crimes. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber grants Nsengiyumva's Sixth

Ground of Appeal in part and sets aside the finding that he is responsible pursuant to Article 6(1) of

the Statute for ordering the killings committed in Gisenyi town on 7 April 1994 to which

Witness DO testified, but finds him, Judges Meron and Robinson dissenting, criminally responsible

as a superior for these crimes pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute. The Appeals Chamber will

discuss the impact, if any, of this finding on Nsengiyumva's sentence in the appropriate section of

this Judgement.

coroboration", that Witness DO's account of the subsequent meeting hcld by Nsengiyumva with the assailants at the
Gisonyi mil itary camp was not accepted by the Triat Chamber. -\ee ntpra,fn.621.
'"" S'ee ,supra, pua. 234.

lq
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304. The Trial Chamber found that on 7 April 1994, civllran assailants accompanied by a
Rwandan army soldier mutilated and killed Alphonse Kabiligi in front of his family, and that, on

the following day, a $oup of five or six Rwandan army soldiers "returned" to verify the killing and

remove the body.7ot It also found that Alphonse Kabiligi was on the Nsabimana List, a list of

suspected RPF accomplices generated by or for members of the Rwandan army and found in

February 1993 in the vehicle of the Rwandan army Chief of Staff D6ogratias Nsabimana.To' It held

that Nsengiyumva had authority over the soldier and the civilian assailants who killed

Alphonse Kabiligi and concluded that the only reasonable conclusion was that Nsengiyumva

ordered this killing.7O3 Accordingly, the Trial Chamber found Nsengiyumva guilty pursuant to

Article 6(1) of the Statute for ordering this killing.Toa The Trial Chamber was also satisfied that

Nsengiyumva could be held responsible as a superior under Article 6(3) of the Statute for this

crime, which it took into account as an aggravating factor in sentencing.tot

305' Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law and in fact in convicting him for

the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi. Specifically, he argues that the Trial Chamber erred in: (i) finding

him guilty of a crime of which he was not put on notice; (ii) its assessment of the evidence relating

to his role in the preparation of lists and to the involvement of soldiers in this incident: and
(iii) finding that he incurred criminal responsibility for this incident.706

306. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has already addressed and dismissed Nsengiyumva's

submissions relating to lack of notice in previous sections.7o7 Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber

will now examine Nsengiyumva's submissions pertaining to the assessment of the evidence relating

to the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi, before turning to his submissions regarding his criminal

responsibility.

tot Trial Judgement, paras. 1159, LI62, 1163, 1165, 1166. The Appeals Chamber notes rhat the Trial Chamber
mistakenly refers in paragraphs 2145 and 2183 n the legal findings section to the involvement of "soldierg', in this
yXi"g whereas it only found that one soldier was involved in its factual findings. See ibid., paras. 1162, 1165, 1166.
Likewise, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber stated that ioldiers "returned" the following day
whereas it did not find that these soldiers were involved in the killing perpetrated the previous 

"n"'niog.l:e ibid., paras. 1162, 1165, 1166.
'"'Trial Judgement, paras.42l-425, 1160, fn.470. See also ibid.,paras.404,405,fn. 1300.'"' Trial Judgement, paras. I 166,2184.
'* Trial Judgement, paras. 2184, 2L89,2197, 2216,2227, 2248, 2258. The Trial Chamber found rhat it had not been
grwenthat-the death of Alphonse Kabiligi, a Hutu of mixed parentage, consrituted genocide. See ibid., para.2145.' "' Trial Judgement, par as. 2O7 7 -208 3, 2 I 8 9, 2191, 2223, ZZ4B, ZZj 2.'"" Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal. para.24; Nsengiyumva Appear Brief, paras. 102-122.
""  ,See,stLpnt .  Scct ions l l I .C.4 und 8.
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1. Alleged Errors in the Assessment of Evidence

307. Nsengiyumva submits that no reasonable trier of fact would have concluded that the only

reasonable inference to be drawn from the evidence was that the "soldier" involved in

Alphonse Kabiligi's killing on 7 April 1994 and the "soldiers" who came the following day to

Kabiligi's home were soldiers of the Rwandan army.708 He contends that there was no conclusive

evidence that the "soldiers" were in fact soldiers and not gendanrres, Interahamwe, or "simply

civilians".T0e He adds that there is no proof that the alleged soldiers who came the next day were

among the assailants who killed Kabiligi, and that the Trial Chamber's conclusion that these

soldiers came to "verify the killing" is speculative.Tlo Nsengiyumva further argues that the Trial

Chamber erroneously relied on similar unproven killings in Gisenyi town, Mutura, and Mudende, to

conclude that the soldiers involved in the killing of Kabiligi belonged to the Rwandan ar:ty.7lr

Finally, he asserts that it was unreasonable to find that he must have prepared the Nsabimana List,

and that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence that this list may have originated from a source other

than the military.Tl2

308. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber properly assessed the totality of the

evidence and drew the only reasonable inference that soldiers of the Rwandan army were involved

in Alphonse Kabiligi's murder.Tl3 It asserts that the Trial Chamber duly considered the Nsabimana

List and its origin in light of the evidence, including Nsengiyumva's own contentions on the

issue.7la

309. The Appeals Charnber notes that Prosecution Witness AS described the assailants who

attacked Alphonse Kabiligi's home on the night of 7 April 1994 as a group of Interahamwe

accompanied by one soldier in khaki uniform without a beret and carrying an army rifle.7ls

She testified that the next day, about five or six soldiers wearing khaki uniforms and military boots

7m Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 108, 110, lLl. See also ibid., para- 28;AT. 31 March 20lI p.29.'"' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 28, 29. See also AT. 31 March 20Ll p- 30. In support of his contention,
Nsengiyumva argues that: (i) Witness AS was unable to tell whether the uniformed persons she testified about were
from the military or gendames; (i) Interahanwe were found to wear military fatigues on occasion; and (iii) while
gendannes largely did not participate in the crimes, this does not absolve each and every gendarme and there is
evidence that gendarmes also participated in attacks. See Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 28, 29, 108;
+J. 30 March 201 1 pp. 57, 69,70; AT. 31 March 2011 pp. 30, 36.
"u Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. l1l.
"' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 112. Nsengiyumva asserts that in "attempting to corroborate unproven with other
equally unproven findings", the Trial Chamber applied a prejudicial circular reasoning. See idem. See also ibid.,
oan.228.
tr2 Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para.24; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 115-119. Nsengiyumva purports that
the Trial Chamber misrepresented his evidence since he never conceded that he was responsible for establishing any
specific lists, let alone the Nsabimana List. See Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. I18.
"' Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras. 42, 43, 124, 125. See ttlso N| .31 March 20Il p. 17 .
"" Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras. i28, I29. See also ibid., paras.225,226,228- 239.' ' '  Witness AS, T. 2 September 2003 pp. 44, 4-5 (closcd session) andT.3 September 2003 pp. 11, 18.
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came to Kabiligi's house.7l6 In response to a question put by Nsengiyumva's Counsel, the witness

clarified that she was not in a position to say whether the soldier who accompanied the

Interahamwe on 7 Aprit 1994 or the soldiers who came the next day were soldiers of the Rwandan

anny or gendarmes as they did not wear berets and she did not know them.717

310. The Trial Chamber considered that "the number of men in khaki military-style uniforms,

present both during the attack and the next morning, shows clearly that the assailants were not

simply civilians or 'bandits', but either soldiers or gendarmes".7l8 Nonetheless, it acknowledged

that Witness AS's evidence did not "show" that they were soldiers under Nsengiyumva's control.Tle

In assessing the circumstances of the killing, the Trial Chamber was, however, convinced that the

uniformed assailant and those who came the next day identified by Witness AS were members of

the Rwandan arrny.T'o The Trial Chamber reasoned that:

While the evidence of Witnesses ZF and AS is insufficient to establish the identity of the
uniformed assailant who accompanied Kabiligi's killers, the nature of the attack as described by
Witness AS demonstrates military involvement when viewed in light of other systematic murders
in Gisenyi. In the days following President Habyarimana's death, a pattern emerged in Gisenyi of
soldiers playlng a largely supporting role to civilian attackers who killed Tutsis and suspected
accomplices. This is reflected in the evidence of Witnesses DO and XBG, who discuss attacks in
Gisenyi town and elsewhere on 7 April t...l. It also follows from the testimony of Witness HV,
who described attacks on Cental African Adventist University in Mudende on 8 April [...].
The Chamber is furttrer convinced that a soldier participated in the operation against faUitigi, ana
not a gendanne, even though he did not wear a beret. There is evidence that at least i:nurediately
after the President's death, gendarmes appeared to protect civilians who had been singled out for
attack [...]. While Kabiligr may have been viewed as an accomplice by local political and
government officials, the list in deceased General D6ogratias Nsabimana's vehicle also
demonstrates that the military had singled him out as having ties to the RPF. Under the
circumstances, the Chamber is convinced that the uniformed "soldier" identified by Witness AS as
accompanying the civilian assailants as well as the five or six that returned the next dav were
members of the Rwandan arrry.t2l

31 1. Nsengiyumva correctly points out that the Trial Chamber noted evidence that Interahnmwe

wore military fatigues on occasion.Tzzltalso transpires from the Trial Judgement that Interahamwe,

tt6 
_witness AS, T. 2 september 2Cfl3 p.48 (closed session) andr.3 september 2003 p. 16.

"'Witness AS, T. 3 September 2003 pp. 18, 19.
ll: Trial Judgement, para. 1163.
"'Trial Judgement, paras. 1163, 1165. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber also found that
Witness ZF's evidence was insufficient to establish the identity of the uniformed assailant who accompanied Kabiligi,s
killers. See ibid., para. 1165.

::: Triat Judgement, para. 1165.
"' Trial Judgement, para. 1165 (internal references omitted).

"' Tn Judgement, para. 167 . See also ibid., fns.504 ("In light of the flnterahamwe's] uniforms' similarity to military-
style camouflage and evidence that some members wore portions of military fatigues, the Chamber has considered
throughout the judgement whether assailants could have been in fact Interahamwe before identifying them as members
of the Rwandan military."),2084 ("In making this finding, the Chamber has been mindful of the evidence that some
members of the Interahamwe at roadblocks woro parts of rnilitary uniforms."). See further ibid., paras. 1477
("[Prosecution Witness XXC testified that] lt]he Interahamwe wore uniforms of ki:tenge material, civilian attire,
military uniforms. or a mix between military and civilian attire."), 1593 ("[Prosecurion Witness DBJ] acknowledged
that it was difficult to tell the difference between Interutlnm.vte and solrliers at. this time, as some Interaharnwe w<tre
militarv uniforms.")-
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and civilians in general, received military training and weapons from the Rwandan army.12t

The Appeals Chamber observes that, while Witness AS was clear and determined in her

differentiation between the Interahamwe and the "soldier" present on the night of 7 April 1994 and

the "soldiers" who came the following day, she based her identification of the soldiers on their

uniforrns and guns.72a

3I2. Against this background, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber erred in

finding that the number of uniforrned men "clearly" showed that they were not civilians, but rather

either soldiers or gendarmes. Witness AS testified that only one uniformed man was present during

the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi in the evening of 7 April L994, along with a group of Interahamwe.

In light of the fact that Interahamwe occasionally wore uniforms, a reasonable trier of fact could

not, on the basis on Witness AS's evidence, exclude the possibility that the single man in uniform

could have been an Interahamwe. The fact that five to six individuals wearing khaki uniforms and

military boots came the following day may suggest that these individuals belonged to the military or

the gendarmerie, and were not militiamen coincidentally wearing military fatigues and military

boots. However, apart from testifying that the "soldiers" who arrived the next day also wore khaki

uniforrrs and ca:ried guns, Witness AS did not link the man who accompanied the Interahamwe or:-

7 April 1994 to those who came the following morning.725 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber

considers that the Trial Chamber's conclusion that these soldiers "returned" the next day "to verify

the killing" is not supported by Witness AS's testimony and amounts to speculation on the part of

the Trial Chamber.T'6 TlteAppeals Chamber therefore considers that it was umeasonable for the

Trial Chamber to find that Witness AS's testimony established that the uniformed assailant who

accompanied Alphonse Kabiligi's killers was a soldier or a gendarme and not a civilian.

3I3. The Appeals Chamber further considers that the Trial Chamber could not conclusively rely

on a "pattern" of soldiers supporting civilian assailants in attacks against Tutsis in Gisenyi

prefecfure in the days following President Habyarimana's death as evidence supporting its finding

1-ll. See Trial Judgement, paras. 458,464,465,488,489.
'"" See Witness AS, T. 2 September 2C[,3 p.45 (closed session) andT.3 September 2003 pp. 16, 18. See alsoTial
J-udgement, par a. L I 62.
"' Witness AS, T. 2 September 2003 p. 45 (closed session) andT.3 September 2003 pp. 16, 18. The Appeals Chamber
notes in this respect that the Trial Chamber never stated that the uniformed men present on 8 April 1994 were among
the assailants who killed Alphonse Kabifigi.

"6 See Trial Judgement, para. 1162; Witness AS, T.2 September 2003 pp.50-52 ("R. Le lendemain, un groupe de
militaires, il est arrivd avec Mathias qui travaillaif au [Economic Community of the Great Lakes Countries] [and was
Alphonse Kabiligi's former colleague]. [...] [Mathiasf a demandd aux militaires un peu de tourner Ie corps de

[Kabiligi] pour voir son visage. Et il dit que c'est un bon travail. Q. ParleTvous Ie kinyarwanda? R. Non. Je comprends
un tout petit peu- Q. Est-ce que Mathios s'exprimait en Kinyarwanda lorsqu'il s'adressait aux militaires et qu'il
regardait le cadavre de [Kabiligi] ? R. Oui. 1,..-l 0. Qu'on fait les militaires? R. Ils discutaient encore un quart d'heure.
t. ] a. Apris qLte les militaires aient entendu ce clue vous leur avez dit f...f, qu'ont-ils fait apris ? R. Ils avaient une
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that the military was involved in Alphonse Kabiligi's ki11ing.727 While the Appeals Chamber has
found in another section of this Judgement that the Trial Chamber did not err in concluding that
soldiers assisted civilian assailants in other killings perpetrated in Gisenyi town on 7 April Ig94,728
it has also concluded that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the presence of soldiers during the
attack at Mudende University on 8 April 1994 had, been established beyond reasonable doubt.72e
The Appeals Chamber has also found that no reasonable trier of fact would have relied on
Witness XBG's background evidence of soldiers accompanying civilian attackers in Mutura.73o
The Appeals Chamber finds that the evidence of three soldiers in civilian attire assisting militiamen
in killings in Gisenyi town on 7 April lgg473r is insufficient to establish an actual ..pattem,, of
soldiers playing a supporting role to civilian assailants.

3I4. The Trial Chamber also relied on the fact that Alphonse Kabiligi was singled out by the
military as having ties to the RPF.732 However, the Appeals Chamber considers that no reasonable
trier of fact could have found this to be decisive in light of the Trial Chamber's finding that
Alphonse Kabitigi was also popularly perceived as an RPF sympathiser and viewed as an
accomplice by local and government officials.733 Therefore, even assuming that the Nsabimana List
indeed originated from the military, such proof could only serve to support one of several
reasonable conclusions as to the identity of the uniformed man involved in the killine.

315. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber was comect
in finding that it could not conclusively rely on Witness AS's testimony to find that the uniformed

man involved in the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi was undoubtedly a soldier from the Rwandan
army. However, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that, when
taken together with the circumstantial evidence, the only reasonable inference was that the
uniformed man was a Rwandan army soldier. The Appeals Chamber considers that no reasonable
trier of fact could have excluded the possibility that the uniformed man involved in the killing may
have been a militiaman wearing a military fatigue and carrying an army rifle.

316. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that a
Rwandan army soldier was involved in the mutilation and murder of Alphonse Kabiligi on the
evening of 7 April 1994. As a result of this finding, the Appeals Chamber deems it unnecessary to

camionnette blanche, ils ont mis le corps de [Kabiligi] et Ie corps d'Innocent dans ltaf camionnette t...].") (closed
session) (French).

.""See Trial Judgement, paras. 1165, 1166.

"""See 
supra, Section III.F.i.

-'"1See infa, Section III.l.l , para. 362.
t ) v  d

_., Jee supra. pata. 1) t.
'" See suora- fn. 653
"2 5"" Tioljudgerneni, paras. 424,1i60, i i65.
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discuss Nsengiyumva's allegations of error concerning his role in the preparation of the Nsabimana

List. It will examine the impact of its finding on Nsengiyumva's criminal responsibility in the

following sub-section.

2. Alleged Errors Regarding Nsengiyumva's Criminal Responsibility

317. Nsengiyumva submits that there was no proof beyond reasonable doubt that he ordered the

killing of Alphonse Kabiligi or that he could be held responsible as a superior for this crime.13a

(a) Orderine

318. The Trial Chamber found that Nsengiyumva had de jure and de facto authority over the

soldier and the civilian assailants who participated in the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi "given that

the killing[] took place in Gisenyi town" and in light of the "clear coordination between the soldier

and the civilian attackers".735 It concluded that the speed with which the attack occurred, the

involvement of soldiers under Nsengiyumva's command and the fact that it followed "a pattern

consistent with other attacks taking place in the prefecture" led to the only reasonable conclusion

that the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi was ordered by the highest military authority in the area,

Nsengiyumuu."u In support of its conclusion, the Trial Chamber explicitly referred to the

participation of soldiers and militiamen in the killings in Gisenyi town on 7 April 1994 and at

Mudende Universiry, and considered Nsengiyumva's meeting with military ofFrcers during the

night of 6 to 7 April 1994, as well as the fact that the killing occurred in the context of other parallel

crimes committed in Kigali.731

3I9. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber's conclusion that he ordered the murder of

Alphonse Kabiligi was "neither open to the Trial Chamber nor [...] the only one[] open [to it] given

the state of the evidence".T'* He argues that there is no proof beyond reasonable doubt that the

alleged soldiers and the civilians involved in the killing were under his authority, that he was

involved in the attack, that he had the requisite mens rea, or that the killing was part of a

coordinated military operation ordered by him.73e In his view, the Trial Chamber applied a strict

l" tria Judgement, paras. 1160, 1165.
'* Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para- 24; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. I02, 106, IO7, 120-122.
See also Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, paras. 8, 9,ll,l7; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 23-37,42-55, 58-@.
t" Trial Judgement, para. 1166. See also ibid., para.2184.
t'u Trial Judgement, para. 1166. See also ibid-, para- 2I84.The Appeals Chamber notes that at paragraph 1166, the Trial
Chamber imputes responsibility to Nsengiyumva by virtue of his capacity as 'the highest operational authority in the
prefecture". Read in context of the Trial Judgement the Appeals Chamber understands this statement to refer to the
hiphest operational military authority.
"' Trial Judgement, para.2184.
tr8 Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. lQ7 . See atso ihid.,paras.25,37.
?re Nsengiyumva Not ice of  Appeal ,  paras.23,  26,21,30,34,43-46,53,54,59-61,64,80,81,  l10-114;  Nsengiyumva
Rcply Rrief, paras. 11-20.
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liability standard by holding him responsible for the mere fact that crimes were committed in
Gisenyi town in the absence of any evidence that he had authority over the physical perpetrators.Tao

320. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber did not err in concluding that the only
reasonable inference to be drawn from the totality of the evidence was that Nsengiyumva must have
ordered the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi.Tal

321. The Trial Chamber based its finding that Nsengiyumva ordered the killing of
Alphonse Kabilig on circumstantial evidence alone. It relied primarily on its conclusion that a
soldier under Nsengiyumva's command participated in the crime. However, as discussed above, the
Appeals chamber finds that a reasonable trier of fact could not have found that the participation of
a Rwandan army soldier in this crime was the only reasonable inference from the evidence.Ta2

The Appeals Chamber has also found that the Trial Chamber could not rely on a pattern of similar
attacks taking place in the prefecture.Ta3

322- Further, the Appeals Chamber reiterates that Nsengiyumva's meeting with military offrcers
during the night of 6 to 7 April 7994 to discuss the situation in the aftermath of the death of
President Habyarimana and the fact that parallel crimes were being committed in Kigali at the same
time do not constitute circumstantial evidence that Nsengiyumva instructed his subordinates to
commit crimes against Tutsis in Gisenyi.T4

323. The Appeals Chamber finds that in the absence of evidence of military involvement and
coordination between the military and the civilian attackers, the mere fact that the killing took place

in Gisenyi town the day following President Habyarimana's death is insufficient for a reasonable

trier of fact to find that the only reasonable inference was that the unidentified civilian assailants
acted upon Nsengiyumva's orders. Even assuming that Nsengiyumva wielded some authority over
civilians, his mere position of authority cannot suffice to infer that he must have ordered them to
commit the crime.

324. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in finding
Nsengiyumva guilty pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Statute for ordering the kilting of
Alphonse Kabiligi.

7a0 Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 114.
''' Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras. 38, 98,99, lZO, lZI.'_".", 

S e e s u pre. paras. 309-3 1 6.
'.''.'. ,|ee .srtpra- para. .l i3.
'* See sttpra, para. 281.

/n
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(b) Superior Responsibility

325. The Trial Chamber found that soldiers assigned to the Gisenyi Operational Sector and

soidiers of other units of the Rwandan arrny when engaged in military operations in the area were

under Nsengiyumva's command and authority.Tas Based on the evidence of close coordination

between soldiers and civilian assailants during the attacks, and "bearing in mind [Nsengiyumva's]

involvement in the arming and training of civilians both before and after 6 April lgg4-,

it concluded that all attackers involved in the Gisenyi killings were Nsengiyumva's subordinates

acting under his effective control.7a6 It flrther found that the attacks in Gisenyi were organised

military operations requiring authorisation, planning, and orders from the highest levels and that

"[i]t is inconceivable that Nsengiyumva would not be aware that his subordinates would be

deployed for these purposes".'* The Trial Chamber concluded that Nsengiyumva "failed in his

duty to prevent the crimes because he in fact participated in them".7a8 Accordingly, it was satisfied

that Nsengiyumva could be held responsible as a superior under Article 6(3) of the Statute for these

crimes, which it took into account in sentencing.'nn

326. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he could also be held

responsible as a superior for the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi in Gisenyi town on 7 April lgg4.1so

He contends that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the assailants involved in the killing were

his subordinates acting under his effective control, and submits that there is no evidence that he had

the requisite knowledge or that he failed to prevent or punish identifiable subordinates.Tsl

327. The Prosecution responds that Nsengiyumva's arguments must fail as the Trial Chamber

rightly concluded from the totality of the evidence that the soldiers and mititiamen involved in the

incident were his subordinates under his effective control, that he had the requisite knowledge, and

that he failed to discharge his duty to prevent or punish.Ts2

328. In light of the Appeals Chamber's finding that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that a

soldier participated in the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi, the question remains as to whether

Nsengiyumva could incur criminal responsibitty for the conduct of the civilian assailants under

'-o.t, t nat Judgement, par as. 207 2, 201 5, 2W 6. S e e als o i b i d., par as. 1065, I 166, 1252.'*o Trial Judgement, paras. 2077, 2078.

:,'. T nal Judgement, par a. 2082.
'-" Trial Judgement, para. 2083.
'*' Trial Judgement, pans - 207 7 -2083, 2161, 2189, 2L97, 2216, 2248, 227 2.
"u Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, pan.24; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 3s-37, loz, rzo-r22.'' ' Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, paras. 12,24; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 35-31 ,l2O-I22,225, fn.83.
'See also Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, paras. 9, II, 11-22, Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 26-30,43-54, 61, 63,
91, l io,  AT. 30 March 2011 pp. 58, 67-70;A'f .  3l  March 2011 pp. 28-31,75r I'rosecution Response nriet lNsengiyumva), paras. 48-54, Aq-lO,lS-1g,91-95,I12,726.
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Article 6(3) of the Statute. The Trial Chamber found that the civilian assailantsT53 wer"

Nsengiyumva's subordinates acting under his effective control at the time of the crime.Tsa It based

this finding on the fact that the civilian assailants were working in close coordination with the

soldier involved in the killing, and "bearing in mind fNsengiyumva's] involvement in the arming

and training of civilians both before and after 6 April l9g4-.1ss

329. As a result of its frnding that no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that the

uniformed man involved in the killing was a Rwandan anny soldier, the Appeals Chamber

considers that there was no proper basis for the Trial Chamber to conclude that Nsengiyumva was

the superior of the civilian assailants and had effective control over them. While the Trial Chamber

explicitly referred to Nsengiyumva's involvement in the arming and training of civilians both

before and after 6 April 1994, it tailed to explain how Nsengiyumva's activities in this regard gave

him authorify, let alone effective control, over the civilian assailants present at Alphonse Kabiligi's

house on 7 April 1994.

330. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Triat Chamber erred in concluding that the

uniformed man and civilian assailants involved in the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi were

Nsengiyumva's subordinates acting under his effective control and, consequently, in finding that

Nsengiyumva could be held responsible as a superior under Article 6(3) of the Statute for their

crimes.

3. Conclusion

33I. h light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in finding

that Nsengiyumva ordered the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi and that he could be held responsible as

a superior pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute for this crime. The Appeals Chamber $ants
Nsengiyumva's Seventh Ground of Appeal in part and reverses his convictions under Counts 5, 6,

8, 9, and 10 of the Nsengiyumva Indictment for the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi. The Appeals

Chamber will discuss the impact, if any, of this finding on the sentence in the appropriate section of

this Judgement.

?53 11" Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber used interchangeably the terms "civilian assailants" and
"militiamen" to describe the civilian attackers involved in the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi. The Appeals Chamber
refers to its discussion under Nsengiyumva's Ninth Ground of Appeal on the matter. See infra,paras. 365, 366.1s-o Trial.Iudgement- paru.2078. Se,e also ibirt., para. 1166.
"' Trial Judgement, para.2078. See also ibid., para. 1166.
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H. Alleeed Errons Relating to Nyundo Parish (Ground 8 in part)

332. Based on the testimonies of Prosecution Witness Isar'e Sagahutu and Defence

Witnesses RAS-4 and )O(, the Trial Chanber found that, in the afternoon of 7 April 1994,

Interahamwe engaged in a targeted attack and killed two Tutsi priests at the Nyundo seminary

where Tutsis had sought refuge.756 A second attack in the evening resulted in the death of a r.,rumber

of Tutsi refugees in the chapel of the seminary.757 The survivors were evacuated to the cathedral

and the bishop's residence nearby.Tss The Trial Chamber further found that, after several

unsuccessful attacks against Nyundo Parish on 8 April 1994,Interalnmwe returned on the morning

of 9 April 1994 with reinforcements and increased firepower, including guns, and killed a number

of Tutsi refugees before gendarmes put an end to the attack.Tse The Trial Chamber concluded that

the only reasonable conclusion was that the series of attacks at Nyundo Parish was an organised

military operation ordered by the area's military commander, Nsengiyumva.T60 Accordingly, the

Trial Chamber convicted Nsengiyumva for ordering the killings at Nyundo Parish.under Article

6(1) of the Statute.t6l It also found that Nsengiyumva could be held responsible as a superior under

Article 6(3) of the Statute for these crimes, which it took into account as an aggravating factor in

sentencing.T62

333. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law and in fact in convicting him for

the killings at Nyundo Parish. He submits that the Trial Chamber erred in: (i) convicting him of

charges of which he was not properly put on notice; (ii) its assessment of the credibility of

Witness Sagahutu; (iii) relying on Witness Sagahutu's evidence without corroboration while

disregarding corroborated Defence evidence; and (iv) finding that he was criminally liable pursuant

to Article 6(1) of the Statute for ordering these attacks and that he could also be held liable as a

superior.763

334. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has already addressed and dismissed NsengiSrumva's

submissions relating to lack of notice in previous sections of this Judgement.Te More,jver, the

Appeals Chamber finds that, even assuming that the Trial Chamber did not err in its assessment of

Witness Sagahutu's credibility and in relying on his evidence over corroborated Defence evidence

t56 Trial Judgement, paras. 1196,2150.
j:l Trial Judgement, paras. 1196, 2150.
"o Trial Judgement, paras. 1196,2150.

ll: Trial Judgement, paras. 1 198, 120L, 1202,2150.
jl Trial Judgemen! pans. 1203, 2152.
'o' Trial Judgement, par as. 21 61, 2189, 2191, 221 6, 2248, 2258.
' "' -frial 

Judgement. paras. 2 1 6 1, 2789, 2197, 2216, 2248, 227 2.
'" Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para.25; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 123-144.
" 'o  5ee.snDro-  Sect ions l l l .C.5 and8.
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the Trial Chamber erred in holding Nsengiyumva responsible for the killings at Nyundo Parish for

the reasons explained below.

1. Alleged Errors Regarding Ordering

335. The Trial Chamber found that the only reasonable conclusion to be drawn from the evidence

was that the series of attacks at Nyundo Parish was a military operation ordered by

Nsengiyumua.'ut It reasoned as follows:

[...] the Chamber has considered this attack in the context of the other killings in Gisenyi at this
time [...] as well as parallel attacks in Kigali [...]. It has also noted the manner in which the series
of attacks at the parish evolved from the initial targeted killings at the seminary on 7 April, an
unsuccessful assault on 8 April and finally the massacre on 9 April involving reinforcements and
the increased fuepower of guns. The military clearly played a role in training and distributing
weapons to militia goups [...].The manner in which the attack unfolded reflec8 coordination.
Moreover, the repeated nafure of the attack as well as its target, a major religious institution,
indicates that it was not merely sporadic violence. In the Chamber's view, the only reasonable
conclusion is that it was an organised operatio3which must have been sanctioned and ordered by
the area' s military commander, Nsengiyumva.T66

In its legal findings, the Trial Chamber further relied on Nsengiyumva's "close connection with

militiamen in Gisenyi given his involvement in their arming and training", the temporal proximity

of the killings to the death of the President, and the resumption of hostilities with the RpF.767

336. Nsengiyumva submits that no reasonable trier of fact could have reached the conclusion that

he must have ordered the attacks at Nyundo Parish.768 According to him, neither the actus reus not

the mens rea for ordering the Nyundo attacks was proven beyond reasonable doubt.76e In particular,

he argues that there is no evidence that: (i) he exercised any authority over the civilian attackers at

Nyundo Parish or had any demonstrable tink with them;770 (ii) he gave any order to the assailants to

kill;ttt (iii) he was involved in any of the killings in Gisenyi ;"' (iu) the Nyundo killings were

linked to the attacks in Kigali;773 and (v) the increased fire power originated from weapons he had

'_u5- f ;al Judgemen! pans. 1203, 2152.
j:: Trial Judgemenl para. 1203.
'o' Trial Judgemen! para. 2152:

Nsengiyumva clearly had a close connection with militiamen in Gisenyi given his involvement in their
arming and training both before and after April 1994 [.-.].The Chamber has also concluded that he acted as
their superior [...]. Given the repeated nature of these assaults, increasing in intensity from targeted killings
on 7 April to a massacre on 9 April, their proximity to the death of the President, the resumDrion of hostilitiis
with the RPF, as well as their similarity with parallel killings in Gisenyi and Kigali involving military
authorities, the only reasonable conclusion is that this was a military operation also ordered by Nsengiyumva.
This order from the highest military authority in the area substantiaily issisted in the completitn of the crime.

768 Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 23-25, 1Zg.'o'Nsengiyumva 
Appeal Brief, paras. 23, I34.

"u Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 34, I28. See also AT. 30 March 20Il p.68. Nsengiyumva submits in particular
that there is no link between the militiamen allegedly trained in 1993 and 1994 as part o1 the civil defence forces and
the civilian assailants involved in the killings. See Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 59,6I,64.77r Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 134. iee al.so AT.: i lvtarctr iOtt p. ZA. 

-

" 'Nsengiyumva Appeal  Br ief .  para.  129.
"' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 41 , 49, 130.
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distributed."o H. also contends that it cannot be excluded that the operation may have been

organised by the civilian attackers themselves or by other authorities over whom he had no

authority or control.Ttt Ns"ngtyumva adds that the conclusion that the attack on a major religious

institution could only have been sanctioned by the mittary is speculative and erroneous.tT6

337. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber committed no error regarding

Nsengiyumva's responsibility for ordering the crimes at Nyundo."'It submits that the totality of

the evidence pointed to the only reasonable conclusion that the killings for which he was convicted

were not sporadic but systematic, well-organised and coordinated military operations following a

striking pattern, and must have been ordered by the highest regional authority, Nsengiyumuu."t

It argues that Nsengiyumva fails to demonstrate that his other altematives are reasonable.TTe

338. The Appeals Chamber recalls that a conviction for ordering requires proof that the accused

instructed a person under his authority to commit an offence.tso The Trial Chamber found that there

was no direct evidence that Nsengiyumva gave an order to attack Nyundo Parish but concluded that

he did so on the basis of circumstantial evidence.78l

339. In support of its finding, the Trial Chamber relied on Nsengiyumva's role in the arming and

training of militia groups in Gisenyi prefecture both before and after April L994.782 However, the

Trial Chamber did not point to any evidence suggesting that the militiamen involved in the attacks

at Nyundo Parish had been armed or trained by Nsengiyumva or by soldiers under his authority.

The Trial Chamber also failed to explain how Nsengiyumva's role in the distribution of weapons

and taining of militiamen in 1993 and 1994783 endowed him with authority and effective control

over civilian attackers.

340. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber is not persuaded that the Trial Chamber could conclusively

rely on the existence of parallel killings in Gisenyi prefecture and Kigali involving the military.78a

As discussed elsewhere in this Judgement, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred

in finding that the attacks in Gisenyi town on 7 April 1994 and at Mudende University on

8 April 1994, as well as the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi, were military operations ordered by

tto Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 132.
"' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 33, I3I.
"o Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 133.
"' Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras. 35, 36, t37 .
"o Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras. 38, 39,43,45,47,69,74,98, 99.
"'Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras. 41, 46, I38.

!i". See supra, para.277.
'o' Trial Judgement, pans. 1203,2152.
'^' ' [r ia] 

Judgement, paras. 1203,2152.
' " , lee Tr ia l  Judgement,  paras.465,506,  1805,  1f t l7 .
'^" See Trial Judgement, paras. 1203,2019,2152.

ln
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Nsengiyumva.Tss It further considers that the fact that killings were being perpetrated in Kigali on
orders of military authorities contemporaneously says in itself nothing about Nsengiyumva's
personal involvement in the killings committed in Gisenyi prefecture.T86

347- The Appeals Chamber considers that it was reasonable for the Trial Chamber to conclude

that the manner in which the series of attacks evolved and the fact that they targeted a major
religious institution reflected coordination and indicated that it was not merely sporadic violence.787

However, the Appeals Chamber finds that this does not necessarily indicate that the military must
have played a role in the attack. As stated above, there is no conclusive evidence that the assailants

had been armed by the military. There is also no reliable evidence that the military, and in particular

Nsengiyumva, as Gisenyi Operational Sector Commander, had anything to do with the fact that the

militiamen retumed with reinforcements on 9 April L994 or with increased firepower. While the

vigilance of the Gisenyi military authorities must indeed have been at its height in the aftermath of
the death of President Habyarimana and the resumption of hostilities with the RpF,788 it does not
automatically imply that the military authorities were involved in all attacks exhibiting coordination

and involving firearms or a significant number of assailants in Gisenyi prefecture in April Ig94.

342- In hght of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber concludes that the evidence presented to the

Trial Chamber could not lead a reasonable trier of fact to find that the only reasonable conclusion

was that the series of attacks at Nyundo Parish was a military operation ordered by Nsengiyumva.

Not only does the evidence not demonstrate that the military was involved in the attacks, but there
is also no indication that Nsengiyumva gave any order that Tutsis be attacked at Nyundo Parish.

343. As a result, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in finding

Nsengiyumva guilty pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Statute for ordering the crimes committed by
militiamen at Nyundo Parish berween 7 and 9 April 1994.

'rs S"e supra, Sections III.F.2(a) and G.2(a); mfa, Section III.I.3.'oo See supra, para. 28I.
'o' ,See Trial .Tudgement. paras. 1203,20i9,2152.
'"o See Trial Judgement, pala.2082.
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2. Alleeed Errors Regarding Superior Responsibilitv

344. The Trial Chamber found that Nsengiyumva could be held responsible as a superior under

Article 6(3) of the Statute for the crimes committed by mititiamen at Nyundo Parish.Tse Based on its

finding that the series of attacks at Nyundo Parish mirrored other massacres of civilians in Gisenyi

and Kigali which involved soldiers, as well as the degree of coordination and control reflected in

the operation and the role played by the military in training and distributing weapons to militia

groups, the Trial Chamber concluded that the operation "must have been sanctioned by the area's

military commander, Nsengiyumva" and that the "assailants were therefore acting under military

control and were equally subordinates of Nsengi5rumva".7m The Trial Chamber was also satisfied

that Nsengiyumva had the requisite knowledge and that he had failed in his duty to prevent the

crimes because he in fact participated in them.Tel

345. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he could be held liable

under Article 6(3) of the Statute for the crimes committed at Nyundo Parish.Te2 He contends that

there is no demonstration of how the alleged training and arnring of unidentified individuals has any

link with the attackers at Nvundo Parish.Te3

346. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber rightfirlly concluded that the militiamen

involved in the incident were Nsengiyumva's subordinates acting under his effective control and

with his knowledge, and that Nsengiyumva failed to discharge his duty to prevent or punish.Tea

347. The Appeals Chamber has concluded above that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the

series of attacks at Nyundo Parish was a military operation ordered by Nsengiyumva.tet There was

no conclusive evidence that the military was involved in the attacks at Nyrndo Parish.Te6

As a result, there was no basis for the Trial Chamber to conclude that the militiamen were acting

under military control and were subordinates of Nsengiyumva. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber

finds that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that Nsengiyumva could be held responsible as a

superior under Article 6(3) of the Statute for the crimes committed by the civilian assailants at

Nyundo Parish.

]il frid Judgement, paras. 2 1 6 1, 2189, 2197, 2216, 2248, 2n 2.
''" Trial Judgemenl para.2079.
'" Trial Judgement pans. 2082, 2083.
'" Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, pua. 25; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 136, I37. See also Nsengiyumva
N_otice of Appeal, paras. 9, lI, I7 -22; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 36, 31 , 47 -54, 58-6I, 63, 64.
"' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 136, I37 . See also ibid., paras. 35, 36, 59, 64, 1261, AT. 30 March 2011 pp. 68,
69.
7ea l'rosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras. 5l-54, 64,71-79,130, 137.
' " '  See sttpra, para.342.
'nu 

See supra, pffas.341,342.

Case No. ICTR-98-41-A

l l 4

14 December 2011



JTB( /A
3. Conclusion

348. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in finding

Nsengiyumva guilty pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Statute for ordering the crimes committed by

militiamen at Nyundo Parish between 7 and 9 April 1994 and in finding that he could be held

responsible under Article 6(3) of the Statute for these crimes. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber

grants Nsengiyumva's Eighth Ground of Appeal in part and reverses his convictions under

Counts 2, 5, 6, 8, and 10 of the Nsengiyumva Indictrnent for the crimes committed at Nyundo

Parish. The Appeals Chamber will discuss the impact, if any, of tbis finding on Nsengiyumva's

sentence in the appropriate section below.
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I. Alleged Errors Relating to Mudende University (Ground 9 in part)

349. The Trial Chamber found that, on 7 April 1994, several hundred Tutsi refugees arrived at

Mudende University in Gisenyi prefecture.Tei lt held that, on the morning of 8 April 1994,

militiamen supported by at least two soldiers attacked and killed Tutsi refugees at the university.tnt

During the attack, assailants separated Hutu and Tutsi students, and some of the Tutsis were

killed.Tee The Trial Chamber further found that, in the evening, gendarmes who were protecting

some of the survivors turned back masked assailants who werc carq/ing lists and searching the

survivors' identity documents.sm It concluded that the only reasonable conclusion was that the

attack was a planned military operation ordered by Nsengiyumva.tot Accordingly, the Trial

Chamber found Nsengiyumva guilfy pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Statute for ordering these

ki11ings.802 The Trial Charnber was also satisfied that Nsengiyumva could be held responsible as a

superior under Article 6(3) of the Statute for the crimes committed at Mudende University, which it

took into account as an aggravating factor in sentencing.to'

350. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law and in fact in convicting him for

the killings at Mudende University. He submits that th9 Trial Chamber erred in: (i) finding him

guihy of charges of which he had no notice; (ii) its assessment of the evidence concerning the

identification of soldiers; (iii) finding that the killings were part of a planned military operation

despite the absence of evidence to that effect; and (iv) finding that he was criminally liable for the

Mudende attack.8oa

351. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has already addressed and dismissed Nsengiyumva's

submissions relating to lack of notiie in previous sections of this Judgement.s0s Accordingly, the

Appeals Chamber will turn to examine Nsengiyumva's submissions pertaining to the Trial

Chamber's assessment of the evidence relating to the involvement of soldiers in the attack at

Mudende University on 8 April L994, as well as his contentions regarding the military nature of the

attack and his criminal liabilitv.

]l] rriat Judgemen! para. 1246.
''o Trial Judgement, paras. 1248, 1251,2146.
'" Trial Judgement, paras. 1249,2146.
8m Trial Judgement, para. L249.
iil rriat Judgement, paras. 1252, 2148.
::: Tdal Judgement, par as. 2148, 21 6I, 2189, 2197, 221 6, 2248, 2258.
n"' Trial Judgement, par as. 21 61, 2189, 2197, 2216, 2248, 221 2.
*u' Nsengiyurnva Noticc of Appeal, para.26 Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 145-175
o ' ' '  See s r rn ra .  Sec t ions  l l l .C .6  and 8 .

Case No.ICTR-98-41-A

r 16

14 December 2011



3?84/n1. Alleeed Errors Regarding the Involvement of Soldiers

352- On the basis of Witness FfV's testimony, the Trial Chamber found that "at least,'
two Rwandan army soldiers played a supporting role in the attack at Mudende University on the
moming of 8 April 1994.806It acknowledged that Witness HV was alone in placing soldiers at the

scene.807 Nonetheless, it accepted her identification of the soldiers based on their uniforms and
found her testimony on the issue credible and reliable as "she was in a position to follow the attack
for a brief period from her dorrritory, heard gunfire, and was later personally questioned by a
soldier during the separation of Hutu and Tutsi students".808 The Trial Chamber was, however, not
convinced by Witness FfV's testimony that the masked assailants, who carried lists and searched the
suryivors' identity documents and who were turned back by gendarmes on the evening of
8 April 1994, were soldiers, as opposed to militiamen, given the assailants' use of masks.8oe It also

declined to rely on her evidence relating to the presence of soldiers at Mudende University on the
evening of 7 April 7gg4.8ro

353. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber erred in relying on Witness FfV's

uncorroborated evidence that soldiers were involved in the Mudende University killings as it made
inconsistent and contradictory findings regarding Witness FfV's identification of the soldiers

involved.sll First, he contends that in accepting Witness FfV's identification of soldiers based on
her ability to distinguish between the uniforms of soldiers and gendarmes, the Trial Chamber

confadicted its own findings that military units and the gendarmerie had similar uniforms.8l2

Second, Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber erred in its selective acceptance of parts of

witness Frv's testimony regarding the identification of soldiers.sl3 He further claims that the Trial

Chamber erred by failing to place sufficient weight on the impact that trauma could have had on her

observations, and failing to take into account the inconsistencies and contradictions in her
evidence.8la

lij rriat Judgemen! paras.1248,1249, I}SI.
*' Trial Judsemenl para. 1248.

ll friat JuOlement, iara. LZa8. See also ibid., para. 1246, fn. 1390.o- Trial Judgemen! pan. 1249. See also ibid., para. l2ll.
"'" Trial Judgement, paru.1246.
o" Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para.26 Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 15g-167.
"'- Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 158, 159. see also Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, para. 62.
"'' Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, pan.26; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 163. Nsengiyumva points out that the
Trial Chamber did not accept Witness HV's account of soldiers arriving at the campur on ttl evening of 7 April 1994
without corroboration and that it was not convinced that the masked assailants in canouflage unifornis on the evening
of 8- April 1994 were soldiers as opposed to militiamen. See Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 163,164.
"'" Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, pan.26; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 165-167- Nsengiyumva notes that
Witness HV clearly referred to gendarmes in prior statements and gave contradictory testimon! about seeing the
soldiers with firearms and shooting at the door. See Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras- 165, 167. Nsengiyumva'also
points out that Witness HV lost consciousness during fhe events and testifiecl that she was still traumatisocl by them.
See ibid..para. 16l.
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354. In addition, Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber failed to give reasons for

disregarding first-hand Defence evidence that no soldiers participated in the attack on the morning

of 8 April 1994, and that there were no weapons used or gunshots heard.815 He avers that, faced

with the uncorroborated testimony of Witness IfV on the participation of soldiers and the use of

firearms, the Trial Chamber was under an obligation to weigh that testimony against the

corroborated testimonies of the Defence witnesses and to provide sufficient reasons for its

preference.sl6

355. In response, the Prosecution submits that there was no inconsistency in the Trial Chamber's

findings.8l7 It contends that Witness HV's testimony was retable, credible, and corroborated to

varying degrees by Defence witnesses.8ts The Prosecution adds that the Trial Chamber considered

evidence from both parties holistically and even relied upon portions of the testimonies of Defence

witnesses, as demonstrated in relevant portions of the Trial Judgement.sle It contends that the Trial

Chamber did in fact provide reasons for preferring the testimony of Witness FfV to that of Defence

witnesses.s2o

356. The Appeals Chamber observes that Witness HV identified the individuals she saw during

the attack on the moming of 8 April 1994 as soldiers based on their camouflage uniforms.82l

When asked how she could distinguish soldiers from gendarmes, the witness explained that

"[s]oldiers had their own unifonn, the camouflage, while the gendarmes had khaki colour

uniform[s]. Their berets were also of different colours. The gendarmes wore red berets".822

The Trial Chamber concluded from this and her prior statements that the witness "had no problems"

distinguishing between soldiers and gendarmes. 823

357. Elsewhere in the Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber established the colour of the beret as

the main distinguishing feature between the uniforms of the different military units as well as the

8r5 Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para.26; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 168-171. See also Nsengiyumva Reply
Prief, para. 64.
o'o Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 172.
o" Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras. 165, 173-175.
o'o Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), parus. L7l, 172.
o'' Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para. 177.
o'u Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para. 178. See also AT. 31 March 2011 pp. 20,2L
o" Witness HV, T. 24 September 2Cf.4 p.11 ("I saw their uniforms and realised that they were soldiers, but I did not
know them."). Witness FfV's testirnony reflects that she generally identified soldiers on the basis of their uniforms.
See Witness HV, T. 24 September 2004 pp.3, 12 ("Q. How were you able to identify these particular soldiers? A. I was
able to identify them thanks to their uniform. Q. Which - what type of uniform was it? A. They were wearing
camoufl age uniforms.").
8'2 Witne-ss HV, T. 2i September 2004 p. 35, cited in Trial Judgement, fn. 1390. The witness reiteratecl under
cross-examination that she attached camouflage uniforms to soldiers and khaki-coloured uniforms to gendarmes.
See Witness HV, T. 24 September 2O04 pp.3, 6,7 ,24.st3 Trial Judgement, para. 1246.
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gendarmes .t'o It noted, for instance, that gendarmes wore red berets,s2s which is consistent with

Witness HV's observation in this regard.826 Witness HV was, however, unable to remember

whether the two uniformed men she identified as soldiers involved in the attack in the morning of

8 April 1994 wore berets.827 Witness HV's identification of these men as soldiers therefore rested

on the camouflage uniforms she saw them wearing. The Appeals Chamber considers that

Witness IfV's ability to identify them as soldiers on this basis is questionable given the Trial

Chamber's own indication that "[a]lthough not part of the arrny, the gendarmerie had similar

uniforms", which consisted of black boots and khaki or camouflage trousers and shirt.s'8 The Trial

Chamber also recalled hearing evidence that, at times, Interahamwe wore military fatigues.s2e

The different versions of Witness FfV's written statement of 28 November 1995 which were

admitted into the record raise further questions as to her ability to clearly identify soldiers based on

their uniform.83o

358. The Trial Chamber also relied on the fact that Witness HV heard gunfue and was later

personally questioned by a soldier during the separation of Hutu and Tutsi students.83l The Appeals

Chamber does not, however, consider that the use of firearms in and of itself necessarily implies the

presence of so1diers.832 Furthermore, the fact that Witness [fV later personally witnessed

two uniformed individuals conduct checks of identity documents and separate Hutu and Tutsi

E24 Trial Judgemenl para. 166. The Trial Chamber specified that the Presidential Guard" as well as most of the other
army units, wore black berets, that the aviation squadrons wore blue ones, and that four other different units wore
camouflaqe-coloured berets. See idern.
85 Trial Jidsement para. 166.
E26 witness Hv, r. li Septembe r 2004 p.7 .
t'7 witness HV, T. 24 Siptember zooa p.11. Witness IIV also stated that she was not able to tell whether the two
soldiers who went to the dornritory were the same soldiers whom she had seen earlier that day accompanying the
villagers and opening the doors of the classrooms. She was not specifically asked whether these two 'ioldieri" in
particular wore berets but said that she was able to identify them as soldiers on the basis of their camouflage unifonns.
Sze Witness HV, T. 23 September 2004 p. Z7 andT.24 September 2004 pp. !2, 13.*" Trial Judsemenl para. 166.
8te Trial Jualement, para- 167 . See also supra, fn.722.
o" The Appeals Chamber notes some confusion in Witness HV's identification of the uniformed men who came to the
campus of the university on the evening of 7 April 1994. Witness HV distinctly referred to gendarmes and"militaires,,,
but also mentioned the arrival of soldiers wearing red caps and multicoloured, but predominantly green clothes.
See Exhibit DNS60A (Witness HV's written statement, dated 28 November 1995, which seems to G ttr" original
statement, handwritten in French and signed on 28 November 1995), p. 2. The English and typed version of the
statement disclosed to the Defence contained the same information. See Exhibit DNS60C (Witness HV's written
statement, dated 28 November 1995, Engiish), p, 1. However, in an addendum to Witness HV's statement, dated
10 September 2003, the witness specified that "[i]nstead of red caps I recall only that the gendarmes were wearing
caDs". ,See Exhibit DNS60D (Addendum to Witness HV's statement) (emphasis added). Further, the Appeals Chamber
notes that on I September 20M, the kosecution disclosed a "statement reconfiruration" of Witness HV, typed and in
English, where slight amendments to Witness HV's initial statement were made and portions struck through, including
the word "red" in the sentence relating to the soldiers wearing caqs. See Exhibit DNS60B (Witness HV's statemenlt
reconfirmation disclosed on 1 September 2004) (emphasis added).
t" Trial Judgement, para. 1248.
"'" See Trial Judgement, paras. 489 ("Rwandan military and civilian authorities were arming and training civilians
before April 1994"), 120 ("[tlhe military clearly playerl a role in lraining antl distribtrting weapons r-o the militia
groups").
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students833 does not provide any corroboration of her identification of these individuals as soldiers

since her observation was premised on her belief that individuals wearing camouflage attire were

soldiers. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Charnber's finding that the witness

"was later personally questioned by a soldier during the separation of Hutu and Tutsi students" is

incorrect as the witness did not report any direct verbal interaction between herself and any of the

uniformed individuals. 834

359. Furthermore, the Appeals Chamber observes that Witness HV identified the uniforrred

persons present during the attack in the morning and the masked assailants who came in the evening

of 8 April L994 as soldiers pursuant to the same criterion, their camouflage uniforms.835 However,

the Trial Chamber, while relying on Witness FfV's identification of the uniformed individuals as

soldiers during the attack in the morning, doubted the reliability of her identification of the

uniformed assailants as soldiers in the evening.836 It also considered that Witness LT-1's testimony

that the assailants who refurned in the evening and began checking the students' identification

papers were civilians raised some additional doubt.837 The Appeals Chamber considers that the fact

that the Trial Chamber found that Witness HV may have been mistaken regarding the identity of the

assailants who came in the evening of 8 April 1994 should have led it to also question the reliability

of her identification of the soldiers involved in the attack occurring in the morning.838

360. The Appeals Chamber also considers that the Trial Chamber should have questioned the

reliability of Witness FfV's identification of thp unifonned persons all the more in light of the

testimonies of Defence witnesses who the Trial Chamber found credible and who unanimously

denied that soldiers or individuals wearing military uniforms participated in the attack.83e The Trial

Chamber acknowledged that Defence Witnesses LK-z, LT-l, WY, MAR-I, and Willy Biot

"corroborate[d] to varying degrees an attack that morning primarily by militiamen".84o

l\t. Su Witness HV, T. 23 September 2004pp.27,28.
ill5"" Witness lIV, T. 23 September 2OO4 pi.27,28 T. 24 September 20O4 pp. t2, t3.'lt,S"" Witness HV, T.24 September 2W4i-. L4.
t'u Trial Judgement, pan 1249 ("The Chamber is not entirely convinced that these assailants were soldiers, as opposed
to militiamen, given the assailants' use of masks.").
fll rriar Judgeirent, para. 1249.
o'o However, the fact that the Trial Chamber declined to rely on Witness HV's account of soldiers coming to the campus
on the evening of 7 April 1994 was not inconsistent with its decision to rely on her testimony that soldiers participated
in the attack on the morning of 8 April i994. The Appeals Chamber indeed notes that the Trial Chamber's decision not
to accept Witness IIV's account of the visit of the alleged soldiers on 7 April 1994 was unrelated to the reliability of the
witness's identification of the "soldiers", but based on the fact that the witness had previously failed to mention this
aspect of the events to Tribunal investigators and on her explanation for this omission. See Trial Judgement, para. 1246,
fn. 1389.
t 'n Src Witness MAR-I,  T.29May 2006 pp. 6I,62,64,10,11,73; Witness LT-l ,  T. 26 Apm 2005 pp. 58, 59;
Witness WY, T. 31 May 2006 p.5; Trial Judgement, para.. 1246. See also Witness LK-2,T. 19 April 2005 p.24.
to" 'frial 

.lurlgement, para. 1248. The Appeals Chamber noles f,he Trial Chamher'ri sf.aler1ent that "[r]he Defence
evidcnce is second-hand and far from definitive"- See Trial Judgement, para. L245. Considerins this statement in its
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Witness LK-z testified that he received a report from the gendarmes which only referred to civilians

as the attackers.sal Meanwhile Wifiresses LT-l, WY, and MAR-1, who testified to having directly

witnessed the events, clearly denied that soldiers or individuals wearing military uniforms

participated in the attack.u2 The Trial Chamber explained that it was nonetheless convinced by

Witness HV's testimony that soldiers were involved "since she was in a position to follow the

affack for a brief period from her dormitory [...] and was later personally questioned by a

soldier".8a3 However, as discussed above, the Trial Chamber was mistaken about Witness FfV's

personal interaction with a soldier.sa In addition, as regards Witness IfV's observation post, the

Appeals Chamber notes that Witness LT-1 also testified to watching the attack from the girls'

dormitory.8a5

36I. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that no reasonable trier of fact could

have conclusively relied on Witness IfV's identification evidence to find that the uniformed men

involved in the killings described by the witness were undoubtedly soldiers from the Rwandan

army. The Appeals Chamber is not persuaded by Nsengiyumva's argument that the uniformed men

could have been gendarmes as all eye-witnesses unanimously testified that gendarmes came on

8 April 1994 to Mudende University to stop the fighting and protect the survivors.s6 However, the

Appeals Chamber considers that a reasonable trier of fact could not have excluded the possibility

that the uniformed men identified by Witness HV were militiamen wearing camouflage uniforms.

362. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in

concluding that Rwandan army soldiers supported militiamen in an attack at Mudende UniversiW

on the morning of 8 April 1994.

proper context, the Appeals Chamber understands that it did not apply to the testimonies of Defence Witnesses LT-l,
WY, and MAR-I regarding the attack on the morning of 8 April 1994.*' Witness LK-Z,T.19 April 2OO5 p.24.
* 5"" Witness MAR-I, T.29 Miy 2006 pp.6I,62,64,70,7I,73; Witness LT-l, T. 26 Apil 2005 pp. 58, 59;
W-itness WY, T. 31 May 20f,6p.5.
803 Trial Judgement. oata. 1248.
* sre tupri, puu.'i58.
*' Witness LT-l, T. 26 April 2005 pp. 54,55. Witnesses WY and MAR-I stated that they watched the attack from the
courtyard in front of the cafeteria, which was located in front of the chapel. ̂See Witness MAR-I, T.29 May 2006 p. 6I;
Witness WY, T. 31 May 2006 p. 4. See also Exhibit DNS 177 (sketch ol Mudende University).8ou 5"" Witness MAR-I, r. 2S tvtay 2006 pp. 61, 62,69; Witness LT-1, T. 26 Aprlt ioos p.59; Wirness Wy,'f.31 May 2006 p. 5. See ctlso Witness IK-z,1'. 19 April 2005 p. 23; Witness HV, T. 23 September 2004 p.32 an4
T. 24 September 2004 p. 15.
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2. Alleged Error Reearding the Nature of the Attack

363- The Trial Chamber considered that Witness FfV's evidence showed clear coordination

between soldiers and the civilian attackers, as demonstrated in particular by soldiers firing at the

doors of classrooms so that militiamen could gain access and kill refugees inside.saT Given the

speed with which this attack occurred, the targeting of a major educational institution in the Gisenyi

Operational Sector, its "tactical tempo", and the fact that it followed a pattern consistent with other

attacks taking place in the prefecture, the Trial Chamber concluded that the only reasonable

conclusion was that the attack was a planned military operation ordered by Nsengiyumva.848

364. Nsengiyumva submits that there is no evidentiary basis for the Trial Chamber's finding that

the killings at Mudende University were part of a planned military operation.soe In this respect, he

asserts that the Trial Chamber's finding that the attack was perpetrated by "militiamen" is not

supported by the evidence since Witness HV identified the attackers as "civilians" and the "pre-trial

brief'referred to "villagerd".850 Nsengiyumva also argues that it was erroneous to place emphasis

on the alleged "tactical tempo", speed, and pattern of attacks elsewhere, as well as the fact that an

educational institution was targeted, to arrive at the conclusion that it was a plannod military

operation.ssl

365. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber described the civilian attackers at

Mudende University on the moming of 8 April 1994 not only as "militiamen",852 but also as

"civilian attackers" or "civilian assailants".st' Whil" the Appeals Chamber agrees that the term

"militiamen" generally describes members of a group with military discipline and organisation,ssa it

observes that at the time in Rwanda, the term served to refer to members of youth wings of certain

political parties such as rhe Impuzamugambi of the CDR or the Interaharnwe of the MRNID.855

More importantly, the Trial Chamber established that "[e]ventually, civilians involved in the

killings in Rwanda from 7 April were commonly referred to as Interahnmwe even if they were not

specifically members of the MRND youth wing".856 The Trial Judgement reflects that the Trial

f]friA Judgement, paras. 1249, 1252.

::: Trial Judgement, para. 1252. See also ibid.,pua.2077.
*' Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 26; Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 175. See also NT.31 March 2011
pp.28,29.
o'u Nsengilrumva Appeal Brief, para. 173. See also ibid., paras. 49, 174. Nsengiyumva submits that the term
"militiamen" implies persons trained militarily and that the Trial Chamber "does not explain the conversion of ordinary
v-illagers or civilians into 'militiamen"'. See ibid-,para. 173.
o" Nsengilrumva Appeal Brief, paras. I74, I75. See also ibid., para. 49.
o'l See Trial Judgement, paras. 1248,1249,I25I.

llt See Trial Judlement, para. 1252.
o'o The Oxford English Dictionary defines the term "militia" inter alia as "a military force raised from the civilian
p-gpulation of a country or region, esp. to supplement a regular army in an emergency".
6'r .(ee Trial Judsement. Section 111.2.6.1.
ts6'frial Juclgemlnt, para. 459.
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Chamber sometimes referred to Interahamwe, mlltttamen, civilian attackers, civilian militiamen. or

civilian assailants interchangeably.ssT

366. Regarding the present incident, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber used

different tenns to describe the civilian attackers at Mudende to denote an infonnal, yet definable,

group of persons from amongst the civilian population who followed a broad common objective of

slaying the Tutsi refugees and students at Mudende. It observes that while a number of witnesses

described the attackers as "civilians",8s8 "villagers"ttn o, "members of the population",860 these

witnesses also confirmed that the civilian attackers came to Mudende armed with machetes,

sharpened bamboos, clubs, and stones.86l Furthennore, the Appeals Chamber observes that the

civilian assailants participated in separating Hutus from Tutsis, thus partaking in the ethnic

segregation that was being carried out at Mudende. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds no error

in the Trial Chamber's use of the term "militiamen" in these circumstances.

367. The Appeals Chamber has found above, however, that the Trial Chamber erred in

concluding that the presence of soldiers during the attack at Mudende University on the morning of

8 April 1994 was established beyond reasonable doubt. As a result, the Trial Chamber's factual

finding that there was clear coordination between soldiers and civilian attackers during this attack

must be vacated. It also follows that the attack at Mudende could not be said to have been part of a

pattern of attacks involving soldiers taking place in the prefecture. In this context, the Appeals

Chamber is not persuaded that the circumstances of the attack necessarily imply that it was planned

by the military.

368. The Appeals Chamber sees no error in the Trial Chamber's reliance on the fact that the

attack at Mudende mirrored other attacks perpetrated by civilian assailants against Tutsis after

7 April 1994 in the prefecture, the speed with which it occurred after the death of Presidenr

Habyarimana, and the fact that it targeted a major educational institution.s62 This evidence indeed

suggests that the attack was probably part of a broader scheme. Nevertheless, in the absence of

conclusive evidence of any military involvement in the assault, the Appeals Chamber frnds that no

reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that the only reasonable conclusion to be drawn was

that the attack was a planned military operation.

8s7 See suDra. Dara.198. fn. 454.
s5t Witness fiK-Z,f .19April 2005 p.24; Witness LT-1, T. 26 Aprit2005 p.54.tte witness MAR-I, T.29-May 2006 pp. 60, 61. Witness MAR-i also used the expression "farmers" as well as "peasant
farmers". See ibid., pp. 69, 70. Nsengiyumva does not substantiate his contention that attackers were referred to as
"villagers" in the "pre-trial brief'.
oo'. See Witness HV, T. 23 September 2004 pp.26,28,29, Witness WY, T_ 31 May 2006 p. 4.tut Sr" Witness HV. T. 23 September 200+'pp. 25,26 and T. 24 September 2004 p. 10; Witness Wy, T. 3 i May 2006
nn. 4, -5: Witncss MAR-] ,T.29 May 2006 pp.61,10 Witness I-T-1, T. 26 April ?_005 p. 54.
""" See Trial Judgement. oaras. 1252.2148.
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369. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the

attack at Mudende University on 8 April 1994 was a planned military operation.

3. Alle ged Errors Re gardinLNsengiyumva' s Criminal Responsibility

370. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he ordered the killings at

Mudende University and that he could be hetd responsible as a superior for these crimes.863

He argues, inter alia, that it was unreasonable to find that the soldiers allegedly involved in the

killings were under his command,se and that the Tria1 Chamber failed to explain how he had

authority over the civilian assailants.s6s

371. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber did not err in concluding that the only

reasonable inference to be drawn from the totality of the evidence was that Nsengiyumva must have

ordered the attack at Mudende University and that he was the superior of the soldiers and civilians

involved in the killings.866

312. The Trial Chamber based its conclusion that the affack at Mudende University must have

been ordered by the highest military au*rority in the area, Nsengiyumva, in significant part on its

finding of involvement of soldiers in the attack.867 However, the Appeals Chamber has found above

that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that Rwandan army soldiers were involved in the

attack.868 The Trial Chamber also relied on the fact that the attack was a planned military

operation,s6e a factual finding which has likewise been overturned by the Appeals Chamber.870

Against this background, the Trial Chamber's additional reliance on a pattern of similar attacks

involving soldiers and militiamen in the prefecture is unsound.8Tl

373. In support of its finding that Nsengiyumva ordered the attack, the Trial Chamber further

referred to Nsengiyumva's meeting with military offrcers during the night of 6 to 7 April 1994, as

well as to other parallel crimes being committed by elite units and other soldiers in Kigali on orders

of military authorities.sT2 As discussed in prior sections of this Judgement, the Appeals Chamber

Eu3 Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para.26. See also Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, paras. 8, g,"l,L, I7,19,22;
Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 23-37, 42-61.
o* Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. L60, 162. See also Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, para. 62; AT.30 March 2011
pp. 57, 66, 6'l ; AT. 31 March 201 I pp. 29, 30.
oo' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 173.
ooo Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras. 35, 38,48-52,1,67-169.

ii] friat Judgement, pans. 1252, 2148.

\'-o Se e supra, paras. 361, 362.

::: Trial Judgement, para. 1252.
" _',' See supra, para. 369.
" ' '  f r ia l  . ludgement,  parc.s.  1252.2148.
' ' '  Tr ia l  Judgement,  para.2148.
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considers that neither this meeting nor the Kigali killings constitute circumstantial evidence that
Nsengiyumva instructed individuals under his authority to attack Tutsis in Gisenyi.873

374. The Appeals Chamber considers that it was not unreasonable for the Trial Chamber to take

into account the speed with which the attack occurred - that is, two days after president

Habyarimana's death - in reaching its conclusions on Nsengiyumva's responsibility.8Ta However,

this does not demonstrate that the attack at Mudende University must have been ordered by

Nsengiyumva.

315. The Appeals Chamber further finds that there is no evidence that the civilians responsible

for the killings were under Nsengiyumva's authority or that they were his subordinates, as found by

the Trial Chamber.sTs The Trial Chamber's finding was based on evidence of coordination between

the civilian attackers and the soldiers during the attack.876 The Appeals Chamber recalls in this

regard that it has found that there was insufficient evidence for the Trial Chamber to conclude that

soldiers were involved in the attack and that the attack was a military operation.877 TlteAppeals

Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber also referred to Nsengiyumva's involvement in the arming

and training of civilians both before and after 6 April 1994 in reaching its conclusion on the

relationship between Nsengiyumva and the civilians implicated in the crimes.sT8 However, the Trial

Chamber failed to explain how Nsengiyumva's role in the distribution of weapons and training of

militiamen in 1993 and 7994 endowed him with authority, let alone effective control, over the

civilians involved in the attack at Mudende University on 8 April 1994.

376. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that the evidence presented to the Trial Chamber

could not lead a reasonable trier of fact to find that the only reasonable conclusion to be drawn from

the evidence was that the civilian assailants at Mudende University on 8 April 1994 were under

Nsengiyumva's authority or his subordinates, and that Nsengiyumva ordered the attack. Not only

does the evidence fail to demonstrate that the military was involved in the attack or linked to the

civilian assailants, but there is also no indication that Nsengiyumva gave any instruction that Tutsis

be attacked at Mudende University. As a result, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber

erred in finding that Nsengiyumva was responsible under Article 6(1) of the Statute for ordering the

killings of Tutsis at Mudende University, and that he could be held responsible for these crimes as a

superior.

31? { /A

l'_t 5"" supra, para.28l.
"o Trial Judgement, pan. 1252.
o" Trial Judgement, paras. 1252,2078.
o'o Tnai Judgement. pans. 1252,2078.
o"^,See ,sunr(t, patas.362, 369.
"'" See Tnal JLrdgemenl, para.2078.
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4. Conclusion

371. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in finding

that Rwandan army soldiers were involved in the attack at Mudende Universify on 8 April L994,

that the attack was a military operation ordered by Nsengiyumva, and that Nsengiyumva could also

be held responsible for this attack as a superior. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber grants

Nsengiyumva's Ninth Ground of Appeal in part and reverses his convictions under Counts 2, 5, 6,

8, and 10 of the Nsengiyumva Indictrnent for the crimes committed at Mudende University.

The Appeals Chamber will discuss the impact, if any, of this finding on Nsengiyumva's sentence in

the appropriate section of this Judgement.
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J. Alleeed Errors Relatine to the Elements of the Crimes (Ground 13)

378. The Trial Chamber convicted Nsengiyumva of genocide, as well as murder, extermination,

and persecution as crimes against humaniry, and violence to life as a serious violation of Article 3

common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol tr for ordering killings in Gisenyi

town, at Nyundo Parish, and at Mudende University, and for aiding and abetting killings in

Bisesero.sTe It also found Nsengiyumva guilty of murder, extermination, persecution, and other

inhumane acts as crimes against humanity, as well as violence to life as a serious violation of

Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II for ordering the killing

of Alphonse Kabiligi which was done in a brutal manner in front of his family.88o

379. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber erred in its determination of the elements of

the crimes and regarding their proof beyond reasonable doubt.881

380. The Appeals Chamber has found in prior sections of this Judgement that the Trial Chamber

erred in convicting Nsengiyumva for the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi, as well as the killings

perpetrated at Mudende University, at Nyundo Parish, and in Bisesero.882 Nsengiyumva's

submissions therefore need not be considered in respect of these incidents. The Appeals Chamber

has also found that the Trial Chamber erred in convicting Nsengiyumva for ordering the killings in

Gisenyi town pursuant to Article 6(1).of the Statute.883 The Appeals Chamber has nevertheless

found him criminally responsible for these killings pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute.884

As such, the Appeals Chamber will only consider Nsengiyumva's submissions with respect to these

killings insofar as they relate to his superior responsibility.s8s

381. Before turning to Nsengiyumva's submissions, the Appeals Chamber notes the

Prosecution's claim that Nsengiyumva failed to raise in his Notice of Appeal issues relating to the

crime of genocide, crimes against humanity, and violations of Article 3 common to the Geneva

Conventions and of Additional Protocol tr that he discussed in his Appeal Brief. The Prosecution

requests that Nsengiyumva's arguments in these respects should therefore be summarily

dismissed.886 The Appeals Chamber accepts the Prosecution's objection that Nsengiyumva's

i]] friat Judgement, paras. 2161, 2189, 2197, 2216, 2248, 2258.oo' Trial Judgement, paras. 2189, 2197, 2216, 2227, 2248, 2258. The killing of Alphonse Kabiligi was not found to
c"onstitute genocide. See ibid.,para.2145. Regarding the conviction for persecution, see supra,fn.282.
""' Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, paras.32-45 (pp.23-27); Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 26L-283.
ill^ See supra, Sections III.C.7 and G-I, paras. 187, 33I,348,377 .
oo' 

See supra. oata.284.t*- sr, ,ipro, p*ur. 302,303.
oo' Nsengiyumva alleges a number of errors regarding the Trial Chamber's assessment of the actus reus and. mens rea
requirements for the specific intent crimes which he was found to have ordered. See Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief,
;1aras. 26i 267 ,269.270,212,273- 280-283. These ailegations do not apply to superior responsibilit.v
"'" Prosecntion Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras. 262, 216, 305 See al.so Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, paras. I4, j 5 .
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contentions regarding the lack of finding of his genocidal intent, the chapearz requirements of

crimes against humanity, and the Trial Chamber's failure to provide a reasoned opinion regarding

the nexus between the crimes and the armed conflict go beyond the scope of his Notice of Appear.

Nevertheless, the Appeals Chamber considers that it is in the interests of justice to consider

Nsengiyumva's arguments.887 As the Prosecution responded to these allegations despite its

objection to their consideration, the Appeals Chamber considers that there is no unfaimess to the

Prosecution in this respect.

1. Alleeed Errors Regarding Genocide

382. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber erred in failing to make the finding that he had

the requisite intent to destroy, in whole or in part, the Tutsi population, and in disregarding evidence

that negated his intent to commit genocide.888 He also argues that the Trial Chamber erred in

finding him liable as a superior for genocide despite the lack of proof beyond reasonable doubt that

he knew of the assailants' genocidal intent.sse

383. The Prosecution responds that Nsengiyumva's knowledge of the commission of crimes by

his subordinates and his awareness of their specific intent were proven beyond reasonable doubt.8e0

384. The Appeals Chamber recalls that, for a conviction as a superior pursuant to Article 6(3) of

the Statute, it is not necessary for an accused to have had the same intent as the perpetrator of the

criminal act; it suffices to prove that the accused knew or had reason to know that the subordinate

was about to commit such act or had done so.8el The Trial Chamber was therefore not required to

establish that Nsengiyumva shared his subordinates' intent to find that he could be held responsible

as a superior. It follows that the Trial Chamber did not err in finding that Nsengiyumva was liable

as a superior without considering evidence suggesting that he might not have had such intent.

385. Further, the Appeals Chamber, Judges Meron and Robinson dissenting, reiterates its finding

that Nsengiyumva has failed to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he had

actual knowledge of the crimes committed in Gisenyi town on 7 April lgg4,gez which the Trial

Chamber also found to have been perpetrated with genocidal intent.8e3 The Trial Chamber also

tt' C7. Koti^anTira Appeal Judgement, para. I54; Nchamihigo Appeal Judgement, para.24l; Deronjii Judgement on

$gntencing Appeal, paras. 102, 103, 130.
ooo Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 32 (p. 23); Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 261-264, 269, 270;
Nsengiyumva Reply Brief, para. 76.
oo' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 268.
o"u Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para.272.
o"' Nuhimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 865.
oot 5", su nra. oara. 298 .
o" liial iudgernent, para.2l4l.
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expressly found that Nsengiyumva was aware of the participants' genocidal intent.8ea Nsengiyumva

does not substantiate his allegation of error concerning his lack of knowledge of the assailants'

genocidal intent, which is accordingly dismissed.

386. For these reasons, the Appeals Chamber concludes that Nsengiyumva has failed to

demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he could be held liable for genocide as a

superior for the killings in Gisenyi town on 7 ApiI1994.

2. Alleged Errors Regarding Crimes Against Humanity

387. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber erred with respect to the chapeau elements of

crimes against humanity, as well as with respect to the specific crimes of murder, extermination,

and persecution.ses The Appeals Chamber will examine Nsengiyumva's submissions on each of

these crimes in tum, after discussing his submissions on the chapeau elements.

(a) ChapeauElements

388. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber erred in failing to make a reasoned finding on

the "common elements" of crimes against humanity.se6 Specifically, he argues that the Trial

Chamber failed to "illustrate the attacks [as being] systematic or widespread, instead taking the

country of Rwanda as one crime scene".8e7 The Prosecution responds that this argument is

unfounded on the merits.se8

389. An enumerated crime under Article 3 of the Statute constitutes a crime against humanify if it

is proven to have been committed as part of a widespread or systematic attack against a civilian

population on national, political, ethnic, racial or religious grounds.see The term "widespread" refers

to the large scale nature of the attack and the number of victims, whereas the term "systematic"

refers to "the organised nature of the acts of violence and the improbability of their random

occurrence".n* With respect to the mens rea, the perpetrator must have acted with knowledge of the

t* Trial Judsement. oara.2144.
Ees Nsengiyimu" tioti"" of Appeal, paras. 37, 38, 4I, 42 (pp. 25,26); Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. nI-ZiB.
The Appeals Chamber notes that Nsengiyumva's arguments regarding other inhumane acts as a crime against humanity
have become moot as a result of the reversal of his convictions based on the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi.
-Sge Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, pan.43 (p.26); Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 279-28I-
o'o Nsengiyumva Appeal Bief, parz,. 27 l.
o'' Nsengiyumva Appeal Bief, para.27 I.
o'o Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), par as. 27 7 -27 9.
o" Article 3 of the Statute. See also Semanza Appeal Judgement, paras. 268, 269; Ntakirutimana Appeal Judgement,
para.516.
ouo Nolri^o,ra et rtl.. Appeal .Tudgement" para. 920. qttoting Korrliri an<l. eerkez- Appeal Judgement, para. 94:
Ntakirutinlanru Appeai Judgement. para. -516; Gacumbitsi Appeai Judgement, para. i01.
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broader context of the attack, and with knowledge that his acts (or omissions) formed part of the

widespread or systematic attack against the civilian population.ml

390. The Trial Chamber correctly articulated these required elements of crimes against

humanitye0z and, contrary to Nsengiyumva's contention, provided a reasoned opinion for its

conclusion that the totality of the evidence established that these required elements were met.s3

Nsengiyumva's argument that the Trial Chamber erred in "taking the country of Rwanda as one

crime scene" implies that, in order to quatify as crimes against humanity, the attacks in Gisenyi

should have been shown to have been widespread or systematic independently of attacks taking

place elsewhere in Rwanda. Such a suggestion is, however, erroneous, as the requirement is that the

attacks be committed within a broader context, that is, as part o/ a widespread or systematic

attack.ma Nsengiyumva fails to show that the Trial Chamber erred in holding that this requirement

was satisfied.

(b) Murder

39I. Nsengiyumva submits that the elements of murder as a crime against humanity, including

the mens rea, areunsupported by the evidence.eOs However, all the arguments he presents in support

of his contention relate to the mens rea for ordering,m6 sl the substantial assistance provided by his

alieged subordinates.e0T These arguments have become moot as a result of the Appeals Chamber's

decision to set aside the frndings that Nsengiyumva ordered the crimes committed in Gisenyi

prefecture,eo8 or have already been discussed and rejected in a prior section.eoe

eor See Gacwnbitsi Appeal Judgemon! para. 86. See also Kordi| and eerkez Appeal Judgement, para. 99; Blaiki|
Appeal Judgemenl paras. I24-12'l; Kurwrac et al. Appal Judgement, para. lO2.
s2 Trial Judgement, paras. 2165, 2166.
e03 Trial Judgemenl pan.2167 ("The Chamber has considered the totality of the evidence, in particular concerning the
ethnic composition of the individuals who sought refuge at various sites as well as the actual or perceived political
leanings of many of those killed or singled out at roadblocks in the days after President Habyarimana's death. It finds
that theie were widespread and systematic attacks against the civilian population on etbnic and political groups between
April and July 1994.").
"* Cf. Gacumbirsi Appeal Judgement, para. 103 ("the question is simply whether the totality of the evidence proves a
nexus between the act and the widespread or systematic attack.").
eos Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, paras. 37, 38 (p. 25). The Appeals Chamber has discussed Nsengiyumva's
arguments pertaining to lack of notice developed in his Notice of Appeal under this ground of appeal in Section III.C of
this Judgement. See Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para.36 (p.25).
e06 Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 272,213.
e07 Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 38 (p.25); Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief , pan.274.
eo9 ,\ee supra, paras.303, 33 i, 348,311 .
etJe fiee supra, Section IILF.2(b).
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(c) Extermination

392. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber failed to frnd that he intended that mass

killings be committed and that there is no evidence that he possessed the requisite intent.elo He also

contends that the Trial Chamber erred in considering the different factual findings concerning all

co-Accused as cumulative evidence of mass killings where the alleged killings were in no way

connected to each other.ell He argues that the threshold element of extermination that killings must

have happened on a large scale is not met by isolated or small-scale killings taken cumulatively.el2

He asserts that it is erroneous to take the context of widespread or systematic attacks on the civilian

population as cumulative proof of the actus reus of extermination.el3

393. The Prosecution responds that Nsengiyumva's submissions are unfounded.ela It submits that

the Trial Chamber was correct in considering the events Bagosora, Ntabakuze, and Nsengiyumva

were convicted of together since they were part of the same widespread or systematic attacks

against the civilian population and committed in a relatively brief period.els

3g4. Extermination as a crime against humanity under Article 3O) of the Statute is the act of

killing on a large scale,e16 committed within the context of a widespread or systematic attack

against any civilian population on national, political, ethnic, racial, or religious gtounds.elT

3g5. When assessing the co-Accused's responsibility for extermination, the Triat Chamber

explained that it had "considered the events for which the Accused have been held responsible

together since they are essentially part of the same widespread and systematic attacks against the

civilian population on political and ethnic grounds".el8 It emphasised in this respect "the relatively

brief time period in which these crimes werg committed and that each of them were based on the

same set of orders or authorisation from the Accuse6".ele Against this backdrop, the Trial Chamber

concluded that it was clear that all killings for which Bagosora, Ntabakuze, and Nsengiyumva were

ero Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 4O (pp.25,26); Nsengiyumva Appeal Bief, para.276.
"' Nsengiyumva Appeal Bief, para.276.
"" Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para.4l (p.26).
"' Nsengiyumva Appeal Bief , para. 27 6.
"* Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), pan.286.
"' Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para. 288. The Prosecution argues that all crimes constituting
extermination Nsengiyumva was convicted for "occurred over a few days". See idem.
"'o Rukundo Appeal Judgement, para. 185; Seromba Appeal Judgement, para. 189; Ntakirutimana Appeal Judgement,
oara.516.
et.l-Rukunclo Appeal Judgement, para. 185; Ntakirutimana Appeal Judgement, para.516.
" ' "  Tr ia l  Judsement-  oara.2192.
t'n Trial Jnaieme.,t, para.2192.
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held responsible "satisfy either in themselves or collectively the requirement of killings on a

large-scale".92o

396. The Appeals Chamber has found that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that Nsengiyumva

ordered the crimes committed in Gisenyi prefecture.ezr yt view of this, the Trial Chamber could not

rely on such orders as a basis for a conviction for these attacks. More importantly, the Appeals

Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber was unreasonable to conclude that the "large scale"

requirement for extermination was satisfied based on a collective consideration of events committed
'in 

different prefectures, in different circumstances, by different perpetrators, and over a period of

two months. Each of the incidents which forrned the basis of Nsengiyumva's convictions presented

distinct features and could not be said to constitute one and the same incident.e22 As such, they

could not be considered to constitute one and the same crime sharing the same actus reus.

397. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber nonetheless suggested that some of the

killings of which the co-Accused were convicted "in themselves" satisfied the requirement of

killing on a large scale.e23 However, the Trial Chamber failed to make any factual findings as to

whether the killings perpetrated in Gisenyi town on 7 April 1994 met the requisite threshold of

having been committed "on a large scale" in themselues.ttn With respect to the killings in Gisenyi

town, the Trial Chamber's findings are limited to stating that "targeted attacks against Tutsis and

suspected accomplices" were perpetrated.e2s The Appeals Chamber is concerned that the Trial

Chamber did not make any specific findings on this fundamental element of the crime of

extermination.

398. Nevertheless, the Appeals Chamber considers that the facts as found by the Trial Chamber

and the evidence it relied upon support a finding beyond reasonable doubt that the killings in

Gisenyi town were perpetrated on a large scale. The Appeals Chamber notes with respect to the

Gisenyi town killings that the Trial Chamber accepted and relied upon Prosecution Witness DO's

evidence that the victims included: a Tutsi teacher and his daughter; Hutus suspected of being

accomplices, such as Daniel Rwabijongo, as well as Assoumani Kajanja and his Tutsi wife; Gilbert

and another Tutsi man hiding in a compound with him; and a Tutsi woman named Mukabutare and

eto Trial Judgement, para.2193.
n" S"e supra, Sections III.F-I.
e22 The Appeals Chamber refers to the description of the incidents as discussed under the sections addressing Grounds
6 , 7 , 8 , 9 , 1 0 .
et' Trial Judeement. oara. 2193.
e'a In this .Jrp".t, ifre eppeals Chamber recalls that the expression "on a large scale" does not suggest a numerical
minimum. See Rukunclo Appeal Judgement, para. 185; Ntakinttimana Appeal .Iudgement, para. -516.
ot' 'ltial Judgement, para. 1064. See also ibict., paras. 2017 ,2140, Z\4I.
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her daughter.e26 Witness DO testified that there were several other groups of assailants apart from

the one he was assigned to that were perpetrating parallel killings throughout Gisenyi town at the

same time.e" Inth.Appeals Chamber's view, these killings are qualifiable as having occurred on a

large scale.

399. As to Nsengiyumva's contention that the Trial Chamber erred in failing to find that he

intended that mass killings be committed and that there is no evidence that he possessed the

requisite intent, the Appeals Chamber reiterates that a superior need not share the intent of the

principal perpetrators. e28

400. As a result, the Appeals Chamber frnds that Nsengiyumva has failed to demonstrate that the

Trial Chamber erred in finding him responsible for extermination as a crime against humanity for

the Gisenyi town killings.

(d) Persecution

40I. Nsengiyumva submits that the actus reus and mens rea of persecution were not proven

beyond reasonable doubt.e2e The Prosecution responds that all elemenis of the crime of persecution

were duly established.e3o

402. The Appeals Chamber notes that Nsengiyumva does not substantiate his allegation of error.

This contention is therefore dismissed.

etu Trial Judgement, paras. 1016, 2140. See a/so Witness DO, T. 30 June 2003 pp. 24-36, 42-45, T. l July 2003
pp.47-5I,63-65, T. 2 July 2003 pp. 12-17,54-56, and T. 17 October 2005 pp. 14-19; Decision on Anarole
N,sengiyumva's Motions for the Admission of Additional Evidence, 21 March 201I, para.22.
"' Witness DO, T. 30 June 2003 pp. 28, 29,33-35; T. I July 2003 pp. 35-38, 48, 49. See also Trial Judgement,
paras. 1016, i066.
9" Srr .rupra, para- 384.
e'e N."ngiyu.nva Notice of Appeal, parc. 42 (p.26);Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 278.
"" Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras. 289-292.
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3. Alleged Errors Regarding Serious Violations of Article 3 Common to the Geneva Conventions

and of Additional Protocol tr

403. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law and in fact in concluding that

there was a "nexus" between the crimes and the armed conflict between the Rwandan army and the

RPF.e31 He argues that "[e]ven if the crimes were committed using the pretext of the conflict, it may

not be concluded that they were sufficiently close in relationship" to the conflict.e32 He also asserts

that the Trial Chamber's reliance on the Semanza case was misplaced.e33 According to him, there

was no reasoned opinion to arrive at the conclusion that the crimes were "in furtherance of or under

the guise of the armed conflict".e3a Regarding violence to life in particular, Nsengiyumva contends

that there is a lack of evidence that he committed this crime and had the mens rea to do so.e3s

404. In response, the Prosecution argues that Nsengiyumva fails to show that the Trial Chamber

abused its discretion.e36 It submits that the nexus between the perpetrators' acts and the armed

conflict was amply demonstrated.e3T As regards violence to life, the Prosecution avers that the

killings in Gisenyi town constitute murder under Article 4(a) of *re Statute since they were

intentional targeted killings committed with the awareness that the victims were not taking part in

the hostilities and in furtherance or under the suise of the arrned conflict.e38

405. The Trial Chamber found that the military and civilian assailants were acting in furtherance

of the arrred conflict between Rwandan government forces and the RPF or under its guise and,

accordingly, concluded that the requisite nexus between the offences and the armed conflict had

been established.e3e Contrary to Nsengiyumva's contention, the Trial Chamber did explain in detail

the reasons for its conclusion.e4 It did not rely on the Semanza Trial Judgement to so find, but on

the specific facts of the case before it.ea1 First, it outlined that "the ongoing armed conflict between

the Rwandan govemment forces and the RPF, which was identified with the Tutsi ethnic minority

in Rwanda and many members of the political opposition, both created the situation and provided a

e'r Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para.44 (p.26); Nsengiyumva Appeal Bief,pan.282.
"' Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para.44 (p. 26).
"' Nsengilrumva Appeal Brief, para. 282. Specifically, Nsengiyumva argues that the reliance on the Semanza Trial
Judgement was misplaced as there were no adjudicated facts which had been taken judicial notice of from this case or
factual findings that the conflict had reached Gisenyi. See idem.
e3a Nsengiyuriva Appeal Brief, para. 282, citing Kunarac et al. AppealJudgement, para. 58.
"' Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 45 (p.27); Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 283.
"o kosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para. 305.
"' Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para. 308. The Prosecution refers to the fact that the ongoing armed
conflict created the situation and provided a pretext for the killings, and the fact that military personnel acted in
conjunction with militiamen in a significant number of killings and substantially influenced the manner in which they
were executed. See idem.
e38 Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para. 310.
"' Trial Judgement, pan.2236.
uo" .\ 'ee Trial Judsement. Daras. 2231-2235.
no' S"" Trial Judlem"rrq pu.ur. 2232-2236.
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pretext for the extensive killings and other abuses of members of the civilian population in

Rwanda".ea2 It further reasoned that the participation of military personnel in the attacks

substantially influenced the manner in which the killings and other crimes were executed.ea3

406. These factors considered by the Trial Chamber demonstrate that the killings in Gisenyi town

were pe[petrated in furtherance of or under the guise of the armed conflict between Rwandan
goverTrment forces and the RPF, which, according to settled jurisprudence,eu was sufficient to

conclude that the perpetrators' acts were closely related to the arrned conflict. The Appeals

Chamber therefore finds that the Trial Chamber did not err in concluding that there was a nexus

between the killings in Gisenyi town and the armed conflict occurring at the time.

407. Finally, the Appeals Chamber notes that Nsengiyumva claims that the elements of the crime

of violence to life were not proven beyond reasonable doubt without advancing any argument in

support of his contention. The Appeals Chamber therefore declines to address Nsengiyumva's

unsubstantiated allegation of error, and summarily rejects it.

408. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Nsengiyumva's submissions pertaining to his

conviction under Article 4(a) of the Statute.

4. Conclusion

409. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Nsengiyumva's Thirteenth
Ground of Appeal in its entirety.

i|| mA Jud gement, par a. 2232.
'"' Trial Judgement, para.2234.
"* ,S"e Sltako Appeal Juclgement. para. 249; ,Staki( Appeal Judgement, para.. 342; Rtttagand.a Appeal Jurlgement,
paras. -569, 570:' Kun.arac et al. Appeal Judgement, paras. 58, 59.
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K. Allesed Errons Relatine to Cumulative Convictions (Ground L4)

410. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law by entering impermissibly

cumulative convictions.ea5 Specifically, he asserts that the Trial Chamber erred in convicting him of

murder and extermination as crimes against humanity based on the same set of facts "as the latter

requires all of the elements of the former, and the additional element of killing on a large scale".e46

He also submits that his conviction for murder as a crime against humanity is imperrnissibly

cumulative with his convictions for persecution as a crime against humanity, other inhumane acts as

a crime against humanity, and violence to life as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the

Geneva Convertions and of Additional Protocol tr. This is so, in his view, because they are based

on the same criminal conduct without any additional finding as to a distinct element regarding each

crime or an additional findin g of fact.eaT He argues that the count of murder should be "subsumed"

into the counts of extermination, persecution, and other inhumane acts.eas

4IL. The Prosecution responds that, even assuming that cumulative convictions for murder and

extermination are not pennissible, the vacation of the conviction for murder would not impact on

Nsengiyumva's sentence given the grave nature of the crimes of which he was found goilty.eon

It further submits that Nsengiyrmva's cumulative convictions for murder in conjunction with

persecution and violence to life are permissible as each crime contains a materially different

element not required by the other.es0

412. At the outset, the Appeals Chamber notes that the question of whether the Trial Chamber

erred in convicting Nsengiyumva for both murder and other inhumane acts as a crime against

humanity for the brutal killing of Alphonse Kabiligi in front of his family has become moot as a

result of the Appeals Chamber's reversal of these convictions,esl and, as such, need not be

addressed.

413. The Appeals Chamber recalls that cumulative convictions entered under different statutory

provisions but based on the same conduct are permissible only if each statutory provision involved

ea5 Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 46 (p.27).
eo6 Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, paras. 39 (p.25), a7 @.27); Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para. 285.
ea7 Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, paras. 42 (p. 26), 47 (p. 27); Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 286-288.
Nsengiyumva submits that: (i) for the crime of persecution, there was no finding of a "violation of a fundamental right"
as a required additional element; (ii) for the crime of other inhumane acts, there was no finding that Nsengiyumva
ordered Alphonse Kabiligi to be killed in front of his family; and (iii) for the crime of violence to life, there was no
nexus to the armed conflict shown. See ibid., paras. 286-288.

]of Wsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 285-281.
'*' Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para. 3 1 1. See also ibid., para. 4.
e50 Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), paras.312,314. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Prosecution does
not respond to Nsengiyumva's allegation of error relating to his convictions for both murder and other inhumane acts as
cr imesagainsthumani tybasedonthesamesetof  facts.  Sec ih iC. ,  paras.311--?14.

Case No.ICTR-98-41-A

1 3 6

14 December 2011



#(+/A
has a materially distinct element not contained in the other. An element is materially distinct if it

requires proof of a fact that is not required by the other.es2

414. The Appeals Chamber notes that the permissibiliry of cumulative convictions for the crimes

of murder as a crime against humanity and persecution as a crime against humanity has been

specifically considered by the Appeals Chamber.es'Th" Appeals Chamber has found that the crime

of persecution requires a materially distinct element to be proven that is not present as an element in

the crime of murder, namely proof that an act or omission discriminates in fact and that the act or

omission was committed with specific intent to discriminate.esa The crime of murder was also held

to require proof of a materially distinct element that is not required to be proven in establishing the

crime of persecution, namely proof of the death of one or more persons.ess Therefore, cumulative

convictions for murder and persecution as crimes against humanity were found to be permissible.es6

The Appeals Chamber accordingly finds that the Trial Chamber did not err in convicting

Nsengiyumva for both murder and persecution as crimes against humanity for the killings in

Gisenyi town.esT

415. Similarly, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber did not err in entering

convictions for both murder as a crime against humanity (Article 3 of the Statute) and violence to

life as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional

Protocol tr (Article 4 of the Statute) on the basis of Nsengiyumva's role in the killings in Gisenyi

town. It recalls that a conviction under Article 4 of the Statute has a materially distinct element not

required for a conviction under Article 3 of the Statute, narnely the existence of a nexus between the

alleged crimes and the armed conflict satisfying the requirements of common Article 3 of the

Geneva Conventions and Article 1 of Additional Protocol II.e58 Likewise, a conviction under

Article 3 of the Statute requires proof of a materially distinct element not required under Article 4

of the Statute, namely proof of a widespread or systematic attack against a civilian population.ese

e^ll See supra, para. 331.
"'" See, e.g., Krajiinift Appeal Judgemeng para. 386, citing Celebiii Appeal Judgemen! para.4l2; Nahimana et al.
App"ut Judgement, para. 1019, fn.2329; Ntagerura et aL Appeal Judgement, para.425.
"' Krajiinik Appeal Judgement, para. 388; Staki1 Appeal Judgement, para. 359; Kordii and ierkezAppeal Judgement,
pg1 10a1, Cf. Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, puas.1026,1027.
""liSn*ie Appeal Judgement, paru.359; Kordii and i.erkezAppeal Judgement, para. 1041.

::,)S-ta,ki6 Appeal Judgement, para. 359; Kordii and e_erkezAppeal Judgement, para. 1041.
"." Staki| Appeal Judgement, para. 359; Kordii and CerkezAppeal Judgement, para. 1041.
"' The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has found in prior sections of this Judgement that the Trial Chamber erred in
convicting Nsengiyumva for the killings perpetrated at Nyundo Parish and Mudende University, the killing of Alphonse
Kabiligi, and the kiltngs in Bisesero. See supra, Sections III.C.7 and G-1, paras. 187, 331,348,317 .'"" Ntagerura et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 427; Semanza Appeal Judgement, para. 368; Rutaganda Appeal
Judgement. para. 583.
"t" Ntaserura et al. Apoeal Judgement, para. 427: SemanTu Appeal .Iuclgement, para. 368; Rutagarulo Appeal
.Iudgement, para. 583.
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476. The Appeals Chamber recalls, however, that cumulative convictions for exterrnination and

murder as cdmes against humanity based on the sarne set of facts are not permissible because,

whereas extermination requires the materially distinct element that the killings occur on a mass

scale, murder does not contain an element materially distinct from extermination.e6o The Trial

Chamber therefore erred in law in entering cumulative convictions for murder and exterrnination as

crimes against humanity for the killings in Gisenyi town. Since the offence of extermination

contains an additional materially distinct element,e6l which is present in the instant case,eu'

the Appeals Chamber concludes that Nsengi5rumva's convictions for extermination entered under

Count 6 of the Nsengiyumva Indictment should be upheld while his convictions for murder as a

crime against humanity under Count 5 should be vacated.

4I7. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber grants Nsengiyumva's Fourteenth Ground of

Appeal in part and reverses his convictions for murder as a crime against humanity for the killings

in Gisenyi town entered under Count 5 of the Nsengiyumva Indictment. The impact of this finding,

if any, on sentencing will be considered in the appropriate section of this Judgement.

effi, Ntakirutimana AppealJudgement, para. 542.
'"' See Krajiinik Appeal Judgement, para. 386, citing Celebiii Appeal Judgement, para- 413: "Where this test is nor
met, the Chamber must decide in relation to which offence it will enter a conviction. This should be done on the basis of
the principle that the conviction under the more specific provision should be upheld. Thus, if a set of facts is regulated
by two provisions, one of which contains an additional materially distinct element, then a conviction should be entered
1111' under that provision" . See olso Strugar Appeal .Iudgenrent, oara. 3?.1 .
'''- ,\'ee supro. para.398.
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L. Alleged Errors Relatine to SentencinEfGround 15)

418. The Trial Chamber sentenced Nsengiyumva to life imprisonment.e63 Nsengiyumva submits

that the Trial Chamber erred in: (i) failing to individualise the penalty; (ii) imposing a sentence

which is disproportionate to the gravity of the offences and manifestly excessive; (iii) using an

"ingredient" of the crime as an aggravating factor; and (iv) failing to give sufficient weight to

mitigating circumstances.nuo

4I9. The Appeals Chamber considers it unnecessary to examine Nsengiyumva's contentions that

the Trial Chamber erred in failing to individualise his penalty and in imposing a sentence

disproportionate to the gravity of the offences in light of the reversal of the vast majority of the

offences of which he was convicted. The Appeals Chamber will only discuss Nsengiyumva's'

arguments relating to alleged double counting and mitigating ciicumstances, before turning to

consider the impact of its findings on Nsengiyumva's responsibility on his sentence. In addressing

these arguments, the Appeals Chamber bears in mind that Trial Chambers are vested with a broad

discretion in determining the appropriate sentence due to their obligation to individualise penalties

to fit the circumstances of the convicted person and the gravity of the crime.e65 As a rule, the

Appeals Chamber will not substitute its own sentence for that imposed by the Triat Chamber unless

the appealing parry demonstrates that the Trial Chamber committed a discernible error in exercising

its discretion, or failed to follow the applicable 1aw.e66

1. Alleged Double Counting

420. Nsengiyumva submits that "[t]he inference of [his] role in the crimes, regarding 'organized

military operations' which is an ingredient of the crime is erroneously used as an aggravating factor

contrary to jurisprudence".e6T The Prosecution responds that Nsengi5rumva's submissions are

without merit.e68

'u' Trial Judsemenl oara.2279.
es Nsengiyimuu tioti"" of Appeal, paras.42-44 (p.27); Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 2gO-302. The Appeals
Chamber notes that in his Notice of Appeal, Nsengiyumva also submits that (i) the sentence imposed was also
"manifestly harsh and unjust" by virtue of "the prejudice [he] suffered resulting from the violation of his fundamental
rights"; and (ii) "[t]he sentence violates the Stafute and the Rules of Procedure and Evidence". See Nsengiyumva Notice
of Appeal, paras. 44, a5 @. 27). As Nsengiyumva does not pursue these submissions in his Appeal Brief, the Appeals
Chamber considers that he has abandoned them.
nus S"r, e.g., Setako Appeal Judgement, pan. 277; Munyakazi Appeal Judgement, para. 166; Renzaho Appeal
Judgement, para. 606; Nchamihigo Appeal Judgement, para. 384.
'oo See, e.g., Setako Appeal Judgement, para. 277; Munyakazi Appeal Judgement, para. 166; Renzaho Appeal

{gdgement, para. 606; Nchamiltigo Appeal Judgement, para. 384.
"'' Nsengiynmva Appeal Brief, para. 296 (internal references omitted). See also il'ticl... para.292(d).
'oo Prosecutjon Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), pan.322.
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42I. The Appeals Chamber rejects as unfounded Nsengi5rumva's assertion that "organised

military operations" is an element of any of the offences for which he was convicted. It also notes

that in assessing the aggravating circumstances with respect to Nsengiyumva, the Trial Chamber

did not rely on the form and nafure of the operations conducted, but only took into account

"Nsengiyumva's role as a superior with respect to the targeted killings in Gisenyi town, including

Alphonse Kabiligi, and the massacres at Mudende University and Nyundo Parish" and "[t]he large

number of Tutsi victims during the course of the attacks and massacres".e6e The Appeals Chamber

finds that the Trial Judgement does hot reflect any impermissible double-counting. However, in

Iight of its findings that Nsengiyumva should be held responsible as a superior under Article 6(3) of

the Statute for the killings perpetrated by his subordinates in Gisenyi town on 7 April 1994, and that

his other convictions should be reversed, the Appeals Chamber considers that his role as a superior

can no longer be taken into consideration as an aggravating factor in sentencing. Likewise, the

Appeals Chamber considers that the large number of Tutsi victims during the course of the attacks

at Mudende University, Nyundo Parish, and Bisesero cannot be held against Nsengiyumva in the

determination of his sentence.

2. Alleged Failure to Give Sufficient Weight to Mitigatine Circumstances

422. Nsengiyumva submits that the Trial Cha:nber failed to consider the mitigating

circumstances in his case appropriately."o Io particular, he contends that the Trial Chamber erred in

failing to accord sufficient weight to the assistance that he rendered to Tutsis.eTl Nsengiyumva

argues that he risked great danger by saving Tutsis, including by hiding them in his house, helping

them cross the border and evacuating them in very difhcult circumstances.e" He emphasises that he

helped in the evacuation of bus-loads of Tutsi women from Kigali and children of victims of the

attacks in Gisenyi town.e73 He alleges that several witnesses testified that he assisted Tutsis and

asserts that he was not selective in his assistance and did not turn people away.eto

423. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber specifically considered the selective

assistance that Nsengiyumva rendered to certain Tutsis, and that Nsengiyumva does not show how

his selective assistance weighed heavily in mitigation.ett It argues that the gravity of the crimes and

nu' Trial Judgement, pan. 2272.
''" Nsengiyumva Notice of Appeal, para. 43 (p.21); Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 292(e),297 .
'" Nsengilrumva Appeal Brief, paras. 298-302.
''' Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, paras. 298-300.
''' 

Nsengiyumva Appeal Brief, para- 3OO, citing Witness Star-2, T. 28 February 2006 pp. 24-26,30-33.
' '* Nsengiyumva Appcal Brief, paras. 298- 300, cit ing,T. g October 2005 pp. 63,64.
'''' ltrosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), pan. 323.

1n
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aggravating factors in Nsengiyumva's case outweighed the selective assistance and other alleged

miti gating factors.eT6

424. The Appeals Chamber recalls that while a Trial Chamber has the obligation to consider any

mitigating circumstances when determining the appropriate sentence, it enjoys a considerable

degree of discretion in determining what constitutes a mitigating circumstance and the weight, if

any, to be accorded to that factot.eTT

425. The Appeals Chamber notes that Nsengiyumva failed to make sentencing submissions at

hial.e78 The Trial Chamber, in considering the mitigating circumstances, nonetheless recalled its

assessment of the assistance Nsengiyumva provided to some Tutsis in Gisenyi prefecture, including

that of Defence Witness )O( referred to in Section m.3.6.6 of the Trial Judgernent.eTe In that

section, the Trial Chamber recounted the testimony of Witness XX that Nsengiyumva provided

assistance to this witness, a Bishop, and other Tutsis who sought refuge at his residence.eso

The Appeals Chamber further notes that, elsewhere in the Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber

noted Defence evidence relating to Nsengiyumva's assistance in hiding or evacuating Tutsi women

and children from Gisenyi.e8l The Trial Chamber considered that such assistance was selective and

carried only limited weight as a mitigating factor.es2

426. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber did not expressly note or discuss

Defence Witness STAR-2's evidence that, in early June 1994, buses passing through Gisenyi with

Tutsi women had been stopped by Interahamwe, and that only after Nsengiyumva's intervention

could the buses continue on their way to Goma, Zure.e83 The Appeals Chamber sees no error in

this; not only did Nsengiyumva fail to identify this alleged mitigating evidence at trial,esa but the

witness's testimony also reveals that the Interahamwe were not threatening the Tutsi women in the

e76 Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), pata.323.
'" See, e.g., Munyalcaei Appeal Judgemen! para. 174; Bikindi Appeal Judgement, para. 158; Nchamihigo Appea.
Judgement" para.387; Miloievii Appeal Judgement, para. 316.
lll See Trial Judgement, paxa.2262.

:l: Trial Judgement, para.2273, refening to ibid., Secrion III.3.6.6.

::: Trial Judgement, paras. 1187, 1190, 1191.
'o' See Trial Judgement, Section III.3.6.6, fn. 1326, referring to Witness STAR-2, T. 28 February 2006 pp. 4, 19-21;
Section III.3.6.3, fn. L222, referring to Witness RN-1, T. 13 February 2006 pp. 57, 75-17, 83, and Witness STAR-2,
T. 28 February 2006 oo.3l-34.
et'Trial Judgement, ian.2273, citing Kajetijeli Appeal Judgement, para. 311.
'o'Witness STAR-2, T. 28 February 20O6pp.24-26.
ntu Th" Appeals Chamber recalls that Rule 86(C) of the Rules clearly indicates that sentencing submissions shall be
addrcssed during closing arguments. See al.so" e.g., Bikindi Appeal Judgement, para. 165. rluoting Kvotku et aI. Appea:
Judgement, para. 674; Mrkiii und Sliivanianin Appeal Judgement, para. 388; Multimana Appeal Judgement, poru. i31 .
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buses, but were trying to stop a suspected RPF accomplice from crossing the border, and that

Nsengiyumva merely intervened to "take" the suspected accomplice.ess

427. The Appeals Chamber has previously determined that "selective assistance" may be glven

only limited weight as a mitigating factor.es6 Nsengiyumva fails to point to any error on the part of

the Trial Chamber in its conclusion. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that it was within the

Trial Charnber's disuetion to conclude that Nsengiyumva's assistance to Tutsis was selective, and

to accord limited weight to such evidence in mitigation for the purposes of sentencing.

3. Impact of the Appeals Chamber's Findings on the Sentence

428. The Appeals Chamber recalls ttrat it has reversed Nsengiyumva's convictions for the killing

of Alphonse Kabiligi, as well as the killings at Nyundo Parish, Mudende University, and Bisesero.

It has also set aside the finding that Nsengiyumva was responsible for ordering the Gisenyi town

killings pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Statute, finding him, Judges Meron and Robinson dissenting,

criminally responsible as a superior instead. Consequently, Nsengiyumva's role as a superior, as

well as the large number of Tutsi victims during the course of the attacks at Nyundo Parish,

Mudende University, and Bisesero can no longer be held against him as aggravating factors.

In addition, the Appeals Chamber has reversed Nsengiyumva's conviction for murder as a crime

against humanity.

429. The Appeals Chamber considers that the reversal of nearly all of Nsengilrumva's

convictions represents a significant reduction in his culpability and calls for a revision of his

sentence. The Appeals Chamber notes, however, that Nsengiyumva remains guilty of genocide,

extermination, and persecution as crimes against humanity, as well as violenie to life as a serious

violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol tr for the

kiilings perpetrated in Gisenyi town on 7 April 1994. These are extremely serious crimes.

430. Therefore, the Appeals Chamber sets aside Nsengiyumva's sentence of imprisonment for

the remainder of his life and, Judges Meron and Robinson dissenting, sentences him to a term of

15 years of imprisonment.

ntt St" Witness STAR-2, T. 28 February 2006 pp. 24-21 . Tt appears from Witness
Nsensivumva did not even know who was inside the buses- See idem.
e86 ,Yilia,nihigo Appeal .Tuclgement, para. j89, citing, e.g, Kajetiieli Appeal .Turlgement,
Apneal Judgement, para. 163.

STAR-2's testimony that

para. 311- See also Rikindi
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fV. APPEAL Or TTTNONESTE BAGOSORA

A- AIIeged Errors Relating to Baeosora's Superior Position and Effective Control

(Ground f. in part)

43I. The Trial Chamber held Bagosora responsible as a superior under Article 6(3) of the Statute
for genocide, crimes against humanify (murder, extermination, persecution, other inhumane acts,
and rapes), as well as serious violations of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of
Additional Protocol tr (violence to life and outrages upon personal dignity) for killings, acts of rape,
sexual violence, and maltreatment committed by Rwandan army soldiers and militiamen between
7 and 9 April 1994 in Kigali and in Gisenyi prefecture.esT

432. Bagosora's convictions as a superior were based on the Trial Chamber's findings that in the
period of 6 to 9 April 1994, as directeur de cabinet in the Rwandan Ministry of Defence, Bagosora
assumed the power of the highest authority in the Ministry of Defence, acting in fact as the Minister
of Defence. It found that during that period, Bagosora's conduct reflects "that he exercised control
over the Rwandan Armed Forces, the most powerful entity at the time in the Rwandan
government".ess Based on, among other findings, "Bagosora's role at the head of the Rwandan
military", the Trial Chamber found that the civilian militiamen who participated in the crimes of
which Bagosora was convicted were also his subordinates acting under his effective control during
that time.e8e After finding that Bagosora had the requisite knowledge of his subordinates' crimss,eeo

e87 Specificauy, Bagosora was found guilty of crimes against humanity (murder, extermination, and persecution) and
serious violations of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II (vioience to Ufe; tor
the killings of Prime Minister Uwilingiyinan4 Joseph Kavaruganda, Fr6d6ric Nzamurambaho, Landoald Ndasinlwa,
and Faustin Rucogoza; crimes against humanity (murder) and serious violations of Ar[icle 3 courmon to the Geneva
Conventions and of Additional Protocol II (violence to life) for the kilting of the ten Belgian peacekeepers; crimes
against humanity (murder, externination, persecution, and other inhumane acts) and serious vibhtions bt arti"te :
corlmon to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II (violence to life) for the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi;
crimes against humanity (murder, exterrrination, and persecution) and serious violations of Article jcommon to tf,e
Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II (violence to life) for the killings of civilians committed at Centre
Christus; genocide, crimes against humanity (murder, extennination, and persEcudon) and serious violations of
Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II (vioience to hf;) for the killings of civilians
committed at Kibagabaga Mosque, Kabeza, the Saint Josephite Cenfte, Karama Hill, Kilagabaga Catf,olic Church,
Gikondo Parish, Gisenyi town, Mudende University, and Nyundo Parish; crime against numarity (other inhumane acts)
for the tortue of Alphonse Kabiligi and sexual assault against the Prime Ministei; crimes against'humanity (rapes) for
the rapes committed at the Kigali area roadblocks; crimes against humanity (other inhum-"-*tr and rapesj -d ,"riou,
violations of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II (outrages uion personar
{ignlrf) for the rapes and stripping of female refugees at the Saint Josephite Centre, the rapes at Citonao parish, anc
the *sheparding" of refugees to Gikondo Parish where they were killed. See Trial Judgem"nt, purur. Zl5g,21g6,2194,
2203,2213,2224' 2245,2254. TheTrial Chamber found that Bagosora was also [able as i superior for genocide,
crimes against humanity (murder, extermination, and persecution) and serious violations of Article 3 comm6n to the
Geneva Conventions and of Additional kotocol II (violence to life) for the killings and acts of sexual violence and
maltreatment committed bgtween 'l and 9 April 1994 at Kigali area roadblocks, but only took this into account in
sentencing, having already held him responsible under Article 6(1) of the Statute for these crimes. See Trial Judgement,
paras. 2 158, 2186. 21 94, 2213, 2245, 221 Z.
'on Trial Judgcment. prra. 2031 .,See ul.so ibid.,paras.lZ3,2265.
"o' Trial Judgemcnt, para. 2034. See also ibiLl., pan. 2036.
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the Trial Chamber concluded that "Bagosora failed in his duty to prevent the crimes because he in

fact participated in them", and that there was "absolutely no evidence that the perpetrators were

punished aft erwards".ee 1

433. Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law and in fact in finding that he held a

superior position and had effective confol over the Rwandan Armed Forces.ee2 He accordingly

requests that all of his convictions based on superior responsibility be overturned.ee3

434. The Prosecution responds that Bagosora essentially reargues his case de novo without

demonstrating any errors warranting appellate intervention, and that this justifies sufirmary

dismissal by the Appeals Chamber.eea

1. Preliminary Issue

435. A review of Bagosora's submissions indicates that some of his points of contention were

already made at trial,ees and that he repeats on appeal some of the arguments he made in his Closing

Brief.ee6 The Appeals Chamber recalls that the pulpose of appellate proceedings is not for the

Appeals Chamber to reconsider the evidence and arguments submitted before the Trial Chamber.eeT

In the present case, however, the Appeals Chamber is not persuaded that, taken as a whole,

Bagosora's First Ground of Appeal constitutes an attemptto re-argue his case de novo. Many of his

allegations of error arise for the first time on appeal and are closely linked to specific findings in the

Trial Judgement. As such, the Appeals Chamber does not consider surnmary dismissal to be

justified.

* Trial Judgement, pans. 2038, 2039.
"' Trid Judgement, para.2040.
nnt Bagosora Notice of Appeal, pp. 5-8; Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 12,
"' Bagosora Appeal Brief, para. I7l. See also ibid.,p.49.
eeo Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 7 , 12. See atso ibid-, pans. 13-122.
"l', See Trial Judgement, para. 2016, fn.2206.
""o See, e.g., The Prosecutor v. Th4oneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98 -41-T, Corrigendum Mimoire final de ta
Ddfense de Th4oneste Bagosora,25 May 2007 ("Bagosora Closing Brief'), paras. 510 (no operational powers before
6 April 1994), 512 (post was political), 517 and 520 (no power to give orders to the army), 1 178 (not named army Chief
of Staff, 1786-1788 (chaiiing and holding meetings was normal for directeur de cabinet, Bagosora did not initiate
mcotings)^ 1792 (Prime Minister had no authority over the army), p. 376 (no command over the army or Interahamwe).
eei ielebil Appeal Judgement, pan.837 .
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2. Trial Chamber's Findings

436. The Trial Chamber found that the President of the Republic of Rwanda was the supreme

commander in chief of the Rwandan Armed Forces, which was composed of the army and the
gendarrrerie.eet He was assisted in the performance of his duties by the Minister of Defence who

handled daily defence matters, including the Rwandan Armed Forces, and was ranked above the

army and gendarmerie Chiefs of Staff in the hierarchy.enn As part of its key staff, the Minister's

immediate office included a directeur de cabinet,1000 a position that Bagosora assumed from

Jl,lne 1992 to July Igg4.r00r The de jure authonry of the directeur de cabinet was defined by the

Official Journal of the Rwandan govefirment, issued in November l992.r00t That Joumal identified

the directeur de cabinel as holding the most senior position in the Ministry after that of the Minister

of Defence; the directeur de cabinet was in charge of coordinating and supervising the daily work

of the Ministry, and would replace the Minister in his absence.lm3 The directeur de cabinet was

nonetheless part of a separate chain of command within the Ministry and not directly above the
gendarmerie and army Chiefs of Staff.lma

437. In determining the scope of Bagosora's powers as directeur de cabiner, the Trial Chamber

further considered a letter of 27 January 1993 from the then Minister of Defence, James Gasana,

which sought to restrict the authority of the directeur de cabinet when the Minister was absent or

unavailable ("Gasana Letter").lms It found, however, that it was not clear whether the restrictions

remained in legal force after Gasana fled Rwanda for security reasons in July 1993 and was

replaced by Augustin Bizimana.1006 The Trial Chamber considered that, even if the restrictions set

out in the Gasana Letter did remain in force, "the directeur de cabinel still played an important role

in presiding over joint meetings of the chiefs of staff of the army and gendarmerie as well as other

tt Trial Judsemenl para. L46.
ll rriat Judlement" iara.146.
:: Trial Judgement, pan.146.
'-' Trial Judsement. oan. 147.

-i'- fnt Julgement, para. 2018, referring ro Exhibit DB4 (Joumal fficiel de la Rhpublique rwandaise, dated.
15 November 1992), pp. 1766-1769.

]T'-In" _Judqgqrent, para. 2018, refening to Exhibit DB4 (Journal fficiet de la Ripublique rwandaise, dated
15 November 1992), pp. ll66-L769.
tw Trial_ Judgement, 

-para. 
2018. The army Chief of Staff was the operational head of the army and the overall

c_ommander of troops. See ibid., para. 151.

^ms 
f1l_lr1ag"*"n-t, p*u. 2019 (internal references omitted), referring ro Exhibit P246 (Letter of Zi Jarnary 1993

from the Minister of Defence to the directeur de cabinet)-.

[... ] In particular, it obliged the directeur de cabinet to ensure the proper functioning of the daily business
(les affaires courantes) of the Ministry. It authorised him, among other things, to convoke and preside over
meetings of the chiefs of staff of the army and gendarmerie as well as the other directors of the Ministrv.
After such a meeting, the directeur de cabinet could issue operational orders to the chiefs of staff of the army
and gendarmerie if they were in writing and had also been previously approved by those in attendance, in
particular the concerned chief of staff. In all other respects, the competence of the chiefs of staffs of the army
and gendarmerie remained unaffected. Several notable powers were not conferred by Gasana's directive, such
as the transfer or prolnotion of officers and the taking of disciplinary measures.

'oou Trial Judgement, para.20Zo.

(/n

Case No.ICTR-98-41-A

145

14 December 2011



3?55/A
Ministry officials, which could ultimately result in the issuance of operational orders to commands

of these two military forces".loo7

438. The Trial Chamber found that, after the death of President Habyarimana, Bagosora ass rmed

the power of the highest authority in the Ministry of Defence, acting in fact as Minister of

Defence.lms It found that Bagosora's conduct reflected that he exercised effective control over the

Rwandan Armed Forces, at least until the afternoon of 9 April 1994 when the Minister of Defence

returned and the interim govemment ("Interim Government") was installed.lme

439. In support of its finding, the Trial Chamber relied on Bagosora's de jure authority as

directeur de cabinet, as well as on his activities during the period from 6 to 9 April 1994.1010

Inrelation to Bagosora's de jure aathority, the Trial Chamber noted that when the plane carrying

President Habyarimana of Rwanda, President Ntaryimara of Burundi, and the Chief of Staff of the

Rwandan anny, General D6ogratias Nsabimana, crashed on 6 April lgg4,10rr the Minister of

Defence was on official mission in Cameroon.l0l2 Accordingly, between 6 and 9 April Igg4,

Bagosora replaced the Minister of Defence in his absence.lOl3

440. The Trial Chamber found that, "on a number of occasions", Bagosora exceeded the limits of

his authority as directeur de cabinet as defined by the Gasana Letter.l0la It referred, in particular, to

the role that Bagosora played in the meeting of senior military officers held at the initiative of the

gendarmerie Chief of Staff, General Augustin Ndindiliyimana, at the army headquarters in

Camp Kigali on the evening of 6 April lgg4 (*6 April Meeting").r0ts The Trial Chamber found that

t*t Trial Judsemenl par:'.2o2I.
tm8 Trial Judiemenu iara.2o3r.
r@ Trial Judiement. iara.2o3l.
toto Trial Jud-gement, paras.2OIT-2030. Bagosora also submits that the Trial Chamber only found him to have de facto
and not dc jure authority over the Rwandan Arured Forces. See Bagosora Notice of Appeal, para.2O; Bagosora Appeal
Brief, paras. 11(e), 18; Bagosora Reply Brief, paras.2-9; AT. 31 March 2Oll p.40; AT. 1 April 2011 pp. 16, 17.
The Appeals Chamber considers it unclear from the Trial Judgement whether Bagosora was found to have de jure
authority over the Rwandan Arrred Forces. Considering that the core issue in this case is whether or not Bagosora had
effective control over the Rwandan Armed Forces between 7 afi, 9 April 1994, the Appeals Chanber finds it
nnnecessary to determine whether he was found to exercise both de facto ard de jure authority over the Rwandan
Armed Forces.
tott Trial Judgemen! para. 650.
'"'' Trial Judgement, parus. 2018, 2028.
'"" Trial Judsemenl oara. 2018.

'u" The Trial Chamber did not specify precisely who attended the 6 April Meeting. The Appeals Chamber notes that the
UNAMIR Commander, General Rom6o Dallaire, testified that "[t]he table was not full, but I'd say ten-ish or so" were
present. ,See Rom6o Dallaire, T. 19 January 2004 p. 23. The rrinutes taken at the meeting list the participants as
including the directeur de cabinet of the Ministry of Defence, the gendarmerie Chief of Staff, Ministry of Defence
officers, the army and gendarmerie senior staff, the UNAMIR Commander, and the ESM Commander (Colonel
Rusatira). See Exhibit DB66 (Minutes of the meeting of the directeur de cabiner, gendarmerie Chief of Staff, Ministry
of Defence officers, army and gendarmerie senior staff on the night of 6-7 April 1994). See also Exhibit P170 (List of
reports and cables authored by General Dallaire), TINAMIR cable addressed to Maurice Baril dated 7 April 1994
(reference MIR-122), para. 8 ("[Dallaire] arrived at2255 hours and was met by the Chef de cabinet of the lMinistry of
Dcl'once] [...], the Chief of Staff of the Gendarmerie and the key staff appointments of the zLrmy and gendarmerie.");
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Bagosora chaired the meeting and played the dominant role in it.l016 It underscored that Bagosora
was the one who proposed naming an acting army Chief of Staff and personally signed the telegram
appointing Colonel Marcel Gatsinzi to this position.rolt This was despite the fact that the Gasana
Letter specifically excluded Bagosora's authority to promote and transfer personnel without the
express authorisation of the Minister of Defence. This led the Trial Chamber to conclude that in fact
Bagosora was exercising greater authority than that conferred by the Gasana Letter.1018

441. The Trial Chamber further relied on its findings that Bagosora chaired and 'played the
dominant role" at a meeting of senior military officers at ESM on 7 ApnI7994
("7 April ESM Meeting").tole The purpose of this meeting was to gather operational commanders of
the army and gendarmerie, update them on the prevailing situation, and issue insffuctions for the
maintenance of order.lO20 It was at this meeting that officers present agreed to the forming of a
Crisis Committee, composed of the participants of the 6 April Meeting, which was set up to
coordinate the General Staffs of the arrny and provide material support to politicians so they could
form a new government.l02l The Trial Chamber found that Bagosora conducted the meeting and
acted as the main authority, even in relation to the members of the Crisis Committee.'0" It stated
that Bagosora was the one who decided that General Ndindiliyimana should chair its subsequent
meetings.10t3 Itt the Trial Chamber's view, Bagosora's role at this meeting was "much more

expansive [...] than simply chairing a joint meeting of chiefs of staff and Ministry officials, as

described in [the Gasana Letterf".l02a

442- The Trial Chamber also considered that Bagosora's prominence and authority was
evidenced by the fact that he was the person that the Commander of Camp Kigali, Colonel Nubaha,
approached during the 7 April ESM Meeting concerning the ongoing attack against the ten Belgian

Exhibit DB8 (Testimony of Augustin Ndindiliyimana before the Commission sp1ciale Rwanda of Belgium,
?l}p.it LeeT),p.3t14.
"': Trial Judgement, para.2022.
':': Trial Judgement, para.2022.

llll S* Trial Judgement, para.2022.

:::: Trial Judgement, para.2O22. See also ibid.,pans.2OZS,2026.'*" Trial Judgement, para.2025.
t'r Trial Judgement, paras. 675,684. The Trial Chamber found that "[i]n the hours that followed the plane crash on
6 April' Bagosora chaired a military crisis com:nittee of senior military oflicUts from both the anny and gendarmerie at
army headquarters in Camp Kigali which continued into the early hours of the next day". iee Tri-al Judgement,
para.659. See also ibid., pata.662. It referred to this meeting as the "first Crisis Committee meeting". Sie ibid.,
para- 2022' The Appeals Chamber notes, however, that the Trial Chamber observed that, although the sJnior mi5tary
officers who attended the 6 April Meeting ultimately became the members of the Crisis Corrmittee, the Crisis
committee was not per se established until a meeting of senior military officers at ESM on 7 April lgg'4. see ibii.,
Lfli67l;Tle 

Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber's error in this regard has no bearing on its legat findings.'- '- I rral Judgemcnt, para. 684.
'" 'Trjal Jtrdgemcnt. para 2()25.
" " Trial Judgcment. pan. 2025.

Case No. ICTR-98-41-A

t41

14 December 2011



374,lf.
peacekeepers at Camp Kiguli.to" It found that Bagosora instructed Nubaha to take care of the

problem and then went to the camp to follow up on it after the meeting.l026 The Trial Chamber

considered that Bagosora's actions were "more similar to that of a commander issuing orders and

ensuring their implementation than those of a civilian functionary'.1027 It noted that after the death

of the peacekeepers, Nubaha was transferred at Bagosora's request to a more significant post.l028

443. Additionally, the Trial Chamber referred to the fact that, at meetings held on 7 April 1994

with the Special Representative for the Secretary-General of the United Nations ("SRSG") and with

the United States' Ambassador, Bagosora "was in fact representing the Rwandan military - the

main authority still operating in the country - to the international community and was viewed by

senior military officials as the most appropriate person to do ,o" l02e The Trial Chamber also relied

on the fact that, on 7 April 1994, "Bagosora also became the face of the Rwandan authorities to his

own population" by signing a communiqu6 from the Minister of Defence and a communiqu6 on

behalf of the Rwandan Armed Forces. both of which were read over the radio.1030

444. Furthermore, the Trial Chamber relied on Bagosora's key role in the installation of the

Interim Government by meeting with political leaders on 7 and 8 April lgg4.r03r It found that,

although a member of the Crisis Committee was resistant to Bagosora, as a retired officer,

paticipating in the Crisis Committee meeting on 8 April 1994, "Bagosora ultimately performed the

task of ensuring the formation of the new govemment and presented it to the committee for its

approva1".1032It noted that the person resistant to Bagosora's participation in the Crisis Committee,

Colonel L6onidas Rusatira (then ESM Commander), was "ultimately marginalise6".1033 The Interim

Government was sworn in on 9 April Igg4.r034 The Trial Chamber observed that the Crisis

Committee "effectively ceased to exist after its meeting on 8 April".lo3s

M5. TheTrial Chamber found that Bagosora's specific role and authority over the military and

militiamen after 9 April 1994 was less cl.ear, but considered that he maintained influence and

significance within the Rwandan govemment and military for the duration of the relevant

events.1036 The Trial Chamber considered Bagosora to be "an experienced and well trained officer

]il ftiat Judgemen! para.2026.
'u'o Trial Judgement, pan.2026. See also ibid., para.679, fi.2218.
'"'' Trial Judgement, para.2026.
'u'o Trial Judgement, para.2026.

:::: Trial Judgement, para.2023.
'u'u Trial Judgement, para-2024.
iurL Trial Judgement, paras.2027,2028. See also ibid., paras. 1288, 1309, 1310.
'"" Trial Judgement, para.2027 .
'"" Trial Judgement, para.2O2i.
1{)34 Trial Judgement, para. i309.
'0"  Tr io l  Judgement,  para.  2t )27.
' " "  Tr ia [ . ludgement,  paras.  2028.  2029.203l .
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fully capable of command" and noted his seeming desire for more power than the post of directeur

de cabinet allowed.lo3t The Trial Chamber stated that "[f]rom the mornin g of 7 April, he was

armed, in uniform and accompanied by a military escort, certainly not the public persona of a

simple civilian functionary", and that "[{lrom that date, in spite of any possible formal limitations

stemming from his retirement from the army and his position as directeur de cabiner, he projected

military power and authority, consistent with his conduc1,r.1038

3. Discussion

446. Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber erred in: (a) confusing his functions as a delegate

of the Rwandan Armed Forces with those of a leader;to'n (b) equating the notion of influence with

that of effective control;lm (c) failing to consider the emergency situation;lo4l (d) failing to take

into consideration evidence demonstrating that he lacked operational powers or authority over the

Rwandan Armed Forces;1042 (e) ignoring the powers of the Crisis Committee and other military

officers;lo43 1f; considering as an indication of his effective control irrelevant evidence;loa
(g) attaching undue importance to his refusal to recognise Prime Minister UwiJingiyimana's

authoriry;lout Gt) presuming that he had the ability to punish military officers;10a6 1i; failing to

consider that the evidence could also lead to the inference that he lacked effective control over the

Rwandan Armed Forces;I0a? and C) thereby depriving him of the benefit of reasonable doubt.l0a8

Bagosora contends that although there may have been some evidence to suggest that he had

effective control over the Rwandan Armed Forces, such evidence was insufficient to fulfiI the
required standard of proof.loae Th" Appeals Chamber will consider these submissions in furn.

to3t Trial Judgemenl oara. 2030.
ro38 Trial Judiement para. 2030.
r03e Bagosora-Notice of Appeal, Ground 1(B); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 32-46.'* Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Grounds 1(C), 1(N); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras.47-54, 148, L4g.'*' Bagosora Mrice of Appeal, Grounds 1(A), l(G); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 25-31, g0-g5.
'*' Bagosora 

Io!"" of Appeal, Grounds 1(E), 1(F), 1(H), 1(K); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 55-79, g6-100 , IZI-130.'*' Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Grounds 1(A), 1(J); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 115-1i0.'* Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Grounds 1(M), 1(O); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 145-147,150- 161.'*' Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 1(L); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. L3l-144.'*" Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 1(P); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 162-165.'""' Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 1(D); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 55-6g.'*" Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 1(Q); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 166-170. Bagosora also submits that the
Trial Chamber erred in failing to compel Marcel Gatsinzi, who was appointed acting army Chief of Staff, to comply
with a subpoena to testify in his defence. See Bagosora Notice of-Appeal, Ground 1(i); Bugoro.a Appeat Briei
paras.101-114. Bagosora's submissions in this respect are not directly related to his general challengeio tn" friui
Chamber's assessment of his effective control or superior responsibility, but rather allege violations of his fair trial
rights. His submissions on the matter have therefore been adclressed separately. See infra. Siction IV.B.t*n AT.  3 l  March 20I l  o .49.
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(a) Confusion of Functions of a Delegate with Powers of a Leader

447. As indicated above, the Trial Chamber's conclusion that Bagosora had effective control over

the Rwandan Armed Forces was based in part on its finding that he was a representative thereof:

On 7 April, Bagosor4 on behalf of the Rwandan military, met with Jacques Roger Booh-Booh, the
Special Representative of the Secretary-General, around 1.00 a-m. [...] and with the United States
Ambassador at 9.00 a.m. [...]. He claimed that he did not initiate these meetings and, in the case of
the meeting with the United States, noted that he was nssomFanied by Ndindiliyimana. In the
Chamber's view, the question of whether he initiated the meetings is besides the point he was in
fact representing the Rwandan militaly - the main authority still operating in the country - to the
international cour:nunity and was viewed by senior military officials as the most appropriate
person to do so.lo5o

In this sane vein, Bagosora also became the face of the Rwandan authorities to his own population
since he signed the communiqu6s read over the radio at 6.30 a.m. on 7 April and another one later
that afternoon at 5.20 p.m. The first courmuniqu6 was an announcement from the Minister of
Defence informing the country of the death of the kesident. It also asked the anned forces to
"remain vigilanl to ensure the security of the people" and the population "to stay at home and
await new orders". The second communiqud was issued on behalf of the arured forces. It informed
the country of the army and gendannerie's joint meeting at ESM earlier that day, the creation of
the Crisis Committee, as well as [...] theirintention to ensure security, especially in Kigali, and
support the country' s political authorities.' "'

448. Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber erred by confusing the powers and duties that he

had as a delegate with those of the head of an organ such as the Rwandan Arrned Forces.los2

He argues that the Trial Chamber attributed too much importance to his role of a spokesperson,

which did not include decision-making powers or control over the country.1053 To illustrate his

argument, he asserts that the meeting with the SRSG was initiated at the suggestion of the

Commander of the United Nations Assistance Mission for Rwanda ("UNAMIR"), General Rom6o

Dallaire, that he did not negotiate on behalf of the army during that meeting but that it was the

SRSG who made requests to the military, and that he never attended meetings without another

member of the R*andan Armed Forces.losa In addition, he contends that he only signed the radio

communiqu6s in his capacity as representative of the Ministry of Defence and as a result of having

been delegated to do so by the Crisis Committee.loss As such, he argues, he merely set down in

writing the decisions taken by the two General Staffs and the directors of the Ministry at the 6 April

Meeting, and those of the officers who attended the 7 April ESM Meeting.totu He further submits

]f]i friat Judgement, para. 2023.
'u'' Trial Judgement, pan.2024 (internal references omitted).
'u" Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 1(B); Bagosora Appeal Brief, para. 32.
'u" Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 38, 47; Bagosora Reply Brief, pan.25. See also AT. 31 March 2OII p. 43.
"'* Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 34,35,37 . See a/so Bagosora Reply Brief, paras. 25,26.
'u" Bagosora Appeal Brief, para. 39; Bagosora Reply Brief, para.28. At the appeal hearing, Bagosora also submitted
that to avoid "giving the impression of a military coup", "you could not have a communiqu6 signed by a group of
nrilirary officers". See AT . 3 1 March 20) 1 o. 41 .

"'tu ]Jagosora Appeal Brief, para. 39; Bagoiora Reply Brief, pan.28.
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that his representation of the Rwandan Armed Forces and the appearance that he had power does

not mean that he effectivelv had it.10s7

449. The Prosecution responds that Bagosora fails to demonstrate any error by the Trial

Chamber, and distorts the Trial Chamber's approach.los8 It argues that Bagosora's representation of

the army and gendarrnerie at critical meetings cannot be reduced to a mere appearance of authority

but was a material factor that the Trial Chamber properly took into account in establishing his

effective control.lOse The Prosecution asserts that Bagosora "cannot run away from his actual

exercise of authority by generally claiming that he was representing someone e1se".1060

450. The Appeals Chamber recalls that indicators of effective control arc a matter of evidence

showing that the accused had the power to prevent, punish, or initiate measures leading to

proceedings against the alleged perpetrators where appropriate.lo6l An accused's superior position

and effective control are matters which, along with the other constituent elements of superior

responsibility, must be established beyond reasonable doubt on the basis of the totality of the

evidence adduced.1062

451. The Appeals Chamber is not persuaded by Bagosora's submission that, because the meeting

with the SRSG was initiated by General Dallaire and because he never attended meetings without

another member of the Rwandan Armed Forces, the Trial Chamber erred in considering his

representation of the Rwandan Armed Forces in meetings with the international community as

evidence of his effective control. As the Trial Chamber correctly observed, regardless of who

initiated the meeting, Bagosora was regarded as the appropriate authority to engage in discussions

with the international community on behalf of the Rwandan Armed Forces.l063 The fact that other

members of the Rwandan Armed Forces accompanied him does not undermine this.

452. Bagosora's representation of the Rwandan Armed Forces in meetings with the international

community is consistent with the fact that, in accordance with the Ofhcial Journal, Bagosora was to

replace the Minister of Defence in his absence.lotr While this representation of the Rwandan Armed

Forces does not on its own demonstrate that Bagosora exercised effective control over the Rwandan

ro5t Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 40,42-46. See also Bagosora Reply Brief, pan.29.
"'o Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 35-37.
'u" Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 38-41.
"- Prosecution Response Brief (Bagos ora), pan. 42.
'""' Strugar Appeal Judgement, para. 254; Blaikii Appeal Judgement, para.69. See also OriC Appeal Judgement,
para.20; Halilovii Appeal Judgement, para. 66.
'"^"' Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para.789; Ntagerura et al. Appeal Judgement, paras. 172-175,399.
'uo'Trial Judgement, para.2023. See also Rom6o Dallaire, T. 19 January 2004p.33 ("Colonel Bagosora was to attend
[the meeting at the U.S. Ambassador's residence on the morning of 7 April 1994]. He was the interlocutor. He was the
person of authority and clemonstrating that authority and exercising it. So the SRSG clearly said that, yes, Colonel
Bagosora had to represent the government, the military situation on rhe RGF and government sicie.").
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Armed Forces, it is indicative of the fact that he played a sufficiently prominent role in the

Rwandan Armed Forces to be trusted with discussions with high level contacts. Moreover, the

Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found that, during the meeting with the SRSG,

Bagosora "acted as the representative of the armed forces and refused to consult with the Prime

Minister",l06s and was also "clearly acting as an authority of the military during the meeting" with

the United States' Ambassador where the security situation in Kigali was discussed.l066 Bagosora

does not demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in so frnding. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber

finds that it was not unreasonable for the Trial Chamber to have considered this evidence in its

assessment of whether Bagosora had effective control over the Rwandan Armed Forces, nor was the

weight given by the Trial Chamber to Bagosora's role in this respect uffeasonable.

453. The Appeals Chamber considers that the fact that Bagosora signed two communiqu6s read

over the radio on 7 April 1994 addressing the Rwandan population and Rwandan A:rned Forces

does not, alone, demonstrate that Bagosora exercised effective control over the Rwandan Armed

Forces. However, the Appeals Chamber notes that Bagosora testified that his role in the issuance of

the communiqu6s was not limited to signing them. With resirect to the drafting of the second

communiqud, issued on behalf of the Rwandan Armed Forces, Bagosora testified that: "Well, in

principle, the boss will ask the juniors and subordinates to work. I was the chair of that meeting.

I could not be attending to the drafting of the communiqu6. I had to review the draft with them

afterwards to make sure it was okay".t067 This explanation indicates that he not only signed the

communiqud, but he also approved it once it had been drafted by subordinates. While this does not

demonstrate that Bagosora was solely responsible for the issuance of the communiqu6s, it was

reasonable for the Trial Charrber to have considered this evidence in its assessment of whether he

exercised effective confrol.

454. As regards Bagosora's a.rgument that he merely set down in writing the decisions of the

officers who attended the 6 April Meeting and the 7 April ESM Meeting, the Appeals Chamber

to* Trial Judgement, para.2Ol8.
t'o' Trial Judgement, para. 668.
'uoo Trial Judgement" pan.672.
tout Bagosora, T. 8 November 2005 p.8. See also ibid., p. 32 ("In the meantime, there was the communiqud. [...]
The head of the infonnation division brought the draft to me. Actually, what he brought to me was the draft so that I
could review or approve the style of the drafting. At the time we were designating the drafting committee, we had
agreed that they would prepare the draft and I was going to discuss it with them once the draft had been completed.
The head of the infonnation division brought the draft to me. [...] Then, there was the communiqu6, which I had not yet
discussed with the drafting committee, and that communiqu6 had to be published. I also had to go and rescue my
family. I decided to have the communiqud published as it was, so I signed it and handed it to the head of the
information division for onward transmission to Radio Rwanda. [...] What I mean is that it was the first version,
because we had agreed that after the drafting of the communiqud we were going to discuss it, so as to approve it
togcther. and then have jt published. Now, since they hacl prepared it and when I read it I did not see anything to add tcr
it. and on account of the emergency situation, I decided to have the communiqu6 published as it rvas.").
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refers to its discussion below of the prominent role Bagosora actually played at these two

meetings.1068

455. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber considers that Bagosora has failed to

demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in relying on this evidence. While his role as

representative of the Rwandan Armed Forces could not, on its own, have supported a finding that

he exercised effective control over the Rwandan Armed Forces, the Appeals Chamber sfesses that

it was only one among many indicators that the Trial Chamber took into account.l06e The Appeals

Chamber will consider Bagosora's arguments in relation to these factors in subsequent sections.

456. Bagosora's submission that the Trial Chamber erred in confusing the powers and duties he

had as a delegate with those of a leader is therefore dismissed.

(b) Equation of Influence with Effective Control

457. Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber erred in equating the notion of influence in an

emergency context, or of political influence, with that of effective control over the Rwandan Armed

Forces.1070 He argues that the ability to influence others should not be confused with the power to

command military officers to perform specific acts.107l

458. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber considered the totality of the evidence in

establishing his superior responsibility, and that Bagosora's pre-eminent position and his conduct at

important meetings cannot be reduced to mere influence without effective control.1072

459. The Appeals Chamber finds Bagosora's argument that the Trial Chamber equated influence

with effective control unconvincing. The Trial Chamber correctly stated that the requirement of

proving effective control "is not satisfied by a showing of general influence on the part of the

accused".l0t' Mor"ouer, the factors relied on by the Trial Chamber in finding that his effective

control had been established were not merely indicators of general influence. As noted above, the

Trial Chamber also relied or, inter alia: his de jure powers as directeur de cabinet;

his representation of the Rwandan Armed Forces in meetings with the international community;

his issuing and approving a communiqud on behalf of the Rwandan Armed Forces; his behaviour at

important meetings of the Rwandan Armed Forces, including at the meeting at which the idea of the

tous 5", infra, paras. 47+479,492.
'.lll^Sr" TCA iuagement, paras. 2022-2031. See also infra, paru. 459.
ru/u Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Grounds 1(C), 1(N); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 4i, 148.
See also AT. 31 March 2O1I p.43.
'o' '  Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 48. 50. 148, 149.
'" ' '  Prosecrrtion Resnonse Brief (Bagosora), paras. 44-52, 111- 112.
ro73 Trial Juclgemeni para. Z0lZ.
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Crisis Committee was ratified; his issuing instructions; and his role in installing the Interim

Government and transferring authority to it from the Crisis Comminee.lo7a These indicators of

authority were not merely examples of influence but concrete instances of Bagosora's involvement

in crucial decisions and actions taken by the military in the wake of the death of the President.

460. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber did find that, after the return of the

Minister of Defence on the afternoon of 9 April 1994 and the installation of the Interim

Government that day, Bagosora continued to play a prominent role and was tasked with important

functions.lott However, this conclusion did not lead to any adverse finding against him as the Trial

Chamber only found that he exercised effective control between 6 and 9 April 1994.1076

461. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Bagosora has demonstrated no error in the

Trial Chamber' s approach.

(c) Failure to Consider the Emergency Situation

462. Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber failed to consider the exceptional character of the

emergency situation.lo" H" argues that the urgent situation created by the kesident's death, the

absence of other leaders from Rwanda at the time, and the resumption of RPF hostilities, had an

impact on the effective control over the Rwandan Armed Forces and on his role as directeur de

cabinet as of 6 April 1994.1078 He asserts that in the circumstances he had to take certain emergency

actions which did not amount to effective control over the armed forces, and that the Trial Chamber

should have considered the emergency situation in interpreting the facts and his actions.l0?e In his

view, the Trial Chamber failed to consider that the circumstances made it impossible to comply

strictly with the terms set out in the Gasana Letter.lo8o

463. The Prosecution responds that Bagosora does not elaborate on his arguments, which are

unfounded and misguided, and demonstrate no error by the Trial Ch4mb"t,totl It submits that the

Trial Chamber was clearly alive to the situation existing at the time, and that it reached its

conclusions after considering the totality of the evidence.los' It adds that Bagosora does not explain

how his non-adherence to the terms of the Gasana Letter undermined his superior position and

to]o tria Judgement, paras. 2022-2031.

::jl Trial Judgement, paras. 2028, 2029,2031.
'u'" Trial Judgement, paras. 2017 -203 L
'u" Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Grounds 1(A), 1(G); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 25-31, 80-85.
'"'" Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 25,29-31. See also ibid-,paras.20,74,85; Bagosora Reply Brief, para. L7.
'"'' Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 80, 84- See also ibid.,paras.55,220-222.
"'*n Bagoso.a Appeal Brief, para. 85. See also ibid.,paras. 20, 59,74.
"' ' '  Prosecution Rcsponse Brief (Bagosora). paras. 23-33-14-18. Se,e tt lso ibid., para. 51"
r{)tr Prosecution Response Bricf (Bagosora), paras. 26-29. See also ibir)., paras. 149-156.
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effective control, and that by exceeding the [mits imposed therein, he demonstrated the exercise of

effective authority. 1083

464. A reading of the Trial Judgement reveals that the Trial Chamber was seised of the

extraordinary circumstances prevailing at the time in assessing the evidence in relation to

Bagosora's authority.lO8a Indeed, the Trial Chamber's discussion shows that it specifically viewed

the actions taken by Bagosora, which indicated the scope of his authority, in the light of the crisis

situation. In considering his role in representing the Rwandan Armed Forces in the meetings with

the intemational community, the Trial Chamber noted that the Rwandan military was "the main

authority still operating in the country" at the time.108s Similarly, it considered his dominant role

within the group of senior military officials which gathered at the 6 April Meeting.1086 It also

considered his role within the group of operational commanders of the gendarmerie and army which

gathered at the 7 April ESM Meeting, the purpose of which was to "update them on the prevailing

situation, and issue instructions for the maintenance of order".lo87 It further took into account his

role in facilitating the installation of the Interim Government on 9 April 1994.1088

465. The evidence considered by the Trial Charnber demonstrates that Bagosora was involved in

almost all aspects of the high level response to the emergency circumstances, which was initially

undertaken by the military, since it was the primary authority still functioning in the country in the

immediate aftermath of the President's death. In fact, Bagosora's authority was greater than it

would have been in normal circumstances because of the existence of the emergency circumstances,

including the Minister of Defence's absence.

466. Bagosora's contention that the Trial Chamber failed to consider the exceptional character of

the emergency situation is therefore dismissed.

r0E3 Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 25,69,78.
'""* See, e.g.,Tial Judgement, para. 2038 ("It is inconceivable that Bagosora would not be aware that his subordinates
would be deployed for these pu{Poses, in particular in the immediate aftermath of the death of President Habyarimana
and the resumption of hostilities with the RPF, when the vigilance of military authorities would have been at its
heisht.").
toss"tni Judsement. oar a. 2o23.
r086 Trial Judeement. iara.2022.
'n*t Trial . luOeemcnt. iara.2025.
1o'o Triel Judgement, pnra.2o27 .
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(d) Lack of Operational Powers and Authoritv

467. Bagosora submits that the Trial Charnber failed to consider evidence that he had no

operational powers and lacked authority.l0tn H" contends that the Trial Chamber failed to consider

that he had no operational powers over the ailny or gendarmerie before 6 April 1994, and that his

role in the 6 April Meeting was in strict conformity with his powers as directeur de cabinet.r0eo

He asserts that there is no evidence that he deployed any troops or issued any orders, and that the

record shows that the crimes during the relevant period were committed independently of any

orders.l0e1 He argues that, as of 7 April lgg4, all. operational decisions were taken by a group of

officers, then by the Crisis Committee,ton' *d that one such collectively taken decision was

Gatsinzi's appointment as interim army Chief of Staff, which was not a promotion or a transfer, but

simply a necessary delegation to someone with military operational experience in a time of urgent

need.lo93

468. Moreover, Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber failed to consider that the reason he

presided over some Crisis Committee meetings was that his retirement from the army enabled the

other member officers to reach decisions democratically, and that his post was of a political, not

military, nature.loe4 He adds that the Trial Chamber ignored the fact that his membership in the

Crisis Committee was contested by officers such as Colonel Rusatira,loes and that there was no

evidentiary basis for concluding that Rusatira was marginalised.lOe6 According to him, the fact that

he presided over the 6 April Meeting, which was customary for the directeur de cabinet, and

co-presided over the 7 April ESM Meeting, does not signify that he had authority over any of those

present.lo97

rose Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Grounds 1(E), 1(D, 1(H), 1(K); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 5l-53,69-75. 86-100.
'*u Bagosora Appeal Brief, para. 69.
'*' Bagosora Apped Brief, paras. 49,53; Bagosora Reply Brief, paras. 17, 32-35,74-76.
'"" Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 25,SI(c),60-62,66,7L-73,86, 88, 95-97,100. See also N|.31 March 20ll p. 54.
'-' Bagosora Appeat Brief, paras. 86-99; Bagosora Reply Brief, para. 37 . See a/so Bagosora Appeal Brief, para. 66(d).
In this respect, Bagosora specifically contests the Trial Chamber's view at footnote 22L6 of the Trial Judgement that
since "Colonel Mur[a]samp[o]ngo, head of the administration bureau (G-1), was already serving as acting chief of staff
on 6 April in the absence of D6ogratias Nsabimana since he was the next most senior member of the army staff [...]
there was therefore no gap necessitating an emergency appointment in the absence of the Minister of Defence."
See Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 89, 90 AT. 31 March 20II p.40. In the Appeals Chrmber's view, whether or not the
appointment wurs necessary has no bearing on whether Bagosora exercised effective control. As Bagosora's contention
that the Trial Chamber's view at footnote 2216 was factually inaccurate is of no consequence to the present appeal, the
Appeals Chamber will not consider it.
'*o Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 1(K); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 19, 66(e), l2I. See a/so Bagosora Reply
Brief, para. 21.
r@5 Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. l2I, I23. See also ibid., paras.51(c), ?7(b).
'*oBagosoraAppealBrief,paras. I24, l25,refeningroTrialJudgement,para.2027,fn.222l.
'u'' Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 126, 127; Bagosora Reply Brief, paras. 21, 23, Bagosora also submits that at no time
did Gatsinzi, Ndindiliyimana, or any oiher military officer complain during the meetings of the Crisis Committee that
her rvas interfbring with the commanrl of the Rwanclan Armed Forces, and that afier the 7 April ESM Meeting he no
longer chaired any meeting of soldiers or miiitary structures. Sez Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 52, I28, 130.
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469. Bagosora also contends that the Trial Chamber failed to consider that he only learned of the

emergency 6 April Meeting accidentally, that he did not attend several important meetings from

6 to 9 April 1994, that the decisions taken at these meetings were imposed on him, and that he never

convened a meeting during this period.l0es hr particular, he points to his absence from a meeting

which took place in the evening of 7 April 1994 because he was out of Kigali at the time, and

asserts that if he was as central an authority as found by the Trial Chamber, he would have been

able to order a helicopter to take him back to Kigali.roee H" further points to his absence from a

meeting in the morning of 8 April 1994, where his membership in the Crisis Committee was

contested, and another meeting in the moming of 9 April lgg4.lrw He asserts that the Trial

Chamber should have taken into consideration the effect of the holding of important meetings in his

absence, and his last-minute invitations to those which he did ,ttend.llol This, in Bagosora's view,

demonstrates that he was not treated as a military authority but as a political figure.llo2

410. Bagosora further submits that the Trial Chamber failed to consider as evidence of his lack of

effective control over the armed forces the fact that the "mutineers at Camp Kigali [...] were not at

all impressed by [him]", that "[h]e was even labeled an accomplice", and that "[he] did not know

what to do after his fruitless visit to Camp Kiguli".tto'

47I. The Prosecution responds that Bagosora appea$ to equate effective control with operational

control, but does not develop this argument, and that he fails to provide any support to his

contention that decisions were imposed on him or that his authority was revoked.ll0a It asserts that,

as a matter of law, proof is not required that the accused deployed troops or gave orders for superior

responsibility to exist.llOt It further submits that the evidence established Bagosora's ability to issue

orders to the Rwandan Armed Forces between 7 and 9 April 1994.1106 The Prosecution adds that

t@E BagosoraNotice of Appeal, Ground 1(F); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 28,51(a),66(a),76. See also Bagosora
Reply Brief, paras. 12, 98.
'-' Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 66(c),17(a).
"* Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 77(b), (c); Bagosora Reply Brief, para. 98.
"- Bagosora Appeal Brief, para. 78.
""'Bagosora Appeal Brief, para. 79.
"- Bagosora Ap_peal Brief, paras. 51(e), 51(f) (emphasis omitted). See also Bagosora Reply Brief, para. 100.
"* Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 63-65, 7 0, i I.
""' Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 47,52. See also ibid., para. 24.
"uo In particular, the kosecution points to: Bagosora's authoritative manner of speaking to unit commanders during a
meeting on 7 April 1994; Bagosora's qualification of the group of officers designated to draft the communiqi6,
including Rusatira, as his'Juniors and subordinates"; Bagosora's concession tha! on 7 April 1994,he ordered Gatsinzi
to be in Kigali at 6.00 a.m.; Bagosora's refusal to place the Rwandan Armed Forces under the authority of the prime
Minister; Bagosora's forceful and immediately effective instructions to members of the Presidential Guard who were
manning a roadblock in Kimihurura to let him and Dallaire pass through quickly; Nubaha's immediate compliance with
Bagosora's dismissal of and instruction to Nubaha to return to Camp Kigali to deal with the situation there; Bagosora's
request that Nubaha be transferred; and Bagosora's statement that members of the Presidentiai Guard who did not know
him would have nevertheless listcnecl to him as an authority of the Ministry of Defence in accordance with the r*\cs
enforced, according to which they have to respect the authorjties. See AT. 3 i March 20ll p1..7Al3.
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Bagosora's purported reasons for presiding over some meetings are "beside the point",1107 and that

his alleged absence from certain meetings and lack of involvement in convening any of them are

irrelevant as far as superior responsibilify is concerned.llos

472. With respect to Bagosora's argument that crimes were committed independently of orders

and that there is no proof that he ever issued any orders or deployed any troops, the Appeals

Chamber emphasises that absence of proof of orders is not demonstrative of a lack of effective

control, and the fact that subordinates might perpetrate crimes independently of orders does not

show that a superior lacks the ability to prevent or punish those crim"r.tton In any event, as

discussed below, there is evidence that Bagosora did issue orders in the course of the relevant

period.

473. Turning to Bagosora's ability to issue orders, the Trial Chamber found that according to the

Official Journal of the Rwandan govemment, the directeur de cabinet held the most senior position

in the Ministry of Defence afler the Minister - who was the direct superior of the Chiefs of Staff of

the army and gendarmerie in the chain of command - and was to replace the Minister in his

absence.rllo The Official Journal did not set out any limitations on the scope of the directeur de

cabinet's powers when replacing the Minister.lllt The Trial Chamber also found that pursuant to

the Gasana Letter, which limited rtre directeur de cabinef's responsibilities, the directeur de cabinet

was authorised "to convoke and preside over meetings of the chiefs of staff of the army and

gendarmerie as well as the other directors of the Ministry", and to subsequently "issue operational

orders to the chiefs of staff of the army and gendarmerie if they were in writing and had also been

previously approved by those in attendance, in particular the concerned chief of staff'.1112

Regardless of whether the Hmitations imposed by the Gasana Letter remained in force after Gasana

fled Rwanda in July 1993,1113 in the Minister's absence between 6 and 9 April Lgg4, Bagosora

rrot Prosecution Response Brief @agosora), para. 95. See also ibid.,para. 98.
"u" Prosecution Response Brief @agosora), paras. 33,49,'12.
"u' Cf. Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para.484; Orii Appeal Judgemeng para. 18; Halilovif Appeal Judgement,
paras. 59, 210.
"'" Trial Judgement, para. 2018.
rrrr 'I'he 

Appeals Chamber notes that the Official Journal specifies that the directeur de cabinet's replacement of the
Minister of Defence is with respect to routine matters. See Exhibit DB4 (Journal fficiel de la Rdpublique rwandaise,
dated 15 November 1992), p. 1766 ("Remplacement du Ministre en cas d'absence ou d'emp)chernent de ce dernier
pour ce qui concerne les affaires courantes"). However, the Appeals Chamber does not consider this to have limited the
scope of the directeur de cabinet's de jure authority over the Rwandan Armed Forces while replacing the Minister of
Defence in his absence. As such, the Appeals Chamber is not convinced by the suggestion made by Bagosora's Lead
Counsel in the course of his cross-examination of Witness Marcel Gatsinzi on appeal, that supervising a crisis
committee or activities relating to such a comririttee was not part of the"affaires courantes". See AT.30 March 2011
p .20 (French).
' ' '  Trial Judgement, para.2019.
'" ' .See Trial Judgement. para.2020.
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ultimately had the power to issue operational orders to the anny and gendarmerie in his capacity as

acting Minister of Defence.l1la

474. The Trial Judgement reflects that in the power vacuum following the President's death,

Bagosora sought and gained control of the initial response to the emergency situation. In this

respect, the Appeals Chamber recalls Bagosora's testimony that he was the one who proposed the

creation of the Crisis Committee:

After the death of the president the minister of defence, who had the responsibility to coordinate
alone the anny and the genda::nerie, he could serve as joint chief of staff because there was no
other. Given that the chief of staff of the ar:rry had died and was replaced and the interim still
being in Butare, given that there was this void, I proposed the crisis committee to serve the
puq)oses that a joint general staff would have served if it had existed.1115

General Dallaire testified that he quickly realised that Bagosora was the person of authority with

whom he needed to coordinate.11l6 He remarked in respect of his meeting with Bagosora and

Ndindiliyimana on the afternoon of 7 April 1994 that "I had, by that time, I must repeat, seen no

one other than Colonel Bagosora as the leading body, and he, at no time, demonstrated that he was

giving that up or, you know, that he had lost his position of authority, that was cieated the night

before".1ll7

475. The Appeals Chamber observes that, contrary to Bagosora's contentions, the Trial Chamber

did consider evidence that he may not have initiated meetings.tttt Indeed, the manner in which he

claims to have learned of the 6 April Meeting is consistent with the Trial Chamber's finding that

1rr4 Trial Judgemenf para.202I. This finding is supported by the Appeals Chamber's finding below that the fact that
Bagosora requested Nubaha's transfer is relevant in showing that Bagosora made decisions in respect of milibry
personnel which were carried out. See infra, pan. 501. The Appeals Chamber also notes Bagosora's statement that
soldiers of the Presidential Guard would have "listened to [him] as an authority of the ministry in accordance with the
rules enforced, according to which they have to respect the authorities-" See Bagosor4 T. 7 November 2005 p. 18.
r1t5 Bagosora, T. 7 November 2005 [. S. su atso ibia., p. 4 C'I proposed thal a crisis committee should be set up to
manage the situation").
1116 Rom6o Dallaire, T. 19 January 2004 p.43 ("So when [Bagosora] arrived from lunch I .was not particularly
enamoured to see him in one sense, yet I was glad that he was there because he was the link between UNAMIR and
myself and any organisation or seeningiy organised entity within the government or governmental forces."). Dallaire's
impression of Bagosora's authority was reinforced by an earlier encounter with soldiers of the kesidential Guard who
imrnediately obeyed Bagosora's instructions to let him and Dallaire through a roadblock on their way to the SRSG's
house. .See ibid., pp. 29-3L (*It came during the trip towards Mr. Booh-Booh, where there were elements of the
Presidential Guard already deployed [...] near their camp at [...] Meridian roundabout. t...1 [W]e did get stopped [...]
immediately at the roundabout by a roadblock [by maybe six or seven members of the kesidential Guard]. [...] I turned
to Colonel Bagosora and asked him to intercede so we can get though this barrier rapidly, because time was, of course,
at the route of essence [sic]. [...] He stayed in the car, and rolled down the window and spoke. [...] I'm afraid [I do] not
[know what he said]. It was in Kinyarwanda, but the effect was immediate. I don't remember the exact rank, it was an
NCO who came close to the car and he belted out some instructions in a very forceful manner, and the chap
immediately reacted and the barrier was opened and we made right through.").
rrrT Rom6o Dallaire, T. 19 January 20M p. 47 . See atso ibid., p. 46 ("[...] I had concluded [Bagosora] was the kingpin,
that I had seen no other option anywhere on the government side to look for somebody else in authority was reinforced
during the afternoon, and the information [Bagosora] was giving me, at no time diil Ndindiliyimana demonstrate any
contrarv reaction.").
I | 18 SeaTrial Judgement, ytaras. 2022, 2023.
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Ndindiliyimana convoked it.llle The Appeals Chamber finds no error in the Trial Chamber's

assessment of Bagosora's authority given that this meeting was organised on short notice to address

the crisis situation that followed the death of the President a mere few hours earlier, and given that

despite its de jure attibutions, Bagosora's position as directeur de cabinet did not necessarily

dictate that he assume military leadership.tt'0 Mor" importantly, Bagosora's purported last-minute

invitation does not undermine the Trial Chamber's finding that he ultimately chaired the meeting

and played the dominant role in it.l121 In this respect, the Trial Chamber noted that Bagosora

confirrned that he was the natural person to chair the 6 April Meeting given the Minister's

absence.1l22

476. The Trial Chamber's findings a.re supported by the observations of Major Brent Beardsley,

General Dallaire's executive assistant who later joined the meeting with Dallaire, that all the senior

military officers at the meeting deferred to Bagosora.ll23 Beardsley further testified in response to a

question about whether his impression of the 6 April Meeting was that the military was in control of

Rwanda:

They certainly said that they were and they intended to, except they were having problems - this is
all tom Bagosora - except they were having problems with the kesidential Guard which was
distraught at the loss of the president" but that he would make every effort to bring them under
control. But there was no doubt in my mind when we left that fust meeting that Colonel Bagosora
was in charge of this committee, and that ttris commitlee stated they had control since they were at
the army headquarters, that they had control of the anned forces and the gendarmerie in
Rwanda.ll24

411. The Trial Chamber's findings are further supported by the cable code Major Beardsley

prepared and sent on behalf of General Dallaire to Maurice Baril, head of the military division of

the United Nations Department of Peacekeeping Operations in New York. The cable code reported

]ill rriat Judgement" para.2022.
"" In this respect, the Appeals Chamber notes Dallaire's evidence that he was surprised that Bagosora was chairing the
meeting. See Rom6o Dallaire, T. 19 January 2W4 p. 35 C'I must say I did find it unusual when I did arrive that
[fildiliyimana was not chairing the meeting, as he was the senior military officer, and finding instead Colonel
Bagosor4 who was the chef de cabinet.").
rr21 Trial Judgement, para.2o22.

"" See Triat Judgement, fn. 2215, citing Bagosor4 T. 2 November 2OO5 p. 77 ("And in the course of the meeting,
I found myseH chairing the meeting at the invitation of General Ndindiliyinana; but I should even point out that even if
he had not requested me to do so, I would have chaired the meeting. I was empowered to chair the meeting. [...] I was
not the highest ranking officer, but with regard to the duties which had been outlined by the minister in his directives,
which we have already visited from January 1993, there was a provision authorising the director of cabinet to convene
and chair the meeting of the joint chiefs, as well as service heads at [the Ministry of Defence]. [...] But I was actually
the most appropriate person, because General Ndindiliyimana, being a gendarme, had no authority over the army,
whereas in my capacity as director of cabinet, sitting in for the urinister, I could speak to the two armed forces or two
forces by delegation. [...] The minister was absent. There was a serious crisis. If the minister would have been there, he
would have done the same thing. Since he was not present, I replaced him."). See also Trial Judgement, para. 659.
rr23 Brent Beardsley, T. 3 February 2004 pp. 24,25 (*A1l of them, all of them deferred to Bagosora. The only other one
to speak was Major-General Ndindiliyimana, when he was called upon by Colonel Bagosora to identify vital points in
the city that required guards, and one other officer who took a phone call. Other than that, all of the conversation was
led by Bagosora and all of the others deferred and looked to him. Even when General Ndindiliyimana spoke, he looked
ro 11;rgosora lor approval of rvhat he was saying.").
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that operational plans for joint LTNAMIR and Rwandan Armed Forces patrols were discussed at the

meeting and that Bagosora "asked to place troops on alert for possible deployment but [stated] they
would remain in their barracks".llzs Similarly, the minutes from the meeting reflect that it was

Bagosora who assured Dallaire of any cooperation he required.l126 In addition, as the Trial Chamber

noted, it was Bagosora who rejected Dallaire's suggestion that the Rwandan Armed Forces be
placed under the authority of the Prime Minister.ll27

478. Additionally, the Appeals Chamber is of the view that the Trial Chamber reasonably
considered the evidence that the senior military officers present decided in the course of the
6 April Meeting to appoint Colonel Gatsinzi as interim army Chief of Staff.lt'* Th" Trial Chamber

noted Bagosora's own testimony that he proposed naming an acting Chief of Staff during this
meeting, supported the choice of Gatsinzi to fill the position, and personally signed the telegram

making the appointment after Gatsinzi was chosen over Rusatira by those present.ll2e Bagosora also
testified that he later telephoned Gatsinzi and ordered him to return to Kigali at 6.00 a.m. to take up
his duties.ll3o Accordingly, while the decision to appoint Gatsinzi was not Bagosora's alone, the
Appeals Chamber finds no error in the Trial Chamber's conclusion that he was instrumental in
it .1 13 r

rr2a Brent Beardsley, T. 3 February 2004 pp. 32,33.
"" Exhibit P170 (List of reports and cables authored by General Dallaire), UNAMIR cable addressed to Maurice Baril
kFdT April 1994 (reference lvflF.-722), para. 15.
"^ Exhibit DB66 (Minutes of the meeting of. the directeur de cabinet, gendarrrerie Chief of Staff, Ministry of Defence
officers, army and gendarmerie senior staff on the night of 6-7 April 19i4), para. 3.

]t]] Tnt Judgement, para. 660. See Bagosora" T. 7 November ZOOS pp. 5 ("It was then that [Dallaire] asked that prime
Minister Agathe Uwilingiyimana should be involved in our discussiotrr o. that our discussions should be carried out
under her authoriry. At that time, I told him no, that was not possible, that our arsred. forces cannot be placed under the
authority of our prime minister, Agathe Uwilingiyimana. Theie was no discussion about this issue on the spot. I simply
said that Agathe Uwilingiyimana was not the right person for that situation. There was no discussioir on tha*';,
8 ("I said that I was refusing that proposal because Madam Uwilingiyimana was not the right person for the situation
and no one else disputed that fact."), 15,24. See also Rom6o Dallaire, T. 19 January zpa p:p. iq, z5; Brent Beardsley,
J,3 February 2Cf,4 p- 25. T}ae Appeals Chamber considers that the reference to the "officers" present at the 6 April
lleeting scoffing and stating that the Prime Minister "and her group were not a government' in the TINAMIR
7 April 1994 cable sigaed by Beardsley on behalf of Dallaire to Maurice Baril doei not undernine corroborative
testimonial evidence that Bagosora was the one who rejected Dallaire's suggestion that the Rwandan Arrred Forces be
P,lrl":dqd!r.,1"."*horityof thePrimeMinister.SeeBagosoraAppealBrief,paras. TZ,T3,referringroExhibitplTO.'^'" see'l'nal Judgement, paras. 659 ("The Crisis Committee decided that Colonel Marcel Catsinzi would serve as the
interim chief of staff."), 2022 (*It was of course consistent with his authority as directeur de cabinet to preside overjoint meetings of the army and gendarmerie chiefs of staff. Howeve., ,eu".ul of the actions taken during the meeting
and afterwards were not. In particular, the committee named Marcel Gatsinzi, the commanding officer of ESO in Butare
prefecture, as the acting army chief of staff. It was Bagosora who proposed naming an icting chief of staff and
personally signed the telegram making the appointment.").

;:;; I.i"l Judgement, para.2022, referring lo Bagosora, T. 2 November 2005 pp. T9-81 andT.7 November 2OO5 p.57.
"'" Bagosora, T. 7 November 2OO5 p.32.
ll31 With respect to Bagosora's contention that Gatsinzi's appointment was neither a promotion nor a transfor, the
Appeals Chamber notes that Gatsinzi himself also testified to that effect. see Marcel Gatsinzi, AT. 30 March 2QL1 p.47
(closed session) ("It was not at all a promotion because I consider that a promotion involves [a higher] rank [...1. liltrat
was an assignment [...] to other duties. So for me that was not a promotion. It was just a [...] way of 

"*Uuoassingme.")' Nevertheless, the Appeats Cbambt:r finrls {hese arguments trj be uncon,rincing. As one of the three mosf. senjor
positions within the Ministry of Defence second to the Minister himself (see Trial Jiclgcment, para. 201g, referrin* tct
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479. The Appeals Chamber finds no error in the Trial Chamber's conclusion that Bagosora acted

as a main authority at the 7 April ESM Meeting either.1l3t In this respect, the Trial Chamber noted

that the 7 April ESM Meeting did not start before Bagosora arrived,rl33 and that Bagosora

instructed Rwandan Armed Forces officers to maintain control and curtail excesses.ll3a General

Dallaire also observed that "it was clear that Colonel Bagosora was giving instructions, direction,

and General Ndindiliyimana acquiescing to that".1135 In addition, the Appeals Chamber notes that

Bagosora clearly considered that he played a role in issuing orders to the Reconnaissance Battalion

to undertake patrols to neutralise soldiers of the Presidential Guard who were shooting in the air.l136

In response to a question about whether this was part of his duties, Bagosora responded: "Once we

were in a meeting with the gendarmerie chief of staff and myself, it was a meeting which fell in line

with the framework which I had been authorised".ll37 Bagosora testified that he later telephoned the

Commander of the Presidential Guard to follow up on the order.llts Thus, confrary to Bagosora's

contention, the evidence before the Trial Chamber clearly supported its finding that Bagosora acted

as a main authority, even in relation to the Crisis Committee, at the 7 April ESM Meeting.

480. As regards Bagosora's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to consider that the

conditions under which the 7 April ESM Meeting was convened supported the inference that he

Exhibit DB4 (lournal officiel de la Rdpublique rwandaise, 15 November 1992), pp. L766-L769), Gatsinzi's
appointment from commanding officer of the Ecole des sous-fficiers tn Butare prefecture to the Chief of Staff of the
Rwandan anny, even if only temporary, was undeniably a promotion in the ordinary sense of the word. In addition, the
Appeats Chamber notes the Trial Chasrber's finding that Gatsinzi's appointment as acting Chief of Staff on
7.^Apnl 1994 also involved apromotion in his rank, from Colonel to General. SeeTial Judgement, para. 151.

"" Trial Judgement, paras. 684, 2025.
tt" Trial Judgement, para. 675 ('The meeting was scheduled to start at 10.00 a.m., but began late because Bagosora
arrived closer to 10.15 a.m."), refening to, inter alia, Bagosora, T. 7 Novembet 2005 pp.73,74.
rr34 Trial Judgement, para.677, referring /o Rom6o Dallaire, T. 19 January 2004pp.37,38 ("[Bagosora] goes right
straight to the lectern after showing me a chair and he continues for a short while, a bit in Kinyarwanda and then in

French, in [which] he is telling the commanders that the situation has got to be kept under control, that the unit
corrunanders are to keep firrr discipline in their units, and that the ddbordement that is commenced will be resolved and

curtailed, and essentially gave them this information in afJ sense of, 'You now have your orders, so get on w'ith it."').

See also Bagosora, T. 8 November 2005 p. 8 C'Q. [...] W.hy are you not among the group of people charged with
drafting the communiqu6 you had talked to us about? A. Well, in principle, the boss will ask the juniors and
subordinates to work. I was the chair of that meeting. I could not be attending to the drafting of the communiqu6. I had
to review the draft with them afterwards to make sure it was okay. That is quite logical, and also I had promised the
cornmander of the Camp Kigali to go and find out about the tension he was talking about. I needed to go and see for
myself exactly what was going on, more so because we had heard gunfire from that area while we were at the

meeting."). This is further supported by the Appeals Charnber's finding below that Nubaha's choice to address
Bagosora during the 7 April ESM Meeting shows that Nubaha perceived Bagosora to be the relevant person to notift of

the situation at Camp Kigali and the one in a position of authority with the means to take action to address the situation.

$9^e- infra, para. 500.
"" Rom6o Dallaire, T. 19 January 2004 p.4I.
tt'u Bagosora, T. 7 November 2005 p. 60 ("So, in the meeting at staff headquarters, the officers present agreed that it

was necessary to send a very strong patrol [...].We gave the inStructions to the staff headquarters, so that the
reconnaissance battalion be used.").
tt" Bagosora, T. 7 November 2005 p. 60.
tt" Bagosora, T. 8 November 2005 p. 30 ("Now, remembering that in the morning we had taken measures to have the
soldiers of the Presidential Guard return to their barracks, I was somehow surprised that it rvas not yct done. So I told

fthe RP]r representative]. I said, 'Sjr, thank yor,r for that inlbrmation. Wc are going to clo evcrything for this malter to be
sorted out.' Immediatety I hung up, I phoned the comniandcr of the Presidential Guard, who was in his camp.").
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lacked authority, the Appeals Chamber notes that Bagosora himself testified that, although the

meeting was initiated by the military officers present at the 6 April Meeting while he was meeting

with the SRSG and the United States' Ambassador, the meeting only took place because he agreed

with the initiative.ll3e It was therefore reasonable for the Trial Chamber not to discuss the fact that

Bagosora did not initiate this meeting.

481. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber explicitly took note of the fact that

Colonel Rusatira, the ESM Commander, contested Bagosora's membership of the Crisis Committee

because of his retired status during a Crisis Committee meeting on the morning of 8 April lgg4.rL40

The Appeals Chamber considers, however, that the Trial Chamber erroneously referred to the

testimonies of Prosecution Expert Witnesses Alison Des Forges and Filip Reyndens, as well as to

Bagosora's testimony, in support of its finding that "Rusatira was ultimately marginalise6'r.1141

The cited portion of the transcript of Witness Des Forges's testimony mentions Rusatira, but only to

the effect that "[t]here were threats made against Rusatira so that he goes [sic] into hiding".1142

The cited portions of Witness Reyntjens's and Bagosora's testimony transcripts, however, make no

such reference, and a review of the transcripts does not reveal any evidence to support the Trial

Chamber's finding. Nevertheless, the Appeals Chamber does not consider that this error has any

impact on the Trial Chamber's assessment of Bagosora's effective control over the armed forces.

There is no indication as to when the Trial Chamber considered Rusatira's marginalisation to have

occurred, or whether it considered Bagosora to be responsible for it. Whether Rusatira was

marginalised has no bearing on the Trial Chamber's findings regarding Bagosora's representation

of the armed forces, his conduct during meetings, and his role in facilitating the installation of the

Interim Government. Similarly, although Rusatira challenged Bagosora's membership in the Crisis

Committee, this did not prevent Bagosora from attending the meeting and proceeding with

anangements to get the Interim Government in place to replace the Crisis Committee on

9 April 1994.It also has no impact on the Trial Chamber's findings regarding Bagosora's conduct

on6andT ApiII994.

482. Furthermore, the Appeals Chamber finds Bagosora's unsubstantiated claim that his role in

the Crisis Committee was based on his retired status because it promoted democratic

tt3e Bagosora, T.7 November 2005 p. 75 (French) ("Q. Vous nous avez expliqu|, entre autres, qu'en lisant la
ddclaration du colonel Rusatfjira, que vous n'Ates pas d l'oigine de cette rdunion. Pourquoi ce ne sont pas ceux qui
l'ont convoqude qui ont dirigt cette rdunion? R. Ils l'ont convoqu6e. J'ai adhdrd d leurs propositions et ddcisions. Et les
ddcisions, je les ai << fait > miennes. Ils n'avaient pas le pouvoir, en tout cas, de rdunir une telle riunion qui regroupait
Ies deuxforces.").
rr40 Tdal Judgement, pan.2O27 ("Rusatira was resistant to Bagosora, as a retired officer, participating in the Crisis
Committee meetins on 8 April.").
"'t Trial .Tudgemen't. puru. )ozl ,' tn. z2z.l .
"ot Alison Des Forges, T. 25 September 2002 p. 119.
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decision-making to be unconvincing. Bagosora provides no evidence to support this argument and

his assertion is contradicted by his own testimony that he had the power to convene and chair

meetings by virtue of the powers vested in him as directeur de cabinel.1143 The Appeals Chamber

also recalls that the doctrine of superior responsibility applies not only to military commanders, but

also to de jure or de facto political or civilian superiors.lla Bagosora's contention that his post was

political in nature is therefore inconsequential.

483. The Appeals Chamber is equally not persuaded by Bagosora's assertion that the Trial

Chqmber could not safely conclude that he exercised effective conffol without finding that he was

present at all Crisis Committee meetings. The Trial Chamber's conclusions regarding Bagosora's

authority and effective control were not based on the fact that he was present at all meetings, but on

his conduct during the meetings which he attended.tto5 The Appeats Chamber does not consider that

his absence from other meetings detracts from the Trial Chamber's findings given his conduct at

those which he attended.

484. Moreover, Bagosora does not demonstrate that the Trial Chamber ignored evidence that

several meetings of the Crisis Committee were held in his absence. With respect to the Crisis

Committee meeting held at 8.00 a.m. on 8 April 1994, the Appeals Chamber notes that Bagosora's

own testimony indicates that although he did not learn of the meeting until that morning, he did

indeed attend it.116 He testified that he did not stay for the whole duration of that meeting because

he had another pre-iumnged meeting to attend at q.OO a.m.1r4' Relying on Exhibits DB9 and DB8,

and on the testimonies of Witnesses Matthieu Ngirumpatse and Jean Kambanda, Bagosora also

alleges that he was not present at two Crisis Committee meetings held, respectively, in the evening

of 7 Aprit 7994 and at 7.00 a.m. on 9 April lgg4.rr48 The Appeals Chamber observes that neither

Exhibit DB9, nor the cited testimonial evidence, support Bagosora's assertion.llon Theextracts of

rrnt Bagosora, T. 7 November 2005 pp. 44 ('I told you that I chaired these two meetings of the two general staffs and
the cabinet of the minister by virtue of the powers given to me through the directive that you are aware of. I acted as the
representative of the minister of defence.").
tr& S"e Kajelijeli Appeal Judgement, para. 85; Bagilishcma Appeal Judgement, para. 51; eelebiii Appeal Judgement,
paras. 195, 196; Aleksovs&i Appeal Judgement, para.76.
"*' See Trial Judgement, paras. 2022,2025,2026.
t tou Bagosora, T. 8 November 2005 pp. 57 ("In the morning of the Sth of April [. . .] I learned that there was a meeting of
the crisis committee at the ESM. I went there and I arrived there at around 8 a.m."), 58, 70.

"ot Bagosora, T. 8 November 2005 p. 58.
ttot Baloso.aAppeal Brief, paras. il(V), ("), referring ro Exhibit DB8, pp. 9/I4-I3/L4; Exhibit DB9, pp. 81, 83, 85;
Matthieu Ngirumpatse, T. 5 July 2005 p. 77 (French); Jean Kambanda, T. 11 July 2006 p. 32 (French).
See also Bagosora Reply Brief, para. 98.
rrae In the cited parts of their testimony, Witnesses Ngirumpatse and Kambanda refer to the meeting held at ESM on the
evening of 8 April 1994 during which Bagosora introduced the Interim Government to the Crisis Committee.
Exhibit DB9 consists in the cover page, back page, and pages 34, 35,42,43,52-55,62,63 of the book 'oRwanda: Trois
.jour.s qui on fait basculer l'ltistoire" by F. Reyntjens. The pages of this book cited by Bagosora were not admitted into
ttrc record See T.25 Septemhcr 2002 p. 112 (French). Nothing in the pages adnritted as llxhibit DB9 supports
R asrlsora' s statement-
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General Ndindiliyimana's testimony before a Belgium Commission admitted as Exhibit DB8

indeed suggest that Bagosora did not attend a Crisis Comnrittee meeting organised on 7 April 1994

around 6.00 p.m., as well as a meeting of the off,rcers of the Crisis Committee held on 9 Apnl 1994

at 7.00 a.m.tl5O This piece of evidence was admitted for the purpose of cross-examining

Witness Des Forges,tttt *d was not tested by the Trial Chamber as Ndindiliyimana, an accused

before this Tribunal, was not called to testify. As such, the contents of Exhibit DB8 could only be

given very little probative value.1152 Regarding the Crisis Committee meeting that allegedly took

place on 9 April 1994, it is also worth noting that the Trial Chamber found that the "Crisis

Committee effectively ceased to exist after its meeting on 8 April't,rr53 u finding Bagosora does not

challenge. It was therefore reasonable for the Trial Chamber not to rely on Exhibit DB8 as evidence

that Bagosora did not attend certain Crisis Committee meetings, and not to refer to it in its

discussion on Bagosora's authority over the Rwandan Armed Forces.

485. To fuither demonstrate that he was not treated as an authority, Bagosora submits that the

Trial Chamber failed to consider that none of the Ministers in active service before April 1994

contacted him on 6, 7, or 8 April 1994, gave him any orders, or placed themselves at his

disposal.rlsa The Appeals Chamber finds no merit in this argument. First, the Appeals Chamber

recalls the Trial Chamber's finding that four of those Ministers, including the Prime Minister, were

killed on 7 April L994 by elements of the Rwandan military and that there was an institutional

vacuum in the immediate aftermath of the death of the President.llss Second, the Trial Chamber

established that, as early as 7.00 a.m. on 7 April l994,Bagosora met with members of the executive

committee of the MRND, the Presidential political party, to discuss the appointment of a new

President. Then, on 8 April 1994, he facilitated meetings of and met with representatives of various

political parties which culminated in the appointment of the Interim Government, which was sworn

in the next day.11s6 Bagosora was the one who presented the Interim Government to the Crisis

Committee on the evening of 8 April 1gg4.rrs7

"to Exhibit DB8 (Testimony of Augustin Ndindiliyimana before the Commission spiciale Rwanda of Belgium,
l.I-Apfl 1997),pp. 10/14, 13/14.
"" See Alison Des Forges, T. 25 September 7@2 pp. 55, 56.

",st S", Simba Appeal Judgement, para.20 ("The Appeals Chamber [...] agrees with the Trial Chamber's reasoning
that, as a matter of law, statements of non-testifying individuals used during cross-examination may be admitted into
evidence, even if they do not conform to the requirements of Rules 90(A) and 92bis of the Rules, provided the
statements are nocessary to the Trial Chamber's assessment of the witness's credibility and are not used to prove the
truth of their contents.")- Cf. also Akayesu Appeal Judgement, para. 134.
":' Trial Judgement, para.2027.
"'n Bagosora Appeal Briet, para. 5l (b).
"" See Trial Judgement. paras. 693,151.
" 'o  Tr ia l  Judgemenl ,  naras.  1108,  l3( )9.
"" Tri"i lualement, para. 1309.
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486. Finally, Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber failed to consider evidence that the

"mutineers at Camp Kigali [...] were not at all impressed by [him]", that "[h]e was even labeled an

accomplice", and that "[he] did not know what to do after his fruitless visit to Camp Kigali".tttt

The Appeals Chamber notes that, contrary to Bagosora's contention, the Trial Chamber did

consider evidence of the mutineers' reactions to Bagosora and his subsequent uncertainty as to how

to proceed.tt'n How"ver, it did not find the evidence persuasive due to the witnesses' interest in

distancing themselves from the crimes.llm The fact that the Trial Chamber did not find this

evidence to be persuasive in no way demonstrates that it failed to consider it, and Bagosora has not

challenged the reasonableness of the Trial Chamber's finding that it was not persuasive.ll6l

481. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Judgement reflects

that the Trial Chamber duly considered that Bagosora was not the one who convened the

6 April Meeting and that, as a retired officer, his role was contested by Rusatira. The Appeals

Chamber considers that this evidence does not detract from the prominent role Bagosora effectively

played in relation to the military between 6 and 9 April 1994. Similarly, the Appeals Chamber

considers that the fact that he might have been invited to the 6 April Meeting at the last minute does

not diminish the role he played at this meeting. The Appeals Chamber further notes that Bagosora

offers no evidence to support his claim that decisions were imposed on him. Rather, the evidence

indicates that he took an active role in the initial response to the institutional vacuum that existed

following the death of the President, and that the members of the Crisis Committee deferred to his

leadership. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber finds no error in the Trial Chamber's reliance on,

among other factors, the fact that he presided and co-presided over certain meetings. While such

presidency is not, per se, suffrcient to demonstrate that Bagosora had authority over those present at

those meetings, the manner in which he exercised his presidency demonstrates that he did in fact

have authority over them.

488. Bagosora's submissions that the Trial Chamber failed to consider evidence that he had no

operational powers and lacked authority are accordingly dismissed.

tt" Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 51(e), 5l(f,). See also Bagosora Reply Brief, para. 100.
"" Trial Judgement, paras. 765, 768,769,778,780,193.
t't Trial Judgement, para.793.
"o' In any event, the Appeals Chamber considers that this finding was reasonable given that both the witnesses who
testified to the reaction of the soldiers to Bagosora's presence at Camp Kigali were soldiers rvho were present during
{he cvents and therciore, as the 

'frial 
Chamber found. coulcl have had an interest in distancing themseives from the

evcnts. See Trial Judgenrent, paras.776,779.
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(e) Failure to Consider the Powers of the Crisis Committee and Other MilitaryAuthorities

48g. Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber erred in failing to consider the powers and duties

of the Crisis Committee, which was exceptionally created in order to respond to the emergency

situation, and in erroneously attributing the decisions of the Crisis Committee to him.1162

He contends that it also failed to consider that an interim army Chief of Staff was chosen, and that

the army General Staff and Chief of Staff, as well as other military authorities, also wielded

powers.1t63 He argues in substance that, as of 7 April 1994, control over the Rwandan Armed

Forces was shared between the Crisis Committee and the army and gendarmerie Chiefs of Staff.lle

490. The Prosecution responds that Bagosora's dominant role vrs-d-vrs the Crisis Committee

suggests that the Crisis Committee did not always act collectively and that, in any event, the

existence and powers of the Crisis Committee and the allegedly collective nature of decisions did

not exclude that he exercised effective control over the Rwandan Armed Forces or relieve him of

his duty to prevent and punish.ttut It also submits that the Trial Chamber correctly considered the

powers of the army General Staffand Chief of Staff vis-d-vis those of Bagosora.l166

49L. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found that the Crisis Committee was

created to respond to the emergency situation caused by the President's death, by coordinating the

actions of the army and gendannerie to ensure security and by maintaining authority until a political

structure could be put into place.ll6T Bagosora does not qualify what other powers or duties the

Crisis Committee might have held that the Trial Chamber allegedly failed to consider. Furthermore,

nothing in the Trial Judgement suggests that the Trial Chamber attributed decisions taken by the

Crisis Committee to him alone.l168 The Crisis Committee was made up of a limited number of

1162 Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 1(A); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 25,39.
"o' Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 51(d), 100, LL5-I20. In this respect" Bagosora contends that "because de facto
authority is not exercised in a vacuum", the Trial Chamber should have considered the exercise or existence of his de
facto authoity in the context of various other authorities who had de jure contol, such as the arrry Chief of Staff.
S.ee Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. II7, LL9.
"* Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 68, 100, lI5-I20.
"o' Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 29-31, 43, 49, 50, 67, 68,73,96,97 .
"oo Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 86-92.
"o' Trial Judgement, paras. 659 ("In the hours that followed the plane crash on 6 April, Bagosora chaired a military
crisis committee of senior military officials from both the army and gendarmerie at army headquarters in Camp Kigali
which continued into the early hours of the next day."), 660 ("During the meeting, Bagosora explained that the
military's main concern was to keep Kigali calm and secure and to maintain authority until a political structure could be
put in place."),675 ("It was also agreed that the Crisis Committee would have two tasks: fust, to coordinate the actions
of the army and gendarmerie in order to ensure security; and second, to provide material support to politicians so they
could form the new government."), 684 ("Bagosora conducted the meeting of senior officers at ESM on 7 April 1994
and acted as a main authority even in relation to the Crisis Committee, which was set up to coordinate the General
Staffs of the army and the gendarmerie.").
1168 See-. e.g., Tial .Iudgen.rent, para^ 2027 ("Ragosora ultim:rtel,rr nertbrmecl the t'ask of ensirrins the formalion of thc
new government atul presented it to tlrc com.mittee.for its upprctval." (emphasis added)).
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individuals, including Bagosora.ll6e It was thus not an entity which could reasonably be interpreted

to act independently of its members; any collective powers or duties it may have held do not detract

from the responsibilities of its individual members. The Appeals Chamber considers that

Bagosora's authority and control were not exclusive of that which may have been exercised by

others or by the Crisis Committee. The Trial Chamber did not find that Bagosora was the only

military authority at the time, but that he was the highest mihtary authority in the Ministry of

Defence.llto The Appeals Chamber recalls in this regard that, in his capacity as d.irecteur de

cabinet, Bagosora was replacing the Minister of Defence in his absence and was, as such and even

assuming that the limitations imposed by the Gasana Letter remained in force, at the top of the de

jure chauln of command given the President's death.

492. In this respect, the facts as established by the Trial Chamber show that Bagosora played a

dominant role vis-d-vis the Crisis Committee. Not only did Bagosora propose the creation of the

Crisis Committee, but he also chaired the first meeting of its members.lttl He also initiated

significant decisions such as the designation of an army Chief of Staff, and gave instructions to its

members and to other army officials.llT2 During the 6 April Meeting, he was the one who decided

that the Rwandan Armed Forces would not be placed under the Prime Minister's authority, as

suggested by General Dallaire.rl73 Malor Beardsley from UNAMIR testified that "all of the

conversation [during the 6 April Meeting] was led by Bagosora and all of the others deferred and

looked to him. Even when General Ndindiliyimana spoke, he looked to Bagosora for approval of

what he was saying'r.1174 1h" evidence relied upon by the Trial Charnber clearly reflects that

Bagosora, in General Dallaire's words, "was the person of authority and demonstrating that

authority and exercising it".1l?s

493. With respect to powers wielded by other military authorities, Bagosora argues that while the

Trial Judgement refers to the structure of the Rwandan Armed Forces, this does not mean that the

Trial Chamber actually considered ill176 He further asserts that the Trial Chamber "assumed that

the commanders at the various levels would never have violated the law or the hierarchical

authority of the Army".tttt Bagosora offers no evidence to support these claims, which are

speculative. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Triat Chamber's express discussion

rt8 See supra,fns.IOI5 andlO2I.
'.'.'-0, Sr" Trial Judgement, paras. 723,2031.
"" As mentioned above, while the 6 April Meeting was not formally a Crisis Comnrittee meeting, the senior military
officers who attended the 6 April Meeting ultimately became the members of the Crisis Committee. See supra, fn. 1015.

"" 5"" supra, Section IV.A.3(d).

ii]l fria Judgement, paras. 662,7L3. See c/so Bagosora, T. 7 November 2005 pp.5,15,24.
"'" Brent Beardsley, T. 3 February 2004pp.24,25.

"tt lLorn6o Dallaire, T. 19 January 2004 i.33. See also suprtt, para. 451, fn. 1063.
t'to llagosora Appeal Rricf, para- 176, re.ferring toTrial.Tudgement, paras. i46-173.
" " Ilagosora Appeal Bricf, para. 120.
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of the army's structure and distribution of powers, as well as Bagosora's position in relation to the

armed forces, is the sffongest indicator that the Trial Chamber in fact considered the powers

wielded by other military authorities.ll78

494. The Appeals Chamber is also not persuaded by Bagosora's contention that he had no

operational powers since it was Gatsinzi, as interim army Chief of Staff from 7 April 1994 onwards,

who headed the Rwandan army.ttte The Trial Chamber specifically considered the level of

command held by Gatsinzi in this capacity, namely that he "was the operational head of the

Rwandan Army and the overall commander of troops", but also that his "formal duties included

[...] reporting to the Minister of Defence".1180 As Bagosora was found to have acted as Minister of

Defence from 6 to 9 April lgg4,1r8r he was, within the hierarchical structure of the Rwandan Armed

Forces, G.atsinzi's immediate superior from 7 to 9 April Igg4.rr82 Bagosora's argument that

Gatsinzi's operational powers obviated his own is therefore without merit.

495. The conclusion that the powers of those with authority over the Rwandan Armed Forces

were not mutually exclusive is supported by Bagosora's own submission that control over the

armed forces was shared between the Crisis Committee and the Chiefs of Staff of the army and the

gendarmerie, and that all operational decisions were taken by the group of constituent officers.ll83

The Appeals Chamber recalls its findings that nothing in the Trial Judgement suggests that the Trial

Chamber attributed decisions taken by the Crisis Committee to Bagosora alone, and that the Crisis

Committee's possession of certain collective powers and duties does not deffact from the

responsibilities of its individual members, in particular from those playing a dominant role in the

Crisis Committee.lls4 hr the same vein, the alleged sharing of control over the Rwandan Armed

'.','_l5"" Trial Judgement, paras. 146-176. See also ibid.,paras.2OI7-20I9.
"'' Bagosora Appeal Brief, para. 5l(d).
"o' Trial Judgemenl para. 151 ("The chief of staff was the operational head of the Rwandan Army and the overall
commander of troops. His fonnal duties included coordinating subordinate activities; managing and deploying all
military forces; and reporting to the Minister of Defence. At the beginning of April 1994, this position was occupied by
General D6ogratias Nsabimana, who was killed in the Presidential plane crash on 6 April. The next day, Colonel
Marcel Gatsinzi was promoted to general and appointed acting chief of staff. As part of his corrmand authority, the
chief of staff was supported in his functions by a general staff composed of four bureaus corlmon to most armies
worldwide: G-1 (Personnel and Administration), G-2 (Intelligence), G-3 (Military Operations) and G-4 (Logistics)."
(internal references omitted)).
ittt T.iuI Judsement. para.2O3l.

"t' 5"" Bago"sora, T. 7 November 2005 p. 55 ("I had the power to conyene chiefs of staff to a meeting. I was inviting

lcatsinzi] to a meeting which had been decided on a day before by the crisis committee. Therefore, I had the power to
summon him to that meeting.").
t ' t '  Ragosora Appeal Brief, paras. 60, 61, 69, 1 1,74. 96, 100.
tt'o 5"" supra, SecIit>n IV.A.3(e), pat:a.491.
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Forces between the Crisis Committee and the Chiefs of Staff would not demonstrate an absence of

hierarchy or lack of operational powers among individual officers.ll8s

496. Bagosora's submissions that the Trial Chamber railed to consider the powers of the Crisis

Committee and of other military authorities are accordingly dismissed.

(f) Consideration of Irrelevant Evidence

497. Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber erred in considering as evidence of effective

control over the Rwandan Armed Forces irrelevant factors such as his signature of the communiqu6

announcing the death of the President and his role in facilitating the installation of ttre Interim

Government.lls6 He further submits that the Trial Chamber erred in relying on thii fact that

Colonel Nubaha spoke to him during the 7 April ESM Meeting, and in speculating what Nubaha

told him.1l87 He also contends that the Trial Chamber erred in considering as other relevant factors

his apparent calm, his explanation thereof, and Nubatra's subsequent transfer.1l88

498. The Prosecution responds that Bagosora's claims should be summarily dismissed because

they are general and offer no elaboration as to how the Trial Chamber erred in its approach to

effective control by considering such factors.ll8e

499. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has already found that the Trial Chamber was

reasonable in its consideration of the import of Bagosora's role in the issuance of the communiqu6s

following the kesident's death.lls Similarly, it was also reasonable for the Trial Chamber to

consider Bagosora's role in the formation and installation of the Interim Government. In this regard,

the Appeals Chamber recalls that the military was the primary authority still functioning in the

country in the immediate aftermath of the death of the President.llel Bagosora testified that he was

designated as the person in charge of contacting the politicians following the SRSG'S request that a

new President be nominated.lle2 Furthermore, he stated that he facilitated the formation of a new

govemment at the request of representatives of the international community and the Crisis

t'&t S"e Halilovii Tial Judgement, para. 62 ("Flhe test of effective control implies that more than one superior may be
held responsible for his failure to prevent or punish the same crime com.nritted by a subordinate."); Strugar Tial

Jglgement, para. 365; Blaiki( Tial Judgement, para. 303; Alelcsovski Trial Judgement, para. 106.
"oo Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 1(M); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. L45-L47 . See also AT. 3 i March 2011
o . 4 3 .
Ittt Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 1(O); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 150-153. See also Bagosora Reply Brief,
paras. 55-57; AT. 3l March 20Il p.42.
rrst Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 1(O); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 155, 156, 158-16i. See also Bagosora
Reply Brief, paras. 58, 59.
"o' Prosecution Response Brief @agosora), paras. 105-II7.
" ' '  ,9ee srrprc, Section IV.A.3(a), paras. 453, 454.
' ' ' '  f r ia l  . iu t lgement-  nara.  2013.
" " Bagosora, T. 7 November 200-5 pp. 61, 62 and T. 8 November 2005 p. 58.
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Committee.lle3 The Appeals Chamber considers that this reflects Bagosora's prominence and

position within the Crisis Committee. Accordingly, Bagosora fails to demonstrate that the Triai

Chamber erred in relying on this evidence.

500. The Trial Chamber found that Bagosora's prominence and authority were also apparent in

the fact that he was the person Colonel Nubaha approached during the 7 April ESM Meeting

conceming the ongoing attack at Camp Kiguli.ttno The Appeals Chamber considers that Nubaha's

decision to address Bagosora in a meeting co-chaired by Bagosora and the gendarmerie Chief of

Staff and attended by the members of the Crisis Committee and many senior officers shows that

Nubaha perceived Bagosora to be the relevant person to notify of the situation at Camp Kigali and

to be the one in a position of authority with the means to take action to address the situation.lles

Bagosora's argument that it was natural that Nubaha addressed him because he was chairing the

meeting is consistent with this interpretation.

501. As to the relevance of Nubaha's subsequent transfer, the Appeals Chamber considers that

the fact that Bagosora requested Nubaha's transfer,l1e6 regardless of who implemented his

request,l1e7 is relevant in showing that he made decisions in respect of military personnel which

rre3 Bagosora Closing Brief, paras. 993, gg4, 1132, 1133, 1136. See Trial Judgement, paras. 1288, 13 10.
"'* Trial Judeemenl oara.2026.
lres This is sripported by Bagosora's own testimony that he told Nubaha that he would follow up on the matter after the
meeting. See Bagosora, T. 8 November 2005 pp.7 ("Colonel Nubaha arrived at the meeting room at the ESM. [...]
He came to me at the time I was talking to those attending the meeting. He came towards me and spoke to my ears,
saying that there was great tension at Kigali camp, that the situation at Kigali camp was dire. [...] So I said, 'Fine. Go
back to your camp so as to calm the situation. I will come and check the state of affairs after the meeting.' He left."),
11 ('[Nubaha] cut me [offl while I was speaking. t...] I told hi:n, 'Go and calm down the situation, and I'll pass by and
see what I could do."'). Under his Third Ground of Appeal, Bagosora also develops the argument that the Trial
Chamber erred in speculating about the extent of what Nubaha told him during the meeting. The Appeals Charrber will
consider whether other reasonable inferences were open to the Trial Chamber in this respect in its discussion of this
Third Ground of Appeal. See infra, Section IV.C.3(b).
"'o Trial Judgement, pan. 2026, fn. 2219, referring fo Bagosora" T. 8 November 2005 p. 17 ("Because since the
minister was absent, when I learned that fNubaha] had just lost his wife and children, and that at Camp Kigali there was
this situation he had described, I requested staff headquarters to see how to replace him so as to appoint someone fresh.
He was already weary and tired, and I asked staff headquarters to see how to replace him and move him to another
position where he could also attend to his personal problems. t...] I talked about it immediately to
Colonel Murasampongo, who was a G1, since Gatsinzi had not yet alrived in the afternoon of the 7th. Before I left the
ministry, I phoned the Gl and asked him to study the issue of replacing Nubaha. [...] [Under normal circumstances it
was a promotion."). The Appeals Chamber notes that Gatsinzi also testified to transferring Nubaha.
See Marcel Gatsinzi, AT. 30 March ZOll pp.28,29 (*Q. Can you tell us who transferred [Nubaha]? A. It was the army
headquarters, that is, I, myself. [...] I transfened him for two reasons: The first is that he didn't seem to master [...]
what had happened at [...] Camp Kigali. Secondly, he had expressed [...] the desire not to continue being in charge of
that camp because he had lost [...] his wife and children during the fighting that had taken place at the place where he
lived. [...] So he had to be moved to the base where he exercised duties that were less demanding than the duties of the
Camp Kigali."). Pursuant to this testimony, Bagosora pleaded that because Gatsinzi admitted to tansferring Nubaha,
such transfer could not be used to establish Bagosora's control over the army . See AT. 3 I March 2011 p. 42. However,
in the Appeals Chamber's view, Gatsinzi's admission to transferring Nubaha does not negate or contradict Bagosora's
own admission that he requested Nubaha's transfer. Rather, the Appeals Chamber considers Gatsinzi's testimony to be
compatible with Bagosora's, srich that after Bagosora purported to have requested Murasampongo to "study the issue of
repJacing Nubaha", Gat^sinzi, as the new interim army Chief of S{aff" woukl have lollowed up on the mirtter.
" - '  See Bagosora Appeal  Br ie l .  paras.  I58-  160.
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were ca:ried out. The Appeals Chamber considers that it was reasonable for the Trial Chamber to

rely on this as an indicator of his effective control.lles

502. Finally, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber referred to Bagosora's apparent

calm upon learning of the death of the peacekeepers, finding his own explanation that "if you are an

officer in command, you have to be calm"llee to be "revealing".12@ The Appeals Chamber observes

that, as asserted by Bagosora, the French version of the transcript attributes to him a somewhat

different set of words, namely that he said: "on apprend d un fficier qui a une charge de

commandement d'Affe calme".r20r The Appeals Chamber considers that the discrepancy is

attributable to nuances in translation or interpretation, and not, as Bagosora contends, to a twisting

of his words by the Trial Chambelrzw However, the element which the Trial Chamber considered

to be "revealing" from the English version of the transcripts does not appear in the French original

version, which is the most accurate reflection of Bagosora's testimony. The Trial Chamber could

therefore not have relied, even in a footnote, on Bagosora's statement in this regard. Be that as it

may, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber relied on several other factors in support of

its finding that Bagosora exercised effective control over the Rwandan Armed Forces. The Appeals

Chamber therefore finds the Trial Chamber's error to be inconsequential with regard to its findings

on Bagosora's effective control.

503. Bagosora's submissions in these respects are accordingly dismissed.

(g) Exaggeration of Denial of Prime Minister's AuthoriW

504. The Trial Chamber found that Bagosora refused to recognise the authority of Prime Minister

A gathe Uwilingiyimana. I 2o'

505. Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber erred in according to the position of the Prime

Minister an importance which did not exist, and that it thereby placed too much importance on his

reticence that Agathe Uwilingiyimana be vested with more control than that to which she was

entitled, particularly over the military.l2oa The Prosecution responds that Bagosora makes no effort

"nr 5"" Trial Judgem ent, para. 2026.

"en Bagosora, T. 8 November 2005 p. 26.
t'oo Trial Judgement, fn.22L8.
ttot Bagosora, T. 8 November 2005 p. 28 (French).

|llls", Bagosora Appeal Brief, para. 156.
''"' Trial Judgement, pan. 662.
''oo Bugosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 1(L); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 131-138. See also Bagosora Reply Brief,
paras. 44-53. The Appeals Chamber will consider under Bagosora's Third Ground of Appeai his challenges to the Trial
Ch:rmher's assessment of the eviclence l, iertaining to the kil l ing of the Prime Minister and his resoonsibil i ty for her:
dcrtlh. See inf-rz. Section IV C.2.
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to demonstrate the nature of the alleged error committed by the Trial Chamber and its impact on the

verdict.12o5

506. The Appeals Chamber observes that Bagosora does not link his submissions in this respect

to the Trial Chamber's finding of his de facto authority and effective control over the military.

It also notes that, although the Trial Chamber mentioned that Bagosora rejected General Dallaire's

suggestion that the Rwandan Armed Forces be placed under Prime Minister Uwilingiyimana's

authority,1206 the Trial Chamber did not rely on Bagosora's attitude about the Prime Minister's

authority as an indication of his effective control.l2O7 Rather, the Trial Chamber relied on

Bagosora's rejection of Dallaire's proposal as indicative of Bagosora's dominant role in the 6 April

Meeting, which is one of several factors supporting the Trial Chamber's finding of his effective

control.1208 Thus, even if it were determined that the Trial Chamber accorded undue importance to

the Prime Minister's position, this would not invalidate the Trial Chamber's decision to rely on

Bagosora's rejection of Dallaire's suggestion as indicative of his dominant role, an element relevant

to his effective control. His argument is accordingly dismissed.

(h) Presumption of Ability to Punish

507. Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber erred in presuming that he had the power to punish

any military officer.l2oe He asserts that only those who are identified as guilty after an investigation

may be punished, and that Gatsinzi, the interim army Chief of Staff, ordered such investigations.l2lo

Bagosora indicates that he "will elaborate on this point in relation to each attack".1211

508. The Prosecution responds that, based on its previous submissions detailing Bagosora's

superior position and effective control, his material ability to prevent or punish crimes is

indisputable."r'lt fuither contends that even if the army Chief of Staff ordered investigations, this

would not be a defence to his failure to discharge his responsibilities as a superior.l2l3

509. The Appeals Chamber notes that Bagosora does not provide any references to other portions

of his Appeal Brief to support his assertion that he would elaborate on the issue of investigations

1205 Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 99, 100.
''uo Trial Judgement, para. 660.
"'' See Trial Judgement, paras. 2022-2031.

llll s"" ,rpro, piu". 4ss:4ss,481.
"- Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 1(P); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 162, 163. See also Bagosora Appeal Brief,
para.75', Bagosora Reply Brief, para. 60.
"'u Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 163,164, referring to Exhibit D8256.
"' ' Bagosora Appeal Brief, para. 165. See also ibid., para. 63.
' ' ' '  Prosccution Response Brief (Bagosora), oaras. I | 8, 1 1 9.
"' '  Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), para. 120.
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and punishment in relation to each attack. A review of his Appeal Brief shows that he has not done

so.

510. The Appeals Chamber is concerned that the Trial Chamber failed to explicitly consider

whether Bagosora had the material ability to punish culpable subordinates in the Triat Judgement.

The Appeals Chamber considers that this amounts to a failure to provide a reasoned opinion.

Nonetheless, the Appeals Chamber recalls that even where a superior personally lacks disciplinary

or sanctioning powers, the duty can be fulfrlled by reporting the crimes to the competent authorities

to trigger investigation or disciplinary action.l2la In light of Bagosora's senior position in the

Ministry of Defence, and his access to senior military offrcers, as demonstrated by his attendance at

meetings with them, even if he did not have direct sanctioning powers, he nonetheless had the

ability to repofi the incidents to the relevant military officers to trigger investigations.

511. To the extent that Bagosora seeks to show that it was not he, but rather Gatsinzi as interim

army Chief of Staff, who had the authority and material ability to prevent crimes or punish

perpetrators,t'ls the Appeals Chamber considers that proof of Gatsinzi's authority does not cast

doubt on that of Bagosora, as such power was not exclusive.

512. The Appeals Chamber will consider Bagosora's assertions that Gatsinzi ordered

investigations in support of his arguments that steps were in fact taken to prevent or punish further

crimes,1216 and that he did not know the identity of the soldiers implicated in the crimesl2lT in

connection with his Second and Fourth Grounds of Appeal, where he challenges the Trial

Chamber's assessment of his failure to prevent or punish.l2ls

(i) Failure to Consider Inference of Lack of Effective Control

513. Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber based its conclusion that he had effective control

on inferences, not on direct evidence.l2le He contends that the Trial Chamber erred in its assessment

of the cfucumstantial evidence by failing to consider that his actions could also lead to another

logical inference, namely the fulfrlment of a duty or obligation in an exceptional and urgent

situation while lacking operational or effective contro1.l220 Moreover, he asserts that the evidence

shows that the period of 6 to 9 April 1994 was marked by the absence of leadership and the

adoption of important decisions by a group of officers and a committee, and that, accordingly, the

"to Sr" Boikoski and. Tariulovsfti Appeal Judgemen! puas.231,232.
t.!'.t.5"" Bagosora Reply Brief, para{.-Ay az. 

-

'''" Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 200,209,224,227,322.
''" Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. I88, 190, 202-208,215,216,316,319.
" "' ,\ee irrlTa. Sections IV.D.2 andE.2.
l ? r 9  r .' - '  l l agosora  Appea l  Br ie l .  para .  56
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Trial Chamber's presumption that "someone must have been in control" at the time was not the

only reasonable inference open to it.r2zr Bagosora also argues that the Trial Chamber failed to

consider evidence that, even prior to 6 April L994, the Rwandan army was disorganised and its

members undisciplined.r222In his view, the circumstantial evidence before the Trial Chamber was

also compatible with the conclusion that there was an absence of effective control or that the

Rwandan Armed Forces were managed by a committee between 6 and 9 April lgg4.r223 He fiuttrer

asserts that, contrary to the finding that he decided that General Ndindiliyimana should chair the

Crisis Committee's subsequent meetings, it was by virrue of tradition that Ndindiliyimana was

chosen because, as the only General in active service present in the Crisis Committee,

Ndindiliyimana was the highest-ranking offrcer.rz2a

5I4. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber properly assessed the evidence before

it.r22s In particular, it submits that not only was the Trial Chamber entitled to rely on circumstantiat

evidence, but the totality of the evidence also included direct evidence and established beyond

reasonable doubt Bagosora's de jure and de facto control over the Rwandan Armed Forces.l226

In addition, it contends that Bagosora's propositions are irrelevant and unclear, and in no way

support his claim that they establish another logical conclusion.l227

515. The Appeals Chamber recalls that a Trial Chamber may infer the existence of a particular

fact upon which the guilt of the accused depends from circumstantial evidence only if it is the only

reasonable conclusion that could be drawn from the evidence presented.l22s If there is another

conclusion which is also reasonably open from the evidence, and which is consistent with the

non-existence of that fact, the conclusion of guilt beyond reasonable doubt cannot be drawn.l22e

516. As such, the question is whether no reasonable trier of fact could have found that the only

reasonable inference from the evidence was that Bagosora exercised effective control over the

Rwandan Armed Forces.

5I7. With respect to his argument that the emergency nature of the situation could also imply a

lack of effective control, the Appeals Chamber recalls its finding above that such an argument is

t t toBagosoraNot iceof  Appeal ,Groundi(D);BagosoraAppealBr ief ,para.55.SeealsoNT.3lMarch2ol lp .54.
"'' Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 59-68.
"" Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 1(M); Bagosora Appeal Brief, para. 145.
""' Bagosora Appeal Brief, para. 68.
'"" Bagosora Appeal Brief, para. 58, referring to Tial Judgement, paru. 2025. See also Bagosora Appeal Brief,
gar-a. 122; Bagosora Reply Brief, para. 13.
"" Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 53-62.
"'o Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 53-55. See also ibid., paras. 60, 6'7,73,92.
'"' Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 56-62.
1228 Ncha*ihigo Appeat Judgement, p:ra 80, citing Stokii Appeal Judgement, paru.21,9. See ttlso Karera Appeal
judgenrent, pata.34; Ntogertr.rrt eI ttl. Apycai Jiicigemeirt, para. 306.
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flawed. To the contrary, it was specifically because of the emergency situation, which resulted from

a temporary breakdown of the usual power structure in Rwanda and the absence of the Minister of

Defence, that Bagosora had more power than he would normally have had in his role as directeur

de cabinet.l2'o Furthermore, the fact that there were a series of meetings and that steps were quickly

taken to address the emergency situation clearly refutes Bagosora's suggestion that there was no

one in control. In the absence of any substantiation, the Appeals Chamber also dismisses

Bagosora's claim that the Trial Chamber failed to consider evidence that the Rwandan aflny was

disorganised and its members undisciplined. I 23 I

518. The Appeals Chamber reiterates that Bagosora's argument that during the period between

6 and 9 April 1994, authority and control were held by a group rather than by any one individual

does not detract from his individual responsibility. The group in question, the Crisis Committee,

was made up of a limited number of individuals, including Bagosora who was found to play a

dominant role within it.r232 The Crisis Committee was not an entity which could reasonably be

interpreted to act independently of its members. Any collective powers or duties it may have held

do not detract from the responsibilities of its individual members, or from the conclusion that

Bagosora was the highest authority in the Ministry of Defence at the time, in other words at the top

of the military chain of command. Furthermore, Bagosora's authorify and control are not exclusive

of that which may have been exercised by others. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber reiterates

that the Trial Chamber did not find that Bagosora was the only military authority at the time.1233

519. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber ened in finding that it was Bagosora

who decided that Ndindiliyimana should chair all Crisis Committee meetings after the 7 April ESM

Meeting,r23a when in fact the evidence indicated that Ndindiliyimana chaired subsequent meetings

because of his rank as General.l23s Nevertheless, in light of the other evid.ence that Bagosora played

a dominant role vis-d-vis the Crisis Committee,tt'u urrd given that shared decisions do not detract

"'n^ K*uo Appeal Judgement, para.34; Ntagerura et aI. AppeatJudgemenf para. 306.
'.ll"i See szpra, Section tV.A.3(c), pan.465.
'"' In fact, a review of the Trial Judgement reflects that the Trial Chamber did consider the possibility "that formal

SJituty structures and procedures were not always followed during the genocide". See Trial Judgemenl para. 1460.'.ll"l See Trial Judgement, paras. 2022,2025.
',"', See supra, para. 491.
'"" Trid Judgement, pan.2025.
"" Bagosora, T. 8 November 2005 p. 33. See a/so Witness STAR-I, T. 23 February 2Cfll6 p. 44. See atso Tial
Judgement, pan.675 ("During the course of the [7 April ESM Meeting], the officers agreed with the idea of having a
Crisis Committee, composed of the participants of the previous evening, and chaired by Ndindiliyimana.").
The Appeals Chamber also notes evidence on the record that it was only at the Crisis Committee meeting held on the
morning 8 April 1994 that it was decided that Ndindiliyimana would chair the Crisis Committee meetings, as a result of
Rusatira's challenge to Bagosora's presence at military meetings. See Exhibit DB8 (Testimony of Augustin
Ndindiliyimana before the Commission spdciale Rwanda of Belgium, 21 April 1997), p. 11/14; Exhibir D8255
(Rr.rsatira Pro Justitia Statement dated 6 October 1995), p. K0076520; Exhibit DB256A (Gatsinzi Pro Justititt
Statoment clated 16 June 199-5), pp 15112,15111 (i legistry pagination).
"'" S"e supra, Section iV.A.3(ej. para. 492.
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from the responsibilities of individuals, the Trial Chamber's error does not undermine its

conclusion that Bagosora had effective control.

520. Bagosora's submission that the Trial Chamber failed to consider the inference that he lacked

effective control is accordingly dismissed.

CI) Failure to Give the Benefit of Reasonable Doubt

52I. Bagosora submits that, in light of his demonstration that the Trial Chamber erred in its

conclusions about his authority and effective control, the Trial Chamber failed to give him the

benefit of reasonable doubt.1237

522. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber committed no effor and did not fail to

properly apply the principle of proof beyond reasonable doubt.1238

523. The Appeals Chamber has rejected the vast majority of Bagosora's allegations of error

regarding the Trial Chamber's assessment of his authority and effective control and, where the

Appeals Chamber has found that the Trial Chamber erred, it has concluded that the errors had no

impact on the Trial Chamber's finding that he had effective control. The Appeals Chamber

therefore dismisses his contention here. The Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber

reasonably concluded that the only reasonable inference was that Bagosora was at the head of and

exercised effective control over the Rwandan Armed Forces between 6 and 9 April 1994 not only

on the basis of his de jure powers as acting Minister of Defence, but also due to the dominant role

he played in the 6 April Meeting and the 7 April ESM Meeting where the senior military officers

sought to respond to the crisis situation, his role in the creation of the Crisis Committee and

apparent authority over its members, his issuance of instructions to senior military officers, his

representation of the Rwandan Armed Forces in meetings with the SRSG and the United States'

Ambassador, his approval and signature of communiqu6s issued on behalf of the Minister of

Defence and Rwandan Arrned Forces, and his role in establishing the Interim Government.l23e

t237 Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground l(Q); Bagosora Appeal Brief, para.
r;aras. 54. 161-110.
i238 Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 121,122.t"n 5"" Trial Judgement, paras. 202t,2031. 

^

166. See a/so Bagosora Appeal Brief,
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4. Conclusion

524. Based on the foregoing analysis, the Appeals Chamber finds that Bagosora has failed to

demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he held a superior position and had

effective control over the Rwandan Armed Forces between 6 and 9 April 1994. Accordingly, this

part of Bagosora's First Ground of Appeal is dismissed.
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B. Alleged Violation of Fair Trial Rights by Failine to Enforce Subpoena (Ground 1 in part)

525. On 6 June 2006, Bagosora requested the issuance of a subpoena for the appearance and

testimony before the Tribunal of General Marcel Gatsinzi, the then Rwandan Minister of

Defence.l2oo On 11 Septemb er 2006, the Trial Chamber granted Bagosora's request and ordered the

Registrar to prepare and communicate a subpoena to Gatsinzi "requiring his appearance before this

Chamber to give testimony in the present case".r24r On 5 Octobet 2006, the Registrar informed the

Trial Chamber that Gatsinzi indicated his willingness to testify, provided that he was called as a

Chamber witness and pernitted to testify via video-link from the Tribunal's premises in Kigali,

Rwanda, given the demands of his official engagements.rz4z On 10 October 2006, Bagosora

indicated his disagreement with Gatsinzi's conditions and requested that the Trial Chamber: (i) find

that Gatsinzi failed to comply with the Subpoena Decision; (ii) order the Rwandan authorities to

ensure Gatsinzi's transfer to and appearance before the Chamber; (iii) begin contempt proceedings

against Gatsinzi and issue a warrant for his arrest; and (iv) stay the close of Bagosora's case until

Gatsinzi testifi ed. 1243

526. On 8 December 2006, Bagosora asked the Trial Chamber whether it had "taken a decision

on Gatsinzin.1244 The Trial Chamber answered: '"The Chamber has issued a subpoena. Mr. Gatsinzi

has said that he's only willing to come and testify by video link. There is no request for video link.

[...] [T]he Chamber has no intention to call Mr. Gatsinzi as a Chamber wifiress".l2os It further

indicated that it would issue its reasons for this decision in writing, "[i]n order to ensure that the

communication is perfect [...] and [...] to avoid any misunderstanding".l246 Dr',ring a status

conference four days later, Bagosora raised the issue agun,r2& and the Trial Chamber responded:

"We made a subpoena in relation to this general. It is true that he came back with comments, but

why was it, according to you, a need to reinforce the subpoena when the subpoena still stood?"1248

After a series of submissions by the parties,rz4e arrrd Bagosora's requests that the Trial Chamber

r24o The Prosecutor v. Th4oneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98 -4I-T, Requilte d.e la Ddfense de Bagosora visant
l'4mission d'un subpoena, 6 June 2006 ("Subpoena Motion"), patas.2,26, pp.7,8.
'"' TIrc Prosecutor v. Thioneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T, Decision on Request for a Subpoena,
1 l^September 2006 ("Subpoena Decision"), p. 5.
"*' The Prosecutor v. Thioneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T, The Registrar's Submissions Regarding the
Trial Chamber's Decision on Request for a Subpoena of 1 1 September 2006, confidential, 5 October 2006, paras. 6, 7 .1243 The Prosecutor v. Thionesti Bagosora et^al.,Case No. lcrR-qg-41-T, Mdmoire de la D1fense debagosora en
riponse d The Registrar's Submissions Regarding the Trial Chamber's Decision on Request for a Subpoena of
l l.September 2006 ddpostes le 5 octobre 2006, l0 October 2006 ("10 October 2006 Motion"), p.9.'"* T. 8 December 2006 p. 4 (closed session).
r24s T. 8 December 2006 pp. 4, 5 (closed session).
t246 T. 8 December 2006 p. 5 (closed session).
t 'ot Status Conference, T. 12 Dccember 2006 pp.12,l3 (closed session).
t"t Stat rs Conferenoe- T. l 2 Decemher 2006 p. t 3 (ctoser:t se ssion)-' 'on Sralus Conl 'ercncc.  T.  l2  Decembcr 2006pp.  1.1 I5 lckrscd session) .
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assert its position on Gatsinzi's conditions and the status of the subpoena to the Registrar,l2t0 th"

Trial Chamber agreed that there was a need to clarify its position and indicated that it would do so

in the form of a decision or memorandum to the Registry.l2sl

527. During another status conference five weeks later, Bagosora raised the issue again,l2s2 and

the Trial Chamber indicated that it would render its decision in writing "soon".l253

On 28 February 2007, Bagosora requested that the Trial Chamber suspend proceedings until it

rendered its decisions on pending matters, including the modalities of Gatsinzi's appearance.t"a

On 2 May 2007, the Trial Chamber declared Bagosora's request to suspend proceedings moot, but

found it "useful" to address the Gatsinzi matter:1255

The Chamber has already made its position clear. On 8 December 2006, the Chamber stated that it
had no intention of calling General Gatsiui as a Chamber witness. At that time, the Chamber
further noted that the Defence had made no request for the witness to appear by video-link.
The Defence had the opportunity to make such an application but chose not to do so. This means
that the Chamber's initial decision of 11 September 2006 to issue the subpoena remained in force
but that the conditions stipulated by the witness led to his non-appearance. Meanwhile, all parties
completed the presentation of evidence on 12 December 2006, with the exception of three Kabiligi
witnesses who testified in the week from 15 January 2007. Other than noting that General Gatsinzi
was unrvilling to testify as a Bagosora witness in Arusha, the Chamber can do nothing more at this
time.156

528. On 9 May 2OO7, Bagosora stated that the question of Gatsinzi's appearance had not been

addressed and accordingly moved the Trial Chamber to clarify its position and rule on the

10 October 2006 Motion, or in the alternative, grant certification to appeal the 2May 2007

Decision.r2tt On 23May 2007, the Trial Chamber declined to clarify its 2May 2007 Decision,

finding that it "did, in fact, dispose of all outstanding issues relating to the appearance of

General Gatsinzi",lzs8 repeating verbatim its previous reasoning therein,125e and adding only that:

The Chamber issued the requested subpoena and received the Registrar's submissions concerning
the appearance of the witness. On 8 December 2006, the Chanber stated its intention not to call
the witness and made clear that the initial subpoena remained in force. Following subsequent

rtso Status Conference, T. 12 December 2OO6 pp. 13, 15 (closed session).
r2st Status Conference, T. 12 December 2006 p. tS lctosea session).
tt52 Status Conference, T. 19 January 2W p. 17.
rr3 Status Conference, T. 19 January 2W p.18.
t2s4 The Prosecutor v. Th1oneste Bagosoia et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T, Bagosora Defence Request to Suspend
Proceedings Pending Decisions on Interlocutory Motions, 28 February 2007, paras. 2-I4, p. 5 .
"" The Prosecutor v. Th4oneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T, Decision on Bagosora Motion for Additional
Time for Closing Brief and on Related Matters, 2May 2007 (*zMay 2007 Decision"), parc. 4. See also ibid., parcs- 5,

i.u-u zMuy 2007 Decision, para. 7 (internal references omiued).
"'' The Prosecutor v. Th4oneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T, Bagosora Defence Application for Ruling on
10 October 2006 Motion and Alternative Request for Certification, 9 May 2W , pp. 28, 29.
"tt Tlrc Prosecutor v. Th1oneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T, Decision on Bagosora Request for Ruling or
Ccriification Concerning Subpoena Issued to General Marcel Gatsinzi, 23 Mry 20A1 ("23 May 2007 l)ecision"),
D a r r . 7 .
1t" 13 M"y 2007 Decision. para. '/, rlttoting 2 May 2007 Decision, para.7 .
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reflection, the Chamber decided that the only clarification needed was that given in its2May 2OO7
decision.l260

The Trial Chamber also denied Bagosora's request for certification to appeal, stating that:

529.

Here, the parties and the Tribunal have made diligent efforts to secure the appearance of this
witness. The witness declined to appear and set forth conditions under which he was willing to
testify, which the Bagosora Defence rejected. At this late stage, given the conclusion of
evidentiary proceedings on 18 January 2N7, the Chamber finds it in the interests of justice to
conclude this trial and to proceed with closing arguments scheduled for 28 May to 1 June 2OO7.t26r

On appeal, Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law in failing to order

compliance with the subpoena issued against Gatsinzi, despite Bagosora's insistent requests on the

matter.1262 He contends that the Trial Chamber recognised the importance of Gatsinzi's testimony,

and that, by tailing to take the necessary measures to ensure compliance with its subpoena order,

the Trial Chamber deprived him of a fundamental means of defence."ut H" asserts that Gatsinzi's

testimony was important because Gatsinzi participated in Crisis Committee meetings from 7 to

9 April 1994 and because his analysis of the killings of politicians concluded that they constituted a

loss of control not attributable to the army command structure.l26a He submits that he never desired

that Gatsinzi testify by video-link and that the Trial Chamber therefore erred in reproaching him for

not having previously requested it, thereby causing him grave prejudice.l26s

530. The Prosecution responds that Bagosora's allegations are unfounded because he was offered

the opportunity to have Gatsinzi testify by video-link but chose not to use it, and because he was

able to introduce key aspects of Gatsinzi's testimony into evidence.1266 It further submits that

Bagosora does not demonstrate that his fair trial rights were violated or that he suffered

prejudice.l26T

531. In the course of the appeal proceedings, Bagosora moved the Appeals Chamber to call

Gatsinzi as a witness on appeal pursuant to Rule 115 of the Rules.1268 'Ihe Appeals Chamber denied

Bagosora's request, but decided to summon Gatsinzi pursuant to Rules 98 and 107 of the Rules in

order to determine whether or to what extent his failure to testify at trial violated Bagosora's right to

t'@ 23May 2007 Decision, para. 8.
r26t 23 Miy 2007 Decision, para. 1 1.
ttu'Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 1(I); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 101-114; Bagosora Reply Brief,
paras. 38-43.
1'u' Bugoro.u Appeal Brief, paras. 102, 105,109, 113, 114; Bagosora Reply Brief, paras. 42, 43.
''* Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 101, 1rc-n2, referring to Exhibits DP214, D8284, DNT184, DK75;
T.8 November 2005 pp.76,77;T.2I November 2005 pp. 89,90.
''o' Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 104, 106, LI3. See a/so Bagosora Reply Brief, paras. 38-41.
"oo Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 82-84.
t'o' Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), para. 85. The Prosecution argues that Gatsinzi's testimony was not key and
that it confirms the occurrence of killings by l{wandan Amed Forces- See ide,m..
1r6E Appellant Th6oneste Bagosora's Motion Seeking T.eave to Presenl Adclitional F,viclent:e, filed in French orL
25 August 2010, trnglish translation fi led on 14 September 2010.
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a fair tial and caused him prejudice.t'ue The Appeals Chamber heard Gatsinzi on 30 March 2011,

and afforded Bagosora and the Prosecution the opportunity to cross-examine the witness.1270

Gatsinzi testified that, upon being informed by the Kigali Public Prosecutor's Office that the Trial

Chamber required his appearance to testify for Bagosora's defence, he indicated that he was only

willing to testify by video-link and as a witness of the Trial Chamber.r"l Gatsinzi confirmed that,

after that, he was never contacted on the matter agun.r272

532. A "subpoena" within the meaning of Rule 54 of the Rules is a binding order issued under

the threat of penalty for non-compliance.1273 An individual who does not comply with the

requirements of a subpoena may be found in contempt of the Tribunal.l27a Subpoenas should

therefore not be issued lightly for they involve the use of coercive powers and may lead to the

imposition of a criminal sanction.t"t Th" Appeals Chamber notes that Gatsinzi was the Minister of

Defence of Rwanda when the Trial Chamber issued the subpoena for his appearance.r2Ti However,

the Appeals Chamber recalls that State officials do not enjoy functional immunity from subpoenas

ad testificandum compelling them to provide testimony before the Tribun aI.r277 They are therefore

to be held to the same standards as private individuals when assessing whether the requirements for

the issuance of a subpoena are met, and what remedies to pursue in cases of non-compliance.

533. A review of the procedural history and the Trial Chamber's conduct following the issuance

of the Subpoena Decision indicates that the Trial Chamber did not require Gatsinzi to comply with

its subpoena. There is nothing in Rule 54 of the Rules that makes it mandatory for the Trial

Chamber to issue a subpoena. However, the Appeals Chamber considers that because it is a binding

r26e Decision on Thdoneste Bagosora's Motion for Admission of Additional Evidence, 7 February 2011, paras. 10, 11.t"o Se" Order to Summon a Witness, 10 February 2OLL, p. 1; Order Setting the Timetable for the Appeal Hearing,
1l,February ZOLI,p.1; Marcel Gasinzi, AT. 30 March 2011pp.448.
"" Marcel Gatsinzi, AT. 30 March 20LI p.4.
tl]2 Vtarcet Gatsinzi, AT. 30 March z}lt;.4.
1273 Prosecutor v. Tihomir Btaikii, Case No. IT-95-1,1-AR108bis, Judgement on the Request of the Republic of Croatia
for Review of the Decision of Trial Chamber II of 18 July 1997,29 October 1997 ("Blaikii Subpoena Decision"),
para.2L.
1.ll^o Src BlcJtii Subpoena Decision, para. 59.
'"'' Prosecutor v. Sefer HaliloviC, Case No. IT-01-48-AR73, Decision on the Issuance of Subpoenas,2l J:une 2004,
para.6; Prosecutor v. Ra.doslav Brdanin and Momir Talii, Case No. IT-99-36-AR73.9, Decision on Interlocutory
4p!"u1, 11 December 2N2, para.3I. See a/so Subpoena Decision, para. 5.
'''o See Subpoena Decision, para. 1. See also ibid.,para.7 ('"lhe Chamber does not lightly issue a subpoena to a serving
Minister of a State").
1217 Prosecutor v. Radislav Krstii, Case No. IT-98-33-A, Decision on Application for Subpoenas, I July 2003, pan.21 .
The Appeals Chamber specified that "[s]hould a State official give evidence before the Tribunal, whether under
conpulsion or voluntarily, he cannot be compelled to answer any question relating to any infonnation provided under
Rule 70, or as to its origin, if he declines to answer on grounds of confidentiality" . See ibid., pan.28. It also reiterated
that State officials do enjoy functional immunity from subpoenas duces tecwn compelling them to produce documents
in their custody in their official capacity, but that a subpoena duces tecum may however be issued to a State official
where the information to be provided was gained before he took office as such and where the evidence is unrelated to
his "current" function as a State officjal, or where he gained that information at the time he was a State otficial but he
wxs not actually exercising his oflicial t\rnctions when he gained it. Sec ibid., paras. 20, 21-28, re.ferrin.q to Rktikii
SLrbpoena Decision, paras. 38, 40, 4I, 43, 44, 49,50.
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order, the decision to issue a subpoena riggers a responsibility on the Trial Chamber to ensure

compliance therewith. As such, once the Trial Chamber decided that Gatsinzi's testimony was

necessary and of sufficient importance for the conduct of the trial to use coercive measures to assist

Bagosora in obtaining it, it became incumbent upon the Trial Chamber to take every measure within

its capacity to enforce its order in the event of non-compliance.12?8

534. In the Appeals Chamber's view, Gatsinzi's request for a video-link constituted a rejection of

the explicit instruction of the Subpoena Decision that he personally appear before the Trial

Chamber.127e Contrary to the Trial Chamber's position that "the conditions stipulated by the witness

led to his non-appeararrce",r2to th" Appeals Chamber considers that it was the Trial Chamber's

failure to react to Gatsinzi's conditions that led to his non-appearance. If the Trial Chamber

reconsidered its Subpoena Decision, it should have done so explicitly, and with reasons.l'8l It did

not. Rather, the Trial Chamber repeatedly claimed that the subpoena remained in force, but took no

steps to enforce it despite Bagosora's repeated requests, which created confusion for Bagosora as to

how to proceed.

535. In addition, the Trial Chamber's indication in its 2 May 2007 Decision that Bagosora had

the opportunity to make an application for a video-link but chose not to do so,1282 erroneously

presumes that this was the only option open to Bagosora to secure Gatsinzi's testimony. Bagosora

chose to seek enforcement of the subpoena as it stood, initiation of contempt proceedings in case of

continued non-compliance, and a stay of proceedings until the matter was reso1ved.1283 Instead, the

Trial Chamber continuously failed to definitively answer Bagosora's requests in any form, and then

found against him at a late stage in the proceedings because he did not pursue a different course of

action.

536. The Appeals Chamber finds nothing to justify the Trial Chamber's failure to instruct the

Registrar to inform Gatsinzi that his conditions were not acceptable. If the Trial Chamber was not

ready to enforce the subpoena, it should have clarified its refusal to Bagosora earlier, called

Gatsinzi as a Chamber witness, or proprio motu ordered the testimony to be heard by video-link

'.1'-i ct Tadi i Appeal Judgement, para. 52.
'"'' See Subpoena Decision, para. 8.
'.'"".2May 2007 Decision, para. 7;23May 2007 Decision,pan.T.
"o' The Appeals Chamber notes that Kabiligi, Nsengiyumva, and Ntabakuze were opposed to having Gatsinzi come
testify, and accordingly moved the Trial Chamber to reconsider its Subpoena Decision. See The Prosecutor
v. Thioneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T, Joint Request for Reconsideration of the Trial Chamber's
"Decision on Request for a Subpoena", 15 September 2006. A review of the trial record does not reveal a decision
disposing of this particular request.
LE'zMay 2007 Decision, para. 7. The Appeals Chamber notes that, on 8 December 2006, the Trial Chamber alluded to
the fact that no request for vjdeolink had been made but did not clanfy that it was expecting the Defence to do so.
.See 'l'. 

tJ December 2006 o. 4 (closed session).
t" ' Sr" sltpra,paras. SZ-S fz8.
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despite Bagosora's disagreement with such modalities. Bagosora's rejection of the conditions

imposed by Gatsinzi could not reasonably have been interpreted by the Trial Chamber as a waiver

of his desire to have Gatsinzi testify altogether. Bagosora has never faltered in asserting the material

importance of Gatsinzi's testimony to his defence, and the Trial Chamber explicitly acknowledged

this to be so.l28a

537. The Appeals Chamber is mindful of the Trial Chamber's discretion under Rule 85 of the

Rules to limit the presentation of evidence "in the interests of justice". In this case, however,

because the lapses in time between the 2 May 2007 and 23May 2007 Decisions in relation to the

10 October 2006 Motion were attributable to the Trial Chamber, the Appeals Chamber considers

that the Trial Chamber abused its discretion when it considered the "late stage" and "the conclusion

of evidentiary proceedings" as its sole basis for finding it "in the interests of justice to conclude this

trial and to proceed with closing arguments" without hearing Gatsinzi's testimony.l2ss

538. The Appeals Chamber now turns to consider whether the Trial Chamber's error prejudiced

Bagosora and invalidated its decision. The Trial Charnber accepted Bagosora's submissions.that

Gatsinzi was expected to testify to several issues relevant to a number of paragraphs in the

Bagosora Indictment.t'86 He was also expected to testify to several issues addressed by Prosecution

Witnesses Alison Des Forges, Filip Reyntjens, DBY, AR, Rom6o Dallaire, Brent Beardsley, GS,

XXJ, XAP, and 1tr1.1287 Gatsinzi was further expected to testify about: the measures taken in

relation to the deaths of ten Belgian peacekeepers and the political assassinations in Kimihurura; the

sanctions that may have been imposed on those identified as responsible; the process of installing

the Interim Government from 7 to 9 April 1994; and the content of discussions at meetings held by

t'u 23 May 2007 Decision, para- 11.
t"t 23May 2007 Decision, para. 11.
tttu Srrbpo-ar" Decision, paras. 6, 7; Subpoena Motion, para. 35. In particular, Gatsinzi was expected to testify in
relation to paragraphs 6.35 (Alleged telegram sent by the General Staff of the Rwandan Armed Forces on 7 April 1994
ordering the troops to seek the assistance of the Interahamwe and of civilians in identifying and exterminating Tutsis),
6.40 (Existence of a separate radio network through which Bagosora was alleged to have been in communication with
the commanders of various army units), 6.41 (Bagosora's alleged regular meetings with Kabiligi, Ntabakuze, and the
Commander of the Presidential Guard between April and July 199a), 6.50 (The participation of the Rwandan Armed
Forces in massacres throughout Kigali starting 7 April 1994), 6.52 (Killings of Tutsi hospital patients at the Centre
Hospitalier de Kigali by soldiers, and alleged daily reporting of these killings to the Ministry of Defence), 6.56 and 6.57
(Military involvement in the killings in Butare prefecture starting 20 April 1994), and 6.69 (the content of the alleged
daily meetings between April and July 1994 attended by, inter alia,Bagosora, at wbich the officers of the army General
Staff were informed of the massacres of the Tutsi civilian population).
t"t Subpoena Decision, paras. 6, 7; Subpoena Motion, para. 36; The Prosecutor v. Th1oneste Bagosora et al.,
CaseNo. ICTR-98-41-T, Annexe confidentielle d Ia Requdte de Ia Ddfense de Bagosora visant I'4mission d'un
subpoena en date du 5 juin 2006, corfrdential, 6 June 2006. Gatsinzi was expected to testify on the following specific
issues: Witness Des Forges's description of the events of 7 April 1994 and the following days in Kigali, in particular in
relation to Gatsinzi's appointment as interim army Chief of Staff; Witness Reyntjens's description of the events
immediately following the President's plane crash and the events which unfolded in the second and third weeks of
April 1994; the functioning of the Rwandan Armed Forces, and the dismissal of Tutsis from the Rwandan Armed
Forces; the 11 Aprll 1994 massacre at Nyanza; the events which unfolded in Kigali from 7 to 11 AprlJ 1994;'
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Gatsinzi from 7 to 17 April 1994.1288 The Trial Chamber considered Bagosora to have sufficiently

shown that this evidence could not reasonably be obtained elsewhere.tttn

539. The Appeals Chamber notes that Bagosora was ultimately acquitted. of several of the

allegations in relation to which Gatsinzi was expected to testify. For instance, Bagosora was

acquitted of events which took place outside the period between 6 to 9 Apnl 1994, and Gatsinzi's

failure to testify in relation to such events could therefore not be prejudicial to Bagosora.l2eo

In addition, some allegations falling within the 6 to 9 April 1994 time period were either dismissed,

or not pursued at trial.rzet Nevertheless, the central importance of Gatsinzi's testimony arose

primarily from his unique position as interim army Chief of Staff during a crucial period. Therefore,

with respect to those events from 7 to 9 April 1994 for which Bagosora was convicted, the Appeals

Chamber considers that Gatsinzi's testimony could have been highly relevant.

540- The Appeals Chamber notes, however, that Bagosora introduced aspects of Gatsinzi's

testimony into evidence by other means. For instance, he tendered into evidence an excerpt of

SRSG Jacques Roger Booh-Booh's book indicating that, during a meeting on 15 April 1994,

Gatsinzi condemned the massacres taking place in Rwanda, regretted that it was impossible to stop

them while the war was ongoing, and swore that they were not planned but rather the unfortunate

reactions of some members of the army to the death of the President and of the army Chief of

staff.12e2

541. During his testimony, Bagosora also played a recording of an interview that Gatsinzi gave to

Radio Rwanda on 10 Apnl L994.r2e3 In this recording, Gatsinzi mentioned that the massacres were

being investigated, opined that only a few soldiers were involved, and stated that the arrny tried to

the distribution of weapons to Interahamwe at C^np Kanombe starting 7 April 1994; the participation of soldiers from
the Ecole des sous-officiers ("ESO") in the Butare massacres; and the repeated rapes of civilians in Butare.
""" Subpoena Decision, paras. 6, 7; Subpoena Motion, paru.37 .
"o' Subpoena Decision, para.7.
r2s Theie include the'tnilitary's involvement in the crimes in Butare alleged at paragraphs 6.56 and 6.57 of the
Bagosora Indictrnent, as well as his alleged involvement in the 11 April 1994 massacre at Nyanza. See Bagosora
Indictment, para. 6.51. The Trial Chamber acquitted Bagosora of his alleged participation in the crimes commiited in
Hutare prefecture and at Nyanza, Kigali. see Trjal Judgement, paras. 1359, 1360, 1749, 1750.'-' No evidence was led about the telegram alleged at paragraph 6.35 of the Bagosora Indictment. In addition, the Trial
Chamber found the use of a "separate" radio network alleged at paragraph 6.40 of the Bagosora Indictment had not
been proven beyond reasonable doubt. See Trial Judgement, para. 1005. Moreover, the Trial Chamber found that there
was insufficient evidence to reliably implicate Bagosora in the killings of Tutsi hospital patients alleged at
paragraph6.52 of the Bagosora Indictment. See Tial Judgement, para. 1403. Furthermore, the Trial Chamber
considered Witness DBY's evidence that Tutsi soldiers were demobilized from the army to be problematic and
therefore unreliable- See Trial Judgement, paras. 408, 409. Finally, no findings were made against Bagosora for any
involvement in the distribution of weapons.
"" Jacques Roger Booh-Booh, T. 2l November 2005 pp. 89, 90, referring ro Exhibit D8284 (Book written by Jacques
Roger Booh-Booh tit led "k Potron tle Dallaire oarle"'5, pp. 87, 8ll (or. pn 168-170 of thc book).'"t Bagosoro, T. I November 2005 pp.75-78.
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help install a new government in order to implement the peace agreement.l2ea Bagosora briefly

commented on these points.l2es

542. Furthermore, Bagosora introduced into evidence a Pro Justitia statement Gatsinzi gave on

16 June 1995 to Rwandan judicial authorities detailing his recollection of events from 7 April 1994

onwards.l2nu In this statement, Gatsinzi described, among other things, the phone call he received

from Bagosora on 7 April 1994 at 2.00 a.m. ordering him to present himself in Kigali at

6.00 a.m.12e7 Heexplained that he could not travel at night for security reasons, despite Bagosora's

insistence that he do so.l2e8 He said that he did not see Bagosora until the evening of 7 April 7994 at

a meeting during which he sensed tension between Bagosora and the other officers, who rejected

Bagosora's attempts to secure the presidency of the Crisis Committee.rzee He stated that Bagosora

left the meeting angry, but convened a meeting the following morning, at which he arrived with the

members of the newly constituted Interim Government.l3m Bagosora commented on some of the

points raised in Gatsinzl's Pro Justitia statement,l3ol indicating, for instance, that he supported

Gatsinzi's candidature and that he ordered him to appear in Kigali at 6.00 a.m. on 7 April 1994.1302

ttno Bagosota" T. 8 November 2005 p. 76. See also Exhibits DBn4 (Audio-recording of Jean Karnbanda's Speech and
portion of Marcel Gatsinzi's Interview with a journalist of Radio Rwanda of 10 April 1994) and DNS113 @xcerpts of
lJanscripts of interview between Gatsinzi and a journalist from Radio Rwanda of 10 April 199a).
'"' Bagosora commented that he recalled having heard the interview on 10 April t994, that he "was not aware of the
outcome of that investigation which [Gatsinzi] ordered', that he shared Gatsinzi's views on the limited involvement of
soldiers and role of the arny, and that he thought Gatsinzi "wanted to clear the discredit that had tarnished [Gatsinzi's]
army". Bagosora also testified that "apart from these elements, whom [Gatsinzi] described as, '[c]ivilians who disguised
themselves as soldiers,' [...] lGatsinzi] had no problem carrying out his command duties" as interim arrry Chief of
Staff. .See Bagosor4 T. 8 November 2005 p.75.
rte6 Exhibit O-SZSOA (Gatsinzi Pro Justitiasratement dated 16 June 1995).
'"'ExhibitDB256A(Gatsinzi ProJustitiaStatementdated 16June 1995),pp. 15114, 15113 (Registrypagination).
"" Exhibit DB256A (Gatsinzi Pro Justitia Statement dated 16 June 1995), pp. 15113-15111 (Registry pagination).
Gatsinzi also mentioned that he suspected that Bagosora hoped he might be killed on the way. Seeibid.,p. I5II2
BpCrstry pagination).
"" Exhibit DB256A (Gatsinzi Pro Justitia Statement dated 16 June 1995), pp. 15111, 15110 (Registry pagination).
Gatsinzi indicated that the outcome of the meeting was an agreement to look into how to reinstate discipline within the
Presidential Guard, and how to facilitate contact between the RPF and high government officials through UNAMIR so
as to constitute a transitional government.
tt* Exhibit DB256A (Gatsirli Pro Justitia Statement dated 16 lune tegS;, p. 15111 (Regrstry pagination). Gatsinzi
stated that Bagosora had apparently chosen the members of the new Interim Govemment himself, and in non-
gg$onniry with the decisions taken at the meeting the night before.
""'Bagosora, T.7 November 2005 pp.31-33.
""' Bagosora testified that he considered that in the circumstances prevailing at the time, "Gatsinzi was the officer in
the best position to take over the command of the army", and that "[e]ven though we were not friends, I supported his
candidature, and the other members of the meeting supported him'. He admitted to ordering Gatsinzi to appear in Kigali
at 6.00 a.m. on 7 April 1994, explaining that "we had to restore the head of the arrry as quickly as possible", and also
addressed Gatsinzi's delayed ar4val. See Bagosora,T.T November 2005 pp. 32,33. Bagosora opined that Gatsinzi
could have requested the use of a helicopter to reach Kigali earlier, and that Gatsinzi's absence from Kigali at such a
critical time had an impact on the events. See Bagosora,T.T November 2005 p. 33 ("It was during [Gatsinzi's] absence
that the units of Camp Kigali attacked the UNAMIR soldiers. It was next to his staff headquarters. If he had been there,
he would have been able to intervene. Furthermore, the Presidential Guard battalion also made outings, and if there was
an acknowledged chief, he would have taken care of the situati.r'ln. For his part, he says that he was not sure about ttrings
in iiieali in the morning, but hc camc laler on when the RP[j rvas attacking. I do noi knclw why he did not come on
t imc ") -
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543. The Appeals Chamber considers that crucial elements to which Gatsinzi was expected to

testify were introduced into evidence by other means, and that Bagosora was given the opportunity

to address them at trial. It lssalls, nevertheless, that documentary or hearsay evidence is not a

substitute for live testimony, which is generally preferred.l303 It considers that, had Gatsinzibeen

called to testify in person, more detailed testimony could have been elicited in respect of the attacks

for which Bagosora was convicted, in particular the killings of the Belgian peacekeepers, the

killings of officials in Kimihurura, and the meetings which took place between 7 and 9 April 1994.

Areview of Gatsinzi's 30 March 2011 testimony before the Appeals Chamber confirms that

Gatsinzi was able to provide more detailed and relevant information about these topics. Bagosora

was thus deprived of the opportunity to present a potentially important witness. Having been in a

position to assist, the Trial Chamber failed in its obligation to ensure the faimess of the proceedings

and violated Bagosora's right to present his defence. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that

Bagosora suffered prejudice from the Trial Chamber's error in failing to enforce the Subpoena

Decision.

544. However, the Appeals Chamber considers such prejudice to have been remedied by the fact

that Gatsinzi was ultimately heard. The Appeals Chamber is mindful of the fact that such testimony

was not heard at trial, but rather on,appeal. In this respect, Bagosora submits that the very limited

time he had to examine Gatsinzi on appeal prevented him from exploring certain issues in depth,

whereas at trial Gatsinzi "would have been on for a few days".130+ He also submits that:

Th[e Appeals] Charrber will retain or reject whatever [it] decides to retain or reject concerning
[Gatsinzi]. But there are repercussions on the credibility of others when accepting the testimony of
this person. The firial] Charrber might have rejected a certain tes;mony or parts of a certain
testimony, and this witness now confirms that part. So there could be - I'm not saying [...] there
will be, but there could be a certain difficulty in applying the witness's testimony to the first
instance judgement. l3o5

545. The Appeals Chamber considers that a presentation of Gatsinzi's evidence at trial would

have done little in fact to assist in Bagosora's defence. In particular, the Appeals Chamber notes

that Gatsinzi did not testify in Bagosora's favour,t'ou u point on which Bagosora agrees.t'ot

Moreover, the Appeals Chamber finds that Gatsinzi's testimony contained a number of

"ot Cf. Simba AppealJudgement, paras. 20, lO3; Rutaganda AppealJudgement, paras. 33, 149.tl* ,qt 3l March zOt t p. so.
r3o5 AT. 31 March 2OlI p. 39.
1306 Gatsinzi testified, among other things, that Bagosora: had authority over the army and the gendarmerie staff; had
ultimate authority over the Crisis Committee, which was answerable to him; tried to have Gatsinzi assassinated on the
day of his arrival to Kigali; circumvented Gatsinzi by giving orders directly to unit commanders; and undermined
Gatsinzi authority by having lunds transfened to Gitarama wjth arrned escorts without his cclnsent. Szru Marcel Gatsinzi.
AT 3o l\{arch 2011 pp. 6, 1, 11-13. 25, 31, 32, 45, 46
'*" '  S"onT.  . l  I  Merch 20 1 I  p .  38
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inconsistencies,l308 speculations,l3oe and hearsay evidence,l310 thereby lacking credibility and

reliability, a point on which Bagosora also agrees.l31l hr addition, Gatsinzi's proximity to the crimes

and his superior military position at the time of the events make him a potential accomplice, thereby

giving him motive to shift blame, diminish his own authoriry, or distance himseH from Bagosora.

This is apparent, for instance, in Gatsinzi's attempts to justify his own failures to intervene during

his tenure as anny Chief of Staff by accusing Bagosora of sabotagng him.13r2 The Appeals

Chamber therefore considers that Gatsinzi's testimony would not have had an impact on the Trial

Chamber's verdict against Bagosora.

546. As such, the Appeals Chamber finds that, although the Trial Chamber violated Bagosora's

right to a fair trial by failing to enforce the Subpoena Decision, any prejudice Bagosora suffered

was remedied by hearing Gatsinzi on appeal. The Appeals Chamber therefore concludes that the

violation of Bagosora's right to a fair trial did not amount to an error of law invalidating the Trial

Judgement.l313

t'ot For instance, Gatsinzi testified that he did not order investigations into the murders of the Prime Minister and other
proninent personalities in Kimihurura because it did not fall under his jurisdiction. He then testified that investigations
should have been ordered, but that he did not have ime to order them because he was relieved of his post. Gatsinzi was
later confronted with the transcripts of radio interviews he gave on 11 April 1994, wherein he stated that investigations
into the murders of the prominent personalities were being carried out and assured the population that the soldiers
involved were rogue and not acting on orders. See Marcel Gatsinzi, AT. 30 March 2011 pp. 29,3I,33.
""' Such speculations wero apparent, for instance, in Gatsinzi's belief that Bagosora: was opposed to his appointment as
army Chief of Staff; tried to have him killed; sabotaged him; and was ultimately responsible for his dismissal from the
post of army Chief of Staff. See Marcel Gatsinzi, AT. 30 March 2011 pp. 29-33,35-41.
"" For instance, Gatsinzi testified that an adviser to the Minister of Defence told him that Bagosora had a personal
radio network, parallel to the military's normal network, through which he had direct contact with the kesidential

9]l*d, Para-Coumrando Battalion, and Reconnaissance Battalion. See Marcel Gatsinzi, AT. 30 March 2011 p. 13.t3t '  See AT.31 March 2011p.38.
r3tt Marcel Gatsinzi, AT. 30 March 2Oll p.36.
Irri 'Ihe 

Appeals Chamber recalls tbat when a party alleges on appeal that the right ro a lair trial has been infringed, it
nrLr \ inrovethat thevio lat ioncausct lprc judicethatamountstoancrrorof  law jnval idat inethe- jur lgemcnt .  Se-eRenTaho
r\plrealJudgement.para. i96; Haradinct.j etai. Appeal Judgernent, para. lT;Guli iAppealJudgement, para.2I.
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C. Alleged Errors in the Assessment of Circumstantial Evidence (Ground 3)

547. The Trial Chamber found Bagosora guilty pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Statute for

ordering crimes at Kigali area roadblocks, as well as the killing of Augustin Maharang*i.t"o

The Trial Chamber also found that the only reasonable inference was that Bagosora ordered, or

"ordered or authorised", the killings of Alphonse Kabiligi, Prime Minister Agathe Uwilingiyimana,

the officials in the Kimihurura neighbourhood, and the killings in Nyundo Parish,r3r5 and relied in

pa.rt on these factual findings to find him guilty of these crimes as a superior under Article 6(3) of

the Statute.1316 In addition, the Trial Chamber found that Bagosora had knowledge of the threat

faced by the Belgian peacekeepers, and had the authority and means to prevent the attack against

them, but failed to do so,l317 and accordingly convicted him of their killings as a superior under

Article 6(3) of the Statute.r3r8

548. In the alternative to his First Ground of Appeal, Bagosora contends that the Trial Chamber

failed to consider that other reasonable inferences could have been drawn from the circumstantial

evidence relied upon to convict him of these crim"r.t"' In particular, he argues that the Trial

Chamber failed to consider that the attacks which led to these killings could have been ordered or

authorised by someone other than him and alleges further specific errors relating to the killings of

the Prime Minister and the Belgian peacekeepers.l32o

549. Specific to his convictions for the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi and the attacks committed in

Nyundo Parish in Gisenyi prefecture, Bagosora refers to Nsengiyumva's appeal submissions and

submits that the Trial Chamber erred in inferring that he must have ordered or authorised the attacks

that Nsengiyumva himself ordered or authorised.l32l The Appeals Chamber recalls that, in another

part of this Judgement, it has found that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that Nsengiyumva

ordered the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi, as well as the killings committed at Nyundo Parish, and

that he could be held liable as a superior for these crimes.l3" As Bagosora was convicted for these

crimes pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute on the basis that Nsengiyumva, as Gisenyi Operational

1314 Trial Judgement, paras. 2158, 2186,2194,2213,2245.
"" Trial Judgement, paras.723,752, |167 , 1204,2178,2182.
"'o Trial Judgement, paras. 2040, 2158,2186,2194,2213,2224,2245. The Trial Chamber noted rhat, while the murder
of Augustin Maharangari was charged against Bagosora under Article 6(1) of the Statute, the killing of the other
prominent personalities was charged only under Article 6(3). See ibid., paru.2004, fn.2355.'": Trid Judgement, para. 7 96.
"'o Trial Judgement, paras. 2186, 2245.
'"'Bagosora Notice of Appeal, pp. 10-13; Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 241-314.
t3to Bugosora Notice otAppeal. pp 10-13; Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. Z4B-312.'t ' '  l-|r1,.nr.,r, Appeal Briei, prrras 213-2fq.
" - '  ,Ste srprr r ,  Scct ions i l I .G an,dH, paras.  331.  348.
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Sector Commander, was under his command,t3"t th. Appeals Chamber also reverses Bagosora's

convictions for the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi and the killings perpetrated at Nyundo Parish.

Bagosora's arguments in respect of these incidents therefore need not be considered.

550. The Appeals Chamber further notes that Bagosora does not make any specific references or

factual arguments in relation to his convictions for the crimes committed at Kigali area roadblocks

under this ground of appeal. The Appeals Chamber will therefore address the import of Bagosora's

general arguments under the present ground on his convictions for the crimes cour:rritted at Kigali

area roadblocks together with the specifi.c arguments he raises under his Fourth Ground of

Appeal.l32a

1. Alleged Failure to Consider that the Attacks Could Have Been Ordered or Authorised by

Someone Other Than Bagosora

551. Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the killings of

Augustin Maharangari, Prime Minister Agathe Uwilingiyimana, and the officials in the Kimihurura

neighbourhood, as well as the killings of the Belgian peacekeepers, could only have been

perpetrated on his orders or with his authorisation.l325 He argues that the Trial Chamber failed to

consider that these attacks could have been ordered or authorised by someone else, such as

clandestine goups or military authorities other than himself.l326

552. The Appeals Chamber will consider these arguments in tum.

(a) Clandestine Networks

553. The Trial Chamber considered allegations regarding the existence of clandestine networks,

including rhe Zero Network, AMASASU, and death squads, and each co-Accused's role in

them.1327 Although it found that there was evidence suggesting the existence of such networks, it

concluded that the evidence was insufficient to conclude bevond reasonable doubt that the

co-Accused were involved in them.1328

t"t Trial Judgement, paras. 1167, 1204. See also ibid., pans.2034, referring fo Bagosora's role at the head of the
Rwandan military, and 2036, refening to the fact that the operation against Nyundo Parish must have been sanctioned
by.Nsengiyumva.
"'u See urfa, Section fV.E.
r3t5 Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 3(B); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 26I,265. See also AT. 31 March 2011
p.  8.
]"u Bugoso.a Notice of Appeal, Grounds 3(A), 3(B), 3(G); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 248,249, Z5t-253,262-264,
266.293-296: AT. 31 March 20Il p. 45,
t  " f r i r r l  Jut lgcrncnt .  ynras.  523-(r? i t .
'" '" ' fr ial 

Jtrdgernent, p:ras. 537, 542. -580, 581, 619, 2105,2106.
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554. Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact and in law in failing to consider that a

number of the events for which he was convicted could have been the work of these clandestine

networks, or of another powerful clandestine group close to President Habyarimana, the Akazu-r3zs

In particular, he contends that it is reasonable to infer that the soldiers of the Presidential Guard,

who were under a different chain of command and were implicated in the killings of the Prime

Minister and the political officials in Kimihurura, were accountable to the Akazu or to their own

authority.l3'o He ftrther submits that senior military authorities may have been part of these

clandestine networks and could have ordered the attacks.1331 He also argues that the political figures

murdered on the morning of 7 April 7994 were "ideal targets" for the clandestine networks.l332

He asserts that the fact that the crimes may have been committed by clandestine nefworks implies

that the inference that the crimes were attributable to him was not the only reasonable one.t3"

555. The Prosecution responds that Bagosora's argument lacks merit and that the alleged

possibilify that the attacks were committed by clandestine groups is untenable given the manner in

which the crimes were perpetrated.l33a It points to the systematic, coordinated, notorious, and

widespread nature of the attacks perpetrated by elite units of the army and militias with a substantial

number of soldiers and militiamen and the amount of fuepower involved.l33s

556. With respect to the Zero Network, the Trial Chamber found that "there is considerable

evidence of a group or network, close to President Habyarimana, which exercised influence within

Rwanda".l336 It noted that "[t]here is limited information about the activities of the group but the

indirect evidence indicates that it instigated violence".1"7 However, Bagosora does not point to any

evidence suggesting that the Zero Network may have been responsible for the specific crimes for

which he was convicted.

557. Bagosora relies on the Trial Chamber's finding that "there is considerable evidence of a

group or network, close to President Habyarimana, which exercised influence within Rwanda" to

argue that this demonstrates that the political killings perpetrated by the Presidential Guard were

attributable to the Akazu.1338 The Appeals Chamber considers that the fact that the Presidential

Guard Battalion was directly answerable to the President and that there was evidence of a

r32e Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Grounds 3(A), 3(G); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 248, 249, Z5I-253, 293-296.
$S-e also Bagosora Appeal Brief, para. 176; AT.31 March 20II p.45.
"'" Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 254,255. See also Bagosora Reply Brief, paras. 84-90.
"" Bagosora Reply Brief, paras.78-81.
"'" Bagosora Appeal Brief, para. 293. See also ibid.,pans.294-296.
"" Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 256-260.
"'" Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 165, 168-170, 182-181 .'" '  Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), para. 169. See atso ibid., paras. 168, I70-ll7,185-187.' "n Tr ia l  Judgcment .  para.  537.
'" ' Trial Judgemcnt, para. 53.!.
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clandestine network close to the President does not reasonably suggest that crimes perpetrated by

the Presidential Guard were attributable to the clandestine network rather than to the regular chain

of cornmand of the kesidential Guard. Given that there was no evidence linking the crimes

perpetrated by the Presidential Guard for which Bagosora was convicted to the clandestine network,

it was not a reasonable inference that could have been drawn from the evidence presented.

Accordingly, the Trial Chamber was correct in not considering this to be a reasonable alternative

inference.

558. Similarly, in relation to the AMASASU group, the Trial Chamber found that "[i]t is clear

that a group made its existence known through the AMASASU documents. While some persons

centrally placed in the Rwandan government perceived the group to be a reality, others were not

convinced".r33e It considered that "[i]nfonnation about the AMASASU's activities is sparse and

imprecise [...1. Apart from its alleged involvement in massacres in late 7992, there is no evidencing

[sic] concerning illegal acts from 1993 onwards that is directly linked to the AMASASU".1340

Bagosora fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in its assessment. Furthermore,

Bagosora fails to point to any evidence linking the commission of the crimes for which he was

convicted to the AMASASU.

559. The Trial Chamber also found that "considerable evidence points to the existence of death

squads in Rwanda years before the killings in April lgg4-.r34r However, as with theZercNetwork

and the AMASASU, Bagosora does not point to any evidence suggesting that the death squads may

have been responsible for the specific crimes for which he was convicted.

560. The Appeals Chamber further notes that, to the extent that there was evidence linking the

crimes to one of the clandestine groups, the Trial Chamber did consider this evidence. The Trial

Judgement reflects that the Trial Chamber considered Witness ZF's evidence regarding

Zero Network using a secret radio communication system in its assessment of the evidence about

the killing of Augustin Maharan g*i.tto' However, it concluded that his evidence about the secret

radio nefwork carried little weight and that "[i]t would also be surprising if a secret radio network

could be so easily and inadvertently overheard by a civilian operating a Motorola hand-held

radio".1343 Accordingly, the Trial Chamber did consider whether attributing the killing of

"" Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 251-255.

::]: Trial Judgement, para. 580.
''"" Trial Judgement, para. 580.'*'Tnal 

Judgenrent, para. 619. See also ibid.,para.2106
" I  nai  Judserrrent .  paras.  948.  9.57.

' ' ' '  i ' na !  Judgcmcr r t .  pe re .9 -57 .
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Augustin Maharangari to the Zero Network was a reasonable inference but reasonably concluded

that it was not.

561. Finally, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Bagosora's argument that the political figures

killed were ideal targets for clandestine networks. While the Triat Chamber did find that prominent

political personalities and opposition figures were systematically targeted,,r34 Bagosora fails to

explain why they would have been ideal targets for clandestine networks specifically rather than

targets for military authorities.

562. While a conviction based on inference must be the only reasonable inference available, the

Appeals Chamber recalls that it must be the only reasonable one that could be drawn from the

evidence presented.r'ot In light of the fact that there was no evidence suggesting that the clandestine

groups were linked to the crimes for which Bagosora was convicted, it was reasonable for the Trial

Chamber not to have considered as a reasonable altemative inference that these crimes were

committed by clandestine groups. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Bagosora has failed

to demonstrate an error in this regard.

(b) Militar.v Authorities

563. Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber failed to consider the possibility that even if the

orders came from high-ranking military authorities, there were other people apart from him who

might have given such orders, such as the authorities in charge of the Crisis Committee.l3a6

He further questions the discipline and intemal cohesion of the Rwandan anny, suggesting that this

undermines the assumption that these were organised attacks ordered or authorised by the highest

military authorities. 13a7

564. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber committed no error in finding that the only

reasonable conclusion to draw from Bagosora's authority and the organised military operations

involving different units of the army is that the crimes had to have been ordered or authorised by

the highest military authorities, including Bagosora.l3o8 The Prosecution concedes that there is no

direct evidence that Bagosora ordered crimes, but submits that the issuance of orders can be proven

t'* Trial Judsement. oara.2178.

"ot 5"" Nchimihigo ippeat Judgement, para. 80, citing Stakii Appgd Judgement, para.2l9. See also KareraAppeal

{g!Seme.tt, para. 34:' Ntagentra et aI. Appeal Judgement, para. 306; Celebiii Appeal Judgement, para. 458.''1' Bagosora Appeal Bnef, paras. 262-264, 266; AT. 3 I March 201 I p. 4-5.
'u' Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 21 1, 272, 27 6. See ai,ro Bagosora Reply flr ief. paras. 9 l- I00.' 'u" Pr(rsecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 165,11 l-174, 18S-195, 200; A'i ' . 1 Aprii 2011 pp. 1-4.
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through circumstantial evidence."oe It also argues that Bagosora fails to provide any basis for his

argument that the Rwandan anny was disorganised.l3so

565. The Appeals Chamber will now examine whether the Trial Chamber erred in concluding

that Bagosora ordered or authorised the killing of Augustin Maharangari, for which Bagosora was

convicted under Article 6(1) of the Statute. As regards the killings of officials in Kimihurura for

which Bagosora was convicted under Article 6(3) of ttre Statute, the Appeals Chamber recalls that,

in the context of superior responsibility, the accused need not have ordered or authorised the crime

provided that he knew or had reason to know of his subordinates' crime and had the authority and

means to prevent it or punish his subordinates but failed to do so.13s1 As such, a finding that the

Trial Chamber erred in concluding that Bagosora ordered or authorised the killings of officials in

Kimihurura would not per se invalidate the Trial Chamber's decision to hold Bagosora responsible

as a superior. However, since the Trial Chamber's conclusion that Bagosora failed in his duty to

prevent these crimes was based upon its factual finding that he ordered or authorised them,1352

the Appeals Chamber considers that an error in respect of such factual finding could have an impact

on the Trial Chamber's deterrnination of Bagosora's superior responsibility. The Appeals Chamber

will therefore also examine Bagosora's contentions in thrs respect.

566. As Bagosora raised a number of other allegations of error regarding the attacks on the Prime

Minister and the peacekeepers, the Appeals Chamber will consider Bagosora's arguments that

someone else could have ordered or authorised these crimes in separate sub-sections be1ow.l353

(i) Killing of Augustin Maharangari

567. The Trial Chamber found that Augustin Maharangari, the Director of the Rwandan Bank of

Development, was killed at his residence by soldiers of the Rwandan afiny on 8 April lgg4.r3s4

It found that the killing of Maharangari, who was a suspected RPF accomplice, was targeted,

premeditated, and mirrored the political assassinations that occurred in the wake of the death of the

President.l"s It observed that "[t]here is no credible evidence directly showing that Bagosora was

aware of the murder of Maharangari".l356 Nonetheless, it found that "given the widespread killing

throughout Kigali perpetrated by or with the assistance of military personnel, including the targeted

r34e AT. 31 March 2011 p.73.
1350 kosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 196-199.
"t' See, e.g., Nahimana et aI. Appeal Judgement, para.
Judgement, paras. 59, 210.
'.1'_l See infra, para.667.
"" See infra. SectionsIY.C.2 and3.
ttt*'Irial iudgement, paras. 961 ("on or around 8 April 1994")-2182 ("on8 April'" ' fr ial .Indgement, par].2182.
''" 

Trial .lud.gement, para.962.

Orii Appeal Judgement, para. 18; Halilovif Appeal
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killings on the morning of 7 April [...], the Chamber is satisfied that Bagosora was aware that

personnel under his authority were participating in killings'r.I357 In its legal findings, the Trial

Chamber further considered, "as the only reasonable inference, that Bagosora in the exercise of his

authority between 6 and 9 April ordered the political assassinations conducted throughout Kigali

and Gisenyi prefecture".1358 Accordingly, the Trial Chamber convicted Bagosora under Article 6(1)

of the Statute for ordering the killing of Augustin Maharanguti.t"t

568. In addition to his general arguments summarised above, Bagosora points to the evidence of

Witness AL that the former soldier involved in the killing had problems with Maharangari which,

he argues, indicates that Maharangari's killing was not committed upon a military order.1360

569. The Appeals Chamber finds no error in the Trial Chamber's finding that Maharangari's

killing "mirrors other targeted assassinations in the wake of the death of President Habyarimana"

and that it "was premeditated and conducted on political grounds".1361 In this regard, the Appeals

Chamber recalls Witness AL's credible evidence that Maharangari was specifically sought out by

four armed soldiers who brought him back to his home from a neighbouring convent where he had

been sheltering."u'The soldiers then shot Maharangari inside the housc.1363 The manner in which

he was apprehended and killed, along with the fact that he was the Director of the Rwandan Bank of

Development and a suspected RPF accomplice,l36a indicates that his kitling was targeted.

The Appeals Chamber dismisses Bagosora's argument that, because the former soldier involved in

Maharangari's killing had another motive for the killing, the order to kill Maharangari may not have

come from the military. While Witness AL did testify that there may have been another motive for

the killing, he acknowledged that this was merely speculation.l36s

570. Furthermore, this killing was similar to the political killings which took place on

7 April 1994, which systematically targeted senior government officials. For the reasons expressed

below, the Appeals Chamber has concluded that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that the

killings in the Kimihurura neighbourhood on 7 April 1994, including the murder of the Prime

Minister, were part of an organised military operation.l366

1357 T 
'al 

Judsement. oara.962.
t"t Trial lualement, paru.2l8z.
':': Trial Judgement, paras. 2182, 2186, 2I9 4, 2213, 2245.
"* AT. 31 March 201I p. 58.
r36r Trial Judgement, para.2182.
"o' Trial Judgement, parus.942,953. The Appeals Chamber notes that it is not disputed that soldiers were among the
attackers. See Nl . 31 March 201 1 p. 58.
1363 Trial Judgement, paras. 942, 9i3.
' ' *  S€e Tr iu l  Jr rdgement .  nara.  2132.
t'ut wir.,ess ar., i 29 April 2004 p. 80.
ttoo 5", inJ)'a- paras.576, 585, 586.
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571. Turning to the Triat Chamber's finding that Bagosora ordered the killing of Maharangari,

the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber's factual findings do not support its legal

conclusion. In its factual findings, the Trial Chamber concluded that:

Bagosora had authority over the Rwandan army at the time of the attack [...]. There is no credible
evidence directly showing that Bagosora was aware of the murder of Maharangari. However,
given the widespread kitling throughout Kigali perpetrated by or with the assistance of mili6ly
personnel, including the targeted killings on the morning of 7 April [...], the Chamber is satisfied
that Bagosora was aware that personnel under his authority were participating in killings.i367

While the Trial Chamber discussed Bagosora's awareness of the killing of Maharangari and

Bagosora's superior position, at no point did it discuss evidence that Bagosora ordered the crimes.

The Trial Chamber's factual findings therefore appear to correspond only to those which would

normally be entered in relation to superior responsibility.

572. kr light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber failed to

provide a reasoned opinion for its finding that Bagosora was criminally responsible under

Article 6(1) of the Statute for ordering the killing of Maharangari. The Appeals Chamber finds that,

based on the Trial Chamber's factual findings, no reasonable trier of fact could have found that the

only reasonable inference was that Bagosora ordered the crime. Indeed, it cannot be excluded that

the specific order could have come from a military authority other than Bagosora. Accordingly, the

Appeals Chamber frnds that the Trial Chamber erred in convicting Bagosora of the killing of

Maharangari pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Statute.1368

573. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber grants this part of Bagosora's Third Ground

of Appeal and reverses the convictions entered against him under Counts 4, 6, 8, and 10 of the

Bagosora Indictment for the killing of Augustin Maharangari.

(ii) Killings of Officials in Kimihurura

514. The Trial Chamber found that, on the morning of 7 April 1994, elements of the Presidential

Guard and Para-Commando Battalion undertook an organised military operation and systematically

killed: Joseph Kavaruganda, the President of the Constitutional Court; Fr6d6ric Nzamurambaho, the

Chairman of the PSD and Minister of Agriculture; Landoald Ndasingwa, the Vice-Chairman of the

Parti lib6ral and Minister of Labour and Community Affairs; and Faustin Rucogoza, an official of

the Mouvement dAmocratique rdpublicain and Minister of Information.t'ue It found, "as the only

t'ut Trial Judgement, para.962.
ttu* The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial
cnlcred against ttre co-Accused in this case,
Ariicle 6(3) of the ,Statute.
'  " '  T r i a l  Judgemenr .  pe ras .  7 .5  1 ,15? ,2178 .
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reasonable inference, that Bagosora in the exercise of his authority between 6 and 9 April ordered

the political assassinations conducted throughout Kigali".t"o Noting that these killings were not

charged against Bagosora under Article 6(1) of the Statute but only under Article 6(3),t"'the Triat

Chamber convicted Bagosora as a superior under Article 6(3) of the Statute for the killings of

officials in the Kimihurura neishbouhood.l3T2

575. In addition to his general arguments summarised above, Bagosora suggests in relation to

these political killings that it could have been the commander of the Presidential Guard who issued

the order or "the hierarchs from among the President's sympathisers [who] assembled at the

Presidential Guard camp" on the night of 6 to 7 April Igg4.r373

576. The Appeals Chamber considers that Bagosora has failed to demonstrate an error on the part

of the Trial Chamber in finding that these political killings were part of an organised military

operation. In reaching this finding, the Trial Chamber reasonably considered the fact that it was an

attack involving elite units of the Rwandan army and that it systematicaily targeted senior

govemment officials.l3?4 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber notes the speed and efficiency with

which the operation was undertaken following the death of the President.l375 The Trial Chamber

relied on evidence that as early as 4.00 a.m. on 7 April 1994, within hours of the Presidential plane

crash, the Kimihurura neighbourhood was surrounded and people were not allowed to 1eave.1376

As found by the Trial Chamber, members of the MRND parry were evacuated from the

neighbourhood by elements of the Rwandan Armed Forces while the same elements systematically

targeted prominent personalities or opposition politicians and killed them in the early morning

hours.r377 The Trial Chamber also considered the evidence in light of the killing of the Prime

Minister which took place during the same time-frame.1378

577. The Appeals Chamber turns to consider Bagosora's argument that the Trial Chamber failed

to consider that other military authorities could have ordered or authorised the killings. The Trial

Chamber concluded that the order for such an assault could only have come from Bagosora as the

highest military authority after noting that the attack was an organised military operation involving

t']o t.iat Judgement, para.2L82.

:::: Trial Judgement, pala. 2004, fn. 2355.
"'' Trial Judgement, pans. 7 52, 2I1 8, 2182, 2186, 2194, 22L3, 2245.
"" Bagosora Appeal Brief, para. 268. See also AT.31 March 201I p.45.
'''" Trial Judgement, pan.752.
"'' Se" also Tnal Judgement, paru- 2038 ("It is inconceivable that Bagosora would not be aware that his subordinates
would be deployed for these purposes, in particular in the immediate aftermath of the death of President Habyarimana
and the resumption of hostilities with the RPF, when the vigilance of military authorities would have been at its
height.").
' t tu  Tn" l  Jud.qcnrcnt .  paras.  728,  134,142.
' ' " ' l ' r ia l  Judgemcnt ,  puas.  727,  735-131,  142,  144,  151.  2118.
t r t d T  '  T'  ' "1 ' r ia l  Judgcment .  para.  752.

Case No.ICTR-98-41-A

197

14 December 2011



E+og1A
elite units of the Rwandan Armed Forces and targeting senior goveflrment officials.l3Te hits legal

findings, it found that the attack was "an organised military operation ordered ar authorised at the

highest level of the Rwandan mi1itary".1380 The Trial Chamber, nonetheless, failed to explain why

the only reasonable inference was that Bagosora, as the highest military authority, was the only

person who could have ordered or authorised it.1381 While the factors enumerated and relied upon

by the Trial Chamber could reasonably lead to the inference that the killings of officials in

Kimihurura were ordered and authorised by the military, the Appeals Chamber finds that they do

not lead to the conclusion that the only reasonable inference was that it was Bagosora who ordered

or authorised them. In particular, it considers that a reasonable trier of fact could not exclude that

the specific orders or authorisation could have come from high-level military authorities other than

Bagosora. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that

Bagosora must have ordered or authorised the attack in Kimihurura.

578. The Appeals Chamber will examine the impact of this error in the section of this Judgement

dedicated to Bagosora's allegations of error regarding the Trial Chamber's application of the law of

superior responsibility under his Second Ground of Appeal.1382

2. Alleged Errors Relating to the Killing of the Prime Minister

579. The Trial Chamber found that on the morning of 7 April 1994, the Prime Minister's

residential compound and the neighbouring compound where she was hiding came under attack by

soldiers from the Presidential Guard and Reconnaissance Battalion.1383 The Prime Minister was shot

dead that morning, and a bottle was then shoved into her vagina.l3sa The Trial Chamber found that

"[t]he organised attack, involving elite units of the Rwandan anny, targeted a senior govemment

official [and that] the order for such an assault could only have come from the highest military

authority, which at the time was Bagosora".l3ss In relation to this finding, it recalled Bagosora's

refusal to consult with the Prime Minister, his suspicions that she was involved in an attempted

coup d'6tal, and his awareness that UNAMIR wanted her to address the nation.l386 In its legal

findings, the Trial Chanrber concluded that the operation could only have been ordered or

authorised at the highest level of the Rwandan military.t38t Noting that Bagosora was not charged

with the killing of the Prime Minister under Article 6(1) of the Statute but only under

'3tn Trial Judsement. oara.752.
'3Eo Trial JuAlement, pan.2178 (emphasis added).
']^:: Cf. Re nzaho Appeal Judgement, para. 3 I 9.
''-o' See inlra, Section fV.D.
"o' Trid Judgement, paras. 700-703, 1 17 .
' 'o" Trial Judgement. paras. 705, 118.2219.
" 'fr iel 

Judgemenr, para.723. See al.yo ibid.,paras.120,2118.
r r ' ( r - ' r  I  r , - ,  - , . - . ,  7 a  - :

:  ,  r G r  . , u ( r s u r r r u r , ( .  
P d d .  /  L  , .
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A:ticle 6(3),t"t the Trial Chamber found Bagosora guilty for the Prime Minister's killing and the

desecration of her body pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute.l38e

580. Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber erred in convicting him for the attack on the Prime

Minister because it did not demonstrate that the inference that it could only have been perpetrated

upon his orders or with his authorisation was the only reasonable inference.l3s He contends that the

Trial Chamber erred in: (i) failing to consider that it was not an organised military operation;

(ii) exaggerating his denial of the Prime Minister's authority; (iii) infening that General Dallaire

told Bagosora that he was sending soldiers to take the Prime Minister to the radio station, which

allegedly prompted him to order the attack; and (iv) concluding that the killing of the Prime

Minister could only have been perpetrated on his orders or with his authorisation.l3el

581. The Appeals Chamber reiterates that a superior need not have ordered or authorised a crime

to be convicted pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute.l3e2 Nevertheless, the Appeals Chamber notes

that the Trial Chamber relied on its factual finding that Bagosora ordered or authorised the attack on

the Prime Minister to conclude that he failed in his duty to prevent this crime.l3e3 Any error in

respect of such factual frnding could therefore have an impact on the Trial Chamber's determination

of Bagosora's superior responsibility. The Appeals Chamber now turns to examine Bagosora's

contentions.

(a) Organised Militar.v Operation

582. Bagosora submits that the Trial Charnber erred in failing to consider that the attack on the

Prime Minister may not have been an organised military operation and that the soldiers involved

were acting of their own volition, and not under orders.l3ea In this regard, he asserts that the

evidence about the Prime Minister's killing demonstrates that the soldiers involved were

disorganised and uncoordinated and that there was disagreement between them regarding the fate of

the Prime Minister.13e5 In particular, he submits that the indignity to which her body was subjected

t'fl friat Judgement, para.2178. See also ibid., paru.2182.
"oo Trial Judgement, pan.2004, fn.2355.

l]il rU Judlement, paras. 2186, 2194,2213,2224,2245.
"'" Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 262,261.
'"' Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Grounds 1(L), 3(B)-(E); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. I3l-144, 261, 262, 265, Z6j,
n4,278-288.
'.3^]^l s", supra, para.565.

l::: Triat Judgement, pan. 2040.
"'" Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 285, 287 . See also AT. 3 1 March 201 1 p. 55.'"'Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 262,261 ,214,275,784,285. See also AT. 31 March 2011 pp. 44,45,55, referring
ro llxhibit DB64 an.tl the cross-examination of Luc Marchal. The Appeats Chamber notes rhat Exhibit DB64 is an
cxccrpt liom Faustin Twagiramungu's testimony in the Nto.kirutintand case in rvhich hc tcstitiecl that he knew o[ no
general genocidal plan. This exhibit does not address 'uvhether the killing of lhe Primc Ministcr was a military operation.
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suggests an act of vengeance rather than soldiers carrying out a mission.lte6 He also contends that

the Trial Chamber should have considered that, given that the Rwandan Armed Forces were not

informed of the dispatch of peacekeepers to the Prime Minister's residence in conformity with the

normal procedure, their unexpected arrival at the Prime Minister's compound prompted a hostile

and undisciplined reaction from the soldiers in an already volatile environment and led to the killing

of the kime Minister and the peacekeepers without any order having been issued.l3eT

583. The Prosecution responds that Bagosora's argument lacks merit.l3e8 It submits that, given

the manner in which the attack on the Prime Minister was perpetrated, it could not have been the

sporadic act of soldiers and militiamen out of control.t'ne It also contends that, even if the

deployment of peacekeepers to the Prime Minister's residence was unannounced, Bagosora fails to

demonstrate how this derogated from the soldiers' responsibility not to attack the peacekeepers and

the Prime Minister and does not alter the fact that Bagosora failed to intervene to stop the

violence.l4o

584. The Appeals Chamber observes that, at trial, Bagosora also emphasised fhe chaotic nature of

the attack and suggested that it did not conform to an organised military operation.l4l The Trial

Chamber considered these argumentsl42 but concluded that "the attack on the Prime Minister's

residence in Kiyovu was an organised military operation".l403 hr reaching this conclusion, the Trial

Chamber took into account:

the proximity in time of the attack to the ki[ing of other moderate politicians in the Kimihurura
area nearby [...]. Furthermore, the use of a:moured vehicles and the build-up of soldiers during the
course of the night, including elite units of the Rwandan army, also strongly suggest an organised
nititary operation. Moreover, the Chamber simply carmot accept in this context that elite units of
the Rwandan army would spontaneously engage in sustained gun and grenade fire with Rwandan
gendarmes and United Nations peacekeepers, arrest these individuals, and then brutally murder
and sexually assault the Prime Minister of their country unless it formed part of a mililaly

'3e6 Bagosora Appeal Bief, para.287 .
'"' Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 3(D); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 280-283- Bagosora submits that, in light
of the rumours circulating 31 ft6 fime to the effect that it was the Belgians who had shot down the kesident's plane and
of the "historical background of the favouritism shown by the colonizers - the Belgians - towards the Tutsi elite"
"it was not unexpecteaihat tne FAR soldiers would keat thl nelgian peacekeepers as enemies if they happened to go to
[...] the residence of the Prime Minister who, a few days earlier, had been publicly accused of trying to plan acoup
("13^tat' . See Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 28I,282.
"'o Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 205,208.
"" Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 168, 169, 197, 199. See also AT. I April 2011 pp.2,3.
The Prosecution asserts that the Trial Chamber correctly interpreted the discussion between the soldiers regarding the
killing of the Prims Minister as a "mere hesitation on the part of some of the soldiers to kill the Prime Minister of their
country" and that the manner in which her body was treated does not negato that there was an order to kill her.
,Sze Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. I98,209,2I0.
'*"' Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 206,2U .
"" Ragosora Clos.ing Brief, paras. 1583, 1691. See also Trial Judgement, paras- l19,lZ0.'  "  S, ,c  Tr ia l  Jr rdecmrnt .  nara.  7 19.
ioo '  Tr i , , l  Judgcmlnr ,  pu.u.  zzo.
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operation. The fact that Witness AE observed some soldiers who did not wish to pursue this
ultinate course of action in the overall context does not detract from the Charrber's findine.re

Accordingly, contrary to Bagosora's assertion, the Trial Chamber did consider the possibility that

the killing of the Prime Minister was not part of an organised military operation. However, having

considered this possibility, it did not conclude that this was a reasonable inference that could be

drawn from the evidence.

585. Bagosora fails to show that the Trial Chamber's assessment was unreasonable. In this

regard, the Appeals Chamber does not accept that a reasonable alternative explanation was that the

killing of the Prime Minister was an undisciplined reaction by soldiers prompted by not having been

forewarned that peacekeepers were going to be dispatched to the Prime Minister's residence.

It observes that the attack on the Prime Minister's residential compound was found to have begun

before the additional Belgian peacekeepers arrived.laot From sometime around 11.00 p.m., there

were already soldiers manning the roadblocks by the Prime Minister's residence and an armoured

vehicle and a ripod-mounted machine gun were pointed at the Prime Minister's residence.lao6

The Prime Minister's compound came under gunf,rre and rifle-propelled grenades were launched

into the compound prior to the arrival of the peacekeepers around 4.00 a.m.14t Furthermore, as the

attack progressed following the arrival of the Belgian peacekeepers, it did not bear the hallmarks of '

an undisciplined reaction to their arrival. The attack does not appear to have immediately intensified

in response to the arrival of the peacekeepers, as it was only between 7.30 and 8.00 a.m. that the

soldiers advanced upon the compound.148 Additionally, the fact that the soldiers enquired where

the gendarmes who had been in the Prime Minister's compound had gone and continued to search

for the Prime Ministerla0e indicates that the soldiers were systematically searching for the Prime

Minister and not simply violently reacting to the presence of the peacekeepers. While the Trial

Chamber did find that there was disagreement among the soldiers as to whether the Prime Minister

should be killed or taken back to the military headqr,larters,l4l0 the Trial Chamber reasonably

considered that this did not detract from the overall context.

to* Trial Judsement. para.l2O.
toot Trial Jualement, baras. 700, 717. Ghanaian peacekeepers were already stationed at the Prime Minister's residence

?l^part of her security detail. See Tial Judgement, para. 696, fn. 855.
'o'o Witness XXO, T. 20 November 2003 pp. 18-20.

]i]friA Judgement, paras. 700, 717; Witness XXO, T. 20 November 2003 pp. 2I,22.
'*uo Trial Judgement, patas.702,717 . See aLro Witness XXO, T. 20 November 2003 p.28.
'*u' See Witness XXO, T. 20 November 2003 pp. 29,31.
'0"'Trial Judgement, paras.704, 120. See alsoLuc Marchal, T. 4 December 2006 p. 68 ("t...1 it is obvious that people
wore of clivided opinions fabout what to clo rvith the Prime Minister] and this specillc framework, as far as I arn
concerned. docs not trrlly with a truly military operation,").
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586. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Bagosora has failed to demonstrate an error on

the part of the Trial Chamber in finding that the attack on the Prime Minister was an organised

military operation.

(b) Exaggeration of Denial of the Prime Minister's Authori8

581. Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber erred in according to the position of Prime

Minister an importance which did not exist, and that it thereby placed too much importance on his

reticence that Agathe Uwilingiyimana be vested with more control than that to which she was

entitled, particularly over the military.lall He argues that he was reproached for not having wanted

to contact Agathe Uwilingiyimana without an explanation as to why he should have taken such

steps or why she did not attempt to reunite her government, her focus having been solely on

addressing the nation.r4r2 He contends that, despite evidence to the contrary, the Trial Chamber

wrongly implied that her assassination was linked to his refusal to contact her and aimed at

preventing her from addressing the country.lal3

588. The Prosecution responds that Bagosora makes no effort to demonstrate the nature of the

alleged error committed by the Trial Chamber or its impact on the verdict, and does not show any

error.l41o

589. The Appeals Chamber considers that, contrary to Bagosora's assertion, nothing in the Trial

Chamber's reasoning suggests that it found Agathe Uwilingiyimana to have been vested with

authority or control over the military. Rather, the Trial Chamber recounted "largely

unconteste6"1415 evidence that "Dallaire [...] asked Bagosora why he did not recognise Prime

Minister Agathe Uwilingiyimana as the political authority in the afterrrath of Habyarimana's death"

and that "Bagosora explained that the Prime Minister was not the right person for the situation and

that the armed forces could not be placed under her authoriry:r.1416 The Trial Chamber's subsequent

reiteration that Bagosora "refused to recognise the authority of Prime Minister

Agathe Uwilingiyimana" did not constitute a pronouncement on whether or to what extent she had

any authority over the mi1itary.1417

590. The Appeals Chamber is also not persuaded by Bagosora's contention that the Trial

Chamber should have explained why the Prime Minister did not attempt to reunite her government.

to" Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 131-138. See also Bagosora Reply Brief, paras. 44-53; AT. 31 March 2011p.53.
'"" Bagosora Appeal Brief, para. 739. See also 4T.31 March 2011 p. 53.
'"'' Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 140-144. See also Bagosora Reply Brief, para. 54.
'*'' Prosecution Resoonse Brief (Bagosora), paras. 99-103.
i" ' '  ' fr ial 

.Tudgemcnt, oara.662.
'0""i-r'ial .ludgement, para. 56r.). See alsc Bagosora, l'.7 Novembcr 2005 pp .5, 8.
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It is unclear why such an explanation would be necessary. Furthermore, the Appeals Chamber notes

to the contrary that the Trial Chamber recalled evidence that the Prime Minister did attempt to reach

members of her cabinet.lal8

591. With respect to the Triat Chamber's reliance on Bagosora's refusal to consult with the prime

Minister, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Triat Chamber did not articulate why this

supported its finding that the order for the Prime Minister's assault could only have come from the

highest military authority, which at the time was Bagosora.lote However, as discussed below, the

Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the only reasonable

inference based on the evidence was that Bagosora must have ordered or authorised the killing of

the Prime Minister, as it cannot be reasonably excluded that such orders or authorisation could have

come from other military authorities.lo'o Bagosora's allegation that the Trial Chamber erred in

relying on his refusal to consult with the Prime Minister to find that he ordered or authorised her

killing is therefore moot and need not be considered any further.

592. Bagosora's submissions in this regard are therefore dismissed.

(c) Knowled&e of the Dispatch of UNAMIR Soldiers to Escort the Prime Minister

593. In finding Bagosora responsible for the attack on the Prime Minister, the Trial Chamber

considered, inter alia, his awareness that UNAMIR wanted her to address the nation.la2l

This finding was based largely on the evidence of General Dallaire and Major Beardsley:

Dallaire testified that he did not infomr members of the Crisis Committee of his specific plan to
dispatch Belgian peacekeepers to escort the Prime Minister to Radio Rwanda. Beardsley recalled,
however, that Dallaire proposed that the Prime Minister address the country during the fust part of
the meeting with the Crisis Committee. This is reflected in the cable drafted shortly after the
meeting. In the context of Rwanda, such an address would clearly be given over the radio.
Therefore, in the Chamber's view, Bagosora would have been aware,.4t the very least, of
Dallaire's desire to ilrange for the Prime Minister to make a radio address.1a22

594. Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he was aware that

General Dallaire was sending peacekeepers to escort the Prime Minister to a radio station to address

the nation on 7 April 1994.1423 He asserts that Dallaire himself testified that he did not inform

',o'.' Src Trial Judgement, para.662.
'a" Sr" Trial Judgement, para. 697 ("General Dallaire spoke by telephone with Prime Minister Uwilingiyimana several
times before i0.30 p.m., and she informed him that she was having difficulty reaching members o1 her cabinet.',),
ref,ening to Rom6o Dallaire, T. 19 January 2004 p.24.
'"'' Trial Judsement. oara.723.
'o'o 5"" irfrol para. 600.
'o' '  Trirl ludeemcnt. oara.J23.
'"t Trirl .)rrdlcment, para.714(internal rcferences omittecl). See also ibid.,pa..-.Jl5.'"" Bagost,ra Notice of Appeal, Ground 3(C); Bagosora Appeal Brief , para.278.
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him.la2a He contends that, had the Trial Chamber not committed this error. it could not have

inferred that he ordered the attack on the Prime Minister's residence.la2s

595. The Prosecution responds that Bagosora's argument is without meit.ra26 In particular, it

argues that the Trial Chamber also relied on evidence and factors other than just his knowledge of

the dispatch of peacekeepers before convicting him of the killing of the Prime Minister.la27

596. Bagosora replies that the cable sent by Major Beardsley after the 6 April Meeting makes no

reference to Rwandan officers being told that peacekeepers were being sent to escort the Prime

Minister, and that the minutes of the meeting do not list Beardsley as having been present.la28

He also points to the statements of officers present, which he argues contradict Beardsley on the

fact that Dallaire's desire to have the Prime Minister give a radio address was raised during the

meeting.la2e

597. The Appeals Chamber notes that although the Trial Chamber did rely, in part, on the fact

that Bagosora knew of General Dallaire's wish to organise a radio address by the Prime Minister to

establish that the order for the assault could only have come from him,1a30 the fact that the Prime

Minister was to be accompanied by peacekeepers was not part of its finding. Bagosora's contention

that the Trial Chamber found otherwise is therefore flawed.

598. Turning to Bagosora's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to consider evidence

contradicting Major Beardsley's testimony that at the Crisis Committee meeting General Dallaire

suggested that the Prime Minister give a radio address, the Appeals Chamber rejects the suggestion

that Beardsley was not present at the 6 April Meeting. It observes in this regard that both Beardsley

and Dallaire testified to him being at the meeting, and that it is clear that the minutes of the meeting

did not exhaustively list those present.la3l

599. Furthermore, while the statements of Colonels Murasampongo and Kayumba cited by

Bagosora could suggest that Dallaire may not have requested that the Prime Minister make a radio

address,1432 the Appeals Chamber observes that neither Murasampongo nor Kayumba testified at

t*t'Bagoso.a Appeal Brief, para. 2i78. See also NI.31 March 2011p.44.
'"" Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 218,219.
'*'o Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), para. 201.
'"'' Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 201-2M.
'o'o Bagosora Reply Brief, paras. 101-106.
'"" Bagosora Reply Brief, paras. 107-109, refeting ro Exhibits DB262 andDB257.
'"'" Trial Judgement, para.723.
'"'' Brent Beardsley, T. 3 February 2004 pp.23,24; Rom6o Dallaire, T. 19 January 2004 p.23; Exhibit DB66 (Minutes
of the meeting of the directeur de cabinet, gendarmerie Chief of Staff, Ministry of Defence officers, army and
g.cndarmerie senior staff on the night of 6,7 April 1994), para. l.
'* ' '  .\te Exhibit DIl252 (.krseph Nlurasampongo Pro.[ustit ia Statement, datcd I Septcmbcr 19941,p.3; ] lxhibit Dp,257
(Crlrricn Kayumba P,o JrLstit ict Statement, dated 18 November 1997). p. 8.
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trial and that their statements were merely put to Bagosora in the course of his testimony.la33

In neither case did Bagosora confinn or provide any comment on the relevant portions of their

statements.r434 h view of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds it reasonable for the Trial

Chamber to have accepted Beardsley's testimony that Dallaire suggested that the prime Minister

give a radio address to the nation.l43s Tbis was particularly so given that, as the Trial Chamber

correctly considered, Beardsley's testimony was corroborated by the cable he sent after the

meeting.la36

600. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Bagosora has failed to demonstrate an error on

the part of the Trial Chamber in finding that he knew of Dallaire's wish to organise a radio address

by the Prime Minister.

(d) Orders and Authorisation

601. The Trial Chamber found that "[t]he organised attack [on the Prime Minister], involving

elite units of the Rwandan army, targeted a senior govemment official [and ttrat] the order for such

an assault could only have come from the highest military authority, which at the time was

Bagosora". 1437 Irits legal findings, the Trial Chamber concluded that the operation could only have

been ordered or authorised at the highest level of the Rwandan military.to" As noted above, the

Trial Chamber relied on this finding in its determination of Bagosora's superior responsibiliW-r43e

602. Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the kitling of the prime

Minister could only have been perpetrated on his orders or with his authorisation.l4 He asserts that

the Trial Chamber railed to consider the possibility that the order or authorisation came from other

high-ranking mititary authorities. lal

to" Bagosora, T. 7 November 2005 pp. 37 , 38 andT .8 November 2005 pp. IZ, 13.'*" Bagosora, T. 7 November 2005 pp.37,38 andT.8 November 2005 pp. IZ,13.
Trial Judgement, para.7 14.

'ntl Su Trial Judlem"nt, pura. 714; Exhibit P170 (List of reports and cables aurhored by General Dallaire), TINAMIR
cable addressed to Maurice Baril dated 7 April 1994 (reference MIR-722), para. 11 ("The FC asked who would speak ro
t4^e_ population and suggested the PM Agathe.").

:::jTrial Judgement, para.723. See also ibid.,para.720.
'*'" Trial Judgement, para.2178. See also ibid., para.2182.
',*,',1^ S e e s u p ra, par a. 58 l.
'*' Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 3(B); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 261,265.'*' '  Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras- 262.-264,266; AT.31 March 201I p.45. Bagosora also contends that he was not
arvarc that the Prime Minister rvas in any danger, ancl that ire clnJy rijscovereri who kille4 her mrich jzrter. ,See Ranos.ra
lleply Ilr icf. para- 54.
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603. The Prosecution responds that the manner in which the killing of the Prime Minister was

executed indicates that it had to have been ordered or authorised by the highest military authorities,

including Bagosora.laz It concedes that there is no direct evidence that Bagosora ordered crimes,

but submits that the issuance of orders can be proven through circumstantial evidence.143

604. In finding that the killing of the Prime Minister was an organised military operation which

could only have been ordered or authorised at the highest military level, the Trial Chamber failed to

explain why Bagosora was the only person who could reasonably be inferred to have ordered or

authorised it.r4 While the factors enumerated and relied upon by the Trial Chamber could

reasonably lead to the inference that the killing of the Prime Minister was ordered or authorised by

Bagosora, the Appeals Chamber finds that they do not lead to the only reasonable inference that it

was Bagosora who ordered or authorised it. In particular, the Appeals Chamber considers that it

cannot be reasonably excluded that the orders or authorisation could have come from high-level

military authorities other than Bagosora.

605. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that

Bagosora must have ordered or authorised the attack on the Prime Minister.

(e) Conclusion

606. For the reasons expressed above, the Appeals Chamber finds no error in the Trial Chamber's

inference that the attack on the Prime Minister was an organised mittary operation, or in the Trial

Chamber's finding that Bagosora knew of Dallaire's wish to organise a radio address by the Prime

Minister. The Appeals Chamber finds error, however, in the Trial Chamber's factual finding that

Bagosora must have ordered or authorised the killing of the Prime Minister. Since the Trial

Chamber relied on this factual finding to conclude that Bagosora failed in his dufy to prevent this

crime,145 the Appeals Chamber will examine the impact, if any, of this error on Bagosora's

convictions under Article 6(3) of the Statute in the section of this Judgement addressing Bagosora's

Second Ground of Appeal.la6

r*l Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. I7l-174,188; AT. 1 April 2Oll p.2.
t*t AT. 3l March zott o.l l .
'* C.f. RenzahoAppeal iudgement, para. 3 19.
ttot q"" supra, pau:a. -51J1. TheAppeals Chamber reiterates that Bagosora was nol held responsible for ordering
assriult on thc Prirnc Minister under Articie 6( 1) of tho Statutc.
" "  \ ' "e  i r r lkr ,  Sect ion IV.D.
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3. Alleeed Errors Relating to the Killing of the Belgian peacekeepers

607. The Trial Chamber found that, on the morning of 7 April 1994, ten Belgian peacekeepers

dispatched to escort the Prime Minister to Radio Rwanda, as well as five Ghanaian peacekeepers

stationed at the Prime Minister's residence as part of her security detail, were arrested and disarmed

during an attack by Rwandan soldiers on the Prime Minister's residence.l47 Thepeacekeepers were

taken to Camp Kigali at around 9.00 a.m. where four Belgian peacekeepers were beaten to death by

a mob of soldiers.l*8 The beatings did not stop even though some officers at the camp, including

Colonel Nubaha, tried to verbally intervene.l*e Ataround 10.30 a.m., Colonel Nubaha sent his

escort into Camp Kigali to bring the Ghanaian peacekeepers to safety.las0 The six remaining

Belgian peacekeepers were able to seek refuge in the LINAMIR office there and to fend off the

assailants for several hours.lasl They were later killed by grenades.tott The Trial Chamber found

that "Bagosora had knowledge of the threat [the peacekeepers] faced as [the] attack against them

unfolded. He had the authority and means to prevent it, but failed to do so".14t'The Trial Chamber

found Bagosora guilty pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute for the killings of the ten Belgian

peacekeepers. la5a

608. At the outset, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber's factual findings on the

attack on the peacekeepers do not reflect that Bagosora either ordered or authorised it.lass As such,

the Trial Chamber's general conclusion in its legal findings section that all attacks of which

Bagosora was convicted "were clearly organised and authorised or ordered at the highest level of

the Rwandan military" and that Bagosora therefore failed in his duty to prevent "because he in fact

participated in them"l456 is unsupported by the evidence with regard to the attack on the

peacekeepers. The Appeals Chamber therefore grants Bagosora's appeal to the extent that he

alleges that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he ordered or authorised the attack on the

peacekeepers. It remains that Bagosora's conviction as a superior for the killing of the peacekeepers

was clearly based on specific factual findings which are not affected by this finding.

'*'.TnalJudgement, paras. 786, 2I7 4, tn. 855.

::: Trial Judgement, pans. 786, 217 4.
'*' Trial Judgement, pans. 7 86, 217 4.
ro5o Trial luaiement. oan.i87.

f]]] rriar Jualement, paras. 7 87, 217 4.
'o" Trial Judgement, paras. 788, 189,2174 (referring /o "high power weapons").'*" Trial Judsement. oara.796.
to5o Trial Judlement, paras. 2186, 2245.
t4ss See Trial-Judgement, paras. 783-1g6.The Appeals Chamber does not consider that the Trial Chamber,s finding that
"[Bagosora's] inaction, in fact, had the effbct of encouraging the assailants" can lead to the imrrlication that Ba[osora
authorised the assar-rlt See ibicl.,para. 193.
' t tu  ' I r io l  

Judgemcnl .  nara.2040.
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609. In this regard, Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber erred in convicting him for the

kiiling of the ten Belgian peacekeepers because it did not demonstrate that the only reasonable

inference was that he knew about the threat the peacekeepers faced and had the authority and means

to prevent it but failed to do so.tott He contends that the Trial Chamber erred in: (i) failing to

consider that the unannounced dispatch of the peacekeepers to the hime Minister's residence could

have contributed to the attack on the peacekeepers; (ii) inferring that he knew about the dire

situation of the peacekeepers; and (iii) finding that he had the means to intervene to save the

peacekeepetr.tot*

610. The Appeals Chamber will examine these contentions in turn.

(a) Unannounced Dispatch of the Peacekeepers

611. Bagosora reiterates that the Trial Chamber should have considered that the unexpected

arrival of the peacekeepers at the Prime Minister's compound prompted a hostile and undisciplined

reaction from the Rwandan army soldiers in an already volatile environment and led to the killing

of the Prime Minister and the peacekeepers without any order having been issued.lase

612. The Prosecution responds that even if the deployment of peacekeepers to the Prime

Minister's residence was unannounced, Bagosora fails to demonstrate how this derogated from the

soldiers' responsibilify not to attack the peacekeepers and the Prime Minister, and does not alter the

fact that Bagosora tailed to intervene to stop the violence.1a60

613. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber acknowledged that "the initial assault

on the peacekeepers after they were brought to the czrmp may have resulted from insubordination"

and that there was evidence suggesting that "these killings were not part of a highly coordinated

plan".161 Whether or not the arrival of the peacekeepers was expected does not change the Trial

Charnber's findings that Bagosora knew of the attack as it unfolded, and had the authority and

means to prevent it but failed to do so. Bagosora's argument is without foundation because the Trial

Chamber did not find in its factual findings that Bagosora ordered the attack on the peacekeepers,

but determined that Bagosora failed to prevent the attack which resulted from insubordination.la62

In light of this, the Appeals Chamber finds that Bagosora has failed to demonstrate an error on the

part of the Trial Chamber.

tott Bagosota Notice of Appeal, Grounds 3(D) (French), 3(H)-3(L); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 280-283,297-312.
tott Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 280-283,297-312.
t'-to Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 3(D) (French); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 280-283; Bagosora Reply Brief,
p :u : r s .  111 ) -113 .  See  a l so  N l  . 31March2011p .55 .
''""' l'rcse,lLrtion Response llric:f (Bagosora), paras. 2t)6,2A1
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(b) Knowledge of the Attack on the Belgian Peacekeepers

614. In concluding that Bagosora knew of the threat the peacekeepers faced as the attack against
them unfo1ded,la63 the Trial Chamber found that "he was aware of the threat posed to the Belgian
peacekeepers around 10.45 a.m. when Colonel Nubaha inforrned him of the unrest at

Carnp l{igalt".rae The Trial Chamber further found that "[i]n any event, he was fully apprised of

the dire situation facing them when he personally visited the camp between 12.15 and 2.00 p.m.

after the conclusion of the [7 April ESM Meeting] and saw the bodies of the dead

peacekeepers".l65 It noted that when Bagosora visited the camp, many of the peacekeepers were

still alive in the UNAMIR office.166

615. Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the only reasonable inference

to be drawn from the evidence was that he knew that the Belgian peacekeepers were under attack at

Camp Kiguli.tout In support of this, he submits that the Trial Chamber erred in: (i) speculating that

Nubaha informed Bagosora about the situation facing the peacekeepers when he whispered to

Bagosora during the 7 April ESM Meeting;1468 and (ii) tailing to consider that, despite having

witnessed the situation before the meeting, General Dallaire did not mention it at the T April ESM

Meeting until the very end when Bagosora was no longer present.la6e

616. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber did not err in finding that the totality of the

evidence established that the only reasonable inference was that Nubaha informed Bagosora of the

ongoing attack against the Belgian peacekeepers.t*to It argues that it is "absolutely implausible" that

having rushed to seek intervention because UNAMIR soldiers were dying and having had the

opportunity to speak, Nubaha would have failed to inform Bagosora.laTl It further asserts that the

fact that Dallaire did not mention the mistreatment of the Belgian peacekeepers until the end of the

7 April ESM Meeting when Bagosora had already left does not mean that he did not know about the

tout Trial Judsement. oara.79L.
1462 Trial Judiement. iara.i96.
tnu' Trial JuAlement, p ara.'196. See also Trial Judgement, para. 684 ("The Chamber finds that during the course of the
[] April ESM Meeting], Bagosora was made aware of a serious threat to the safety of the 10 Belgian peacekeepers at
Camp Kigali. This follows from Colonel Nubaha's interruption of the meeting and the evidence of nalaite *ho ru,
ir,Lfjnned immediately after it ended about the situation at Camp Kigali.,').''* Trial Judgement, para.792.
'*o' Trial Judgement, para. 792. See also ibid., para. 2039.
'"oo Trial Judgement. para.'192.
tout BugosorJApp"ut n.i"f, para. 303.
'ooo Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 3(H); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 2gl-300. See also Bagosora Notice of
Appeal, Ground 1(O), p. 8; Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 150-153. Bagosora submits that had he known about the
situation' "he would not have gone to the scene with only two escorts". See Bagosora Appeal Brief, para. 300.
See also Bagosora Reply Brief, paras. 55-57; AT. 31 March 20ll p. 42.'*"' Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 3(I); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 301-303- See also Bagosora Appeal Brief,
Dara.  l - )  / .
i17t)l lrosccuiion l icspr-rnsc Bricf (I3agosoi-a.). para. 2i3; i iee ulsu ibid.,paias. i i3-i i5; AT. i ;\pri i 2A\I p.1.
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mistreatrnent.toTz The Prosecution points out that, in any event, by the time Bagosora arrived at

Camp Kigali and saw the dead bodies of the four peacekeepers, Bagosora must have known that the

remaining six peacekeepers who were still alive were about to be kil1ed.1a73

617. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber found that Colonel Nubaha informed

Bagosora of the dire situation at Camp Kigali during the 7 April ESM Meeting on the basis of the

testimonies of Bagosora and Witness DK32.r474 The Trial Chamber also relied on the fact that

Dallaire was informed about the situation at Camp Kigati "immediately" after the 7 April ESM

Meeting.latt Witness DK-32, who was present at the meeting, testified that Nubaha entered the

meeting and spoke with Bagosora and then left but that he was unable to hear what was said.la76

The fact that Dallaire was informed immediately after the meeting does not shed light on what

Nubaha told Bagosora. Accordingly, the only direct evidence of what Nubaha told Bagosora comes

from Bagosora himself. Bagosora testified that Nubaha arrived at the 7 April ESM Meeting

between about 10.45 and 11.00 a.m. and advised him that "there was great tension at Kigali

Camp".1477 Bagosora stated that he cut off Nubaha before he was finished speaking because he had

intemrpted the meeting, and that he told Nubaha to return to the camp and that he would check in

on the situation after the meeting.raTs He stated that Nubaha did not tell him about the situation

facing the peacekeepers.l4Te Bagosora further testified that after the meeting, which ended at about

12.00 or 12.15 p.m., he telephoned Nubaha but, as he was unavailable, he spoke to Nubaha's

secretary who inforrred him that some of the peacekeepers had been killed but that others were still

alive.la8o He stated that this was the first time he was informed about the siruation facine the

peacekeepers.lost

618. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber relied principally on Bagosora's

evidence for its findings regarding Nubaha's intemrption of the 7 April ESM Meeting.to" Despite

this, in finding that Nubaha told him about the peacekeepers during the meeting, it rejected

Bagosora's denial of having been so informed during the meeting. While it was open to the Trial

li]] er 1 April 2OlI p.7, referring ra Exhibit D8261.
'*'' Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 2I4,2I5.

: : : :  Ar  1 Apr i l  2011 pp.  7,8,12.
',", 

_-. S e e Trial Judgement, paras. 67 6, 7 68, fns. 798, 799.
'"'' Trial Judgement, para. 684.
rotu Witness DK-32,T.27 lane 2005 p.77 (closed session).
toTt Bagosora, T. 8 November 2005 pp. 7, 10.
'n'o Bagosora, T. 8 November 2005 pp.7,l l-
'" ' '  Bagosora, T. 8 November 2005 pp. 11, 18.
"' '  Baso5ora- T. I Novembcr 2005 pp. 8. 20.
' ' ^  l { , ,S. ,sora.  l  .  ls  Novcnrhcr  20i )5 p.  20
'"' i  r ial Judgement, paras. 676, 768.
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Chamber to accept some parts of Bagosora's testimony while rejecting others,1483 the Appeals

Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber should have explained its decision not to accept that
portion of his evidence despite having accepted the general account of Nubaha's intemrption.

Indeed, although it inferred that Nubaha informed Bagosora of the situation facing the peacekeepers

at Camp Kigali, nowhere did it clearly conclude that this was the only reasonable inference

available from the evidence.

619. The Appeals Chamber considers that it was not unreasonable for the Trial Chamber to infer

that Bagosora was told of the peacekeepers' situation by Nubaha during the meeting. However, the

Appeals Chamber is not convinced that this was the only reasonable inference available. Bagosora's

explanation that he cut off Nubaha before he fully briefed him on the situation was also reasonable

in light of the fact that Nubaha intemrpted the meeting. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds

that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that Nubaha informed Bagosora of the situation facing the

peacekeepers during the 7 April ESM Meeting.

620. Nonetheless, the Appeals Chamber considers that this error does not undermine the finding

that Bagosora knew about the attack on the peacekeepers in time to intervene to save at least some

of them. In this regard, it notes that Bagosora admitted that he leamed about the situation facing the

peacekeepers from Nubaha's secretary at 72-15 p.m. and that following this conversation, he

proceeded to Camp Kigali to investigate the matter for himself when at least some of the

peacekeepers were still alive in the UNAMIR office.la8a He testified that, upon returning to his

office, he told Dallaire that four of the Belgian peacekeepers had been killed, but that the others

were still ahve in the camp's UNAMIR office.1a85

62I. In tight of this, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Bagosora's argument that the Trial Chamber

erred in failing to consider that Bagosora did not know about the sinration with the peacekeepers at

Camp Kigali because Dallaire did not mention it at the 7 April ESM Meeting until the very end

when Bagosora was no longer present. While it is true that Dallaire did not raise the issue until the

end of the meeting,tttu giu"n the fact that Bagosora learned of the situation facing the peacekeepers

from other sources while six of the peacekeepers were still alive, the fact that Dallaire did not

mention it earlier is immaterial. The material issue is that Bagosora knew of the situation of the

peacekeepers in time to intervene, not from whom he learned of it.

to&' S"r, e.g., Munyakazi Appeal Judgement, para. 103; Muvunyi Appeal Judgement of 29 August 2008, para. 44;
Haradinaj et aI. Appeal Judgement, pan.20I.
roe Trial Judgement, paras. 768, 789; Bagosora, T. 8 November 2005 pp. 8 ("[Nubaha's secretary] told me the
peacekeepers were dead but that there were still some people alive. And I asked him, 'What about the gunfire?' So he

l9j9 *" they were shooting at the peacekeepers. [ . .l The attack was directecl against the Belgian peacekeepers .',),20.'oo'Bagos.,ra, T. 8 November 200.5 pp.25,26: Trial Judgement- nara,769.to*u Trial Juclgement, pan.764.
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622. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber frnds that while Bagosora may not have learned of the

threat posed to the ten Belgian peacekeepers at 10.45 a.m. when Nubaha intemrpted the

7 April ESM Meeting, he became aware of the situation in time to intervene and save the

peacekeepers who were still alive.

(c) Ability to Prevent the Attack on the Belgian Peacekeepers

623. The Trial Chamber found that Bagosora had the means to quash the aftack on the

peacekeepers but failed to do so.1a87 It reasoned as follows:

Bagosora's testimony, as corroborated by Witnesses RO-6 and RO-3, suggests that the rioting
soldiers refused to heed his calls for calm, and he withdrew from the camp. The Chamber does not
find this evidence persuasive, bearing in mind their interest in distancing themselves from the
crimes. In addition, the Chamber has also viewed the attack and the Defence evidence considering
that the camp remained well guarded during the attack and that the guard posts were in fact
reinforced as the events escalated. At no point did Bagosora or other military officers order the use
of force to quell a highiy volatile situation, nofwithstanding the presence of the Reconnaissance
Battalion, an elite unit at the camp. It is also noteworthy that a significant number of high-ranking
military officials were meeting a few hundred metres away at ESN{- Furthemore, the Cha:nber is
satisfied that Bagosora had the means to quash the attack on the peacekeepers. In these
circumstances, the Chamber finds that there was a clear failure by Bagosora to prevent the killing
of the Belgian peacekeepers and that his inaction, in fact" had the effect of encouraging the
assailants. Indeed, the attack escalated shortly after Bagosora's departure as the assailants used
powerful weapons to finish off the surviving peacekeeperi.ra'

624. Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he had the means to intervene

and prevent the attack on the peacekeepers.la8e He argues that the Trial Chamber erred in: (i) failing

to take into account the size of Carnp Kigali in finding that he had sufficient troops to stop the

attack;l4e0 (ii) blaming him for having withdrawn after being threatened although he felt that his life

was in danger;lael and (iii) blaming him for not diverting more troops to Camp Kigali where the

redeployment of troops would have left the cify in the hands of the RPp.l4ez

625. The Prosecution responds that Bagosora's arguments are unmeritorious.lae3 In particular, it

submits that Bagosora fails to articulate how the Trial Chamber blamed him for withdrawing from

Cu*p Kigali when he was threatened.r4e4 It asserts that the Trial Chamber did not accept the

'nEt Trial Judsement. para.796.
to88 Trial Judiement. oara.l93.
totn Bugosori Notice^of Appeal, Grounds 3(J)-3(L); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 304-3ll; Bagosora Reply Brief,
oa ras .113 -116 .
lono B"goro.u Notice of Appeal, Ground 3(J); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 304-308. In this regard, Bagosora argues
that it was not realistic for the Trial Chamber to have found that he could have ordered the Reconnaissance Battalion to
intervene given its finding that the battalion had been involved in massacres earlier the same day. See Bagosora Appeal
Brief, para. 308.
'oe' Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 3(K); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 309, 310.
'"'" Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 3(L); Bagosora Appeal Brief, para- 311. See clso Bagosora Appeal Brief,
para. 305.

lj l  , 
'-.n.".,,,;on Resoonsc Brief (i lagosora), paras. I80, lU1, 216-224

'*'- i)rosccution Response Brief (l3agosora), para. 217 .
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evidence that the soldiers did not heed his call for calm.lae5 The Prosecution also argues that the

Trial Chamber proper$ found that Bagosora failed to order the Reconnaissance Baftalion to quell

the attack despite their presence at the camp.loe6 It contends that the Trial Chamber did not in fact

blame him for not having redeployed troops from the war front and that even if it had, it would not

have been erroneous. lo9t

626. The Appeals Chamber dismisses Bagosora's argument that the Trial Chamber blamed him

for having withdrawn from Camp Kigali after allegedly being threatened. The Trial Chamber did

not find Bagosora responsible for having withdrawn from Camp Kigali, but rather for having failed

to prevent the attack.lae8 Further, the Appeals Chamber considers that even if Bagosora's assertion

that he had been threatened were true, it would not suffice to demonstrate that he did not have the

means to prevent the attack. It bears noting that, even after he personally withdrew, he could have

ordered troops to stop the attack.

627. The Appeals Chamber finds no merit in Bagosora's argument that he did not have the means

to quell the affack given that his troops were deployed fighting the RPF at the front. In this regard, it

recalls that the Reconnaissance Battalion, an elite unit, was located in the camp, and given the

frnding that it had been engaged in the organised military operation carrying out the attack on the

Prime Minister's residence earlier in the duy,tonn it is clear that it was neither otherwise engaged on

the front fighting the RPF, nor affected by the insubordination surrounding the peacekeepers. In this

regard, the Appeals Chamber notes that when the battalion had been involved in the attack on the

Prime Minister's residence earlier in the day, the peacekeepers were arrested, disarmed and taken to

Camp Kigali with assurances that they were being taken to a safe place.lsoo The Appeals Chamber

considers that this demonstrates that the Reconnaissance Battalion soldiers were acting in a

disciplined manner toward the peacekeepers. Moreover, as the Trial Chamber noted, there were a

significant number of high-ranking military officials a few hundred metres away at the ESM from

whom Bagosora could have sought assistance.lsol

628. Furthermore, Bagosora fails to demonstrate that he had insufficient troops to quell the attack

given the size of Camp Kigali. The Appeals Chamber observes that it was not the whole of

Camp Kigali which was involved in attacking the peacekeepers. While the Trial Chamber did not

establish how many were involved in the attack, various witnesses placed the number of soldiers

roes Prosecution Response Brief (Bagos ora), para.22O.
'"'o Prosecution Response Brief (Bagoson), para.222.
'*'' Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), para. 224.
'"'" Trial Judgement, paras. 7 93, 796.
' " "  Tr ja l  Judgement,  paras.  7 L1 .120,2 l18
' - " "  Tr ia l  . l r rdqcmcnt .  naras.  771.  786.
I t " '  J ' r ' i , , 1  Ju t l l cmcn t .  pa r r .  7v1 . '
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involved between 40 and 100.1502 The Appeals Chamber does not consider that this was such a large

$oup that it could not have been brought under control by the elite Reconnaissance Baffalionlso3

or with the assistance of the high-ranking military officials meeting nearby.

629. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds.that Bagosora's arguments do not demonstrate any

error in the Trial Chamber's finding that Bagosora had the means to prevent the attack.

(d) Conclusion

630. For the reasons expressed above, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Bagosora's arguments

regarding the dispatch of the peacekeepers and his ability to prevent the attack. However, as a result

of the Trial Chamber's error in finding that Nubaha informed Bagosora of the situation facing the

peacekeepers during the 7 Aprit ESM Meeting, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber

erred in finding Bagosora responsible pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute for failing to prevent

the death of the four peacekeepers killed before his visit to Camp Kigali. Nonetheless, the Appeals

Chamber finds that Bagosora became aware of the situation in time to intervene and save the

peacekeepers who were still alive and that, despite having the means to prevent the attack, he failed

to do so.

4. Conclusion

63I. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber grants Bagosora's Third Ground of Appeal to

the extent that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that Bagosora ordered, or "ordered or authorised",

the killings of Prime Minister Agathe Uwilingiyimana, Joseph Kavaruganda,

Fr6d6ric Nzamurambaho, Landoald Ndasingwa, and Faustin Rucogoza. The Appeals Chamber will

consider the impact of this finding on Bagosora's convictions pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute

in the following section of this Judgement.

632. The Appeals Chamber also finds that the Trial Chamber erred in convicting Bagosora for

the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi and the killings perpetrated at Nyundo Parish. The Appeals

Chamber therefore reverses Bagosora's convictions entered under Counts 2, 4,6,8, 9, and 10 of the

Bagosora Indictment on the basis of these killings.

tto' See Trial Judgement, paras. 756,759,761,778. The Trial Chamber found that Prosecution Witness XAF stated that
five disabled Rwandan soldiers were beating two Belgian peacekeepers and a'\rowd of around 100 Rwandan soldiers
and others" were blaming the Belgians for the death of the President. It cited Prosecution Witness CE as having stated
that "around 40 soldiers" were involved in the attack, and found that Prosecution Witness AH testified that "around
50 soldiers" participated and that Defence Witness RO-3 stated that "Bagosora told the 70 to 80 soldiers on the scene to
sr ton the at tack" .  See ib id. ,  paras.756,  159,761,118.
''"'t Thc Appeals Chamber recalls thai it battalion cornpriscs approxirnately 700 mcn anrl the Rcconnaissance Battalion
u,:rs statir)necl at Camp Kigali. See Trit:J Juclgement, paras. 1 64, l7O.
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633- The Appeals Chamber further finds that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that

Bagosora ordered the killing of Augustin Maharangari and, as a result, in convicting him pursuant

to Article 6(1) of the Statute for this crime. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber reverses Bagosora's

convictions entered under Counts 4, 6, 8, and 10 of the Bagosora Indictment on the basis of the

killing of Augustin Maharangari.

634. As regards the killing of the Belgian peacekeepers, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial

Chamber erred in finding Bagosora responsible pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute for failing to

prevent the death of the peacekeepers killed before his visit to Camp Kigali. Nonetheless, it finds

that Bagosora has failed to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber committed an effor in convicting

him pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute for failing to prevent the killing of the peacekeepers who

were still alive when he visited the military camp.

635. The Appeals Chamber will examine the impact, if any, of these findings on sentencing in the

appropriate section of this Judgement.
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D. Alleeed Errors in Applying the Law of Superior Responsibili8 (Ground 2)

636. The Trial Chamber held Bagosora criminally responsible as a superior for the killings of

Prime Minister Agathe Uwilingiyimana, Joseph Kavaruganda, Fr€d6ric Nzamurambaho,

Landoald Ndasingwa, Faustin Rucogoza, ten Belgian peacekeepers, and Alphonse Kabiligi, as well

as the killings committed at Centre Christus, Kibagabaga Mosque, Kabeza, the Saint Josephite

Centre, Karama Hill, Kibagabaga Catholic Church, Gikondo Parish, Gisenyi town, Mudende

University, and Nyundo Parish.lse The Trial Chamber also found him responsible as a superior for

the rapes committed at Kigali area roadblocks, the desecration of the Prime Minister's body, the

torture of Alphonse Kabiligi, the rapes and shipping of female refugees at the Saint Josephite

Centre, the rapes at Gikondo Parish, and the "sheparding" of refugees to Gikondo Parish where they

were killed.15os

637. Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber erred in its application of the law on superior

responsibility with respect to his alleged failure to prevent or punish the attacks for which he was

convicted.lso6 Specifically, he asserts that the Triat Chamber erred in: (i) assessing his duty to

prevent or punish, in particular with respect to his knowledge of the attacks;1507 (ii) finding him

responsible for having failed to prevent or punish the attacks;tto8 and (iii) thereby depriving him of

the benefit of reasonable doubt.ls0e

638. The Appeals Chamber recalls that, as a result of its findings on Nsengiyumva's

responsibility for the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi and the killings perpetrated at Nyundo Parish in

Gisenyi prefecture, it has reversed Bagosora's convictions for these crimes.lslo Given that Bagosora

was convicted as a superior for the killings perpetrated at Mudende University in Gisenyi prefecture

on the basis that Nsengiyumva was under his command,l5l1 and that the Appeals Chamber found

that Nsengiyumva could not be held responsible for these killings,lsl2 the Appeals Chamber

t50o Trial Judgement, paras. 2158, 2186,2L94,2213,2245. While the Trial Chamber did not specifically refer to rhe
killing of Alphonse Kabiligi in paragraphs 2186, 2194, and 2213, the Appeals Chamber understands from the Trial
Chamber's reference to this specific killing in its factual findings and deliberations sections that its general reference to
the killings in Gisenyi town in these paragraphs encompassed Alphonse Kabiligi's killing. See ibid., paras. L167,2004,
2t85,22t0,2243.
ttot Trial Judgement, paras. 2203, 2224, 2254.
''uo Bagosora Notice of Appeal, pp. 8-10; Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras.
paras.64-76.
itot Bugoro.u Notice of Appeal, Ground 2(A); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras.
oara. 65.
ltot Bugorora Notice of Appeal, Grounds 2(A)-(D), 2(F)-(I); Bagosora
S-ee also Bagosora Reply Brief, para. 65.
"" Bagosora Notice of Appeai, Ground 2(J); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras.
t5to sre sttpra, para.549.

I7 2-240, 241, 3 L3; Bagosora Reply Brief,

186-190. See also Bagosora Reply Brief,

Appeal Brief, paras.

t61,228-232.

164, 186-221.

' t  
l t ial  Juclgement. para. 1253. See a.l .so ibicl . , l tart.2.03?

'  . tec  s t t  l l t  o ,  Par3-  
' JJ  

.
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likewise reverses Bagosora's convictions based on the Mudende University killings.1513 Bagosora's

arguments developed under this ground of appeal regarding these crimes are therefore rendered

moot and will not be addressed.

639. The Appeals Chamber also notes that Bagosora's arguments relating to his superior

responsibility for the killing of the Belgian peacekeepers have already been addressed in connection

with his Thfud Ground of Appeal,lsla whereas his arguments concerning the killings committed at

Kigali area roadblocks will be addressed below in connection with his Fourth Ground of Appeal.lsls

1. Alleged Errors Relating to Duty to Prevent or Punish and Knowledge

640. Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the moment he gained general

knowledge of the existence of attacks was the moment his duty to prevent specific attacks or punish

the perpetrators thereof was triggered.lsl6 He asserts that the Trial Chamber recognised the lack of

evidence of his knowledge of certain specific attacks, which implies that he was not aware of who

perpetrated the crimes.1517 Bagosora also argues that, between 6 and 9 April 1994,he was handling

simultaneously a vast number of crises and was assigned to political duties, and could therefore

"not be everywhere at the same time and do everything at the same time", facts which were not

considered by the Trial Chamber.t5ts At the appeal hearing, Bagosora claimed that there was

absolutely no evidence that he knew that the crimes he was convicted of were about to be

committed, and made specific arguments regarding his knowledge of the political killings.lsle

In response to one of the Judges' questions, Bagosora submitted that there was no proof of any

report submitted to him concerning the crimes committed at the relevant time.1520 Bagosora also

contends that he was not aware that the Prime Minister was in any danger, and that he only

discovered who killed her much later.ls2l

',s'.t Src Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 230-239.
'.'-'.j See supra, Sectron IV.C.3.
"" See rnfa, Section IV.E.

"'u Bagosotu Appeal Brief, paras. 186, 190. See also Bagosora Reply Brief, paras.72,73.
"" Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 187, 188, referring to TnaI Judgement, paras. 889, 890 (Centre Christus),
905 (Kibagabaga Mosque) ,927 (Kabeza),939 (Saint Josephite Centre), 962 (Augustin Maharangari),9'71,912 (Karama
hill and Kibagabaga Catholic Church), 988, 989 (Gikondo Parish). Bagosora submits in particular that he was informed
of the murders of Father Mahame (Centre Chistus) and Augustin Maharangari only after they were committed and that
he had no knowledge of who perpetrated the crimes. See Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 205-208. He further submits
that the evidence also shows ttiat some attacks were carried out by RPF soldiers "disguised as FAR soldiers".
S-ee Bagosora Appeal Bief , para.226.
"'o Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 192-195.
' ' ' '  AT .  3 l  March  2011  pp .  46 ,52 ,58 .
t t 'n  AT.3 l  March 201 1 n.  55.
t5" Sn" Bagosora Reply'Bricf, para. 54.
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64I. The Prosecution responds that Bagosora's contentions are unmeritorious and do not

demonstrate any error waranting appellate intervention.l522It argues that the Trial Chamber did not

frnd Bagosora to have general knowledge, but actual knowledge of each specific attack,l523 and that

it sufficiently identified the soldiers who participated in the massacres as his subordinates and found

that he was aware that they were committing crimes.lstn As regards the existence of possible

reports, the Prosecution points out that Bagosora testified at trial that, as directeur de cabinet, he

received reports about the movement of RPF agents on the ground, including reports from the

Presidential Guard following the plane crash.lsa It also submits that Bagosora observed that there

were disturbances during his visit to the Presidential Guard camp after the plane crash on

6 April L994, that he was in direct contact with the Presidential Guard during the relevant events,

and that he was using the same radio-frequency as the Presidential Guard.tt'6 It also refers to

Defence Witness LMG's tes';mony that Bagosora used his portable radio equipment to receive

information about the events "that were happening as they were happering".rsz7 It is the

Prosecution's submission that the only reasonable inference to draw from these facts is that

Bagosora knew or had reason to know of the killings that occurred in the morning of 7 April 1994,

in which the Presidential Guard played a significant role.1528 The Prosecution adds that the fact that

Bagosora told General Dallaire that there could be "ddbordements" and that certain elements could

react very aggressively to the death of the President, as well as his testimony that, by 7 April 1994,

"he was doing [...] everything necessary to know what was happening on the ground and to identiff

areas where massacres were taking place" fuither demonstrate Bagosora's knowledge that the

crimes were about to be committed.ls2e

642. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the duty to prevent arises for a superior from the moment

he knows or has reason to know that his subordinate is about to commit a crime, while the duty to

punish arises after the commission of the crime.ls3o As such, where a superior is found to have the

material ability to prevent and punish crimes, the fact that he was, at the relevant time, assuming

key responsibilities or handling a critical situation as serious as an ailned conflict or the downfall of

the institutions does not relieve him of his obligation to take the necessary and reasonable measures

ttt' kosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 126,I21, 133, 134, I4O,I41,145, 153-156.
"" kosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 128-131.
'"' Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 144,145.
:::: AT. I April 20ll p. 4, refening fo Bagosora, T. 2 Novemb er 2005 pp. 32, 33, 77 .
:::: AT. I April 2011 pp. 3,4, referring /o Bagosora, T. 2 November 2005 p.74 and T. 8 November 2005 p. 11.'"' AT. 1 April 2OIl p. 4, referring /o Witness LMG, T. 18 July 2005 p.63. The Prosecution further insisted on the
open and notorious nature of the crimes. See NT. 1 April 20lI p.3.

i l lo t  I  Apr i l2011 pp.4,  5 .
'AT. t April 20 11 pp. 5-'/, refbrring /o Rom6o Dallaire, T

f . 2 November 2005 n. -53.
\ttt' Ilrttliihrtsattovii ind KuhurttAppeal Juclgement, para. 260-

19 January 2004 pp. 29, 31, 32, 44' Bagosora,
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to prevent or punish the commission of crimes. Bagosora's argument in this respect is therefore

ill-founded.

643. The question before the Appeals Chamber is whether Bagosora had sufficient knowledge of

his subordinates' criminal conduct in Kigali and Gisenyi on 7, 8, and 9 April 1994 to trigger his

duty as a superior to prevent their crimes or punish them. The Appeals Chamber will now examine

this question, discussing frrst Bagosora's knowledge of the killings he was not specifically found to

have ordered or authorised, before turning to his knowledge of his subordinates' responsibility for

the killings of officials perpetrated in Kigali and for the Gisenyi town killings of 7 April 1994.

(a)

Kibaeabaga Catholic Church. and Gikondo Parish

644. In its factual findings pertaining to the attacks at Kabeza, Kibagabaga Mosque, the Saint

Josephite Centre, Karama Hill, Kibagabaga Catholic Church, and Gikondo Parish, the Trial

Chamber suggested that Bagosora did not have specific knowledge of the attacks but general

knowledge that killings were being perpetrated in Kigali by soldiers under his command. In respect

of each of these attacks, the Trial Chamber stated:

There is no evidence directly showing that Bagosora was aware of [the specific attack] [...].
However, given the widespread killing throughout Kjgali perpetrated by or with the assistance of
soldiers, the Chamber is satisfied that Bagosora was aware that soldiers under his authority were
participating in killings. r53 I

With respect to the killings perpetrated at Centre Christus, including the killing of Father Mahame,

the Trial Chamber referred in its factual findings to Bagosora's specific knowledge that these

crimes had been committed, relying on Bagosora's own admission that he was personally informed

about the killings on rhe night of 7 April lgg4.1s32

645. When making its legal findings on Bagosora's liability under Article 6(3) of the Statute, the

Trial Chamber stated that it was satisfied that Bagosora "had actual knowledge that his subordinates

were about to commit crimes or had in fact committed them".l533 While this statement was unclear,

referring to "crimes" in general and to both prior and post-facro knowledge, the Trial Chamber's

subsequent reasoning clarified that the Trial Chamber was ultimately satisfied, based on

circumstantial evidence, that Bagosora had actual lcnowledge that his subordinates were about to

]lt friat Judgement, pans.927 (Kabeza), 939 (Saint Josephite Centre), 972 {Karama Hill and Kibagabaga Catholic
Church). See also ibid., para.989 (Gikondo Parish), referring to "mllitary persornel" instead o/"soldieri',. fith respect
to Kibagabaga Mosque, the Trial Chamber found that Bagosora was aware that soldiers under his authoritv' iar t ic ipated" in  k i l l ings.  See ib id. ,  para.905.
'.. ' . See Trial Irdscment- prras. 879. Eti9, 890.
" ' '  Tr i r l  . l r rdgement .  parr .  20 ' i t3 .
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commit each of the specific attacks for which he was convicted. The Trial Chamber reasoned as

follows:

fllt is clear that these attacks were organised military operations requiring authorisation, planning
and orders from the highest levels. It is inconceivable that Bagosora would not be aware that his
subordinates would be deployed for these purposes, in particular in the immediate aftennath of the
death of President Habyarimana and the resumption of hostilities with the RPF, when the vigilance
of military authorities would have been at its height. Furthermore, many of these crimes took place
in Kigali where Bagosora was based [...].15s

This reflects that, contrary to Bagosora's contentions, the Trial Chamber did not find that he only

had general knowledge of the existence of attacks by members of the Rwandan army in Kigali and

lacked specific knowledge. While the Trial Chamber found that there was no evidence "directly

showing" that Bagosora was aware of the specific attacks, it ultimately found that there was

sufficient circumstantial evidence to establish such knowledge as the only reasonable inference.

646. Bagosora generally argues that there was no evidence that he knew that the crimes he was

convicted of were about to be committed, but fails to discuss the circumstantial evidence that the

Trial Chamber expressly relied on to reach its conclusion. He does not address the Trial Charnber's

reliance on the organised military nature of the attacks,ls3s his position of authority, the

circumstances in which the crimes took place, and the fact that they occurred in Kigali where he

was based. He further fails to specifically challenge the Trial Chamber's conclusion that it is

inconceivable that he would not have known that his troops would be deployed for these pu4)oses.

As such, while Bagosora generally challenges the finding that he had such knowledge, he does not

present specific arguments to show that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the only reasonable

inference available from the evidence was that he had actual knowledge that his subordinates were

about to commit the crimes.

647. In the circumstances, the Appeals Chamber concludes that Bagosora has failed to

demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he had actual knowledge that his

subordinates were about to commit the crimes at Centre Christus,Kabeza, Kibagabaga Mosque, the

Saint Josephite Centre, Karama Hill, Kibagabaga Catholic Church, and Gikondo Parish of which he

was convicted. Such knowledge triggered Bagosora's duty to prevent and/or punish his

subordinates' criminal conduct. In these circumstances, the Appeals Chamber need not consider the

tt3o Trial Judgement, para.2038. Reading the Trial Chamber's finding in context, the Appeals Chamber understands
that it also applies to Bagosora's knowledge of the killing of Father Mahame at Centre Christus. Accordingly, the
Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber found that, in addition to the direct evidence €stablishing that
Bagosora knew that his subordinates had committed crimes at Centre Cfutstus. there was circumstantial evidence
cstlblishins that he knew that thesc crimes were about to be committed.
'ttt Th" Appeals Chamber notes that Bagost-rra's argument fhat thesc crimes
solLliers. "disguised as FAI?. soldiers" is not substantiated.

been commitfed bv RPF
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alternative finding by the Trial Chamber that, in any event, Bagosora had reason to know of his

subordinates' criminal conduct. ls36

@) Killings of Officials

648. While Bagosora concedes that he was informed of the killings of the Prime Minister and of

other officials in the Kimihurura neighbourhood as of the evening of 7 April 1994,1537 he submits

that there is no evidence that he had prior knowledge of any of these ki11ings.1s38 He argues that, in

view of the commitrnent made by UNAMIR and the gendarmerie during the 6 April Meeting to

jointly ensure the security of opposition leaders, he could not have assumed that they would have

failed in their commitment.l53e He also points out that the Prime Minister was supposed to be

protected by both the Presidential Guard and UNAMR.1540

649. In response, the Prosecution submits that, in light of widespread rumours in Kigali that the

Prime Minister wanted to stage a coup d'6tat against President Habyarimana and Bagosora's own

belief that she was the mastermind of the attack against the presidential plane, it would have been

obvious to Bagosora that the Prime Minister would have been the target of the elements of the army

that he described as reacting aggressively to the death of the President.ls4l 'Ihe Prosecution argues

that the only reasonable inference to be drawn from this is that Bagosora knew or must have known

that the Prime Minister was about to be ki1led.15a2

650. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has found that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that

Bagosora must have ordered or authorised these killings.l5a3 As such, the Appeals Chamber

considers that the Trial Chamber erred to the extent that it inferred Bagosora's knowledge that his

subordinates were about to kill the officials from the finding that he ordered or authorised the

assaults. However, the Appeals Chamber recalls that in its legal findings pertaining to Bagosora's

1536 Trial Judgement, pan.2039:

Furthermore, in the alternative, the Chamber notos that Bagosora also had reason to know that subordinates
under his command would cornmit crimes. On the night of 6 April, Bagosora expressed to Dallaire during the
Crisis Committee meeting that his main concern was keeping Kigali secure and calm [. ..]. The next morning,
Bagosora spoke with the United States Ambassador about the shootings that could be heard throughout Kigali
the previous night [...]. Hewitnessed first-hand the ongoing attack by Rwandan soldiers at Camp Kigali
against the 10 Belgian peacekeepers [...]. Moreover, he was informed on the evening of 7 April about the
murder of the Prime Minister as well as other prominent or opposition figures, including Father Mahame
[...]. LTNAMIR was receiving reports from military observers about targeted killings by military personnel

[...]. It is difficult to accept that similar reports were not being provided to Bagosora.
t5" 

Bagosora, T. 8 November 2005 p. 47. See also Nf .31 March 20ll p.60; Trial Judgement, paras.752,2039.
rs3s AT" 31 March 2oll p.52.
r53e  AT .31  March  2011p .58 .
r54o AT. 31 March 2071p.44.
154r AT.  l  Apr i l  2011p.8.  referr ing /oBagosora,  T.7 November2005 pp.8,9,  15,24,25.  See a lso AT. l  Apr i l  20 l l

1,.\. r" le rr i ng rn Rrrm6o Dal I ai re.' l-. I 9 January 20A  pp. 29, 3 l, 32- 44
' '  A l - .  I  Ap r i l 20 i  I  pp .  8 .  e .
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knowledge under Article 6(3) of the Statute, the Trial Chamber found that, in light of the fact that

all attacks Bagosora was convicted of were "organised military operations requiring authorisation,

planning and orders from the highest levels", it was "inconceivable that Bagosora would not be

aware that his subordinates would be deployed for these pu4)oses, in particular in the immediate

aftermath of the death of President Habyadmana and the resumption of hostilities with the RpF

when the vigilance of military authorities would have been at its heighl>;.1544

651. Bagosora fails to address the reasoning which led the Trial Chamber to conclude that the

only reasonable inference from the evidence was that he had actual knowledge that his subordinates

were about to commit crimes against the officials, nor does he discuss the circumstantial evidence

the Trial Chamber relied upon. His arguments regarding the commitment of LINAMIR and the

gendarmerie to ensuring the security of opposition leaders, and that the Presidential Guard and

UNAMIR were tasked with protecting the Prime Minister, fail to address the Trial Chamber's

finding that he had actual knowledge that his troops were being deployed to conduct attacks against

the Prime Minister and other officials residing in Kimihurura. The Appeals Chamber finds that

Bagosora does not demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in so finding, particularly given the

U3ttt of the attacks, which started within hours of the killing of the kesident, the systematic

nature of the attacks, and prominence of the victims. It recalls in this respect that the attacks were

organised military operations against prominent officials, involving elite units of the Rwandan

Armed Forces, at the time when Bagosora was at the top of the military chain of command and had

effective control over the Rwandan Armed Forces.l5as

652. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber concludes that Bagosora has failed to demonstrate that

the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he had actual knowledge that his subordinates were about to

commit the crimes against Prime Minister Agathe Uwilingiyimana, Joseph Kavaruganda,

Fr6d6ric Nzamurambaho, Landoald Ndasingwa, and Faustin Rucogoza. Such knowledge triggered

Bagosora's duty to prevent and/or punish his subordinates' criminal conduct.

l 'rt -te, sttpru, para.577.
" Trirl Jrrdgemcnt. pare. 20.18.

' 'o' ' fr irrl Judgement, para.1'23. See also supra,sections lV.A anclC.l.
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(c) Gisenyi Town

653. Tuming to Bagosora's knowledge of his subordinates' criminal conduct in Gisenyi town on

7 Apnl 1994, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber appears to have inferred

Bagosora's actual knowledge of their crimes from its inference that Bagosora "ordered or

authorised" them.l56 The Trial Chamber also relied on the organised military nature of the attacks,

Bagosora's position of authority, the widespread and notorious nature of the killings implicating

soldiers, and the circumstances in which the crimes took place.ls47 Itfurther relied on the fact that

the crimes took place in the vicinity of Gisenyi town where Nsengiyumva, Commander of the

Gisenyi Operational Sector, was located.15aB

654. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has found that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that

Nsengiyumva ordered the Gisenyi town killings and that there were other parallel killings involving

soldiers under Nsengiyumva's command perpetrated at the same time in Gisenyi prefecture.lsae

Against this background, the Appeals Chamber finds that it was unreasonable for the Trial Chamber

to have found as the only reasonable inference that, "in view of the centralised and hierarchical

nature of the army and together with other parallel killings [...] in Kigali", "these military

operations were ordered or authorised by Bagosora".lsso As such, the Appeals Chamber considers

that the Trial Chamber erred to the extent that it inferred Bagosora's knowledge of his subordinates'

criminal conduct in Gisenyi town from the finding that he ordered or authorised these mittary

operations.

655. Nevertheless, in its legal findings pertaining to Bagosora's knowledge under Article 6(3) of

the Statute, the Trial Chamber also found that in light of the fact that the attacks were "organised

military operations requiring authorisation, planning and orders from the highest levels", it was

"inconceivable that Bagosora would not be aware that his subordinates would be deployed for these

pulposes, in particular in the immediate aftermath of the death of President Habyarimana and the

resumption of hostilities with the RPF, when the vigilance of military authorities wouid have been

at its heigh1".1551

656. As with the other killings discussed above, Bagosora fails to address the reasoning which

led the Trial Chamber to conclude that the only reasonable inference available from the evidence

was that he had actual knowledge that his subordinates from the Rwandan anny were about to

ttou Trial Judgement. para. 1067.
'sot Trial ludlement. oara. 2038.
tto* T.ial Juoiement. para. 2038.
t'-'-' Sr, .r,,p ri. porur,.:o:. :r l - 348, 311 -
' "u ' f r i r i  . ludgement .  p l ra.  1067.
' " '  Tr i r l  Jr r t lgerr reni .  pala.  ?0j t l .
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perpetrate killings in Gisenyi town on 7 April I9g4.rss2 However, while the Appeals Chamber did

not find error in such a finding concerning the crimes committed in Kigali where Bagosora was

based, it considers that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that this was the only reasonable

inference to be drawn with respect to the killings committed in Gisenyi town on 7 ApnI 1994.

In this regard, the Appeals Chamber notes that the killings in Gisenyi town were committed by a

very limited number of soldiers from a different military operational sector in a distinct prefecture

about a hundred kilometres away from where Bagosora was based. The Appeals Chamber further

considers that the Trial Chamber's reliance on the fact that the crimes took place in the vicinity of

Gisenyi town where Nsengiyumva was located was in no way conclusive as regards Bagosora's

knowledge. As such, it is not convinced that a reasonable trier of fact could have found that the only

reasonable conclusion was that Bagosora must have known that his subordinates were about to

perpetrate killings in Gisenyi town on 7 April L994.

657. The Trial Chamber also found, "in the alternative", that "Bagosora also had reason to know

that subordinates under his command would commit crimes".l553 In support of its finding, however,

the Trial Chamber relied upon evidence specifically related to crimes perpetrated in Kigali.

The Trial Chamber also reasoned that "[i]t is difficult to accepf' that reports similar to those

received by UNAMIR from military observers "were not being provided to Bagosora".7554

The Appeals Chamber considers that this amounts to speculation on the part of the Trial Chamber.

Such speculative reasoning could therefore not form the basis for a finding that Bagosora had

reason to know that soldiers from the Rwandan army would commit crimes in Gisenyi town on

7 April1994.

658. As a result of its finding below that Bagosora could not be held responsible for failing to

punish any of the crimes for which he was convicted,l5ss ille Appeals Chamber finds it unnecessary

to discuss whether Bagosora acquired knowledge of his subordinates' srimes after they were

committed.

659. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in finding

that Bagosora had the requisite knowledge to be held responsible as a superior for the killings in

Gisenyi town.

rst' Applying the same rationale which led it to conclude that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the civilian
attackers involved in the Gisenyi town killings were Nsengiyumva's subordinates within the meaning of Article 6(3) of
the Statute, the Appeals Chamber considers that the civilian attackers could likewise not be said to have been
Bagosora's subordinates. S ee supra, para. 295.
'- '  

fr ial Judgement, pan.2039.
t - ) ) 4 ' n  I  r'  I  na l  Judsement .  Dara .  20 : i9
't" .s"e i nfraj paras.'OS:-eSS, OSt.
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(d) Conclusion

660. Based on the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Bagosora had sufficient knowledge of

his subordinates' criminal conduct in Kigali on '7, 8, and 9 April 1994 to trigger his duty as a

superior to prevent their crimes and/or punish them. It finds, however, that the Trial Chamber erred

in finding that he had the requisite knowledge to be held responsible pursuant to Article 6(3) of the

Statute for the killings perpetrated in Gisenyi town on 7 Ap.irl 1994.

2. Alleged Errors Relating to Failure to kevent or Punish

661. The Trial Chamber's finding on Bagosora's alleged failure to prevent or punish reads as

follows:

As noted above, these attacks were cleady organised and authorised or ordered at the highest level
of the Rwandan military. Therefore, Bagosora failed in his duty to prevent the crimes because he
in fact participated ,in. them. There is also absolutely no evidence that the perpetrators were
punished afterwards. "'o

662. Bagosora asserts that by finding him responsible for having failed to prevent the attacks for

which he was convicted pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute or punish their unidentified

perpetrators when he did not know about these specific attacks, the Triat Chamber expected him to

perform the impossible.lssT He also contends that the Trial Chamber erred in failing to consider that,

given that he held such a high level of authority and only had general knowledge of attacks, he

could have done nothing more to prevent the commission of killings than give general directives,

and that such general directives were issued.1558

663. Bagosora further submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law and in fact in holding that the

absence of evidence of punishment was tantamount to evidence that no punishment was meted out,

thereby reversing the burden of proof.lsse He contends that the question before the Trial Chamber

was not whether there was proof of punishment (or lack thereof), but whether the measures taken to

punish were reasonable.1560 He also argues that the Trial Chamber failed to take into account the

emergency situation, the fact that he was assigned to other duties, and that the army structures may

not have been functioning properly.l561 In addition, Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber failed

to consider that punishment could not be imposed before perpetrators were identified through

t5s6 Trial Judsement. oara.2O4O.
tttt tltolg{Agn"ut Brief, paras. 190-195. See also ibid., paras.204-208,210,215; Bagosora Reply Brief,
p-aras. 65-69, 12,131' AT. 31 March 20ll p. 48.
rJ)b Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 2(B); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 190, 196-199. See also
AT. 31 March 20ll o.44.
t55e Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 2(F); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 217-219, AT. 31 March 2017 o. 52.
Sge^ al.so Brgosora Reply tsriet, paras. 70. 71.
"n"  Bag.osora Reply Br ic f .  pam. 7 l .
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investigations, which were ordered.rs62 Arguing that the obligation to punish commences only when

the attacker is identified, he points out that there is no indication that he knew the identity of the

soldiers who were involved in the attacks in question.ls63 In this regard, he further points to

Gatsinzi's testimony that there was about a 50 percent chance of identifying the culprits.ls6a

Bagosora adds that the Trial Chamber failed to consider that such a duty would only have existed

for approximately 65 hours.ls6s

664- The kosecution responds that Bagosora's contentions are unmeritorious and do not

demonstrate any error wa:ranting appellate interventiotr.ttu6 It submits that the issue is not whether

the measures taken were general in nature, but whether they were necessary and reasonable in the

circumstances.tt6T According to the Prosecution, Bagosora provides no basis for why he only had to

give general instructions as opposed to taking tangible and concrete steps to prevent subordinates'

crimes or punish his culpable subordinates.ls6s It argues that, regardless of the short period during

which he was a superior, Bagosora should have embarked on a genuine effort to deal with the

crimes committed such as by ordering investigations, protesting against such occrurences, or

issuing clear orders that crimes must stop, none of which he did.156e In this respect, the Prosecution

notes that orcbrs were issued and executed for the punishment of looters and argues that the same

measures could have been taken in respect of the killings.ls?o

665. The Prosecution also responds that the Trial Charnber's statement regarding the lack of

evidence of punishment was not meant to imply that Bagosora had a duty to provide such evidence,

but rather, that it was simply a statement of fact that no such evidence was on the record.tsTl

It contends that it was open to the Trial Chamber to rely on direct or indirect evidence, such as

Bagosora's direct participation in the crimes and the absence of evidence that he punished the

perpetrators, to determine that his failure to punish was proven.rsTzltfurther submits that there was

tsur Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Grounds 2(G), 2(H); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 220, 222, refening to Tial
J-u-! gement, par a. L460.
''o' Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 2(I); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 163, I@, 200, 209, 224-227, 322.
See also T. 31 March 2011 pp. 47,48.
ttu' Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 2(D); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 202-204,215,216.

"* ATI 31 March zolr p.48.
ttut Bugosota Notice of Appeal, Ground 2(C); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 2Ol,212-214. Bagosora points out that he
was not found to have authority over the Rwandan military after 9 April 1994. See ibid., para.273; Bagosora Reply

Drief, para. 65.
"oo Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 126, 127, I33, 134, 140, 14I,145, 153-156.
''o' Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), para. 136.
"oo Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 136-139, I42. The Prosecution submits that there was no action
taken specifically to prevent killings in any of the meetings held on 6 and'I April 1994. See ibid., para. 139.
' 'o '  AT.  3 l  March 201I  pp.  61.69.

l l]" ,,ff 1 April 201 I pp. 10, i i , referring ro Wjtness DMi91, T. 9 May 2005 pp. 10-72 ancl Exhibjt DK81.' '" l,rosecution l lcsponseilrjef. nara. 147.,See ctl.so AT.1 Anril 20'lI o 9.
t  i ' r r ,5L '6g11on Rcsponse lJr ie  l .  para.  l4 t i .
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in fact evidence on the record that the perpetrators were not punished afterwards.ltt' Io particular,

the Prosecution points to Gatsinzi's testimony that when he assumed his post in Kigali, no

investigations had yet occurred and further asserts that Gatsinzi only ordered investigations into the

killings of the Belgian peacekeepers.t51o

666. The Appeals Chamber will first discuss Bagosora's arguments in relation to the prevention

of crimes and then those with respect to the punishment of culpable subordinates.

(a) Prevention of Crimes

667. The Trial Chamber found that "Bagosora failed in his duty to prevent the crimes because he

in fact participated in them" since "these attacks were clearly organised and authorised or ordered at

the highest level of the Rwandan military".l575

668. The Appeals Chamber recalls that, in its factual findings, the Trial Chamber found that

Bagosora ordered the assaults on the Prime Minister and the official figures killed in the

Kimihurura neighbourhood, and that he ordered or authorised the killings perpetrated in Gisenyi

town, including the killing of Alphonse Kabiligi, at Nyundo Parish, and at Mudende University.1576

However, the Appeals Chamber has found that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that Bagosora

ordered or authorised the killings committed in Kigali, or that he could be held responsible for the

killings committed in Gisenyi prefecture.rs?7

669. In relation to the other crimes for which Bagosora was found to bear superior responsibility,

the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber entered factual findings to the effect that

Bagosora knew of these killings, but not that he ordered or authorised them.1578 As such, absent any

further reasoning, the Trial Chamber's conclusive legal finding that "Bagosora failed in his duty to

prevent the crimes because he in fact participated in them" since "these attacks were clearly

organised and authorised or ordered at the highest level of the Rwandan military"ls7e is neither

reasoned nor factually supported in relation to the killings committed at Centre Christus, Kabeza,

llllnr i April201l p. 10.
" ' *  AT .31  March  2011pp .68 ,69 .
tt]t Triut Judgement, para.2O4O.
'"o Trial Judgement, paras. 723 (Prime Minister), 752 (political officials in Kimihurura), 1067 (Gisenyi town),
1167 (Alphonse Kabiligi), 1204 (Nyundo Parish), 1253 (Mudende University). See also ibid., para. 2178 (Prime
M_inister and political officials in Kimihurura).
"" See supra, Sections IV.C andD.
t"t T.iaI iudgement, paras. 889 (Centre Christus),9O5 (Kibagabaga Mosque) , 927 (Kabeza), 939 (Saint Josephite
Centre), 972 (Karurta Hill and Kibagabaga Catholic Church), 989 (Gikondo Parish). See also ibid., para. i038.
The Appeals Chamber notes that, in its legal findings, the Trial Chamber referred to "parallel crimes being committed
in Kigali [...] which were also ordered or authorised by the highest military authority", but only cited Sections iII.3.3
and III.3.-5.6 of the Trial Judgement, thereby limiting the appjication of this statement ro the kiliings of rhe prime
Nfinister. thc polit ical ofticials in KimihurLrra, and Augustin Maharangari. See ibid., paras. 2142,?,148,2\84.'ttn T.ial Juclgenrent, para. 2040.
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Kibagabaga Mosque, the Saint Josephite Centre, Karama Hill, Kibagabaga Catholic Church, and

Gikondo Parish.

670. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that there is no finding or sufficient evidence that

Bagosora ordered or authorised any of the killings for which he was found to bear superior

responsibility. In view of this, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in relying

on the fact that Bagosora must have ordered or authorised the crimes to conclude that he bore

superior responsibility for failing to prevent them.

671. Nevertheless, while the Triat Chamber could not have relied upon the finding that Bagosora

must have ordered or authorised the crimes to find that he bore superior responsibility for failing to

fulfil his duty to prevent them, Bagosora's convictions may be upheld if the Trial Chamber's factual

findings support the conclusion that Bagosora failed to take the necessary and reasonable measures

to prevent these crimes. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber considers that, when taken together,

the Trial Chamber's findings that (i) Bagosora knew that his subordinates were about to commit the

crimes, (ii) that the military - over which Bagosora exercised effective control - had the resources

to prevent the crimes,ttto *d (iii) that to the extent that it lacked resources, it was because they

were deployed in executing the crimes,tttt support the Trial Chamber's conclusion that the only

reasonable inference was that Bagosora failed to take the necessary and reasonable measures to

prevent the commission of the crimes in Kigali for which he was convicted pursuant to Article 6(3)

of the Statute.

672. With respect to Bagosora's submission that the Trial Chamber's findings about his level of

authority and knowledge imply that he could only have given general directives, the Appeals

Chamber recalls that a superior's duty is discharged when he has taken "necessary and reasonable"

measures in the context of a particular situation-l582 Contrary to what Bagosora suggests, the

existence of a crisis situation does not relieve the superior of his duty. Necessary and reasonable

measures are such that can be taken within the competence of a cortmander as evidenced by the

ttto Trial Judgement, para.ZMl ("Finally, in view of their widespread and systematic nature, the Chamber caregodcally
rejects that the crimes committed by Bagosora's subordinates were somehow spontaneous and that the military lacked
resources to put them down while fighting the RPF.").
tttt Trial Judgement, para.2O4l ("To the extent that [the military] lacked resources, it is because these very resources
had been committed by military authorities to executing the crimes.").
""'See Orii Appeal Judgement, pan. 177:' Hadlihasanovii and Kubura Appeal Judgement, para. 151; Hatilovii
Appeal Judgement, para. 63; Blaikii Appeal -Iudgement, para. 417 .
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degree of effective control he wielded over his subordinates.ltt' It bears noting that what constitutes

necessary and reasonable measures is not a matter of substantive law but of evidence.ls8a

673. Bagosora relies upon Exhibits DB66, DB,67, and DB103 to demonstrate that he discharged

his duty to prevent the crimes by issuing "general instructionr".l58s The Appeals Chamber notes that

although the Trial Chamber considered these exhibits elsewhere in the Trial Judgement, it did not

expressly consider whether these "general instructions" could have satisfied Bagosora's duty to

prevent the crimes for which he was convicted.lss6

674. The Appeals Chamber is not convinced that, had these exhibits been considered in relation

to Bagosora's duty to prevent the crimes, a reasonable trier of fact could have found that they raised

reasonable doubt regarding Bagosora's failure to take necessary and reasonable measures to prevent

crimes he knew were about to be committed. Exhibit DB103 is a communiqud issued by the

Ministry of Defence in the immediate aftermath of the President's death and which Bagosora signed

in his capacity as directeur de cabiner. This communiqu6 called on the population to stay calm and

remain at home until further notice and for the armed forces to remain vigilant.ls8? Exhibit DB67 is

a communiqu6 issued on behalf of the Rwandan Armed Forces and signed by Bagosora as directeur

de cabinet relaying the decisions taken at the 7 April ESM Meeting chaired by Bagosora.

The communiqu6 addressed the creation of the Crisis Committee and conveyed the desire to restore

calm and security throughout the country, but the only threat of punishment expressed was for acts

of vandalism.l588 Exhibit DB66 is the minutes of the 6 April Meeting chaired by Bagosora (as well

1s83 Blaikii Appeal Judgement, para.72. See also OriC AppealJudgement, para. 177; Halilovii Appeal Judgement,
para.63.
1s* Orii Appeal Judgemenf pan. L77; Hadiihasanovi| and Kubura Appeal Judgement, paru. 33; Halilovii Appeat
Judgement, para. 63; Blaikii Appeal Judgement,para.T2.
"o' Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. I97, I98, fn. 94. See also AT. 31 March 20IL p.44. Bagosora also submits that the
meetings held on 6 andT April 1994, in particular those held with LINAMIR, further indicate that attempts were made
to restoro security. See Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 198, 199; AT. 1 April 20Il p.20. Bagosora refers to the "minutes
of the meetings held on 6 and 7 Apil" as evidence, but does not point to any specific exhibit. ,See Bagosora Appeal
PIi"i p*u. 198. The Appeals Chamber understands tlat Bagosora is referring to Exhibit DB66.'."-llSee Trial Judgement, paras. 2040,2041.
"o' Exhibit DB103B1 (First communiqu6 of 7 April 1994) ("The Minister of Defence requests the people of Rwanda
not to los€ courage in the wake of this painful incident fi.e. the death of the Head of State] and to refrain from any
actions that could undermine national security. He specially requests the Armed Forces to remain vigilant, to ensure the
security of the people and to keep up the cowage and clear-sightedness that they have always shown in difficult times.
I also recommend to the population to stay at home and to await new orders.").
tt*t Exhibit DB67A (Second communiqu6 of 7 April 1994) ("lLles participants d la rfiunion ont pris les d1cisions et
recommandations suivantes: I. Mettre tout en euvre en collaboration avec les autres services coicernds, pour que la
situation dans le pays se normalise rapidement. A cet effet, Ies membres des Forces Armdes sont invit€s instimmeit d se
ddpanner et dfaire montre de retenue et de discipline pour rdconforter Ia population et ramener le calme dans le pays.
1,...1 4. I'es cadres supirieurs des Forces Armdes Rwandaises invitent la population d rester calme et d se refuser d
toute politisation de nature d attirer les lmines et les violences de tous ordres. La population, en particulier la jiunesse
doit se garder de.s actes de vandalisme sous peine de s'expo.rer cl une ,sdvdre ripression. 5. Suite au,r probldrnes ti€s it
I'in,sdcttritd, les participants d ln rdunion dentanden.t aux autorit€s prdfer:tctntles d.'exarn.iner la sitrtcrtion 4e sdcuritd
don' 's l ,eu ' rsre ' | ' \or tSycompr i 's lect l t rvre ' . f2 t t . r idebc,soin ' . ] l . r r€ i tDrent | 'e t t r inv i to t i t lnd ' Io
couralleuselnent les clures 1preuves (llrc nou.s traversr.tns lcur que le cctlne ret,ienne san.r tu.rdcr.,').
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as the 7 April meeting with the SRSG), indicating that "[t]he purpose of the [6 April Meeting] was

to take urgent security measures to forestall any upheaval, reassure the population, and maintain the

peace during this period of power vacuum".l58e While these exhibits show that general statements

were made about restoring cahn and security, the Appeals Chamber recalls that Bagosora, the

highest military authority at the time with effective control over the military, had actual knowledge

that his subordinates were about to commit each of the attacks.lseo In these circumstances, the

Appeals Chamber considers that the mere issuance of such general statements does not suffice to

constifute "necessary and reasonable" measures of prevention. Furthermore, it recalls that a superior

need not necessarily know the exact identity of his subordinates who perpetrate crimes in order to

incur liability under Article 6(3) of the Statute.rser

675. The Appeals Chamber is also not persuaded by Bagosora's arguments that the fact that steps

were taken to punish demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he tailed to prevent

the criminal conduct of his subordinat"r.tt" The Appeals Chamber notes that, of the three exhibits

Bagosora relies on,lte3 Exhibit D8274 is the only one to suggest that investigations had been

ordered.lsea Exhibit D8274, an audio-recording containing a portion of General Gatsinzi's

interview with a journalist of Radio Rwanda of 10 April 1994, reveals that Gatsinzi notified the

public on 10 April 1994 that investigations had been ordered.lses However, nothing in the exhibit

indicates whether the alleged investigations were ordered during the 6 to 9 April 1994 period or

whether Bagosora was aware of them during that period.lse6 The Appeals Chamber is in any event

unable to determine which "subsequent attacks" these purported investigations "could have served

ttte Exhibit DB66 (Minutes of the meeting of the directeur de cabinet, gendamerie Chief of Stafl Ministry of Defence
g{icers, army and gendannerie senior staff on the night of 6-7 April 1994), para.2.
tt"u See supra, paras- 524, 660.
""' See Renzaho Appeal Judgement, para.64; Muvunyi Appeal Judgement of 29 August 2008, para. 55; BlagojeviC and
Jokii Appal Judgement, para.287.
'.'.u See Bagosora Appeal Briei para. 200.
""BagosoraAppealBrief,paras. 164,zCfJ.,2O9,224,227,referring toExhibitsDB256,DB274,DK75.
"'* There is no reference to any investigations in Exhibit D8256.,See Exhibit D8256 (Gatsinzi Pro Justitia Statement
dated 16 June 1995). Exhibit DK75, a letter from Gatsinzi to the SRSG dated 17 April 1994, sets out proposals for
restoring peace in Rwanda, including iflitiating investigations into the killing of the President, "the ensuing massacres
and all other related incidents". While this letter shows an intention from the acting army Chief of Staff to conduct
investigations into the massacres, it does not indicate that investigations had actually been initiated and could in any
event not have served to deter any of the crimes committed between 7 ar;d 9 April 1994. See Exhibit DK75 (Gatsinzi's
le^tter to SRSG Jacques Roger Booh Booh, dated 17 April 1994), para. 3(b).
"" Exhibit DP274 (Audio-recording of Jean Kambanda's speech and portion of Marcel Gatsinzi's interview with a
journalist of Radio Rwanda of 10 April 1994), track 2. The recording was played in court during Bagosora's testimony.
,9ee Bagosora, T. 8 November 2005 p.76 ("k is very regrettable that the RPF resumed hostilities - hostilities by leaving
their base at the CND to attack the Kimihurura military camp under the pretext that it was the soldiers of the
Kimihurura camp, who carried out massacres among the population. As I said, it is not all the soldiers, it is only a few
soldiers, indeed. But, perhaps, people who disguised themselves as soldiers - investigafions have been ordered and they
will reveal the truth, but it is unfortunate that the RPF took up aflns and resumed hostilities."). See also Exhibit
DNS 113 (Excerpts of transcripts of interview between Gatsinzi and a journalist from Radio Rwanda of 10 April 1994).
I5e" In relation to Exhrbit DP214, Bagosora testified: "[Gatsinzi l saicl that he hacl orderecl investigations for the purposo
oi knorv.ins who hacl cionc what regarding lhe massacres. But rvhat T can say js that I was not awarc of the outcorne o1'
tlrrL investiqation which he ordered." See Bagosora. T. 8 Novcmber ?005 o.11 .
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to deter",l5e7 or whether or when they were actually ordered or were in fact carried out. As such, no

reasonable trier of fact could have found that this evidence raised a reasonable doubt regarding

Bagosora's failure to take necessary and reasonable steps available to him to prevent the crimes of

which he was convicted.

676. Similarly, the Appeals Chamber does not consider that Gatsinzi's testimony that he ordered

investigations into the killing of the Belgian peacekeepers and that there was approximately a

50 percent probability of the investigations being successfullses raises reasonable doubt in relation

to Bagosora's failure to take reasonable and necessary measures to prevent the commission of

crimes. The applicable standard is not whether steps taken are likely to be successful but rather

whether reasonable and necessary steps were taken at all. Furthermore, the Appeals Chamber notes

that Gatsinzi's testimony only related to investigations into the killing of the Belgian peacekeepers,

and did not address whether steps were taken in relation to the other crimes perpetrated during the

relevant period.

677. With respect to Bagosora's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to consider that he only

had superior authority for a period of approximately 65 hours, the Appeals Chamber recalls that he

was not held liable for failing to prevent any crimes that were committed outside the three-day

period during which he was found to exercise effective control over the Rwandan Armed Forces.

678. At the appeal hearing, Bagosora also pointed to Gatsinzi's testimony that, upon arriving in

Kigali on 7 April 1994, Gatsinzi sent a telegram to the armed forces ordering commanders to

prevent soldiers from committing acts of violence against the population, and to punish the

perpetrators of any such acts.lsee However, in light of Gatsinzi's interest in distancing himself from

the crimes committed by his subordinates in Kigali while he was in command and the

accompanying concerns about his credibility, as discussed above,l600 and in the absence of

corroborative evidence, as pointed out by Bagosora, the Appeals Chamber does not find Gatsinzi's

evidence to be sufficientlv reliable.

679. Finally, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber's finding that it "does not

exclude that formal military structures and procedure were not always followed during the

genocide" has no bearing on its conclusion regarding Bagosora's material ability to prevent his

subordinates' criminal conduct on 7, 8, and 9 Apnl 1994 and his failure to do so.

'tnt Brgoso." Appeal Brief, para. 200.
' ' "n  Marcel  Gats inz i ,  AT.  30 March 201 1 p.  10.
I5ee A'f. 3l March 201 1 p.44. reJcrring toMarcel Gatsinzi, AT. 30 March ?-0-l 1 p. 8r600 Saa sr.tpnt, para,545

Case No.ICTR-98-41-A

23r

14 December 20i 1



36t1h
680. The Appeals Chamber concludes that Bagosora has failed to demonstrate that the Trial

Chamber erred in finding that he failed in his duty to prevent the killings at Kabeza, Kibagabaga

Mosque, the Saint Josephite Centre, Karama Hill, Kibagabaga Catholic Church, and Gikondo

Parish, as well as the killings of Prime Minister Agathe Uwilingiyimana, Joseph Kavaruganda,

Fr6d6ric Nzamurambaho, Landoald Ndasingwa, and Faustin Rucogoza.

(b) Punishment of Culpable Subordinates

681. With respect to Bagosora's arguments about the duty to punish, the Appeals Chamber

observes that the Trial Chamber did not expressly conclude whether Bagosora failed in his duty to

punish his culpable subordinates. Rather, it merely noted that "[t]here is also absolutely no evidence

that the perpetrators were punished afterwards".l6ol In contrast, the Trial Chamber clearly found

that Bagosora failed to prevent the criminal conduct of his subordinates.l6ot The Appeals Chamber

notes, however, that in its section on sentencing, the Trial Chamber referred to Bagosora's failure to

punish as though a finding in this respect had been made.lfl3 The Appeals Chamber is concerned

that the Trial Chamber did not make any explicit finding on such an important element of

Bagosora's criminal responsibility. It considers that the question arises as to whether the Trial

Chamber actually found that Bagosora failed to discharge his duty to punish his culpable

subordinates.

682. In any event, to the extent that the Trial Chamber intended to make such a finding, the

Appeals Chamber finds that it erred.

683. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the duty to punish will be fulfilled when necessary and

reasonable measures to punish perpetrators have been taken.t*o What measures fuIfil an accused's

duty to punish will be determined in relation to his material ability to take such measures.l60t

In certain circumstances, although the necessary and reasonable measures may have been taken, the

result may fall short of the punishment of the perpetrators.l606 Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber

considers that the Trial Chamber's statement that "[t]here is absolutely no evidence that the

160r TdaI Judgemen! para. 2040.
tuot T.ial Judgement, para.2040.
t*t 5"" Trial Judgement, para. 2267 ("Bagosora's failure to prevent and punish the crimes with which he has been
convicted set Rwanda on a course of further slaughter in the days which followed.").
t6M Boikoski andTariulovs&i Appeal Judgement, pna-230; Halilovii Appeal Judgement, para. 175.
t.uot- Blaikii Appeal Judgement, para. 417.
'ou' See Boikoski and Tariulovsfti Appeal Judgement, paras. 230 ("The Trial Chamber correctly held that the relevant
question for liability for failure to punish is whether the superior took the necessary and reasonable measures to punish
under the circumstances and that the duty to punish may be discharged, under some circumstances, by filing a report to
tirt: competent authorities."),231- Halilovit Appeal .ludgcment, para. 182 ("[...] the duty to pr"rnish inclr.rdes at least an
olrligation to investigate possiblo crimes or have fhc nratter investigated. to estabiish the facts, ancl if the .ruperior Irus no
r/()r\,(.t'to san.r:tion, to repatrt tlte-m to the cotnpetent otttlnritie.r." (emphasis in original)).
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perpetrators were punished afterwards" was insufficient, in itself, to establish that Bagosora failed

to fulfil his duty to punish the crimes of which he was convicted. The Appeals Chamber considers

that, given the absence of any further reasoning supporting the conclusion that Bagosora failed to

fulfiI his duty to punish culpable subordinates, the Trial Chamber failed to provide a"reasoned

opinion. In these circumstances, the Appeals Chamber has reviewed the Trial Chamber's factual

findings and the relevant evidence on the record to determine whether a reasonable trier of fact

could have found beyond reasonable doubt that Bagosora failed to take reasonable and necessary

measures to punish his subordinates for the crimes committed.

684. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber did not find any direct evidence

establishing that Bagosora failed to take steps to punish the perpetrators.r6oT A finding that

Bagosora failed to punish his culpable subordinates could therefore only have been inferred from

circumstantial evidence.

685. The Appeals Chamber has held that failure to prevent crimes or to punish the subordinates

in question may be infened from factors such as the continuing nature of violatiorrs.tuot In the

present case, however, the Appeals Chamber does not consider that the ongoing nature of the

crimes and lack of evidence that perpetrators were punished afterwards conclusively establish that

no action was taken to punish those responsible. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber recalls that

Bagosora was only found to have effective control of the Rwandan Armed Forces for a period of

approximately 65 hours. In the Appeals Chamber's view, any investigations into the identity of the

perpetrators and their subsequent punishment could reasonably have taken longer than 65 hours.

It would therefore not have been reasonable to expect to have seen the results of investigations

within this short period of time. Accordingly, it would not have been reasonable for the Trial

Chamber to have inferred from these facts that no steps were taken to punish the perpetrators.

686. In noting that "these attacks were clearly organised and authorised or ordered at the highest

level of the Rwandan military", the Trial Chamber appears to have considered that Bagosora's

1607 At the appeal hearing, the Prosecution pointed to the evidence of Witnesses DM191/I(VB19 and Gatsiazi as
showing that Bagosora failed to take steps to punish the perpetrators. See AT. 1 April 2011 p. lO, referring to Witness
DM191/KVB19, T.9 May 2005 p.16 and T. 28 September 2006 pp. 18, 19; AT. 31 March 2011 pp. 68, 69, referring
/o Marcel Gatsinzi, AT. 30 March 20lI p.10. The Appeals Chamber notes that Witness DM191/KVB19's tesiimony
indeed suggests that no measures were taken to punish the perpetrators of crimes. However, the Appeals Chamber notes
that the witness testified that this was due to a lack of ability to do so both because the rules of discipline were no longer
respected and because the judicial service and Prosecution Office were no longer operational. See Witness DMlgi,
T. 9 May 2005 pp. 16-18; Witness KBV19, T. 28 September 2006 pp. 18, 19. Witness Gatsinzi testified thar he was not
aware of investigations being undertaken at the time beyond those he ordered into the killing of the Belgian
peacekeepers. See Marcel Gatsinzi, AT. 30 March 2011 p. 10. However, as discussed above, the Appeals Chamber
declines to rely on Gatsinzi's testimony given the concerns about his credibility (see infra, para. 545). In view of this,
the Appeals Chamber does not consider that the evidencs of Witnesses DM19I/KVB19 and Gatsinzi alone coulcl havc
cs^t^ahlished that Brrgr'rsc,ra failcd to take the necessary and reasonable measures to punish the crimes.to'o Muvunli Anpeal .Tudgement of 29 August 2008, para. 62.
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ordering or authorisation of the crimes implied that he intended the crimes to be committed and that

it could thus be inferred that he would not have punished those responsible. However, the Appeals

Chamber recalls that it has found that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that Bagosora must have

ordered or authorised the crimes for which he was convicted pursuant to Article 6(3) of the

Stafute.l60e In the same vein, the Appeals Chamber does not consider that the only reasonable

inference to be drawn from Bagosora's awareness of the crimes was that he intended their

commission and that he would therefore not have sought to punish the perpetrators. This could

therefore not reasonably form a sufficient basis for a frnding that Bagosora tailed to take steps to

punish the crimes for which he was convicted.

687. Against this background, the Appeals Chamber notes evidence on the record that

investigations may have been ordered at the relevant time by General Marcel Gatsinzi, Bagosora's

immediate subordinate at the time. The Appeals Chamber refers to the audio recording of Gatsinzi's

interview of 10 April 1994 admitted as Exhibit D8274,r610 and Gatsinzi's testimony that he ordered

investigations into the killing of the Belgian peacekeepers upon his anival to Kigali on

7 April 1994.16rr The Trial Chamber did not consider Exhibit D8274 in relation to Bagosora's duty

to punish those responsible for the crimes and was not apprised of Gatsinzi's testimony which was

heard as additional evidence on appeal. The Appeals Chamber reiterates that nothing in

Exhibit D8274 conclusively indicates whether the alleged investigations were ordered between

6 and 9 April 1994, whether Bagosora was aware of them during that period, or whether these

investigations were in fact ordered or carried out.16l2 Likewise, the Appeals Chamber recalls its

doubts about the reliability and credibility of Gatsinzi's testimony.tut' Nevertheless, the Appeals

Chamber considers that a reasonable trier of fact could have considered that this raised reasonable

doubt about whether or not investigations were ordered.

688. In view of the Trial Chamber's lack of reasoning to support a finding that Bagosora failed to

discharge his duty to punish culpable subordinates and the reasonable doubt that exists as to

whether investigations were ordered by Bagosora's immediate subordinate at the time, Gatsinzi, the

Appeals Chamber considers that no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded that the only

reasonable inference was that Bagosora failed to take reasonable and necessary measures to punish

the perpetrators of the crimes of which he was convicted.

'&e S"e supra,sections IV.C andD.
'.u.t.o. 5"" supra, para. 675.
'o" AT.30March 201i p. 10. The Appeals Chamber also notes that Gatsinzi testified that he was not aware of any
other investigations having been ordered at the time of his arrival in Kigali, but considers that this does not establish
that no investisations were ordered. See idem.
l ' , 1 ' -'  . \ ? ( s u p r a , p a r a . o l J .
" '"  

' f l i r :  
Appeals Chamber notes- howcver, that thc Prosecution did acknowleclge that

G:L is inz i .  See AT.  31  March  20L l  p .69 .
i r rves t iga t ions  were  ordr , red  hy

/A

Case No.ICTR-98-41-A

L ) 4

14 December 2011



3e66 /A
689. As a result, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred to the extent that it

intended to find that Bagosora failed to discharge his duty to punish his subordinates. This finding

is without prejudice to Bagosora's convictions pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute insofar as

Bagosora was found responsible for failing to carry out his duty to prevent the crimes.

(c) Conclusion

690. h light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Bagosora's submissions that the

Trial Chamber erred in finding that he failed to prevent the crimes committed against the prime

Minister and the officials in Kimihurura, and those committed at Centre Christus, Kabeza,

Kibagabaga Mosque, the Saint Josephite Centre, Karama Hill, Kibagabaga Catholic Church, and

Gikondo Parish.

69I. However, to the extent that the Triat Chamber intended to find Bagosora responsible under

Article 6(3) of the Statute for failing to fulfiI his duty to punish culpable subordinates, the Appeals

Chamber considers that it erred.

3. Alleged Failure to Give the Benefrt of Reasonable Doubt

692. Bagosora submits that, taken together, all of his submissions regarding his knowledge of

attacks, perpetrators, and duty to prevent or punish, raise reasonable doubt as to his criminal

responsibility.tu'o He contends that the Trial Chamber therefore erred in law in failing to give him

the benefit of reasonable doubt.1615

693. The kosecution responds that Bagosora's claims are unmeritorious and relies on its

previous submissions to contend that the Trial Chamber committed no error.tulu

694. The Appeals Chamber considers that, to the extent that it intended to find that he failed in

his duty to punish his culpable subordinates, the Trial Chamber failed to give Bagosora the benefit

of reasonable doubt, and allows Bagosora's appeal in that respect. The Appeals Chamber has also

found that the Trial Chamber erred in holding Bagosora responsible under Article 6(3) of the

Statute for the killings perpetrated at Mudende University and in finding that Bagosora had the

requisite knowledge to be held responsible as a superior for the killings perpetrated in Gisenyi

town. However, the Appeals Chamber does not consider such errors to be attributable to a failure to

give him the benefit of reasonable doubt. The Appeals Chamber further recalls that it has dismissed

the remainder of Bagosora's arguments under this ground of appeal.

'o'o Bago.ora Noticc of Appeal, Ground 2(J); Bagosora Appeal Brjef, paras. 228,229. re.fbrring to ibid.., paras. 172-ZZ7 .
" ' '  Ra{'osorr Apputl Rricf. para. 226.
""n I 'rosccution Response Brief (Bagosora). paras. l-57, 158.
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4- Conclusion

695. In conclusion, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in holding Bagosora

responsible under Article 6(3) of the Statute for the killings perpetrated at Mudende University on

8 April 1994 and in finding that Bagosora had the requisite knowledge to be held responsible as a

superior for the killings perpetrated in Gisenyi town on 7 April 7994. Accordingly, the Appeals

Chamber glants this part of Bagosora's Second Ground of Appeal and reverses the convictions

entered against him under Counts 2,4,6,8, and 10 of the Bagosora Indictment on the basis of the

Mudende University and Gisenyi town killings.

696. The Appeals Chamber further finds that the Trial Chamber erred to the extent that it

intended to find that Bagosora was responsible for failing to punish his culpable subordinates.

691. The Appeals Chamber dismisses the remainder of Bagosora's arguments under his Second

Ground of Appeal, 41d affirms the Trial Chamber's findings that he is liable under Article 6(3) of

the Statute for failing in his duty to prevent the killings of Prime Minister Agathe Uwilingiyimana,

Joseph Kavaruganda, Fr6d6ric Nzamurambaho, Landoald Ndasingwa, and Faustin Rucogoza, as

well as the crimes committed at Centre Christus,Kabeza, Kibagabaga Mosque, the Saint Josephite

Centre, Karama Hill, Kibagabaga Catholic Church, and Gikondo Parish.

698. The Appeals Chamber will consider the impact, if any, of these findings in the section on

sentencing.
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E. Alleged Errors Relatine to the Roadblocks (Ground 4)

699. The Trial Chamber found that roadblocks, manned primarily by civilians and, at times,

military personnel, proliferated throughout Kigali from 7 April 1994 and were sites of open and

notorious slaughter and sexual assaults.l6r7 It concluded that Bagosora ordered the crimes

committed between 7 and 9 April 1994 atroadblocks in the Kigali area.1618 Accordingly, the Trial

Chamber convicted Bagosora pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Statute for ordering genocide, as well

as murder, extermination, and persecution as crimes against humanity, and violence to life as a

serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II

based on the killings and acts of rape, sexual violence, and mistreatment committed between 7 and

9 April L994 at Kigali area roadblocks.r6le It also found him liable as a superior for these crimes,

but only took this into account in the detemrination of his sentence.l620 The Trial Chamber further

convicted Bagosbra pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute for rape as a crime against humanity and

outrages upon personal dignity as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva

Conventions and of Additional Protocol II based on the rapes committed at Kigali area roadblocks

between 7 andg April 7994.162r

700. Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that the crimes at Kigali area

roadblocks could only have been perpetrated on his orders.1622 He fuither submits that the Trial

Chamber erred in law and in fact in relation to his knowledge of these crimes and his obligation to

punish the peqpetrators, as well as in failing to consider the efforts made to find and punish

them.1623

70I. The Appeals Chamber notes that in both his Notice of Appeal and Appeal Brief, Bagosora

submits that his arguments apply to the Trial Chamber's findings relating to roadblocks in Kigali

t u t 
] trid Judgement, paras. 1 9 1 8- 1 924, 2033, 203 5, 2123 -2126.

'o'o Trial Judeement. oan.2126.
tute Triul Jud-gement"^paras. 2158, 2186, 2194,2213, 2245. The Appeals Chamber considers that the reference to the
date of 6 April 1994 in relation to Bagosora's criminal responsibility for the killings perpetrated at roadblocks in
paragraphs 2ffi4,2158, arfi 2245 of the Trial Judgement is a typographical oversight in light of the Trial Chamber's
clear factual finding that the roadblocks were mounted from 7 April 1994. See ibid.,paras.1919,1922,2123. See atso

l\j!., p*ut. 2r10, 2186,2194, 2203,2210, 2213.
' "'" Trial Judgement, paras. 2 I 5 8, 2186, 2194, 2213, 2245, 227 2.
'o" Trial Judgement, pans. 2203, 2254. The Trial Chamber noted that Bagosora was charged with rape as a crime
against humanity only under Article 6(3) of the Statute. See ibid., fn.2364. For the reason discussed above, the Appeals
Chamber considers that the reference to the date of 6 April 1994 in paragraph 2254 of the Trial Judgement is a
ty-Io gf aphical oversight.
'o" See Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 3(B); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 24I,261,265. Bagosora specified that
his previous submissions under his First, Second, and Third Grounds of Rppeat apply in addition to the specific
allegations of error raised under his Fourth Grouncl of Appeal. See Bagosora Notice of Appeal, p. l3; llagosora Appe:rl
R i - i t : 1 .  p t ra .  3 l - 5 .
tutt llag,,sora Nol.ice of Appcal, Grounrls a(A)-(C); Ilagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 316-322.
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town and Kigali Region, and in "Nyundo in Gisenyi prefecture".l62o However, the Appeals

Chamber observes that Bagosora was neither indicted nor convicted in relation to roadblocks in

Gisenyi prefecture and that none of the Trial Chamber's factual findings concerning the roadblocks

erected in Gisenyi are relevant to his convictions.l62s

1. Alleged Errors Regarding Ordering

702. Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the killings at the roadblocks

could only have been perpetrated on his orders as there were other logical possibilities arising from

the circumstantial evidence.l6'6 He argues that the Trial Chamber failed to consider the possibility

that other people, such as other high-ranking mititary officials, might have given the orders.1627

703. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber did not commit any error in finding that

the only reasonable conclusion was that Bagosora must have ordered or authorised these crimes.1628

704. The Trial Charnber, in its legal findings, found as the only reasonable inference that between

7 and 9 April 1994, Bagosora, in the exercise of his authority, ordered the crimes committed at

Kiga[ area roadblocks.r62e On this basis, it convicted him pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Stafute.l630

705. The Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber's factual findings do not support its

legal finding in this respect. In support of its legal finding, the Trial Chamber referred to a section

of the Trial Judgement which does not specifically discuss Bagosora's role in the crimes perpetrated

at Kigali area roadblocks, but only his active involvement in the military's development and

implementation of a civil defence force in Rwanda before and during the relevant events-1631

r62a Bagosora Notice of Appeal, p. Ll and heading Ground 4 at p. 13; Bagosora Appeal Brief, para. 241 and heading
Ground 4 atp.45.
'u" Se" Tria Judgement, paras. Ig2g-Ig4l,2004,2123-2126. Bagosora failed to clarify the issue at the appeal hearing.
See N1.31 March 20Ll p.52.
1626 Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 3@); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 241, 261,265; Bagosora Reply Brief,
oarcs. 177. L20.
lu" Bugororu Notice of Appeal, Ground 3(B); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 26I-265. The Appeals Chamber recalls
that it has already rejected Bagosora's contention that it would have been reasonable to conclude that the crimes could
have been the work of clandestine networks. See supra, Section IV.C.1(a).
1628 Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 165,I78, I79.
'o" Trial Judgement, paru.2126 ("The Chamber has considered, as the only reasonable inference, that Bagosora in the
exercise of his authority between 6 and 9 April 1994 ordered the crimes at Kigali area roadblocks (III.2.6.2).").
The Appeals Chamber recalls that the reference to the date of 6 April 1994 in relation to Bagosora's criminal
responsibility for the killings perpetrated at roadblocks is a typographical oversight in light of the Trial Chamber's clear
factual finding that the roadblocks were mounted from 7 April 1994. See supra, fn. 1619.
1630 Trial Judgement, paras. 2158, 2186,2194,2213,2245.
1631 Trial Judgement, para. 2126, referring to Section 111.2.6.2 ("Rwanda's Civil Defence System and Civilian
Assailants"). In relation to roadblocks in particular, the Trial Chamber merely stated the following (see ibid., para. 495):

With respect to the positions of roadblocks, manned exclusively by civilian personnel, the Chamber will
consider the significance of their location, such as their presence in strategic areas and their proximity to
pubiic bLrildings or border crossings, where civilian or milit:rry forces would nonnally operate. The factual
context of a given event wiil guide thc Chamber's assessment of whether primary responsibility tbr iheso
installalions is attriburable to either military or civiiian authorities.
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The Appeals Chamber considers that this discussion does not provide support for the Trial
Chamber's finding in relation to Bagosora's responsibilify for the crimes at Kigali area roadblocks,
particularly given that the Trial Chamber stated that the assessment of whether responsibility for a
given event was athibutable to military or civilian authorities would have to be undertaken in light

of the factual context of each event.1632

706- In the specific section of the Trial Judgement containing the Trial Chamber's factual

findings on the allegations pertaining to Kigali area roadblocks, the Trial Chamber stated that,

although it did not have direct evidence of an explicit order emanating from the military or
govemment to establish roadblocks,l633 it was satisfied that "a majority of the roadblocks in Kigali

were established and operated at the behest of or with the blessing of government or military

authorities as part of its defensive effort".1634 In view of this, it rejected the Defence submission
"that the army was unable to put an end to the violence occurring at roadb1oc1r".l635 For the Trial

Chamber, "there [was] no doubt that civilian and mititary authorities exercised some degree of

control or influence over them".1636 The Trial chamber then concluded:

As for Bagosora's responsibility, the Chanber recalls that he was the main authority in the
Ministry of Defence from 6 to 9 April, with control over the Rwandan anny and gendarrrerie [...].
It is inconceivable in view of the open and notorious slaughter at roadblocks that he would bl
unaware of the crimes being committed at them or the presence of militaly personnel at some of
the primarily civilian ones, notwithstanding his denial to the contrary. In the Chamber's view,
Bagosora is responsible for the crimes committed at roadblocks in the Kigali area during this
period. This does not mean that other authorities are not also culpable for their role in estabf;hing
and operating them. 1637

707. While the Trial Chamber discussed Bagosora's knowledge of the crimes committed at

roadblocks and found him responsible, at no point did it actually discuss evidence that Bagosora

must have ordered the crimes. In another part of its legal findings, it merely stated that "at least in
their initial days, these roadblocks could only have existed with the authorisation of the Rwandan

military".1638 The Trial Chamber's factual findings appear to correspond only to those which would

normally be entered in relation to superior responsibility.

708. kr light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber failed to
provide a reasoned opinion for its finding that Bagosora was criminally responsible under
Article 6(1) of the Statute for ordering the crimes committed at Kigati area roadblocks between
7 and 9 April 1994. The Appeals Chamber finds that, based on the Trial Chamber's factual findings,

tu32 Trial Judgement, para. 495.
'o" Trial Judgement, para. 192I.
'o'" Trial Judgement, para. 1923.
to" Trial Judgement, para. 1923.
'o'n Trial Judgemenl. para. J 92.1.
'o' Tnal Judgement. para. 1924lintemai references omitted)' " '^  Tr ia l  Judgement,  prra.  ?035.
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no reasonable trier of fact could have found that the only reasonable inference was that Bagosora

ordered these crimes.

709. As a result, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in finding Bagosora

responsible for ordering the crimes perpetrated .at Kigali area roadblocks between 7 and

9 April 1994 pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Statute. The Appeals Chamber lsgalls, however, that

Bagosora was also found liable as a superior for these crim"r.tu" It now furns to consider

Bagosora's submissions in this regard.

2. Alleged Errors Regarding Superior Responsibility

7I0. Bagosora submits that the Triat Chamber erred in law and in fact in assuming that, during

the period from 6 to 9 April 1994, he knew of the killings committed at the roadblocks and of the

identify of the perpetrators.tso He argues that knowing that there are roadblocks does not sigmfy

knowing what is happening at them.lel He also submits that the Trial Chamber erred in imposing

on him an obligation to punish those who manned the roadblocks after 9 April 1994 for crimes

committed before that date.l6o2 In addition, Bagosora contends that the Trial Chamber erred in

failing to consider that efforts were made to frnd and punish the perpetrators of the killings at the

roadblocks.le3 He argues that materials from Gatsinzi tendered into evidence prove that

investigations were ordered to identify the criminals.l#

7lI. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber committed no error in finding that

Bagosora had actual knowledge of the massacres perpetrated at roadblocks, and that the alleged

initiative to find and punish to which Bagosora refers is unsupported.l6as It contends that there was

an "expression of intention not followed with any action" which, in any event, was not mentioned

by Bagosora but by Gatsinzi, and only related to incidents concerning the Presidential Guard from

Kimihurura Camp.le6 According to the Prosecution, there is no evidence whatsoever that Bagosora

took any action to prevent or punish the crimes that were committed at roadblocks in the Kigali area

between 6 and 9 April !994.1647

I 63e Trial Judgement, paras. 2 158, 2186, 2194, 2213, 2245, 2n 2.
rso Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 4(A); Bagosora Appeal Brief, para. 316. Bagosora also submits that the "same
reasoning set out in the previous submission applies here". ,See Bagosora Appeal Brief, para. 317.
'*' Bagosora Reply Brief, para. 120.
'*'Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 4(B); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 318-320.
t*' Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 4(C), p. 13; Bagosora Appeal Brief, para. 321, referring fo Trial Judgement,
oara. 1909.
1* Bugoso.u Appeal Brief, para. 322. See also ibid.,paras. 164, 200,20g,224,227, fns. 80, 95,96, lO1, referring to
Exhibits DB25 6, DB21 4, DK75.
r@-' l'rosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 228-232,235.
r"" i'rosecu{jon Response Brief (Ba-eosora), par-a. 235. re.ferring to Exhibit DiB274
"'" I 'rosccution Response Brief (Bagos ora), pata.236.
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7f2. The Appeals Chamber recalls its finding under the section addressing Bagosora's

Second Ground of Appeal that the Trial Chamber erred to the extent that it intended to find

Bagosora criminally responsible for failing to punish his culpable subordinates.le8 Bagosora's

submissions in this respect are therefore moot and will not be examined. The Appeals Chamber will

however address Bagosora's arguments relating to his duty to prevent.

7I3. Turning to Bagosora's arguments regarding his knowledge, the Appeals Chamber notes the

Trial Chamber's finding that it was "inconceivable in view of the open and notorious slaughter at

roadblocks that [Bagosora] would be unaware of the crimes being committed at them or [ofl the

presence of military personnel at some of the primarily civilian ones, notwithstanding his denial to

the contraryn.r64e 1o the legal findings section of the Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber further

referred to the fact that Bagosora could not have been unaware that his subordinates "would be

deployed for these purposes, in particular in the immediate aftermath of the death of President

Habyarimana and the resumption of hostilities with the RPF, when the vigilance of military

authorities would have been at its height", and that the crimes took place in Kigali, where Bagosora

was based.l6s0 While the Trial Chamber did not state so explicitly, the language it used in the Trial

Judgement makes it clear that it found that the only reasonable inference was that Bagosora knew

that his subordinates would commit the crimes for which he was convicted. In the alternative, the

Trial Chamber found that Bagosora also had reason to know that subordinates under his command

would commit crimes. l6s1

7I4. Bagosora does not address the rationale of the Trial Chamber's findings and fails to offer

any argument in support of his assertion of error. He does not challenge the Trial Chamber's finding

that "anyone travelling in Kigali in the early period of [the] conflict would [...] have seen the

crimes being committed at roadblocks",tut'nor does he dispute its findings that he served as a point

of contact to facilitate movement through Kigali area roadblocks, that militiamen were working in

close coordination with military personnel at the roadblocks, and that civilian and military

authorities exercised some degree of control or influence over the militia groups manning the

roadblocks.16s3 Accordingly, Bagosora fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in findine

'ilt 5"" supra,para.6gI'*t i.iJ i'"a!"'*"trt ,i*u. Dzq.
'o'u Trial Judgement, para.2038.
'o'' Trial Judgement. para.2039.
t6s2 Trial Judlement, para. 1920. See also ibid., pans. 1924,2L23 ("These roadblocks were sites of open and notorious
sl+.lrghter and sexual assault from 7 April.").
'o" Trial Judgement, pans. 1922, 1923,2033. See also Trial Judgement, para. 2035:

Many of the Kigali area roadblocks were exclusively manned by civilians, but they were part of an extensive
network in an area of strategic importance to the Rwandan army in its battls for Kigali with the RpF
(111.2.62') They were at times alongside military roadblocks and positions or othcr barriers which had a
soldier tx gendarme at its head. 

'Ihese 
niiitiarnen wore refer':d to as providing for ihe cii,il defbnce of K-igali.

Their pur,nosc was ostensibiy to :identify enemy infiltrators. Tho C-hanrber recalls that as ol 28 March 1994. a
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that the only reasonable inference from the evidence was that he knew that his subordinates were

committing crimes at Kigali area roadblocks on 7, 8, and 9 April 1994.

7I5. With respect to Bagosora's assertion that he did not know the identity of the perpetrators

and could therefore not punish them, the Appeals Chamber recalls that a superior need not

necessarily know the exact identity of his subordinates who perpetrate crimes in order to incur

liability under Article 6(3) of the Statute.16s4

716. In support of his assertion that efforts were made to find and punish the perpetrators of the

killings at roadblocks, Bagosora points to paragraph 1909 of the Trial Judgement.l6ss In this

paragraoh, the Trial Chamber summarised the evidence of t'wo high-ranking Interahamwe,

Prosecution Witnesses A and BY, that they were instructed by government officials to go on a

pacification tour to various roadblocks throughout Kigali with Rwandan army escorts allegedly

provided by Bagosora "in order to instruct civilians to gather bodies for removal and stop the

killings or face sanctions".1656

7I7. The Appeals Chamber considers that this evidence did not prevent the Trial Chamber from

reaching the conclusion that Bagosora failed in his duty to prevent the crimes committed at Kigali

area roadblocks between 7 and 9 April 1994. First, the Appeals Chamber emphasises that this

"pacification tour" was allegedly arranged on 10 April 7994;r6s7 even assuming that Bagosora

provided afmy escorts with the awareness of the purposes of the tour and let alone that such a

pacification tour constituted a "reasonable and necessary" measure in the circumstances, it would

not constitute evidence that Bagosora took steps to prevent the crimes committed at the roadblocks

between 1 and 9 April 1994, unless it were shown that he ordered the provision of army escorts in

that period. As such, it was not uffeasonable for the Trial Chamber to reach the conclusion that

Bagosora failed in his duty to prevent these crimes without expressly considering Witnesses A's

and BY's evidence.

few days before the roadblocks were erected, the ongoing discussions by high-ranking military and civilian
officials intended the civil defencs efforts in Kigali to be dAected by the area operational commander.
The Chamber is mindful of its conclusion that militia groups became increasingly uncontrollable as the
conflict progressed. However, at least in thea initial days, theso roadblocks could only have existed with the
authorisation of the Rwandan military. The Chamber therefore finds that those manning them from 7 to
9 April 7994 were Bagosora's subordinates. This does not mean that other civilian or military leaders did not
also exercise control over them.

165o Renzaho Appeal Judgement, para.64 ('"The Appeals Chamber has held that physical perpetrators of the crimes can
be identified by category in relation to a particular crime site."); Muvunyi Appeal Judgement of 29 August 2008,
par-a. 55; Blagojevii and Jokii Appeal Judgement, para.287 .
'o" Bagosora Notice of Appeal, Ground 4(C); Bagosora Appeal Brief, para. 32I, fn. l3I.
'oro Trial Judgement, para. 1909.
'n'" See Triel Judgement, para- 1909; Witness BY, T. 2luly 2004 p. 44,T.5 July 2004 p.6, and T. 8 July 2004 p.41
(closecl session); Witness A, T 1 .Iune 2004 pp. 54,56-61. Witness A also tcstif ied that when he reported to Eclouard
Kari:mera and Justin Mugenzi that there had been many ki1 iings in Kigali, they appeared pleased, and speculatecl that
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7I8. As to the "materials from Gatsinzi tendered into evidence" which would allegedly prove that

investigations were ordered to identify the criminals,tutt the Appeals Chamber recalls its finding

above that the Trial Chamber erred to the extent that it intended to find Bagosora criminally

responsible for failing to punish his culpable subordinates.l6se As regards Bagosora's arguments

under his Second Ground of Appeal that investigations "could have served to deter subsequent

attacks",l660 the Appeals Chamber reiterates that it is unable to determine which attacks these

purported investigations could have served to deter or whether or when they were actually ordered

or were in fact carried out.1661 Bagosora has therefore not demonstrated that steps were taken to

prevent the crimes perpetrated at Kigali area roadblocks for which he was convicted as a superior.

719. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Bagosora has failed to demonstrate that the

Trial Chamber erred in finding that he had the requisite knowledge to be held responsible under

Article 6(3) of the Statute for the crimes committed at Kigali area roadblocks between 7 and

9 April 1994 and that he failed to fulfil his duty to prevent these crimes.

3. Conclusion

720. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in

finding Bagosora responsible pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Statute for ordering crimes committed

at Kigali area roadblocks between 7 and 9 April 1994. Nonetheless, the Appeals Chamber finds that

Bagosora has failed to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in finding him liable as a superior

for failing in his duty to prevent these crimes by his subordinates.

721. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber gmnts Bagosora's Fourth Ground of Appeal in part and

sets aside the finding that he is responsible under Article 6(1) of the Statute for ordering the crimes

committed at Kigali area roadblocks. However, it finds him criminally responsible as a superior

pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute for genocide, and extermination and persecution as crimes

against humanity, as well as violence to life as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the

Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol ll under Counts 2, 6, 8, and 10 of the Bagosora

Indictment for failing to prevent his subordinates from participating in those crimes.t662

the tour was turanged because the international community was starting to send journalists. See Witness A,
T. 1 June 2004pp.59-61.
toto Bagosora Appeal Bief , para.322.
'.ll-"^ See supra, para. 691.
'o* Bagosora Appeal Brief, para. 200.
'.'-"-j^ See supra, para. 67 5 .
'oo' Although Bagosora could also be held criminally responsible as a superior for murder as a crime against humanity
lbr these crimcs, the Appeals Chamber recalls that cumulative convictions may not be entered for murder and
cxtcrrnination as crt'mes against humanity. anti therelore does not errter them here. 'fhe 

Appeals Ch:rmher refers tc> ils
discussion below on the matter. See infra. Section IV.C.
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The Appeals Chamber further affrrms Bagosora's convictions entered under Counts 7 and 12 of the

Bagosora Indictment pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute for rape as a crime against humanify and

outrages upon personal dignity as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva

Conventions and of Additional Protocol tr. The Appeals Chamber will deterrrine the impact, if any,

of these findings on Bagosora's sentence in the appropriate section of this Judgement.
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722. The Trial Chamber found Bagosora guitty of other inhumane acts as a crime against

humanity pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute based, in part, on what it described as the sexual
assault of Prime Minister Agathe Uwilingiyimana.tuu' The Trial Chamber found that on the

morning of 7 Apnl7994, the Prime Minister's residential compound and the neighbouring

compound where she was hiding came under attack by soldiers from the Presidential Guard and
ESM.1664 The Prime Minister was shot that morning, and her body was seen lying openly in the

compound.l66s The conviction for other inhumane acts connected with this event was based on the

factual finding that a bottle was inserted into the Prime Minister's vagina after her death.1666

The Trial Chamber found that this constituted a serious attack on human dignity.1667

723. Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law by finding him guilty of the sexual

assault of the Prime Minister because the conviction was based on actions taken after her death and

sexual assault can be perpetrated only against a living person.1668 He contends that the prohibition

on sexual assault is meant to protect the sexual integrify of a person and there is no sexual integrify

after death.l66e He adds that the Trial Chamber's finding that the sexual assault was committed after

death could constitute outrage upon a co{pse, but that he was not charged with this offence.1670

724. The Prosecution responds, inter alia, that the Trial Chamber did not err in convicting

Bagosora for other inhumane acts for the mistreatment of the Prime Minister's body.1671 It submits

that the category of "other inhumane acts" is a residual category of crimes against humanity and

allows courts flexibility in assessing the conduct before them.1672 The Prosecution maintains that

the Trial Chamber correctly concluded that the attack on the Prime Minister constituted a serious

attack on human digmty.1673

'.u-lt. 5 
" " 

Trial Judgement, paras. 2224, 2258.
'o* Trial Judgemen! paras. 701-703,717.
'::' Trial Judgement, para. 705. See also ibid., pan.22L9.

::: Trial Judgemenl paras. 2219, 2224.
]::1 Trial Judgement, pan. 2222.
'ooo Bagosora Notice of Appeal, para. 5(A); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 323, 324, 328. See also AT. I April 2011
p' 15. At the appeal hearing, Bagosora further argued that the mens rea for sexual assault could not apply to a dead
body. See AT. I April 2oll p.15.
t6un Bagoso.a eppeat Brief, paras. 325-327, citing Kunarac et aI. Appeal Judgement, para. 163; Kvoika et al.Tia1
{g{Sement, pan. 172; R. v. Richer, U9931 Atberta Courr of Appeal No. 503.'o'u Bagosora Notice of Appeal, para. 5(A); Bagosora nppJat Brief, para. 328. See a/so Bagosora Appeal Brief,
paras.323-327 .
'o" Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), para. 238.
'o" Prosecution Response Brief @agosora), paras. 239,240 AT. 1 April 2011 p. 13.'o'' See Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 242-245. Th" Pror""ution further submits that the mental
suff-enng associateel with inhumane acts js not limited to the "primary victims" and that the Trial Chamber correctly
forrnd that the assault on the Prinlo Ministcr's bodv constituted a serious attack on human clignity anrl carisr:tl 'rental
suffering to civilians viewing hcr bocly. Prosecution Response Bricf (Bagosora), faras. 244, 2,45.
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725. The Appeals Chamber, Judge Pocar dissenting, finds that, underlying Bagosora's

contentions is the fundamental question of whether he was charged with a serious attack on human

digmty constituting the inhumane acts that he was ultimately convicted for under Count 9 of the

Bagosora Indictment.

726. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber notes that Bagosora was found guilty on the basis of

paragraph 6.9 of his Indictrnent,l674 which reads:

[...] Prime Minister Agathe Uwiiingiyimana was tracked down, arrested" sexually assaulted and
killed by Rwandan Army personnel, more specffically, members of the kesidential Guard, the
Para-Commando Battalion and the Reconnaissance Battalion. [...]

Count 9 of the Bagosora Indictment charges Bagosora with inhumane acts as a crime against

humanity pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute for the acts or omissions set out, inter alia, in

paragraph 6.9.r67s

721. The Appeals Chamber, Judge Pocar dissenting, observes that paragraph 6.9 of the

Indictment clearly indicates that the Prime Minister was first sexually assaulted and subsequently

killed. There is no ambiguity in this charge, and no reference to events taking place after the Prime

Minister's murder. The Trial Chamber, however, though using confusing and misleading language,

convicted Bagosora on the factual basis of mistreatment of the hime Minister's body after her

death.l676 By definition these two sets of facts are distinct. The Appeals Chamber recalls that

"[w]hile it is possible to remedy the vagueness of an indictment by providing the defendant with

timely, clear and consistent information detailing the factual basis [underpinning] the charges,

omitted charges can be incorporated into the indictment only by a formal amendment pursuant to

Rule 50 of the Rules".1677

728. In these circumstances, the Appeals Chamber, Judge Pocar dissenting, concludes that, by

finding Bagosora guitty of mistreating the Prime Minister's body after her death, the Trial Chamber

convicted Bagosora for criminal conduct with which he was not charged.1678 Thus, Bagosora's

conviction based on the defilement of the Prime Minister's co{pse must be reversed.167e

See also AT. 1 April 20Il p. 14. In addition, the Prosecution argues that the kime Minister was forcibly undressed
before her death, which also constituted an inhumane act as a crime against humanity. ,See Prosecution Response Brief
(!agosora), paras. 238, 246-248; AT. 1 April 20ll p.14.
'"'" Trial Judgement, para.2219, referring to The Prosecutor v. Thioneste Bagosora, Case No. ICTR-96-7-I, Amended
Indictment, 12 August 1999 ("Bagosora Indictment" or "Indictrnent" in this section), p. 60.
'o" Bagosora Indictment, p. 60.
'.1'_lSee Trial Judgement, paras. 2219,2224.
',o". Ntagerura et al. Appeal Judgement, para.32. No relevant amendment was ever made to the Bagosora Indictment.'""' 'fhe 

Appeals Chamber notes that even if the Bagosora Indictment were considered to be merely vague, no curing
lortk place. The Prosecution's post-indictment communications cenerallv referrcd 1o the insertion of a bottlc into the;
Prirne Minister's body, without indicating whether the act was perpetrated before or after the Prime Minister's death.
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729. h light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber need not address the parties' remaining

contentions. The Appeals Chamber underscores that the desecration of Prime Minister

Uwilingiyimana's corpse constituted a profound assault on human dignity meriting urrreserved

condemnation under international 1aw.1680 Such crimes strike at the core of national and human

See kosecution Pre-Trial Brief, Appendix A, Witnesses DA and DDF pp. 33, 55. Ar no poinr during the trial did the
Prosecution allege that its case concerned the treatnent of the Prime Minister's body after her death. An examination of
the trial transcripts shows that relevant witnesses reported viewing the Prime Minister's assaulted body without
testifying to the timing of the sexual abuse on her body. See Witness AE, T. 16 December 2003 pp. 42,43 Witness DA,
T. 18 November 2003 p. 49. The Appeals Charrber further notes that, in its Closing Briei thJkosecution generally
referred to the Prime Minister's genital mutilation, without discussing the details of the incident, liniting itself to
stating that the evidence of witnesses observing the Prime Minister's mutilated dead body or learning of the mutilation
afterwards put Bagosora on notice of the propensity of soldiers to courmit acts of sexual violence. See Prosecution
Closing Brief, paras. 155, 156. The Appeals Chamber also underscores that the broad and indeterminate scope of "other
inhumane acts" makes it particularly important that charges brought and convictions entered under this rubric be set out
with the utmost clariry, in order to respect the due process rights of the accused.'o'' The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Charrber's conviction was entered solely on the basis of mistreatment of
the Prime Minister's co{pse, and that no reference is made in the Trial Judgement to allegations of sexual or other
assault on the Prime Minister prior to her death. In this circumstance, the Appeals Chamber will not address the
Prosecution's submission regarding potential evidence related to events prior to the Prime Minister's death.r6rc In this regard, the Appeals Chamber notes that, tr Ig94, many domestic criminal codes, including the Rwandan
criminal code, explicitly criminalised acts degrading the dignity of the corpse or interfering with a corpse. Any review
of customary international law regarding this issue would need to take into account the large numbei of juriidictions
that criminalise degrading the dignity of or interfering with corpses. See, e.g., Botswana, Penal Code (1964) Ch. 08:01,
s. 138; Canada Criminal Code,R.5.,1985, c.C-34, s. 182(b); Costa Rica, Codigo Penal (797L), an.2O7; Ethiopia,
Penal Code, (1957), an.287b); Germany, Strafgesetzbuch (SIGB),1998, s. 168 (this section was added in 19gZ); India,
Penal Code (1860), s.297; Kenya" Penal Code (1970) Ch. 63, s. 137; Japan, Penal Code (ActNo.45 of 1907), arr. 190;
Lithuania, Crirninal Code as amended (1961), art.335; New Zealand, Crimes Act 196I No.43, art. 150(b); Nigeria,
Crinrinal Code Act (1990), (Ch.77), s.242; United States of America (Oregon State), (1971), ORS.166.082; pakistan,
Crirninal Code (1860), s. 29'l; Rwand4 Dduet-loi N"2In7 du t8 aofit 1977 instituant le Code pCnot, art. 352;
Switzerland, Code pinal suisse du 2I ddcembre 1937, axt.262; lJganda, Penal Code Act 1950 (Ch. IZO), s. I2O;
Viettam, Penal Code (1985), s.246. Humanitarian law also prohibits the maltreatment of corpses. See, e.g., The Laws
of War on Land, Institute of International Law, Oxford" 9 September 1880, art. 19; Manual of the Laws of Naval War,
Institute of International Law, Oxford" 9 August I9I3, art.85; Convention for the Amelioration of the Condition of the
Wounded and Sick in Armies in the Field. Geneva, 6 July 1906, art. 3; Convention for the Amelioration of the
Condition of the Wounded and Sick in Armies in the Field. Geneva, 27 July 1929, art.3; Convention (X) of the
Adaptation to Maritime Warfare of the Principles of the Geneva Convention, The Hague, 18 October L907, art. 16;
Geneva Convention (IV) Relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of War, 12 August lg4g,7 5 tiNTS 287,
art. 16; kotocol Additional to the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949, and.Relating to the Protection of Victims of
International Arrred Conflicts (Protocol I), Geneva, 12 December 1977, ar:t.34(1); Yves Sandoz, Christoph Swinarski
and Bruno Zinmermann, eds., Commentary on the Additional Protocols of 8 June 1977 to the Geneva Conventions of
12 August 1949, (Dordrecht Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, 1987), para. 1307. The prohibition and criminalisation ol
maltreating corpses also extends to domestic mililsy law. See, e.g., regarding prohibition: Jean-Marie Henckaerts and
Louise Doswald-Beck, eds., International Committee for the Red Cross, Customary Intemational Humanitarian l,aw,
Vol. [ (Practice) (Carrbridge: Cambridge Universiry Press, 2009) C'ICRC Study on Cusromary Inrernarional
Humanitarian Law"), pp.2663-2667, referring ro: Australia" Defence Force Manual (1994), s. 998; Bosnia anc
Herzegovina, Instructions to the Muslim Fighter (1993), sec. c; Netherlands, Military Manual (1993), p. :y11-2,
s. 1817(1); Philippines, Military Instructions (1989), ss. 2, 4; Spain, Royal Ordinance for the Armed Forces (1t78), art.
140; Switzerland, Basic Military Manual (1987), arts.I94(2),200(f); United Kingdom, Military Manual (1958), s. 380;
UnitedKingdom, l"awof ArmedConflictManual (1981),Annex A,p.47, s. 15.See, e.g.,regardingcriminalization:
ICRC Study on Customary International Humanitarian Law, pp.2665-2667, referring to Australia, War Crimes Act
(1945), s. 3 (xxxv); Ecuador, Naval Manual (1989), p. 6-5, s. 6.2.5; ItaJy, Wartime Military Penal Code (1941),
art.l97; Netherlands, Military Criminal Code as amended (1964), art. 143; New Zealand, Military Manual (lgg2),
s. 1704(5); Nigeria, Manual on the l-aws of War (undated), s. 6; Switzerland, Basic Military Manual (1987), arts.
194(2),200(D; Switzerland, Military Criminal Code as amended (1927), art.140(2); United Kingdom, Military Manual
(i958), s. 626(b); United States, Field Manual (1956), s. 504(c); United States, Instructor's Guide (1985), pp. 13, 14;
Bangladesh, International Crimes (Tribunal) Act (1973), s. 3(2)(e); Ireland, Geneva Conventions Act as antentled
(1,962). s. 4(1) and (4). Furthermore, in scveral tr.ials lbllowing the Sccond World War, accused were convjcted on
chrrses of mutilating dead bodies. See, e.g.- Kilmchi antl Mo.hur:hi crtse.,IIniterl States Milir lry (..ommission at
Yrrkirltama, Japan, 20 April 1946 Trial of Max Schrnid, United States Gt:neral Military Government Court at Daclrau.
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identity. However, the Appeals Chamber finds, Judge Pocar dissenting, that Bagosora was not

charged on this basis, and thus cannot be held legally responsible for this act.

130. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber, Judge Pocar dissenting, concludes that the Trial

Charnber erred in finding that Bagosora was guihy of other inhumane acts as a crime against

humanity based on the defilement of the kime Minister's corpse. The Appeals Chamber therefore

reverses, Judge Pocar dissenting, Bagosora's conviction for other inhumane acts as a crime against

humanity entered under Count 9 of the Bagosora Indictment with respect to this incident. It will

consider the impact, if any, of this finding in the appropriate section of this Judgement.

Germany, 19May l94T,UnttedNationsWarCrimesComrnissionLawReports,vol.)ilII,pp. 151, I52;Takehikocase,
Australian Military Court at Wewak, 30 November 1945. See also Yochio and Other case, IJntted States Military
Corrrmission at the Mariana Islands, 2-15 August 1946; Tisato czzse, Australian Military Court at Rabaul, 2 ApiI 1946;
L.arv Reports of Trials of War Criminals. preoarecl by the iJniterl Nalions War Crimes Commission. 1949, Volume XV,
p . 1 3 4 .
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365?. lhG. Alleeed Enor Relating to Cumulative Convictions (Ground 5(B))

73I- The Trial Chamber found Bagosora guilty of murder, extermination, and persecution as

crimes against humanity (Counts 4, 6, and 8, respectively) for the killings of Prime Minister

Agathe Uwilingiyimana, Joseph Kavaruganda, Fr6d6ric Nzamurambaho, Landoald Ndasingwa, and

Faustin Rucogoza, as well as the killings perpeffated at Centre Christus, Kabeza, Kibagabaga

Mosque, the Saint Josephite Centre, Karama Hill, Kibagabaga Catholic Church, and Gikondo

Parish, and the killings committed between 7 and 9 April 1994 atKigali area roadblocks.168l

732. Bagosora submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law in convicting him of both persecution

and extemination as crimes against humanity based on the same killings.tut' In support of his

contention, he argues that the Prosecution conceded this ground in its response brief to Mabakuze's

appeal.l683

733. The Prosecution responds that cumulative convictions for extermination and persecution

based on the same facts are permissible, and that Bagosora misrepresents its submissions in

response to Ntabakuze's appeal.l68a

734. In reply, Bagosora concedes that cumulative convictions for extennination and persecution

based on the same facts are permissible and accordingly withdraws this submission from the present

ground of appeal.168s

735. The Appeals Chamber confirms that cumulative convictions for extermination and

persecution as crimes against humanity based on the same set of facts are permissible since each

offence has a materially distinct element not contained in the other.1686 Extermination requires proof

that the accused caused the death of a large number of people, while persecution necessitates

tu" Trial Judgement, paras. 2186, 2194, 2213, 2258. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has found that the Trial
Chamber erred in convicting Bagosora for the killings of Alphonse Kabiligi and of Augustin Maharangari, as well as
the killings perpetrated in Gisenyi town, at Mudende University, and at Nyundo Parish. See supra, paras. 549, 573,632,
633,638,659,695.
1682 Bagosora Notice of Appeal, p. 13; Bagosora Appeal Brief, para. 330.
'oo' Bagosora Notice of Appeal, para. 23, Ground 5(B); Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 33I-333, referring to
Prosecutor's Brief in Response to Aloys Ntabakuze's Appeal, 7 September 2009, paras. 5, 192. The Appeals Chamber
recalls that Ntabakuze's appeal case was severed from that of Bagosora and Nsengiyumva on 30 March 2011.
16e Prosecution Response Brief (Bagosora), paras. 251,252. The kosecution submits that the issue there concerned
cumulative convictions of extermination and murder. See ibid., para.252.
t685 Bagoso.a Reply Brief, para. L26. Bagosora also "takes note of the Prosecution's concession that the conviction for
murder and extermination for the same acts, as well as for murder and persecution for the same acts, is not allowed".
In this regard, the Appeals Chamber notes that Bagosora's assertion that the Prosecution conceded that cumulative
convictions for murder and persecution as crimes against humanity wore not permissible is ill-founded; the Prosecution
unequivocally submitted in its Response Brief to Nsengiyumva's appeal that these convictions were permissible.
See Prosecution Response Brief (Nsengiyumva), para.312.
t686 Nrrhi*anrt et al. Appeal - Judgernent, piras 1026, 1OZ1 , ,Stu1kii Appeal .hrrlgenrcnt, paras. 364, 36i .
See also Krajituik Appeai Judscmcnt. paras. 390, 391.
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evidence that an act or omission was in fact discriminatory and that the act or omission was

perpeftated with the specific intent to discriminate.r6sT

736. Bagosora did not formally raise any error vrs-d-vis his cumulative convictions for murder

and extermination as crimes against humanity. However, the Appeals Chamber recalls its holding

above in connection with Nsengiyumva's appeal that cumulative convictions for extermination and

murder as crimes against humanity based on the same set of facts are not permissible because

murder as a crime against humanity does not contain a materially distinct element from

extermination as a crime against humanity.l688 Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds, proprio

motu, that the Trial Chamber erred in law in convicting Bagosora of both murder and extermination

as crimes against humanity based on the same facts. In this context, the Appeals Chamber recalls

that the more specific provision should be upheld.tutn Conrequently, the Appeals Chamber

concludes that Bagosora's conviction for murder as a crime against humanity under Count 4 of the

Bagosora Indictment pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute should be reversed, while his conviction

for extermination under Count 6 of the Bagosora Indictrnent should be affirmed.

737. Considering the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber vacates Bagosora's convictions for murder

as a crime against humanity under Count 4 of the Bagosora Indictment in relation to the killings of

Prime Minister Agathe Uwilingiyimana, Joseph Kavaruganda, Frdd6ric Nzamurambaho,

Landoald Ndasingwa, and Faustin Rucogoza, as well as the killings at committed at Centre

Christus, Kibagabaga Mosque, Kabeza, the Saint Josephite Centre, Karama Hill, Kibagabaga

Catholic Church, and Gikondo Parish. The Appeals Chamber will determine the impact, if any, of

this finding on Bagosora's sentence in the following section.

'ot'' 
Ncrlti,nona et al. Appeal Judgement, paras.

' t*^ 
.sa" ,sttpra, para. 416.

'6r" S"e supra, fn. 961.
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H. Impact of the Appeals Chamber's Findinss on Sentencing (Ground 6)

738. Bagosora submits that the sentence imposed should be reduced "as will be determined by

the Appeals Chamber upon review of the conviction".l6e0 The Prosecution responds that in the

absence of any elaboration of the error committed by the Trial Chamber, Bagosora's general prayer

should be summarilv dismissed. 16e1

739. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has vacated all of Bagosora's convictions for murder as

a crime against humanity under Count 4 of the Bagosora Indictment.'ue' It has also reversed

Bagosora's convictions pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Statute for the killing of

Augustin Maharangari, and his convictions pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute for the killing of

Alphonse Kabiligi, the killings of the Belgian peacekeepers murdered before his visit to

Carnp Kigali, and the killings in Gisenyi town, at Nyundo Parish, and at Mudende Universiry.

Furthermore, the Appeals Chamber has set aside the finding that Bagosora was responsible under

Article 6(1) of the Statute for ordering crimes committed at Kigali area roadblocks. It has

nonetheless found him responsible as a superior pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute for those

crimes. Finally, the Appeals Chamber has reversed, Judge Pocar dissenting, Bagosora's conviction

for crimes against humanity (other inhumane acts) pursuant to Article 6(3) of the Statute for the

defilement of the corpse of Prime Minister Agathe Uwilingiyimana.

740. The Appeals Chamber considers that the fact that Bagosora is no longer found guilty

pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Statute does not reduce his culpability. The Appeals Chamber

stresses in this regard that, in the circumstances of this case, superior responsibility under

Article 6(3) of the Statute is not to be seen as less grave than criminal responsibility under

Article 6(1) of the Statute. However, the Appeals Chamber, Judges Pocar and Liu dissenting,

considers that the reversal of Bagosora's convictions for the killings of the peacekeepers murdered

before his visit to Camp Kigali, Augustin Maharangari, Alphonse Kabiligi, and the killings

perpetrated in Gisenyi town, at Nyundo Parish, and at Mudende University, as well as for the

defilement of the corpse of the Prime Minister result in a reduction of his overall culpability which

calls for a reduction ofhis sentehce.

74I. The Appeals Chamber, Judges Pocar and Liu dissenting, therefore grants Bagosora's Sixth

Ground of Appeal, sets aside his sentence of imprisonment for the remainder of his life. and

sentences him to a term of 35 years of imprisonment.

tu'o Bagosora Notice of Appeal, p. 14; Bagosora Appeal Brief, para. 334.'"'' Prosecution Response Brief (I3agosora), prLra. 253.
'""'The Appcals Chamber has affirmed Bagosora's conviction tor murrler rrncler Count 5 for the killinc of the
peacekeepers . See sttp'r'rt, paras. 630, 634.
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V. DISPOSITION

742. For the foregoing reasons, TIIE APPEALS CHAMBER,

PURSUAIIT to Article 24 of the Statute and Rule 118 of the Rules:

NOTING the written submissions of the parties and their oral arguments presented at the appeal

hearing on 30 March, 31 March, and 1 April2Dll;

SITTING in open session;

WITH RESPECT TO ANATOLE NSENGTTUMVA'S APPEAL

GRANTS Nsengiyumva's Second, Fourth, and Tenth Grounds of Appeal in part and REYERSES

his convictions for genocide, crimes against humanity, and serious violations of Article 3 common

to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol tr for aiding and abetting the crimes at

Bisesero in the second half of June 1994:.

GRANTS Nsengiyumva's Third and Sixth Grounds of Appeal in part, SETS ASIDE the finding

that he is responsible under Article 6(1) of the Statute for ordering the killings in Gisenyi town on

7 April 1994, and, Judges Meron and Robinson dissenting, FINDS him responsible for those

kiltings as a superior under Article 6(3) of the Statute;

GRANTS Nsengiyumva's Thitd, Fifth, Seventh, Eighth, Ninth, and Eleventh Grounds of Appeal in

part, and REVERSES his convictions for genocide, crimes against humanity, and serious violations

of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol tr in relation to the

killings at Mudende University on 8 April 1994 and at Nyundo Parish between 7 and 9 April 1994,

as well as his convictions for crimes against humanity and serious violations of Article 3 common

to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II in relation to the killing of

Alphonse Kabiligi;

GRANTS Nsengiyumva's Fourteenth Ground of Appeal in part, and REVERSES his conviction

for murder as a crime against humanity in relation to the killings in Gisenyi town on 7 April 1994;

DISMISSES Nsengiyumva's appeal in all other respects;

AFFIRMS, Judges Meron and Robinson dissenting, Nsengiyumva's convictions for genocide,

extermination and persecution as crimes against humanity, and violence to life as a serious violation

of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II for the kiliinss in

Gisenyi town on 7 Apnl 1994;
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SETS ASIDE the sentence of life imprisonment imposed on Nsengiyumva by the Trial Chamber,

and, Judges Meron and Robinson dissenting, IMPOSES a sentence of 15 years of imprisonment,

subject to credit being given under Rules 101(C) and 107 of the Rules for the period he has already

spent in detention since his arrest on27 March 1996:

GRANTS Bagosora's Third Ground of Appeal in part, and REVERSES his convictions for crimes

against humanity and serious violations of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of

Additional Protocol II in relation to the killings of Alphonse Kabiligi, Augustin Maharangari, and

the Belgian peacekeepers murdered before his visit to Camp Kigali, as well as his convictions for

genocide, crimes against humanity, and serious violations of Article 3 common to the Geneva

Conventions and of Additional Protocol II in relation to the killings at Nyundo Parish between

7 and 9 April 1994;

GRANTS Bagosora's Second Ground of Appeal in part,

genocide, crimes against humanity, and serious violations

Conventions and of Additional Protocol tr in relation

7 April 1994 and at Mudende University on 8 April 1994;

GRANTS Bagosora's Fourth Ground of Appeal in part,

responsible under Article 6(1) of the Statute for ordering

between 7 and 9 April 7994, and FINDS him responsible

Article 6(3) of the Statute;

and REVERSES his convictions for

of Article 3 common to the Geneva

to the killings in Gisenyi town on

SETS ASIDE the finding that he is

the crimes at Kigali area roadblocks

for those crimes as a superior under

GRANTS, Judge Pocar dissenting, Bagosora's Fifth Ground of Appeal in part, and REVERSES,

Judge Pocar dissenting, his conviction for other inhumane acts as a crime against humanity in

relation to the defilement of the corpse of Prime Minister Agathe Uwilingiyimana;

GRANTS, Judges Pocar and Liu dissenting, Bagosora's Sixth Ground of Appeal relating to

sentencing;

DISMISSES Bagosora's appeal in all other respects;

REVERSES proprio motu Bagosora's conviction for murder as a crime against humanity under

Count 4;

AFFIRMS Bagosora's convictions for:

- genocide, extermination and

serious violation of- Article 3
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Protocol tr in relation to the killings at Kibagabaga Mosque, Kabeza, the Saint Josephite Centre,

Karama Hill, Kibagabaga Catholic Church, Gikondo Parish, and Kigali area roadblocks;

- exterrnination and persecution as crimes against humanity, and violence to life as a serious

violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II in relation

to the killings of Prime Minister Agathe Uwilingiyimana, Joseph Kavaruganda, Fr6d6ric

Nzamurambaho, Landoald Ndasingwa, Faustin Rucogoza, as well as the killings at Centre Christus;

- murder as a crime against humanity and violence to life as a serious violation of Article 3 common

to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II in relation to the killings of the Belgian

peacekeepers who were still alive when Bagosora visited Carnp Kigali;

- rape as a crime against humanity in relation to the rapes committed at Kigali area roadblocks, the

Saint Josephite Centre, and Gikondo Parish;

- other inhumane acts as crimes against humanity in relation to the stripping of female refugees at

the Saint Josephite Centre and the "sheparding" of refugees to Gikondo Parish, where they were

killed;

- outrages upon personal dignity as serious violations of Article 3 common to the Geneva

Conventions and of Additional Protocol tr in relation to the rapes at Kigali area roadblocks, the

Saint Josephite Centre, and Gikondo Parish;

SETS ASIDE the sentence of life imprisonment imposed on Bagosora by the Trial Chamber, and,

Judges Pocar and Liu dissenting, IMPOSES a sentence of 35 years of imprisonment, subject to

credit being given under Rules 101(C) and 107 of the Rules for the period he has already spent in

detention since his a:rest on 9 March 1996:

RULES that this Judgement shall be enforced immediately pursuant to Rule 119 of the Rules;

ORDERS, in light of time served, Nsengiyumva's immediate release; and

ORDERS that, in accordance with Rules 103(8) and 107 of the Rules, Bagosora is to remain in the

custody of the Tribunal pending the finalisation of alrangements for his transfer to the State where

his sentence will be served.

Judges Meron and Robinson append a joint dissenting opinion.

Judge Giiney appends a partially dissenting opinion.

Judge Pocar appends a dissenting opinion.

Judges Pocar and Liu append a joint dissenting opinion.
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Done in English and French, the English text being authoritative.

Judge Patrick Robinson

Judge Fausto Pocar

Done this fourteenth dav of December 2011 at Arusha. Tanzania.

Judge Theodor Meron, Presiding Judge Mehmet Gtiney

Case No, ICTR-98-41-A 14 December 2011



3(+sll.
\rI. JOINT DISSBNTING OPIMON OF JI]DGES MERON AND ROBINSON

1. In this Judgement, the.Appeals Chamber enters convictions against Nsengiyumva, as a

superior under Article 6(3) of the Statute, for the actions of three soldiers linked to killings in

Gisenyi town on 7 April 1994.1The Majorify's approach is based on, inter alia, its conclusion that

the Trial Chamber did not err in finding that Nsengiyumva had knowledge of the soldiers' actions.

In our view however, no reasonable Trial Chamber could find that this was the only reasonable

inference to be drawn from the circumstantial evidence on the record. Accordingly, we respectfully

disagree with the Majority's reasoning and with its decision to affirm Nsengiyumva's convictions

as a superior with respect to the killings in Gisenyi town.

2. The Trial Chamber found that Nsengiyumva had knowledge of the killings in Gisenyi town

based on: (i) its finding that he ordered the attacks;' (ii) its general characterisation of the crimes for

which he was convicted as "organised military operations requiring authorisation, planning and

orders from the highest levels"; (iii) its view that military authorities would be particularly vigilant

on 7 April 1994 g1ven the death of President Habyarimana and resumption of hostilities with the

RPF; and (iv) the proximity of the crime scene to Gisenyi military camp.' The Majority upholds the

Trial Chamber's findings that Nsengiyumva possessed the relevant knowledge, noting the Trial

Chamber's conclusions regarding "organised military operations" at a time when military

authorities would be vigilant, and the proximity of the attacks to Gisenyi military camp.a

3. We first observe that with respect to the Gisenyi town attacks, the Appeals Chamber has

concluded that the Trial Chamber erred in finding Nsengiyumva responsible for ordering under

Article 6(1), and instead enters convictions as a superior under Article 6(3).s We alsb note that the

Appeals Chamber has reversed all of Nsengiyumva's convictions related to other crime sites.6

The gravamen of the Majority's opinion is thus limited to Nsengiyumva's responsibility for the

actions of three soldiers who, disguised in civilian clothes, joined a large group of civilians in

perpetrating killings in the immediate aftermath of President Habyarimana's death.T

4. The Trial Chamber's general conclusion regarding "organised military operations" was based

on the patfern of crimes for which it convicted Nsengiyumva, some involving a much larger number

of subordinates than those at issue in Gisenyi town.8 It may well be reasonable to infer that a

t Appeal Judgement, pans303,742.
'Trial Judgernent, para. 1065.
' Trial Judgement, para.2O82.
" Appeal Judgement, para.298 (internal quotations omitted).
' Appeal Judgement, paras 284, 303.
" Sc: Appeal Judgement, pan.742.
i 5,r,: Apneal Judscrnent, para.298; Trial Juclgement, paras 

.1 
016,

" Sr,z, e.€., Trial Judgement. paras 1248-1252, 1823-1824,2258.
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commander at a time of heightened vigilance would have to know about significant numbers of his

subordinates participating in multiple crimes. However, all of Nsengiyumva's other convictions

establishing a pattern of "organised military operations" have been reversed, and thus are no longer

relevant to his knowledge of the Gisenyi town crimes. In this context, we consider it implausible

that the only reasonable inference to be drawn from the limited remaining circumstantial evidence

is that Nsengiyumva would have reason to know that three lower-level soldiers from one of the

camps in his zone of command would disguise themselves in civilian clothes and commit crimes

near their base.e It is entirely reasonable to interpret the remaining evidence on the record as

demonstrating that the three soldiers took action without Nsengiyumva's knowledge. Finding

otherwise comes dangerously close to imposing strict liability on military commanders for any and

all crimes committed by subordinates, simply by virtue of the superior-subordinate relationship.lO

5. In our view the geographical proximity of the killings to Gisenyi military camp is insufficient

to justify the Majority's findings as to Nsengiyumva's knowledge. The evidence considered by the

Trial Chamber was that the Gisenyi town killings were carried out primarily by a $oup of civilians,

and that the three soldiers who joined this group were disguised as civilians.rl Absent additional

evidence, we cannot see how the only reasonable inference to be drawn from evidence regarding a

$oup of individuals dressed as civilians committing crimes near Gisenyi military camp is that

Nsengiyumva knew that three soldiers from one of the bases under his command would join these

civilians.

6. We acknowledge that if Witness DO's testimony that the soldiers involved in the Gisenyi

town killings met with Nsengiyumva is considered, the Majority's conclusion as to Nsengiyumva's

knowledge would be reasonable.l2 Such reliance on Witness DO's testimony, however, is not

possible. The Trial Chamber explicitly declined to accept Witness DO's "ascount of

Nsengiyumva's participation in meetings in the absence of corroboration."l3 It noted, inter alia,

Witness DO's status as an accomplice witness serving a life sentence in Rwanda, that Witness DO

provided accounts that were at times definitively incorrect and contradictory,la and that he may

have had an "interest in distancing himself from the crimes."l5 Just as the Appeals Chamber must

give deference to the Trial Chamber's acceptance of certain parts of Witness DO's very problematic

testimony, so must it defer to the Trial Chamber's conclusion that other parts of Witness DO's

e We note that in the days immediately following President Habyarimana's death, Nsengiyumva would have had
multiple responsibilities, many of which might take precedence over accounting for three soldiers in one camp who
were absent for a period during one day.
'" See Prosecutor v. DeIaIii et al., Case No. IT-96-21-A, Appeal Judgement, 20 February 2001, pan.239.
tt Trial Judgement, paras 1016, 1064.
" Tnal Judgement, paras 1015, 1017.
" Tnal Judgement, para. 10-58.
'- ' l 'r ial Judgement, para. 1055.
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testimony are not credible.l6 We also note that although the three soldiers may have interacted with

an officer from the,Gisenyi military camp while committing crimes,17 this does not demonsffate that

the only reasonable inference available was that Nsengiyumva knew of their actions. The mere fact

that the offrcer was within Nsengiyumva's chain of command does not establish knowledge.

7. We underscore that we would support finding that one reasonable interpretation of the

evidence is that Nsengiyumva knew that the three soldiers would participate in the Gisenyi town

killings. We cannot agree, however, with the Majority's finding that the Trial Charnber was

reasonable in concluding that this was the only reasonable inference to be drawn from the

circumstantial evidence. Accordingly, we respectfully dissent.

Done in English and French, the English text being authoritative.

t\^r..^ \\(,\
Judge Patrick Robinson

Dated this fourteenth day of December 20L1 at Arusha, Tanzania

lSeal of the Tribunall

tt Trial Judgement, para. 1061.
16 ,See Trial Judgement, paras 1058-1062.
" Appeal Judgement, para.294.

Judge Theodor Meron
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2. I believe that the Prosecution's failure to specifically plead the Mudende Universiry attack in

the Indictment and the Particulars suggests that it was not, as such, part of the Prosecution case at

the time when the Indictment was issued and the Particulars were provided. The Prosecution is

expected to know its case before proceeding to trial.2 Considering that the Particulars were filed

over two years before the commencement of trial, it is possible that in the period leading up to the

trial, the Prosecution's strategy developed and that its case evolved.

3. I note that the Prosecution: (i) was in possession of Witness FfV's statement as early as

1995;3 (ii) failed to incorporate the relevant information into the Indictrnent in 1999; (iii) failed to

add the information to the Indictment when specifically required to do so in 2000;a and (iv)

eventually linked Witness IfV's statement to Nsengiyumva only in the Supplement to the

Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief in 2002.s In my view, the mere fact that Witness FfV's statement was

disclosed to the Defence in 1999 did not free the Prosecution from its obJigation to add a specific

reference to the events at Mudende University in the Indictrnent. Finally, I find that the Majority's

position on Mudende University is not consistent with its approach to Bisesero. The Appeals

Chamber finds that Nsengiyumva was not charged with thb events of Bisesero and overturns the

conviction on this basis.6 I believe the failure of the Prosecution to include the Mudende University

attack in the Indictment to be equally, if not more, serious than the one of Bisesero.

4. Consequently, I believe that when the Prosecution decided to pursue Nsengiyumva's

criminal responsibility for the Mudende University attack, it should have sought leave to amend the

Nsengiyumva Indictment pursuant to Rule 50 of the Rules in order to incorporate this charge.T It did

not. I therefore consider that Nsengiyumva was not charged with the Mudende University attack.

the Appeals Chamber is of the view that the

Mudende University attack in the Indictment

am unable to agree with the Majority for the

1. In its Judgement in relation to Nsengiyumva,

failure of the Prosecution to specifically plead the

does not establish that it was not part of its case.l I

following reasons.

t Appeals Judgement, para. 163.
' Muvunyi Appeal Judgement, para. Ntagerura et al. Appeal Judgement, para. Kupreikii et al. Appeal
Judgement, para.92.
' See Exhibit DNS60C (Witness HV's Statement of 28 November 1995).
o Decision Ordering the Filing of Particulars , para.23 Particulars, p. 3.
' See Suppiement to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, pp. 14-17.
" Appeals Judgement, paras. 173-186.
' see Nctltirnana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 32-5: Ntagentra et aL. Appeal.Tudeement, para
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5. Since a trial chamber can only convict the accused of crimes that are charged in the

indictrnent,s I would have found that the Trial Chamber erred in convicting Nsengiyumva for the

crimes perpetrated at Mudende University, allowed this part of his appeal and reversed

Nsengiyumva's convictions on the basis that he was not charged with the Mudende University

killings. Although I would consequently not have discussed Nsengi5nrmva's ground of appeal in

reiation to the assessment of the evidence, I agree that the Trial Chamber also erred in this respect.

Done in English and French, the English text being authoritative.

Judge Mehmet Gtiney

Done this fourteenth day of December 2011at Arusha, Tanzarua.

E Kalimanzira Appeal Judgement, para. 46; Rukundo Appeal Judgemen! para- 29; Ntagerura et at. Appeal Judgement,
oara.28.
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1. In this Judgement, the Appeals Chamber reverses Bagosora's conviction for other inhumane

acts as a crime against humanity entered under Count 9 of the Bagosora Indictment for the

defilement of the corpse of Prime Minister Agathe Uwilingiyimana on the basis that the Trial

Chamber convicted Bagosora for criminal conduct with which he was not charged.l I respectfully

disagree with the reasoning and the conclusions of the Majority of the Appeals Chamber and its

consequent reversal of Bagosora's conviction for this incident.

2. The Majority of the Appeals Chamber finds that, "underlying Bagosora's contentions is the

fundamental question of whether he was charged with a serious attack on human dignify

constituting the inhumane acts he was ultimately convicted for under Count 9 of his Indictment."2

However, the Majority misconstrues Bagosora's submissions on appeal. In his appeal, Bagosora

does not challenge that he was charged for this incident as other inhumane acts as a crime against

humanity, or that he was charged with post-mortem sexual assault. Rather, he challenges the

definition of sexual assault. More specifically, he argues that sexual assault can only be committed

against a living person because the prohibition on sexual assault is meant to protect tlie sexual

integrity of a person and there is no sexual integrity after death.3 Bagosora asserts that, because the

Prime Minister was already dead at the time of her sexual assault, he could only have been

convicted for outrage upon a corpse.o Bagosora submjts, however, that he was not charged with

outrage upon a corpse and that accordingly he should not have been convicted for sexual assault of

the Prime Minister after her death.s

3. Accordingly, Bagosora challenges characterisation bf the crime and whether the underlying

act was capable of fulfilling the elements of the crime charged rather than whether he was charged

with, and on notice of, the allegation that the Prime Minister's corpse was defiled. The Majority's

approach mischaracterises Bagosora's arguments and amounts to a proprio motu consideration of

the issue, thus allowing the Majority to avoid the fundamental question.

4. Furthermore, even if the Appeals Chamber had been seised of the notice issue, I am of the

view that the Majority's reading of the Indictment is unduly restrictive in finding that Bagosora was

not charged with the sexual assault of the Prime Minister after her death as other inhumane acts as a

36404

] Appeal Judgement, pans. 7 28, 7 30, 7 42.
' Appeal Judgement, pan. 725.
'Bagosora Appeal Brief, paras. 325-327.
u Ragosora Nofice of Appeal" para. 5(A); Bagosora Appeal Brief-. naras
'' Bagosora Notice of Appeal, para. 5(A); Bagosora Appeal Brief, para.

? r d  1 ? R

1 L a  .
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crime against humanify. As the Appeals Chamber noted,6 Bagosora was found guilty pursuant to

Count 9 of the Bagosora Indictrnent on the basis of, inter alia, paragraph 6.9 of his Indictment,T

which reads:

[...] Prime Minister Agathe Uwilingiyimana was tracked down, arrested, sexually assaulted and
killed by Rwandan Army personnel, more specifically, members of the Presidential Guard" the
Para-Commando Battalion and the Reconnaissance Battalion. [...]

The Majority finds that I paragraph 6.9 of the Indictrnent clearly indicates that the Prime Minister

was first sexually assaulted and subsequenfly killed. There is no ambigulty in this charge, and no

reference to events taking place after the Prime Minister's murder."8 However, paragraph 6.9 of the

Indictment does not clearly specify whether the Prime Minister was sexually assaulted before or

after she was killed. As such, I do not consider that the wording of paragraph 6.9 of the Indictment

limits the charge against Bagosora to the sexual assault of the Prime Minister prior to her death.

I am of the view that the allegation charged can reasonably be read, and was indeed so read by the

Trial Chamber and the parties, to encompass the sexual assault of the Prime Minister after her

death.

5. I also note that the allegation in paragraph 6.9 of the Indictment was further supported by the

inclusion in the Prosecution's Pre-Trial Brief of the summary of Witness DA's expected evidence

which made reference to him seeing a bottle that was inserted into the Prime Minister's vagina.e

The summary indicated that this witness's evidence would relate, inter alia, to the allegation of

other inhumane acts as a crime against humanity.lo Similarly, the summary of Witness DDF's

expected evidence in the Prosecution's Pre-Trial Brief also made reference to the insertion of a

bottle into the Prime Minister's vagina and it was indicated that this summary would relate to

Bagosora and to murder and other inhumane acts as crimes against humanity.ll Although none of

the summaries indicates whether the act was perpetrated before or after the Prime Minister's death,

I consider that the Indictment, along with these materials, provided Bagosora with sufficient

information to properly prepare his defence against this allegation.

6. Furthermore, just as he did not raise any issue of notice for this incident on appeal, at trial

Bagosora did not raise any challenge regarding the pleading of the sexual assault on the Prime

Minister. In particular, he did not object that he was not on notice regarding ttre bottle inserted into

6 Appeal Judgement, para.726.
'Trial Judgement, para. 2279, refering toBagosora Indictment, p. 60.
o Appeal Judgement, para.727.
' Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, Sumrnary of Witness DA's anticipated evidence, p. 33.
l { )  r  '

i { lC ln .
rr Itrosecution Prc-Trial Brief, Summary of Witness DDF's anticipated evidence, p. -55.
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the Prime Minister's vagina when Witnesses DA and AE testified to that effect.l2 Bagosora also had

the opportunity to cross-examine these two witnesses at 1ength.13 In these circumstances, I am of the

view that Bagosora understood the charge against him and suffered no prejudice from the fact that

paragraph 6.9 of the Indictment did not specify whether the sexual assault on the Prime Minister

occurred prior to or after her death. I disagree that Bagosora was not on notice that he stood charged

with the sexual assault of the Prime Minister as an inhumane act as a crime asainst humanitv.

7. In the present case, the Majority attributes to Bagosora arguments which he simply did not

make, as Bagosora does not challenge that he was not charged for the insertion of a bottle into the

Prime Minister's vagina as other inhumane acts as a crime against humanity. Unlike his initial

co-appellants, Bagosora deliberately chose not to appeal any questions relating to the indictment or

lack of notice. Thus, the Majority raises proprio motu a highly contentious procedural issue, which

was neither a point of contention on appeal nor at trial, without even giving the parties .the

opportunity to address it at the appeal hearing. In effect, the Majoriry substitutes its own reading of

the Indictment for that of the Trial Chamber. In this respect, I believe the Majority of the Appeals

Chamber not only arrives at the wrong conclusion, but also exceeds its jurisdiction and undermines

the strict standard of appellate review.

Done in English and French, the English text being authoritative.

Judee Fausto Pocar

Done this fourteenth day of December 2011 at Arusha, Tanzania.

[S eal o,f_the Tribunal]
a

t'Witness AE, T. 16 December 2003 pp. a2)
13 Witness AE, T. 16 December 2003 pp.4
pp. I-47, T. 8 December 2003 pp. 1-89, T. 10

November 2003 o.49.
2003 pp. 1-33; Witness DA, T. 5 December 2003
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IX. JOINT DISSENTING OPIMON OF JUDGES POCARAND LIU

1. In this Judgement, the Majority quashes Bagosora's sentence of life imprisonment and

imposes a terrr of 35 years.t The only justification offered for such a monumental reduction in

sentence is the decision to vacate a number of Bagosora's convictions.' In so doing, the Majority

focuses exclusively on the reversal of a limited part of the Trial Chamber's verdict. In our view,

such an approach is erroneous and contrary to past practice.3 It disregards the catalogue of

convictions that have been unanimously upheld on appeal and ignores the extreme gravity of

Bagosora' s culpability for:

(i) genocide, extermination and persecution as crimes against humanity, and violence to life

as a serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional

Protocol II in relation to the killings at Kibagabaga Mosque, Kabeza, the Saint Josephite

Centre, Karama Hill, Kibagabaga Catholic Church, Gikondo Parish, and Kigali area

roadblocks;

(ii) extermination and persecution as crimes against humanity, and violence to life as a

serious violation of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional

Protocol II in relation to the killings of Prime Minister Agathe Uwilingiyimana, Joseph

Kavaruganda, Fr6d6ric Nzamurambaho, Landoald Ndasingwa, Faustin Rucogoza, as well as

the killings at Cente Christus;

(iii) murder as a crime against humanity and violence to life as a serious violation of

Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol ll in relation to the

killings of the Belgian peacekeepers who were still alive when Bagosora visited Carnp

(iv) rape as a crime against humanity in relation to the rapes committed at Kigali area

roadblocks, the Saint Josephite Centre, and Gikondo Parish;

' Appeal Judgement, paras. 7 4l, 7 42.
' Appeal Judgement, paras. '739, 740. ln this regard, we note that in other cases, the Appeals Chamber has upheld
sentences of life imprisonment despite its decision to,quash significant convictions. See, e.g., Renzaho Appeal
Judgement, paras.620-622. We further note that the Appeals Chamber imposed a 40-year sentence of imprisonment on
Sim6on Nchamihigo, notwithstanding its decision to overturn the majority of his most significant convictions.
S e e Nchamihrgo Appeal Judgement, par as. 402-405.
' Notably, in the Renzaho Appeal Judgement, the Appeals Chamber found that although "[the] reversals concern[ed]
very serious crimes", it nevertheless considered "that the crimes for which Renzaho remains convicted are extremely
grave. These crimes include genocide, murder as a crime against humanity, and murder as a serious violation of
Articlc 3 common to the Geneva Conventions and of Additional Protocol II. Consequentlir, [it founcl] that the reversals
[dicii not impact the sentence imposed by the Trial Chamber " See Ren1ctln Appeal Judgement, para. 620.
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Done in English and French, the English text being authoritative.

Judge Fausto Pocar

Done this fourteenth day of December 20IL at Arusha, Tanzarua.

Judge Liu Daqun

lSeal of the Tribunall
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(v) other inhumane acts as crimes against humanity in relation to the stripping of female

refugees at the Saint Josephite Centre and the "sheparding" of refugees to Gikondo parish,

where they were killed; and

(vi) outrages upon personal dignity as serious violations of Article 3 common to the Geneva

Conventions and of Additional Protocol II in relation to the rapes at Kigali area roadblocks,

the Saint Josephite Centre, and Gikondo Parish.

2. The Majority appears to concede that superior responsibility under Article 6(3) of the

Statute is no less culpable than individual criminal responsibifity under Article 6(1) of the Statute.4

However, notwithstanding this concession, the Majority fails to provide persuasive reasons to
justify its decision to significantly reduce the sentence for these numerous crimes. Such reduction

may appear to suggest that, while the Majority cautiously articulates the principle of parity for

convictions under Articles 6(1) and 6(3) of the Statute, it does not apply this principle in practice.

3 In the three decisive days from 7 to 9 April 1994, Bagosora was the acting Minister of

Defence. As such, he assumed power of the highest military authority and exercised effective

control over the Rwandan Armed Forces.s In this context, it is notable that the response to the

immediate afterrrath of the assassination of the President was undertaken by the military, which

was the primary authority still functioning in the country at the time.6 Thus, on the cusp of the

carnage, Bagosora was in a position to intercede and, as a high ranking official with the means to

avert the atrocities, it was incumbent on him to prevent the killings of countless civilians in the

widespread attacks enumerated above, which he knew would ensue.

4. But, Bagosora declined to intervene.

5. Instead, he presided over the mass murder, mutilation, and rape of countless civilians whose

sole offence was their ethnicity or political persuasion. Moreover, his abject failure to prevent these

terrible atrocities during these first formative hours alrnost certainly set the pitch for the brutal

bloodletting that ensued without pause in the barbaric hundred days of genocide.

6. In light of the above, we respectfully dissent and would have affirmed Bagosora's sentence

of life imprisonment.

o Appeal Judgement, para. 740. We note in this regard that the Majority appea$ to limit such concession to "the
circumstances of this case". In our view, such parity always exists between Articles 6(1) and 6(3) of the Statute.
Otherwise, foot soldiers would face the most stringent sentences while those at the top of the chain of command woull
be deemed less blameworthy, which we believe would be unjust.
't Appeal JLrdgement, paras. 432,438-441,443,452, qSS, SZ4.
" Apoeal Judgement, para.465. See also Appeal Judgement, para.443.
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X. ANNEXA: PROCEDURAL HISTORY

1. The main aspects of the appeal proceedings are surrmarised below.

A. Notices of Appeal and Briefs

2. Trial Chamber I of the Tribunal rendered the judgement in this case on 18 December 2008

and issued its written Trial Judgement in English on 9 February 2009. The French translation of the

Trial Judgement was filed on 10 Decemb er 2009.r

1. Nsengiwmva's Appeal

3. On 15 January 2009, the Pre-Appeal Judge granted Nsengiyumva's request for an extension

of time to file his notice of appeal from the filing of the written Trial Judgement.2

On 2 March2009, the Pre-Appeal Judge denied Nsengiyumva's request for a further extension of

time to file his notice of appeal from the filing of the French translation of the Trial Judgement, but

granted him leave to file his appeal brief within 45 days of the filing of the French translation of the

Trial Judgement, and to file his brief in reply, if any, no later than 15 days from the date of the

filing of the French translation of the Prosecution's response brief to his appeal.3

4. Nsengiyumva filed his initial notice of appeal on 13 March 2009.4 On 16 April 2009, the

Pre-Appeal Judge ordered Nsengiyumva to file a revised version of his initial notice of appeal in

full compliance with Rule 108 of the Rules and the kactice Direction on Formal Requirements for

Appeals from Judgement within seven days.s Nsengiyumva filed a first amended version of his

notice of appeal on23April 2009 .6 On25May 2009,he was ordered to file a revised version of his

flust amended notice of appeal in compliance with the formal requirements applicable on appeal set

out in the 16 April2009 Decision,T which he did on26 May 2009.8

5. On 11 January 2010, the Pre-Appeal Judge granted Nsengiyumva's request that the 45-day

time-tmit for filing his appeal brief starts running from 17 December 2009, the date on which he

was seryed with the French translation of the Trial Judgement.e On 19 January 2}l},Nsengiyumva

was granted an extension of 10,000 words for his appeal brief based on the particularly broad range

' Jugement portant condamnation, 10 December 2009.
' Decision on Anatole Nsengiyumva's Motion for Extension of Time for Filing Notice of Appeal, 15 January 2009.
3 Decision on Anatole Nsengiyumva's Motion for Extension of Time for Filing Appeal Submissions, 2 March 2009.
a Nsengiyumva's Notice of Appeal, 13 March 2009.
' Decision on Prosecution Motion Requesting Compliance with Requirements for Filing Notices of Appeal,

f6 April2009 C'16 April2009 Decision").
o Amended Nsengiyumva's Notice of Appeal, 23 Apnl2009.
' Decision on Prosecution Motion Regarding Nsengiyumva's Amended Notice of Appeal Filed on 23 April 2009,
25 May 2009.
o Nsengiyumva's Second Amended Notice of Appeal, 26 May 2000.
' Decision on Anatole Nsengiyumva's Motion for Extension of Time for Fil ing His Appeai Brief, 1 I January 2010.
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of the factual and legal issues, some of which being of significant complexity or requiring the

discussion of considerable parts of the voluminous trial record.1O

6. On29 January 2070, the Appeals Chamber granted in part Nsengiyumva's motion for leave

to amend his second amended notice of appeal subsequent to receiving the French translation of the

Trial Judgement.ll Nsengiyumva filed his third amended notice of appeal on 1 February 2OI0,

together with a confidential version of his appeal brief.l2

7. The Prosecution filed its response brief to Nsengiyumva's appeal on 15 March 2010.13

8. On23 June 2010, Nsengiyumva was granted leave to file his brief in reply within 15 days of

service of the French version of the Prosecution's response brief to his appeal.la Nsengiyumva filed

his brief in reply on29 June 2010.15

2. Bagosora's Appeal

9. On 7 January 2009, Bagosora was granted leave to file his notice of appeal no later than

30 days from the date of the filing of the French translation of the Trial Judgement; his appeal brief

no later than 75 days from the date of the frling of his notice of appeal; and his brief in reply, if any,

no later than 15 days from the date of the filing of the French franslation of the Prosecution's

response brief to his appeal.16

10. Bagosora filed his notice of appeal on 8 January 20I0,r7 and his appeal brief on

24March2010.18 The Prosecution responded to Bagosora's appeal on 3 May 2010.1e Bagosora

filed his brief in reply on T7 hily 2OlO.2o

10 Decision on Anatole Nsengiyr:rrva's Motion for Extension of Word Limit for His Appeal Brief, 19 January 2010.
1r Decision on Anatole Nsengiyumva's Motion for Leave to Amend his Notice of Appeal, 29 lanuary 2010. See also
Order for Filing Supplement to Nsengiyumva's Motion for Leave to Amend the Notice of Appeal and for Expedited
Filing, 19January 2010.
12 Nsengiyumva's Third Amended Notice of Appeal Pursuant to Appeals Chamber Decision of 28 January 2010,
1 February 2010; Nsengiyumva's Appeal Brief, confidential, 1 February 2010. Nsengiyumva flled the public version of
his con-fidential appeal brief on 2 February 2010.
13 Prosecutor's Brief in Response to Anatole Nsengiyumva's Appeal, 15 March 2010. The French translation was filed
on 9 June 2010, and served on Nsengiyumva on 14 June 2010. See Proof of Service to Detainees, sigaed by
Nsengiyumva on 14 June 2010.
ra Decision on Anatole Nsengiyumva's Motion for Extension of Time for Fiiing his Brief in Reply, 23 June 2010.
15 Brief in Reply to Respondent's Response Brief in Anatole Nsengiyumva's Appeal, 29 lune 2010.
16 Decision on Th6oneste Bagosora's Motion for Extension of Time for Filing Appeal Submissions, l5 January 2009.
It Notice of Appeal Appellanl Th6oneste Bagosora, originally filed in French on 8 January 2010, English translation
filed on 2 March 2010.
18 Thdoneste Bagosora's Appellant's Brief, originally filed in French on 24 March 2010, English translation filed on
23 lune 2010.
le Prosecutor's Brief in Response to Th6oneste Bagosora's Appeal, 3 May 2010. The French translation was filed on
12 July  2010.
2"'Ih6oneste Bagosora's Reply to Prosccutor's Brief in Response- originally f i led in Frcnch on 27 Julv 2010, English
translation fi led on 8 November 2010.
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B. Severance of Ntabakuze's Case

11. The appeal case of Ntabakuze was initially joined to that of Bagosora and Nsengiyumva.

Ntabakuze's case was severed from that of Bagosora and Nsengiyumva by oral decision of

30 March 20II.21

C. lsSenment of .Iudges

12. On 14 January 2009, noting Bagosora's motion for extension of time to file his notice of

appeal, the Presiding Judge of the Appeals Chamber assigned the following Judges to hear

Bagosora's appeal: Judge Patrick Robinson (Presiding), Judge Mohamed Shahabuddeen,

Judge Mehmet Gliney, Judge Fausto Pocar, and Judge Liu Daqun." Judge Robinson also

designated Judge Mehmet Giiney as Pre-Appeal Judge.23

13. On 15 January 2009, noting Nsengiyumva's motion for extension of time to file his notice

of appeal, the kesiding Judge of the Appeals Chamber assigned the following Judges to hear

Nsengiyumva's appeal: Judge Patrick Robinson @residing), Judge Mohamed Shahabuddeen,

Judge Mehmet Gtiney, Judge Fausto Pocar, and Judge Liu Daqun.'o Judg" Mehmet Giiney was

designated as Pre-Appeal Judge.25

14. On 16 January 2009, the Presiding Judge of the Appeals Chamber assigned a single bench

to hear all appeals filed in the Bagosora et aI. case, composed of Judge Patrick Robinson

(Presiding), Judge Mohamed Shahabuddeen, Judge Mehmet Giiney, Judge Fausto Pocar, and

Judge Liu Daqun, and designated Judge Mehmet Gtiney as Pre-Appeal Judge.26

15. On 27 January 2009, Judge Robinson replaced Judge Mohamed Shahabuddeen with Judge

Theodor Meron.27 On 17 November 20!1, Judge Theodor Meron took office as Presiding Judge of

the Appeals Chamber and accordingly replaced Judge Patrick Robinson as Presiding Judge in this

case.

" AT. 30 March 2011o.2.
" Order Assigning Judges to a Case Before the Appeals Chamber and Assigning a ke-Appeal Judge, 14 Jantary 2009.
" Idem.

]i 9ta* Assigning Judges to a Case Before the Appeals Chamber and Assigning a Pre-Appeal Judge, 15 January 2009.
"' klem.
'o O.,iet Assigning Judges to a Case Before the Appeals Charnher anrl Assigning a Pre,Appeal Judge, 16 January 2.009.'' Order Replacing a Jucige in a Case llcforc the Appeals Chamber, 27 lanuary Z()(.\9.
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D. Judicial Notice .

On 29 July 2010, Nsengiyumva filed a motion requesting the

3 63t /n

judicial notice of certain paragraphs of the Bagaragaza Sentencing

Chamber dismissed his motion on29 October 20I0.2e

Appeals Chamber to take

Judgement.2s The Appeals

E. Motions for the Admission of Additional Evidence on Appeal

17. On 29 July 2010, Nsengiyumva filed two motions for the admission of additional

evidence,3O which the Appeals Chamber dismissed on2l March 20IL31

18. On 25 August 2010, Bagosora requested the Appeals Chamber to order and compel

MarcelGatsinzi to testify viva voce in this case pursuant to Rule 115 of the Ru1es.32

On 7 February 2011, the Appeals Chamber dismissed the motion, but ordered, proprio motu and

pursuant to Rules 98 and 107 of the Rules, that Marcel Gatsinzi will be heard by it in relation to

Bagosora's contention that the Trial Chamber violated his fair trial rights by failing to enforce a

subpoena for Marcel Gatsinzi's live testimony.33

F. Appeal Hearing

19. The Appeals Chamber issued a Scheduling Order for the hearing of the appeals in this case

on 27 January 20II.34 On 10 February 20II, the Appeals Chamber issued an order to summon

Marcel Gatsinzi to testify as a Chamber's witness in the context of the appeal hearing scheduled in

this case.35 It issued the order setting the timetable for the appeal hearing on 11 February 201L,36

and an order inviting the parties to address a number of specific issues on 7 March 201I.37

An amended timetable was issued on 29 March 2011 as a result of the postponement of

Ntabakuze's oral arguments." Th" parties' oral arguments were heard at the appeal hearing held on

2E Nsengiyumva's Motion on Judicial Notice Pursuant to Rule 94 of the Rules of hocedure and Evidence, 29 July 2010.
" Decision on Anatole Nsengiyumya's Motion for Judicial Notice, 29 October 2010.
30 Nsengiyumva's Confidential Motion on Additional Evidence in Relation to Witness DO Pursuant to Rule 115 of the
Rules of Procedure and Evidence, confidential,29 luly 2010, as corrected by Corrigendum to Nsengiyumva's
Confidential Motion on Additional Evidence in Relation to Witness DO Pursuant to Rule 115 of the Rules of Procedure
and Evidence, 4August2010; Nsengiyumva's Urgent Motion on Additional Evidence Pursuant to Rule 115 of the
Rules of kocedure and Evidence (Witness Ignace Bagilishema),29 July 2010.
3r Decision on Anatole Nsengiyumva's Motions for the Admission of Additional Evidence, 2t Mau:ch 20L1.
32 Appellant Th6oneste Bagosora's Motion Seeking Leave to Present Additional Evidence, originally filed in French on
25 August 2010, English translation filed on 14 September 2010.
" Decision on Th6oneste Bagosora's Motion for Admission of Additional Evidence, 7 February 2011.
t' Scheduling Order, 27 January 201 i.
" Order to Summon a Witness. 10 Februarv 2011.
tu Order Setting the Timetable for the Appeai Hearing, I 1 February 2011.
tt O.cl". for thJPrcparation of ttre ,tppeai Hearing, 7 March 201 l.
r8 F,.rrther Scheduling Order, 29 IUarch ZOt t.
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30 March,31 March, and lApril 2011 in Arusha, Tanzania. Marcel Gatsinzi was heard as a

Chamber's witness at the hearing held in Arusha, Tanzania, on 30 March 20ll.3e

363n/n

te AT. 30 March 20ll pp.2-48
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of Witnesses").
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Motion to Recall Prosecution Witness OAB for Cross-Examination, 19 September 2005 ("Decision

on Motion to Recall Witness OAB").

The Prosecutor v. Thdoneste Bagosora et aI., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T, Decision on Prosecution
Motion for Addition of Witnesses Pursuant to RuIe 73br.s G), 26 June 2003 ("Decision to Add
Witnesses XBG and XBM").

The Prosecutor v. Thdoneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T, Decision on Defence
Motions of Nsengiyumva, Kabiligi, and Ntabakuze Challenging the Prosecutor's Pre-Trial Brief
and on the Prosecutor's Counter-Motion,23May 2002 ("Decision Relating to the Pre-Trial Brief').

The Prosecutor v. Th4oneste Bagosora et aI., Case No. ICTR-98-41-I, Decision and Scheduling
Order on the Prosecution Motion for Harmonisation and Modification of Protective Measures for
Witnesses, dated 5 December 200I, filed 7 December 2001 ("Decision on Protective Measures of
7 December 200I").

The Prosecutor v. Th1oneste Bagosora et aI., Case No. ICTR-98-41-I, Decision on the Prosecution
Motion for Harmonisation and Modification of Protective Measures for Witnesses,
29 November 2001 ("Decision on Protective Measures of 29 November 2001").

The Prosecutor v. Gratien Kabiligi and Aloys Ntabakuze, Case No. ICTR-97-34-I, Decision on
Motion by the Office of the Prosecutor for Orders for Protective Measures for Victims and
Witnesses, 19 May 2000 ("Kabiligi and Ntabakuze Decision on Protective Measures of
19 May 2000").

The Prosecutor v. Anatole Nsengiyumva, Case No. ICTR-96-I2-I, Decision on the Defence Motion
on Defects in the Form of the Indictment, dated 15 May 2000, filed 16 May 2000 ("Decision
Ordering the Filing of Particulars").

The Prosecutor v. Anatole Nsengiyumva, Case No. ICTR-96-12-I, Decision on the Prosecutor's
Motion for the Protection of Victims and Witnesses, delivered orally 26 lune 1997, signed
lTNovember 1997, filed 3 December 1997 ("Nsengiyumva Decision on Protective Measures of
26 Jwe 799'1").

BIKINDI Simon

Simon Bikindi v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-01-72-A, Judgement, 18 March 2010
(" B ikindi Appeal Judgement").

GACUMBITSI Sylvestre

Sylvestre Gacumbitsi v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-2001-64-A. Judgement, 7 July 2006
(" Gac umb irsi Appeal Jud gement").

KAJELUELI Juv6nal

Juvdnal Kajelijeli v. The Proseclrtor, Case No. ICTR-98-44A-A, Judgement, 23 May 2005
(" Kai elii eli Appeal Judgement").
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KALIMANZIRA Callixte

Callixte Kalimanzira v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-05-88-A, Judgement, 20 October 2010
(" K aI imnnzir a Appeal Jud gement").

KAMBANDA Jean

Jean Kamband"a v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-97-23-A, Judgement, 19 October 2000
(" Kamb anda Appeal Judgement").

KAMUIIANDA Jean de Dieu

Jean de Dieu Kamuhanda v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-95-54A-A, Judgement,
19 September 2005 ("Kamuhanda Appeal Judgement").

KAREMERA et al.

The Prosecutor v. Edouard Karemera et al., Case No. ICTR-98-44-AR73.10, Decision on
Nzirorera's Interlocutory Appeal Concerning his Right to be Present at Trial, 5 October 2007
("Karetnera et aI. Appeal Decision of 5 October 2W").

KARERA Frangois

Frangois Karera v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-01-74-A, Judgement, 2 Febraary 20O9
(' o Kar e r a Appeal Judgement").

MUHIMANA Mikaeli

Mikneli Muhimnna v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-95-1B-A, Judgement, 21 May 20O7
(" Muhimana Appeal Judgement").

MLINYAKAZf Yussuf

The Prosecutor v. Yussuf Munyal<nzi, Case No. ICTR-97-36A-A, Judgement, 28 September 20Il
(" M uny al<azd Appeal Judgement").

MUSEMA Alfred

Alfred Musema v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-96-L3-4, Judgement, 16 November 2001
(" M us ema Appeal Judgement").

M[M]I{YI Tharcisse

Tharcisse Muvunyi v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-00-55A-A, Judgement, 29 August 2008
("Muvunyi Appeal Judgement of 29 August 2008").

Tharcisse Muvunyi v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-00-55A-A, Judgement, 1 April 2011
("Muvunyi Appeal Judgement of 1 April 20L1").

NAIIIMANA et al.

Ferdinand Nahimana, Jean-Bosco Barayagwila, and Hassan Ngeze v. The Prosecutor
Case No. ICTR-99-52-A, Judgement, 28 November 2007 ("Nahimana et aL Appeal Judgement").
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NCHAMIHIGO Sim6on

Simdon Nchamihigo v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-01-63-A, Judgement, 18 March 2010
(" N c hamihi g o AppeaI Judgement").

NTAGERURA et aI.

The Prosecutor v. Andrd Ntagerura, Emmanuel Bagambiki and Samuel Imanishimwe, Case
No. ICTR-99-46-A, Judgement,T Jary 2006 ("Ntagerura et al. Appeal Judgement").

NTAKIRUTIMANA Elizaphan and G6rard

The Prosecutor v. Elizaphan Ntakirutimana and Gdrard Ntakirutitnana, Cases Nos. ICTR-96-10-A
and ICTR-96-I7-A, Judgement, 13 December2004 ("Ntakirutimana AppealJudgement").

RENZAIIO Tharcisse

Tharcisse Renzaho v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-97-31-A, Judgement, 1 April 2011
(" Renzaho Appeal Judgement").

RUKIINIDO Emmanuel

Emmanuel Rukundo v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-200I-70-A, Judgement, 20 October 2010
(" Rukundo Appeal Judgement").

RUTAGANDA Georges Anderson Nderubumwe

Georges Anderson Nderubumwe Rutaganda v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-96-3-A, Judgement,
26May 20O3 ("Rutaganda Appeal Judgement").

SEMANZA Laurent

Laurent Sem.anza v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-97 -20-A, Judgement , 20 May 2O05 ("Semanza
Appeal Judgement").

The Prosecutor v. Laurent Semanza, Case No. ICTR-97-20-T, Judgement and Sentence,
15 May 2003 (" Semanza Tnal Judgement").

SEROMBA Athanase

The Prosecutor v. Athanase Seromba, Case No. ICTR-2001-66-A, Judgement, 12 March 2008
(" S eromb a Appeal Judgement").

SETAKO Ephrem

Ephrem Setako v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-04-81-A, Judgement, 28 September 2011
(" 5 etako Appeal Judgement").

SIMBA Aloys

Aloys Simba v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-01-76-A, Judgement, 27 November 2007 ("Simba
Appeal Judgement").

ZIGIRANYIRAZO Protais

Protais Zigiranyirazo v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-01-73-AR73, Decision on Interlocutory
Appeal, 30 October 2006 ("Zigiranyirazo ̂_-Appeal Decision of 30 October 2006").
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ALEKSOVSKI Zlatko

Prosecutor v. Zlatko Aleksovski, Case No. IT-95-L4{L-A, Judgement, 24 March 2O0O ("Alel<sovski
Appeal Judgement").

Prosecutor v. Zlatko Alelcsovski, Case No. IT-95-l4ll-T, Judgement, 25 June 1999 ("Alelcsovski
Trial Judgement'').

BLAGOJEVId Viao;e and JOKId Dragan

Prosecutor v. Vidoje Blagojevif and Dragan Jokii, Case No. IT-02-60-A, Judgement,9 May 2007
("Blagojevi6 and Joki6 Appeal Judgemenf').

BLASKTd Tihomir

Prosecutor v. Tihomir Blaikii, Case No. IT-95-14-A, Judgement,29 J;uly 2OO4 (*Bla.ikli Appeal
Judgement").

Prosecutor v. Tihomir Bla{kii, Case No. IT-95-14-T, Judgement, 3 March 2000 (*Blaiki6 TiaI
Judgement").

Prosecutor v. Tihomir Blaikii, Case No. IT-95-14-AR108bfs, Judgement on the Request of the
Republic of Croatia for Review of the Decision of Trial Chamber tr of 18 July 1997,
29 October 1997 (* B la.ikii Subpoena Decision").

BoSKOSKI Ljube and TARdULOvSKI Johan

Prosecutor v. Ljube Boikoski and Johan Tardulovski, Case No. IT-04-82-A, Judgement,
19 May 2010 ("Boikoski andTariulovski Appeal Judgement").

..EELEBIEP'

Prosecutor v. kjnil Delali6, Zlravko Mucii, a.ka. "Pavo", Hazim Delii and Esad Inndio, a.k.a.
"Zenga", Case No. IT-96-21-4, Judgement, 20 February 2001 (Aebbi6i Appeal Judgement").

DERONJIi Miroslav

Prosecutor v. Miroslav Deronjii, Case No. IT-02-61-4, Judgement on Sentencing Appeal,
20 July 20O5 ("Deronjii ladgement on Sentencing Appeal").

GALId Stanislav

Prosecutor v. Stanislav Galii, Case No. IT-98-29-A, Judgement, 30 November 2046 (*Galii
Appeal Judgement").

HADZIHASANOVId Enver and KUBURA Amir

Prosecutor v. Enver Hadiihasanovii and Amir Kubura, Case No. IT-0L-47-A. Judgement,
22 Apil2008 ("HadZihasanovii and Kubura Appeal Judgement").
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HALrLovri sefer
Prosecutor v. Sefer Halilovii, Case No. IT-01-48-A, Judgement, 16 October 20O7 (*Hatilovii
Appeal Judgement").

Prosecutor v. Sefer Halilovii, Case No. IT-01-48-T, Judgement, 16 November 2005 ("Halilovii
Trial Judgement").

HARADINAJ et al.

Prosecutor v. Ramush Haradinaj, Idriz Balaj and l^ahi Brahimaj, Case No. IT-04-84-A, Judgement,
19 July 2010 ("Haradinaj et al. AppealJudgement").

KORDId Dario ana dnnfnZMario

Prosecutor v. Dario Kordif and Mario eerkez, Case No. I[-95-I4/2-A, Judgement,
17 December 2004 ("Kordi6 and eerkezAppeal Judgemenf').

Xna.IfSntfK Momtilo

Prosecutor v. Momiilo Krajiinik, Case No. IT-00-39-A, Judgement, 17 March 2009 (*Krajiinik
Appeal Judgement").

KRSTId Radislav

Prosecutor v. Radislav Krsti6, Case No. m-98-33-A, Judgement, 19 April 2004 ("Krstii Appea|
Judgement").

KIJNARAC et al.

Prosecutor v. Dragoljub Kunarac, Radomir Kovai and hran Vukovi6, Cases Nos. IT-96-23 and
n-96-231I-A, Judgement, 12 June 2002 ("Kunarac et al. AppealJudgement").

KUPRESKId et aI.

Prosecutor v. hran Kupreikii, Mirjan Kupreikii, Vlatko Kupreikii, Drago Josipovii andVladimir
Santii, Case No. IT-95-16-4, Appeal Judgement, 23 October 2001 1;t<upriSkti et al. Appeal

, Judgement").

Kvodxa et at.
Prosecutor v. Miroslav Kvoil<a, Mlado Radii, hran ZtgtC and Dragoljub Prcai, Case No. IT-98-
3011-1^, Judgement, 28 February 2005 ("Kvoika et al. AppealJudgement").

Prosecutor v. Miroslav Kvoika, Milojica Kos, Mlado Radii, hran Ztgtt and Dragoljub Prcai,
Case No. m-98-30/1-T, Judgement,2 November 200I ("Kvoika et at. TialJudgemenf').

I MILOSnvIi Dragomir

, Prosecutor v. Dragomir Miloievii, Case No. IT-98 -29/l-A, Judgement, 12 November 2009,
I ("Miloievii Appeal Judgement").
:
. -
, MRKSIC Mile and SLJIVANCANIN Veselin
i' Prosecuior v. Mite Mrkii[ and Veseltn Sljivanianin, Case ].jc.r. IT-95-13/1-A, Judgement,

-5 May 2009 ("Mrkii6 anct Sljivantanin Appeal Judgemenr").
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onri Naser

Prosecutor v. Naser Orii, Case No. IT-03-68-A, Judgement, 3 July 2008 ("Orii Appeal
Judgement").

Snni Bhgoje

Prosecutor v. Blagoje Simii, Case No. IT-95-9-A, Judgement, 28 November 2006 (*Simii Appeal
Judgement").

STAKId Milomir

Prosecutor v. Milomir Stakii, Case No. Il-91-24-4, Judgement,22 March 2006 ("Staki6 Appeal
Judgement").

STAN-ISIi Jovica and SIMATOVId Franko

Prosecutor v. Jovica Staniiif and Franko Simatovii, Case No. IT-03-69-AR73.2, Decision on
Defence Appeal of the Decision on Future Course of Proceedings, 16 May 2008 ("Staniii6 and
Simatovii Appeal Decision of 16 May 2008").

STRUGAR Pavle

Prosecutor v. Pavle Strugar, Case No. IT-01-42-A, Judgement, l7 July 2008 ("Strugar Appeal
Judgement").

Prosecutor v. Pavle Strugar, Case No. n-01-42-T, Judgement, 31 January 2005 ("Strugar Trial
Judgement").

TADId DuSKo

Prosecutor v. Duiko
Judgement").

Case No. I[-94-I-A, Judgement, 15 July 1999 (*Tadii Appeal
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B. Defined Terrns and Abbreviations

A.T. Iranscript from hearings on appeal in the present case. All references
are to the official English transcript, unless otherwise indicated.

Bagosora Appeal Brief
Th4oneste Bagosora et al. v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-98-41-A,
Th6oneste Bagosora' s Appellant' s Brief, 24 March 2010

Bagosora Closing Brief
The Prosecutor v. Th4oneste Bagosora et aI., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T
Corrigendum Mdmoire final de la Ddfense de Th4oneste Bagosora
25 May 2007

Bagosora Indictment
The Prosecutor v. Th6oneste Bagosora, Case No. ICTR-96-7-I
Amended Indictment, 12 Augustlggg

Bagosora Notice of
A.ppeal

Thdoneste Bagosora et al. v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-98-41-A
Notice of Appeal Appellant: Th6oneste Bagosora, 8 January 2010

Bagosora Reply Brief

Th4oneste Bagowa et al. v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-98-41-A
lh6oneste Bagosora's Reply to Prosecutor's Brief in Response
Pursuant to Article 24 of the Statute of the Tribunal and Rule 113 of the
Rules of Procedure and Evidence.2T Julv 2010

CDR Coalition pour la ddfense de la Rdpublique

ESM Ecole supdrieure militaire (Kigali)

ESO Ecole des sous-fficiers (Butare)

FAR Forces armies rwandaises (Rwandan Armed Forces)

MRND

Vlouvement rdvolutionnaire national pour la ddmocratie et Ie
l4veloppement fbefore 5 July 19911

Vlouvement rdpublicain national pour la ddmocratie et Ie
l4veloppement lafter 5 July 19911

Nsengiyumva Appeal
Brief

Th4oneste Bagosora et al. v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-98-41-A,
Nsengiyumva's Appeal Brief pursuant to Rule 111 of the Rules ol
Procedure and Evidence, public redacted version, I February 2010
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Nsengiyumva Closing
Brief

The Prosecutor v. Th6oneste Bagosora et aI., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T,
Nsengiyumva Defence Confidential Unredacted Final Brief Pursuant tc
Rule 86(8) of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence, confidential,
23 April 2007, as corrected by Corigendum to the - Nsengiyumva
Defence Confidential Unredacted Final Brief Pursuant to Rule 86(8) ol
the Rules of Procedure and Evidence Filed on 23'd Apdll 2007.
:onfi dential, 25 May 2007

Nsengiyumva Indichent
orlndict ent

The Prosecutor v. Anatole Nsengiyumva, Case No. ICTR-96-12-I,
Amended Indictrnent, 12 August 1999

Nsengiyumva Notice of
Appeal

Thdoneste Bagosora et al. v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-98-41-A
Nsengiyumva's Third Amended Notice of Appeal pursuant to Article
24, Rule 108 of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence, 1 February 2010

Nsengiyumva Reply
Brief

Th4oneste Bagosora et al. v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-98-41-A
Brief in Reply to Respondent's Response Brief in Anatole
lsengiyumva's Appeal,29 June 2010, as conected by Corigendum tc
Brief in Reply to Respondent's Response Brief in Anatole
$sengiyumva's Appeal, 04 August 2010

Nsengiyumva Witness
List

The Prosecutor v. Anatole Nsengiyumva, Case No. ICTR-98-41-T, Lisr
rf Defence Witnesses to be Called During the Trial, confidential
) January 2005

Particulars
The Prosecutor v. Anatole Nsengiyumva, Case No. ICTR-96-12-I
Particulars [Pursuant to the Decision on the Defence Motion on Defectr
.n the Form of the Indictment Dated 15 May 2000], 25May 20O0

Prosecution f,ffice of the Prosecutor

Prosecution Closing Brief
The Prosecutor v. Thdoneste Bagosora et al., Case No. ICTR-98-41-T
Prosecutor's Final Trial Brief, public redacted version, datec
1 March 2001.fitedZ March 2007

Prosecution Pre-Trial
Brief

The Prosecutor v. Th4oneste Bagosora et aI., Case No. ICTR-98-41-I
Prosecutor's Pre-Trial Brief, 2l Jamary 2002

rosecution Response
rief (Bagosora)

Thdoneste Bagosora et al. v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-98-41-A,
Prosecutor's Brief in Response to Th6oneste Bagosora's Appeal,
)3May 2010

/n
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Prosecution Response
Brief (Nsengiyumva)

Th6oneste Bagosora et al. v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-99-41-A
Prosecutor's Brief in Response to Anatole Nsengiyrmva's Appeal
15 March 2010

PSD Parti social ddmocrate

RPF Rwandan (also Rwandese) Patriotic Front

RuIes Rules of Procedure and Evidence of the Tribunal

SRSG Special Representative for the secretary-General of the United Nations

Statute Statute of the Tribunal established by Security council Resolution 955
(ree4)

Supplement to the
Prosecution Pre-Trial
Brief orSupplement

The Prosecutor v. Th4oneste Bagosora et al., case No. ICTR-98-41-I,
Ttre Prosecutor's Pre-Trial Brief Revision in Compliance with the
Decision on Prosecutor's Request for an Extension of the Time Limit in
fhe order of 23 May, 20o2. and with the Decision on the Defence
Motion Challenging rhe Pre-Trial Brief, Dated 23 May, 2002,
7Iune2002

f. Iranscript from hearings at trial in the present case. All references are
to the official English transcript, unless otherwise indicated

Irial Chamber Irial Charnber I of the Tribunal

Tribunal oTICTR

International criminal Tribunal for the prosecution of persons
Responsible for Genocide and other serious violations of International
Humanitarian Law committed in the Territory of Rwanda anc
Rwandan citizens responsible for genocide and other such violations
committed in the territory of neighbouring states, between
1 January 1994 and 31 December 1994

TJNAMIR United Nations Assistance Mission for Rwanda

WVSS.P Witnesses and Victims Support Section of the prosecution
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